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ABSTRACT
LEOPOLD EIDLITZ: BECOMING AN AMERICAN ARCHITECT
Kenneth Franklin Jacobs

David Leatherbarrow, Supervisor

Leopold Eidlitz (1823-1908) was born in Prague and trained in Vienna as a land manager, a
position in which he would have worked for the Austrian government as a building inspector or
designer of small, rural structures. He came to the United States seeking work as an architect in
1843. Arriving alone, he quickly settled into American society, and within three years moved
from a job with Richard Upjohn, the English-born designer of Trinity Church, Wall Street, into
his own practice. He subsequently married into an old New England family and began a career in
which he worked with the most prominent members of the New York City and State political and
architectural communities Although Eidlitz’s architectural ideas were progressive, they were not
unique for their time. He held that a building’s massing should emerge from its plan, that
materials should be used in a rational manner, and that ornament should be used to enhance
structure, materials, and function. For these reasons, some have considered him an organicist or

proto-functionalist. However, his philosophical and architectural concerns were more complex.

Eidlitz approved of the emerging convergence of engineering and architecture, but he also
believed in the socially redemptive role for art advanced by German Idealist philosophers. He
considered architecture to be an art and was certain thét science would assure its progress by
eliminating the arbitrariness associated with indefinable and unsupportable notions of “taste.” In
this way, art would be reconciled with technology and assure its progress. Emulation of or
rupture with the past would not be necessary for architecture because beautiful forms would be

valued for the knowledge they imparted rather than the precedent they conveyed.
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PREFACE

Leopold Eidlitz (1823-1908) was born in Prague and trained in Vienna as a land manager, a
position in which he would have worked for the Austrian government as a building inspector or
designer of small, rural structures. He came to the United States seeking work as an architect in
1843. Arriving alone, he quickly settled into American society, and within three years moved
from a job with Richard Upjohn, the English-born designer of Trinity Church, Wall Street, into
his own practice. He subsequently married into an old New England family and began a career in
which he worked with the most prominent members of the New York City and State political and
architectural communities. FEidlitz simultaneously acclimated himself to American culture and
advanced his career by speaking at public and private meetings and publishing his papers and
talks in art, architecture, and real estate journals of local, regional, and national significance.
These pieces were among the first examples of architectural criticism and theory published in the
United States, and they exerted a strong and widely acknowledged influence on his

contemporaries that has only recently begun to be re-examined.

Although his architectural ideas were progressive, they were not unique for their time. Eidlitz
held that a building’s massing should emerge from its plan, that materials should be used in a
rational manner, and that ornament should be used to enhance structure, materials, and function.
For these reasons, some have considered him an organicist or proto-functionalist. However, his
philosophical and architectural concerns were more complex. FEidlitz approved of the emerging
convergence of engineering and architecture, but he also believed in the socially redemptive role
for art advanced by German Idealist philosophers. He considered architecture to be an art and
was certain that science would assure its progress by eliminating the arbitrariness associated with
indefinable and unsupportable notions of “taste.” In this way, art would be reconciled with

technology and assure its progress. Emulation of or rupture with the past would not be necessary

Xiv
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for architecture because beautiful forms would be valued for the knowledge they imparted rather

than the precedent they conveyed.

The pragmatic and democratic themes implicit in these ideas made them particularly attractive to
the shapers of American intellectual, architectural, and educational life during the last half of the
nineteenth century, and contributed to Eidlitz’s stature here and abroad. By the beginning of the
twentieth century, however, the situation had changed. In a letter to Peter B. Wight dated 8
October 1902, Russell Sturgis, Jr., a former employee of Eidlitz and a respected architectural
writer, expressed a desire to write a photographically illustrated article on the “disappearing
monuments of architecture.” It was to include work by Wight, Frederick Diaper, Leopold
Eidlitz, and “such other buildings in New York and other cities as we might think of.”* Sturgis
realized that photographs would be difficult to obtain because many of the buildings he wished to
include had been demolished before photographic processes became reliable and widely

available.

As for Eidlitz, there again I am unfortunate. I fully expected to
find among my photographs views of the American Exchange
Bank and of the Continental Bank, which have now disappeared
altogether, but they are not there. I am prepared to give a good
price for such photographs if I could get them. The Tabernacle
Church is not important, I think, but those banks are really a
great loss to us. Besides the Academy of Music (Brooklyn) and
Temple Emanuel there is the bank at the corner of Second Street
or Third Street and the Bowery, and of course his work on the
Capitol at Albany, of which much remains, although the
Assembly Chamber has been, very properly, altered out of all
recognition. Montgomery Schuyler knows Eidlitz well and
admires him greatly, and I have imagined intended to write an
article about his work. He is also a constant contributor to the
¢ Architectural Record,” and I fancy that if [Harry W.] Desmond
[the Vice-President and General Manager of the publication]

! Peter B. Wight, “Reminiscences of Russell Sturgis,” Architectural Record, vol. 26, no. 2 (August 1909),
p. 129.

2 Wight, “Reminiscences of Russell Sturgis,” p. 129.
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thought there was room for such a paper as I suppose, Schuyler
would have written it long ago.’

Schuyler’s “paper,” a three-part memorial, was published during the final months of 1908, the
year in which Eidlitz died.* Two years after it appeared, Schuyler wrote to Glen Brown, then, the
Secretary of the American Institute of Architects, to offer the organization a photograph of
Eidlitz, “the ‘dean’ of his guild in New York, and probably the United States.” The letter was
prompted by correspondence from Charles Babcock, a former associate of Eidlitz and, at the
time, a professor at Cornell University, who noted that he remained the only surviving original
member of the Institute after Eidlitz died. Brown declined Schuyler’s offer on grounds that he
had published photographs of the four oldest living members, including Babcock and Eidlitz, in

the Institute’s journal several years earlier.®

This lack of interest reflected the drastic decline in Eidlitz’s importance within the American
architectural community. The most obvious reason was his disappearance from public view. He
had not built anything of substance for the last twenty years of his life, and most of his work was
demolished before he died. Although he had once been a prolific speaker and writer, his last
public appearance was in 1896, his last professional paper was presented and published in

England, and his final book was on a topic that seemed to bear little relationship to architecture.’

* Wight, “Reminiscences of Russell Sturgis,” p. 129.

* Montgomery Schuyler, “A Great American Architect: Leopold Eidlitz 1. Ecclesiastical and Domestic
Work,” Architectural Record, vol. 24, no. 3 (September 1908), pp. 164-79; “The Work of Leopold Eidlitz,
II: Commercial and Public,” Architectural Record, vol. 24, no. 4 (October 1908), pp. 277-92; “The Work of
Leopold Eidlitz, III: The Capitol at Albany, New York,” Architectural Record, vol. 24, no. 5 (November
1908), pp. 365-78.

’ Montgomery Schuyler, “Leopold Eidlitz I,” p. 164.

® Letter from Glenn Brown to Montgomery Schuyler dated 22 July 1910. The photographs appeared in
“Founders of the Institute Now Living,” American Institute of Architects Quarterly Bulletin, vol. 8, no. 1
(April 1907), p. 22 et seq.

7 “An Exhorter’s Work Criticized,” New York Times, 17 December 1896, p. 2; Leopold Eidlitz, “The

Educational Training of Architects,” Journal of the Royal Institute of British Architects, vol. 4 (November

1896-October 1897), pp. 213-17, paper read at the 1 May 1897 General Meeting of the Royal Institute of
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The situation was compounded when, one month after Eidlitz died, Talbot Hamlin, the newly
installed “Executive Head” of the School of Architecture at Columbia University, published a
revue of trends in American architecture and architectural education. It neglected to mention

Eidlitz, and dismissed most of the work built during the period of his greatest influence.

During the Civil War, and the ten years preceding it and
following it, our architecture was floundering in the lowest
depths of tastelessness and artistic poverty. There were few
educated architects; the popular standards were almost
grotesquely inartistic, and really fine architecture was nearly as
impossible to execute as unlikely to be appreciated. A few brave
souls were, however, striving, in the face of these conditions, to
raise the standards of public taste and of their profession, by the
quality of their own work as well as by their training of young
men in their offices, whom they fired with the enthusiasm of
their own zeal. Three names stand foremost in this roll of honor:
R. M. Hunt, H. H. Richardson and W. R. Ware; and all three
drew from Paris a large part of their inspiration; ...Until the
beginning of the great art revival which dates from 1876, these
three were like “voices crying in the wilderness,” but in the
following years their labors began to bear fruit, and they became
the acknowledged leaders of the movement.®

Eidlitz’s reputation also lost favor to the aesthetic and economic force of Richardson’s version of
the Romanesque and Hunt’s version of the Beaux Arts. Both were able to meet the demands for
increasingly larger religious, governmental, and commercial buildings that accompanied the rapid
economic growth of the mid-nineteenth century better than Eidlitz’s reasoned, but less

immediately appealing, responses.

Loss of interest in Eidlitz can also be attributed to the pure density of his writing. His most
important book, The Nature and Function of Art, More Especially of Architecture, published at

the beginning of a long period of professional setbacks and lack of new work, is difficult,

British Architects; On Light, An Analysis of the Emersions of Jupiter’s Satellite I (New York:
Kanickerbocker Press, 1899).

¥ Talbot Hamlin, “The Influence of the Ecole des Beaux-Arts On Our Architectural Education,”
Architectural Record, vol. 23 (April 1908), pp. 241-42.

Xvii

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.



rambling, and filled with references that are predominantly European and frequently obscure. No
matter how insightful or useful the book’s ideas were, its cultural and temporal specificity made it
increasingly unintelligible and irrelevant to most of his readers. In the decades after Eidlitz died,

this problem become exacerbated by American rejection of nearly all things German.

Only Montgomery Schuyler,” a New York City writer born the year that Eidlitz arrived in
America, retained much interest in him. He described Eidlitz’s intentions as

a rationalization of architectural form in general, that it should

express and conform to the mechanical facts of structure; and the

works which manifest this purpose manifest also a powerful
artistic individuality.®

Schuyler learned about architecture and became a part of the architectural circle in New York
City through Eidlitz, and his writings about him and his son (also an architect) were widely
published. He described Eidlitz as “about the most interesting acquaintance made in the whole

»ll

course of [my] life,”" and his concern for his mentor’s reputation remained constant.

Although Schuyler called his memorial series on Eidlitz “A Great American Architect,” he began
with a reference to the Fidlitz’s European roots, and in his criticism, he often took note of its
“German” qualities. In his last published article, however, Eidlitz seemed to put the matter of

“otherness” to rest. Referring to himself as “an American from America, a man without

? Schuyler (1843-1914) was born in Ithaca, New York. He attended but did not graduate from Hobart
College and came to New York City in 1865. He was a journalist for the New York World until 1883 when
he joined the New York Times and remained there until he retired in 1907. Schuyler also served as
managing editor of Harper’s Weekly from 1885 to 1887, worked for Harper & Bros. as an editor and writer
from 1887 to 1894 and contributed to the New York Sun and several magazines. He was a member of the
American Institute of Architects, the National Institute of Arts and Letters, and the Century Club. “Old
Member of Times Staff Dead,” New York Times, 17 July 1914, p. 9.

10 Montgomery Schuyler, “Cyrus L. W. Eidlitz,” Architectural Record, vol. 5, no. 4 (August 1896), p. 413.
" Montgomery Schuyler, “The Work of Leopold Eidlitz, II,” p. 277.
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traditions or proper respect for antiquity,”'? he finally took on the role for which he willingly

prepared himself.

' Leopold Eidlitz, “The Educational Training of Architects. A Rejoinder,” Journal of the Royal Institute of
British Architects, vol. 4 (November 1896-October 1897), p. 464.
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1. INTRODUCTION

At the time of Leopold Eidlitz’s departure to America, German-speaking Europe was more a state of
mind than a political or cultural reality. Born in Bohemia, a crown province of the Austrian Empire,
Eidlitz dwelled in diverse group of lands whose commonality, other than an official language, was
frequently difficult to perceive and whose inhabitants occupied locales that ranged from rural duchies
to the imperial city of Vienna.'! The educational and professional opportunities made available to
nearly all of the Empire’s subjects due to the considerable needs of its physical and bureaucratic
infrastructure were not lost on Eidlitz, and it is unlikely that he could have become an architect as
easily elsewhere in Europe. The product of a culture that was overtly hierarchical yet inherently
diverse, he initially saw American society in precisely the opposite manner and over the course of his

life changed from a cautious critic of that difference to an active supporter.

The Development of German-speaking Europe

At the beginning of the nineteenth century, most German-speaking Europeans lived in roughty 300
independent principalities and more than 1,500 semi-sovereign bodies joined together in a loose
confederation of secular and ecclesiastical groups that ranged in size and importance from rural
villages to powerful nations. While Prussians, Bavarians, Bohemians, Silesians, and other geo-
cultural groups shared a common language, their religious beliefs and political allegiances neither
permitted nor encouraged them to consider themselves citizens of a single nation. This situation was
reflected in the affiliation of the member states that comprised the Heiliges Romisches Reich
Deutscher Nation (Holy Roman Empire of the German Nation), the political entity in charge of this
complex mix. The Empire was established in 962 when Pope John XII crowned Otto I of Germany

“Emperor of the Romans” as a reward for helping him retain possession of the Papal States.

! The Austrian Empire lasted until 1866, more than twenty-five years after Eidlitz left Europe for America. The
Austro-Hungarian Empire that succeeded it dissolved after World War L.

1
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Although it had little in common with its ancient predecessor, its proponents regarded the new
Empire as a restoration and continuation of the Roman Empire. It was presided over by German
kings until 1806, a pertod during which they ruled most of central Europe and Italy; its six largest
cities were Vienna (207,000), Berlin (173,000), Hamburg (100,000), Prague (76,000), Breslau
(57,000), and Dresden (53,000).2 The Empire was not, and did not aspire to be a German state, and it
excluded the German-speakers in Switzerland, Greater Hungary, and East Prussia, while admitting
such non-German speakers as Czechs, Poles Slovenes, Italians, Walloons, and Flemings.3 While
threats from the Ottoman Empire or Louis XIV of France occasionally stimulated cooperation among

its members, they were more often occupied with concerns for their own welfare.

Although the Empire was notorious for its inefficiency and political intrigue, the Emperor’s value as
mediator was recognized, and contemporary critics believed that English, Danish, and Swedish
interference caused the most harm to German affairs. After the end of the Seven Years War (1756-
63), calls were made for preservation and modernization of the Empire, but the growing imbalance of
power among its members made the idea increasingly impractical.* The situation was most obvious
in Prussia and Austria, the largest of the German-speaking states. In Austria, after a series of military
defeats by Prussia and the loss of Silesia during the War of the Austrian Succession (1740-48),’
Empress Maria Theresa introduced reforms between 1748 and 1755 that increased centralization of
governmental power and substantially enlarged the army. Similar policies initiated after the Seven

Years War reached a peak during the reign of her son, Joseph Il (reg. 1780-90), who, despite his

? David Blackbourn, The Long Nineteenth Century: A History of Germany, 1780-1918 (New York: Oxford
University Press, 1998), p. 33.

? Blackbourn, p. 13.
4 Blackbourn, pp. 17-19.

% In 1740, Frederick IT of Prussia invaded Austria without declaring war. Prussia quit the war in 1742 without
consulting its allies, reentered it in 1744, and quit again in 1745. The resultant treaties allowed him to transfer
nearly all of Silesia to Prussia.
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position as Emperor, came to oppose the Empire’s financial, religious, and political inefficiencies and

made German its common official language in 1784.°

A similar consolidation of power occurred in Prussia between the middle of the seventeenth century
and the death of Frederick II (“the Great™) in 1786. Prussia, in the modern sense, came into existence
in 1701 when the elector of Brandenburg assumed the title “king in Prussia,” a designation that had
no precedent in the Holy Roman Empire. Before that event, the term “Prussia” merely referred to a
flat, sandy region that bordered the Baltic Sea and was separated from Brandenburg by a part of
Poland. The original inhabitants of Prussia, the Borussi, were of Baltic ancestry and were conquered
and nearly exterminated during the thirteenth century by the Knights of the Teutonic Order, an event
that became increasingly associated with the Germanization of Prussia. In contrast to Austria,
Prussia’s initial territorial holdings were modest, and expansion was achieved through “judicious
marriages, strategic land purchases and — above all in the Frederician period — military conquest.”” In
1720, Prussia gained its first new territory, the eastern part of Swedish Pomerania, as a result of the
Northern War. However, during the next twenty years, Frederick William I used diplomatic means to
create a unified state. Although his son Frederick II had won new territory in the War of Austrian
Succession, he gained no land from the Seven Years War. Nevertheless, Prussia emerged from it as
the chief European military power, its size and population nearly doubling after partitioning Poland in
1772,1792, and 1795. Prussia did not fare as well toward the end of the rule of Frederick Wilhelm II
nor under Frederick Wilhelm III during the French Revolutionary Wars and the wars of Napoleon I

(1789-1815). Defeated by France, Prussia withdrew from the anti-French coalition in the Treaty of

¢ Joseph considered renouncing the title at one point, an action consistent with his desire to strengthen the
Austrian position in the German states, areas he referred to as “provinces” of Habsburg lands; Blackbourn, p.
21.

" Blackbourn, p. 22.
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Basel (1795) and remained neutral until 1 806.> However, in 1807, Prussia became a virtual
dependency of France, losing all of its lands west of the Elbe and most of its share of Poland after its

armies were defeated by Napoleon in the battles of Jena and Auerstedt.

The victors met in Vienna 1814-15 after Napoleon’s loss and, under the leadership of Austrian
Chancellor Fiirst Metternich, attempted to restore the pre-war political situation. As part of that
attempt, the Congress of Vienna established the Deutscher Bund (German Federation) that consisted
of thirty-five sovereign monarchs and four independent cities. Although the Federation was intended
to guarantee the external and internal peace and independence of its member states, their only
commonality was the Bundestag, a legislative body located in Frankfurt and presided over by the
Austrian president. The Bundestag could do little to advance conditions in its member states because
it required a unanimous or two-thirds majority vote for most decisions and delegates were strictly
bound to instructions issued by their respective governments. Economic development of these
predominantly small and economically unviable states was also hindered by extensive border and
customs regulations, and in rural areas where eighty percent of the population lived, land ownership
by the aristocracy and church and servitude of farmers and peasants remained unchanged. While
student associations at German universities and some other groups became increasingly concerned
with the disparity between the social and economic possibilities suggested by the idea of a single
nation and the reality of living in a multitude of separate states, Metternich’s strong conservative
influence, backed by Prussia, dominated the Federation until 1848, when revolution swept through
Germany and Austria.’ However, it did not produce a unified German nation, and Austria remained a

separate force in German affairs until defeated by Prussia in 1866.

8 On March 6, 1806, Francis II, who had previously assumed the title of Emperor of Austria, abdicated as Holy
Roman Emperor in response to Napoleonic pressure and declared the Holy Roman Empire dissolved.

? David Watkin and Tilman Mellinghoff, German Architecture and the Classical Ideal (Cambridge, MA: The
MIT Press, 1987), pp. 8-15. At the Congress of Vienna, Prussia gained the entire Rhine province and
4
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The Development of Bohemia

Bohemia was a part of the Austrian state and its name (“Béhmen” in German, “Cechy” in Czech)
comes from a Celtic people, the Boii. Settled by Slavic Czechs during the fifth or sixth century, it
was Christianized in the ninth and ruled by the Pfemyslid family until 1306 when Vaclav III was
assassinated and John of Luxembourg was offered the crown four year later. John’s son, Charles,
was raised in the French Court by the future Pope Clement VI and elected king of Bohemia in 1341
by an assembly of nobles. Supported by the Electors of Germany, he became Holy Roman emperor
Charles IV in 1346. Although Bohemia had been a part of the Holy Roman Empire since 1198,
Charles was the first emperor to make Prague its capital. He founded Europe’s first university there
in 1348 and the growing city became a hub of intellectual, artistic, and commercial activity within
central Europe. The Luxembourg dynasty ended during the rule of Charles’ son, Vaclav IV (1378-
1419), and after a series of disputes over succession, the Jagiellon family assumed power in 1417.
Their rule was harsh and ineffective, and they were ousted when Archduke Ferdinand I of Austria

established Habsburg control of Bohemia.

Ferdinand did not assume power at an auspicious time. During the early fifteenth century, Bohemia
suffered from the effects of the contentious Jagiellon succession and disputes between the Catholics
and the followers of Jan Hus (b. 1369), a Prague-born university rector and religious reformer who
was burned as a heretic in 1415. Wars between Bohemian Hussites and Roman Catholics in Bohemia
and Germany swept the kingdom until agreements made in 1436 reduced the power of the Roman
Catholic church and granted limited religious freedom to a moderate branch of the Hussites. A
Roman Catholic, Ferdinand pursued moderation in religious affairs, but confrontations culminated in
a Protestant revolt against the Habsburgs in 1618. After the Roman Catholics defeated the Bohemian

Protestants at the Battle of White Mountain (8 November 1620), Ferdinand I reasserted Habsburg

Westphalia, the northern half of Saxony, the remainder of Swedish Pomerania, and a large part of western
Poland, including Danzig, Pozna, and Gniezno in addition to its recovered territories.

5
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authority over Bohemia, Protestantism was suppressed, and most of the population gradually
converted to Roman Catholicism. During this period, Bohemia lost several provinces (the two

Lusatias in 1635, Silesia in the mid-eighteenth century), and was absorbed into the Austrian Empire.

| Czech nationalism was suppressed during this period and German became the language of instruction
in grammar schools and the university as well as for government, culture, and social communication
among the nobility and bourgeoisie. Only the lower classes continued to speak Czech and the
language became increasingly marginalized. After expelling the Czech aristocracy, the Habsburgs
made the city a second imperial capital, but Vienna remained the political, intellectual, and cultural
center of the empire and German and foreign art, particularly talian, was privileged. Serfdom was
abolished after Czechs living in Bohemia and Moravia unsuccessfully revolted against the Habsburgs
in 1848, and some economic power began to pass from the local aristocracy to the middle classes.
Continued Czech agitation for autonomy within the Austrian empire was matched by Slovak
opposition to Habsburg rule, and at the end of World War I, the two groups joined in an independent

Republic of Czechoslovakia, with Bohemia its westernmost province and industrial center.

Prague

Leopold Eidlitz (29 March 1823-22 March 1908)," the son of Adolf (d. 1847)!! and Julia Eidlitz
(1800-80), was born in Prague, the main city of the Stredocesky region of Central Bohemia, then a
province of the Austrian empire. The surname “Eidlitz” (“Udlice” in Czech) is associated with
families whose origins are in several small villages located near Vienna, although it also had a long
standing in the city of his birth. Prague straddles a bend in the Vltava (“Moldau” in German) River,

and the city’s historic center consists of four unique districts: Hrad¢any, located on the hill above the

19 The year of Leopold’s birth is not entirely certain. His age was given as 54 in the 1880 United States census;
this would mean that he was born in 1826. However, all published material states that he was born in 1823.

! The year of Adolf’s death was mentioned in Marc Eidlitz & Son, 1854-1917 (New York: 1914).
6
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left bank, Mala Strana (Little Quarter) below it, and Staré Mésto (Old Town) and Nové Mésto (New
Town), on the right bank. Architecturally and politically, Prague’s greatest period extended from the
mid-fourteenth century, when it became the seat of the Holy Roman Emperor, to the early eighteenth,
when Emperor Joseph II’s reorganization of local government in 1784 diminished the independence
of the four districts because they were seen as contrary to the centralizing and Germanizing policies
of the Austrian government located in Vienna. Joseph’s abolition of serfdom in 1783 enabled free
movement within the empire, and many former serfs headed for Prague. Although efforts at civic
improvement, such as filling in moats, begun in the 1760s were not implemented for nearly twenty-
five years, by about 1820, the growth of industry in the outlying areas made the city into a busy
commercial center, and it was confronted with urban problems such as increased traffic, housing

shortages, and an inadequate water supply.

Coming to America

The details of the European lives of Eidlitz and his parents are unknown and he was said to have
arrived by himself in America in 1843."> A New York City guidebook published shortly thereafter
noted that 1,832 ships arrived from foreign ports during that year. Of those, 402 were American,
eight were British, and sixteen were from Bremen, the most likely point of embarkation for Eidlitz,
with the remainder from Sweden, Hamburg, France, and elsewhere.” Leopold was twenty-one years
old when he landed, and his younger brother, Marc[us], is said to have arrived three years later.'*

Most biographical accounts claim that Leopold studied land stewardship at the Vienna Polytechnical

12 Leopold Eidlitz I, p. 164; “Leopold Eidlitz” in The Public Service of the State of New York. Historical,
Statistical, Descriptive, and Biographical. Illustrated with Views and Portraits, Paul A. Chadbourne, editor-in-
chief, Walter Burritt Moore, associate ed. (Boston: James R. Osgood and Company, 1882), vol. 2, p. 77.

' The Great Metropolis: or New York in 1845 (New York: John Doggett, Jr., 1845), p. 68.

'* Neither arrival is documented in Passenger and Immigration Lists Index, P. William Filby and Mary K.
Meyer, eds., 31 vols. (Detroit: Gale Research Company, 1981-2002).
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Institute," but no documentation has been located to confirm this and many aspects of his American
career are similarly obscure. If he left any written records, they not been located, possibly because
they were written in German and have not been identified.'® Because of this, nearly all biographical
material is based on two sources: a brief account prepared by his son that appeared as an obituary
published by the American Institute of Architects'’ and a three-part series that appeared in
Architectural Record. This material can be correlated with accounts of his work and personal life

using sources such as newspapers and census records.

The reasons for Leopold and Marc’s departure from Europe are not known, and several factors may
have played a part in their decision. Thomas Capek, the primary historian of the Bohemians in
America, paraphrased an unidentified contemporary writer to the effect that before 1840, no one in
Bohemia thought of leaving because of the prosperous conditions that followed the Napoleonic wars.
In 1840, however, the country was assaulted by droughts and a failure of the potato crop and
emigration from ports located in Hamburg, Le Havre, Antwerp, and Bremen began.'® Emigration had

also become common for young Austrians with technical or scientific training, because the Habsburg

15 The American Art Annual, vol. 7 (1910), p. 75; “The late Leopold Eidlitz,” Journal of the Royal Institute Of
British Architects, vol. 15, (November 1907-October 1908), pp. 654; Montgomery Schuyler, “A Great
American Architect: Leopold Eidlitz I. Ecclesiastical and Domestic Work,” p. 164. Kisch claimed that Eidlitz
also studied in Bologna; pp. 157-58, an assertion reflected in a passage that appears on p. 25 of Otto Eidlitz:
September 18, 1860— October 30, 1928 (New York, 1929), a privately printed biography of one of Marc’s sons
and business partners. The passage also mis-dates the arrival in America of Leopold and Marc, claiming that
both immigrated in 1847; Elizabeth Eidlitz, the daughter of Emest Eidlitz, Marc’s youngest son, brought the
passage to my attention. Curran claimed that Leopold trained as an engineer in Vienna and only The Western
Architect suggested that Eidlitz had anything that may have approached a formal architectural education,
writing, “after spending several years of his youth studying architecture in Vienna, and elsewhere in Europe, he
came to this country.” Kathleen A. Curran, The Romanesque Revival: Religion, Politics, and Transnational
Exchange (University Park, PA: The Pennsylvania State University Press, 2003), p. 266; “Obituary. Leopold
Eidlitz,” The Western Architect, vol. 11 (June 1908), p. 74.

16 Eidlitz’s surviving architectural drawings and a collection of photographs assembled by him and his son are
located in the Avery Library of Columbia University. The single written notation that appeared in the material
was in German.

17«1 eopold Eidlitz, F.A.LA.,” American Institute of Architects Quarterly Bulletin, vol. 9, no. 1 (April 1908),
pp. 37-38.
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Empire generated little demand for those with such skills during the first half of the nineteenth

century. 19

Eidlitz arrived in America at the midpoint of a period often referred to as the “Greek Revival.”?
Talbot Hamlin wrote that it extended “roughly from 1820 to 1860, [and] might more fittingly be
called ‘Middle American,” because at this time the young nation had gained its feet and was striding

forward with conscious vigor and confidence.”” As Hamlin explained,

These decades from the twenties to the sixties were vital in every
phase of development. Politically, the system of government was
crystallizing, and at the same time gaining flexibility to administer
to the needs of an increasingly complex society. Economically, the
expansion was fabulous, for the seemingly limitless natural
resources were being developed (and exploited); and the industrial
power which has since carried us to national greatness was being
established.”

'8 Thomas Capek, The Cechs (Bohemians) in America, A Study of their National, Cultural, Political, Social,
Economic and Religious Life (New York: Amo Press, 1969), reprint of first ed. (Boston and New York:
Houghton Mifflin Company, 1920), pp. 25, 34. Capek’s Cechs included Bohemians, Moravians, and Silesians.

' Gary B. Cohen, Education and Middle-class Society in Imperial Austria, 1848-1918 (West Lafayette, IN:
Purdue University Press, 1996), p. 15.

2 Greek Revivals also appeared throughout Europe in England, Italy, Denmark, France, Hungary, Poland,
Finland, the Baltic states, and Russia at various times between 1770 and 1840. They primarily affected the
design of public buildings, although they also influenced residential, furniture, and interior design. Their
gradual spread coincided with and was dependent on the growth of archaeological investigations in Greece
during the eighteenth and nineteenth centuries. The built and written work of archeologist-architects such as
James Stuart and Nicholas Revett, William Wilkins, and C. R. Cockerell (England), Jacques-Ignace Hittorff
and Henri Labrouste (France), and Léo von Klenze (Germany) were largely responsible for its diffusion in
Europe. Although accurate replication of classical Greek architectural elements first appeared in mid-18th-
century England in the context of garden structures, the approach came to be associated in Germany, Scotland,
and America with expressions of enlightened civic virtues, and its forms were widely adopted in comprehensive
urban-planning schemes; Roger G. Kennedy, Greek Revival America (New York: Stewart Tabori & Chang,
1989), p. 5; David Watkin, “Greek Revival” in Grove Dictionary of Art, vol. 13, pp. 607-13.

2! Talbot Hamlin, Greek Revival Architecture in America: Being and Account of Important Trends in American
Architecture and American Life prior to the War Between the States (London, New York, Toronto: Oxford
University Press, 1944), xv.

22 Hamlin, Greek Revival Architecture in America, Xv.
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The American manifestation of the Greek Revival overlapped a similar phenomenon that began in
Europe during the eighteenth century with the “discovery” of Greece.”> Although the presence of
Greek ruins in southern Italy and Sicily was known before that time, access to sites within Greece
was nearly impossible because the areas were under the control of the Ottoman Empire until 1832.
The situation changed substantially after the mid-century publication of detailed drawings of the
major Greek monuments in Les ruines des plus beaux monuments de la Gréce; Ouvrage divisé en
deux parties, ou l’on considére, dans la premiére, ces monuments du cété de [’histoire, et dans la
seconde, du céte de l'architecture by Julien-David Le Roy** and The Antiquities of Athens,
Measured and Delineated by James Stuart and Nicholas Revett, painters and architects® Although
initially intended to document a portion of the classical canon that had dominated Western European
architecture since the Renaissance, these publications inadvertently contributed to the end of
classicism as a universal style of architecture because actual Greek forms were differed significantly
from expectations despite earlier discoveries such as the Doric temples at Paestum. Mitchell
Schwarzer has claimed that this period marked the beginning of a modern esthetic sensibility that
emphasized individuality and reason over collective faith and persuasion and called the Greek
Revival “integral to the cognitive and aesthetic project of the German Enlightenment” because it
contributed to the end of “the Aristotelian paradigm of mimesis.”*® This issue was of extreme

importance to Eidlitz, and it permeated his thought and writing.

2 For a discussion of this process see Robin Middleton, Introduction to Julien-David Le Roy, The Ruins of the
Most Beautiful Monuments of Greece, David Britt, trans. (Los Angeles, CA: The Getty Research Institute, Los
Angeles, 2004), translation of Les ruines des plus beaux monuments de la Gréce; considére du coté de
[histoire et du céte de I’architecture, 2 vols., second ed. (Paris: H. L. Guérin & L. F. Delatour, 1770).

24 Les ruines des plus beaux monuments de la Gréce; Ouvrage divisé en deux parties, ou l’on considére, dans la
premiére, ces monuments du cété de I’histoire, et dans la seconde, du céte de I’architecture (Paris: H. L.
Guérin & L. F. Delatour, 1758).

% 1 ondon: Printed by John Haberkorn, 1762, 1789,

26 Mitchell Schwarzer, German Architectural Theory and the Search for Modern Identity (Cambridge, UK and
New York: Cambridge University Press, 1995), p. 38.
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Hamlin described American social and intellectual changes that were no less significant, and pointed

out

a conscious separation from Europe and a fierce will to be
American. There was a spirit of confidence.... The people had
embarked upon a great experiment in government, and had made it
work. They had conquered a continent and were beginning to
profit from the fruits of their labors. They were witnessing the
miracle of science changing the world before their eyes, and they
were sure that the change was progress. They looked upon
government not as a mere agent for policing and defense, but as an
institution for the administration of human welfare; Science and
Government should solve the problems of the world.”’

This positivistic view of society was counterbalanced by a body of intellectual and artistic work
whose genesis was in the particulars of the American situation but whose concerns were often highly
personal. Hamlin identified, but did not analyze, the particular change in American society led to
such and unusual situation and merely noted “before 1815 culture had been rationalist and theocratic
and after that it became primarily aesthetic and libertarian.”®® The year 1815 marked the end of
hostilities between the United States and England that began three years earlier, and after that year,
European claims on American territory were effectively voided. The work of post-1815 writers such
as Ralph Waldo Emerson, Henry David Thoreau, James Fenimore Cooper, Washington Irving, and
Nathaniel Hawthorne was paralleled by that of painters such as Asher Durand and Thomas Cole in an
increasing concern for the real and the local rather than the ideal and universal. While Hamlin
claimed “The eclecticism implied by the term ‘Greek Revival’ is not the true characteristic of the

period,”” he also acknowledged that

It was no accident that this period became the great era of strange
sects, of free-thinkers, of all types of free-love communities that
scandalized the righteous. The ‘great [religious] revival’ of the

Y Hamlin, Greek Revival Architecture in America, Xv-xvi.
2 Hamlin, Greek Revival Architecture in America, pp. 317-18.
% Hamlin, Greek Revival Architecture in America, xv.
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forties may have been partly a protest against the aesthetic and
moral freedom of the thirties.*®

In architecture, for example, Periclean details determined the range of the acceptable architectural
vocabulary for many structures, especially houses and churches, between 1825 and 1845 3! However,
the combinations in which the details were assembled and the ways in which they were applied were
uniquely American and Hamlin concluded, “Never before or since has there been less influence from

Europe.”

Roger Stein claimed that architecture was necessarily “the most sophisticated of American arts” by
1840 because painting and sculpture were considered luxuries while building was a necessity.”> This
view is supported in the number of American magazines in which Architecture was written about, a
situation that began in 1790 and increased after 1815.** Publications came from local as well as
European sources, and more than sixty books on architectural subjects had been printed in America
by 1840. Most of them, however, were concerned with construction and reflected the influence of the

English writer, Peter Nicholson.*®

% Hamlin, Greek Revival Architecture in America, p. 318.

31 Denys Peter Myers, Introduction to Minard Lafever, The Beauties of Modern Architecture (New York: Da
Capo Press, 1968); reprint of first ed. (New York: D. Appleton & Co., 1835), v.

32 Hamlin, Greek Revival Architecture in America, xvii. See Ada Louise Huxtable, Classic New York,
Georgian Gentility to Greek Elegance (New York: Anchor Books, 1964), pp. 61- 123, for examples in New
York City. W. Barksdale Maynard makes a strong case for the continuity of European traditions in America
during this period in Architecture in the United States, 1800-1850 (New Haven, CT and London: Yale
University Press, 2002).

3 Roger B. Stein, John Ruskin and Aesthetic Thought in America, 1840-1900 (Cambridge, MA: Harvard
University Press, 1967), p. 8.

3% Hamlin, Greek Revival Architecture in America, p. 320 and Appendix B, Sarah H. J. Simpson Hamlin,
“Some Articles of Architectural Interest Published in American Periodicals prior to 1851,” pp. 356-82; Henry-
Russell Hitchcock, American Architectural Books, a list of books, portfolios, and pamphlets on architecture
and related subjects published in America before 1895, third ed. (Minneapolis, MN: University of Minnesota
Press, 1946).

33 Myers, vi. Nicholson (1765-1844) was born in Scotland. He was the son of a stonemason and apprenticed to

a carpenter, but his abilities in mathematics led him to architecture. He established a school of carpentry and

joinery in London in the 1780s and published the first of twenty-four books on the technical aspects of

construction in 1792. Jack Quinan, “Peter Nicholson” in Macmillan Encyclopedia of Architects, vol. 3, p. 300.
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The manifold handbooks usually were both technical manuals and
style books. The designs in the most influential ones can be found,
often in line-for-line copies, in buildings throughout the regions
then comprising the United States. As guides to style, the
handbooks might be described as books of etiquette establishing
architectural manners... It was through the use of these handbooks
that quite unsophisticated vernacular builders achieved in so many
instances remarkably well-proportioned, suave, and often subtle
results.”®

The role that European influence should play in Ameﬁcan architecture came into question around
1840 in response to increasing consciousness and study of the historical styles of architecture.
Partisans of Greek, Roman, and Gothic forms quarreled among themselves, and notions of
correctness replaced the freer approaches previously embodied in vernacular and professional work.
Although many American architects shared these concerns with their European counterparts, a
perception developed in America that the European origin of the historical styles made them
inherently unsuitable for the New World. The relationship of ornament and construction was also
examined in Europe and America at this time. Having lost its original role as a supplemental but
necessary aspect of construction, ornament had become a subject of heightened interest and
increasingly synonymous with decoration. This process led to a growing distinction between
architecture and building on both continents, with the former increasingly defined by the presence of
ornament. Consequently, building was increasingly relégated to technicians while architecture

became the realm of artists.

A main difference between our times and the medieval times is that
then the scientific constructor and the artistic constructor were one
person, now they are two. The art of architecture is divided against
itself. The architect resents the engineer as a barbarian; the

Philologus Brown, a fictional architect invented by Eidlitz to represent the sort of practitioner that still relied
on Nicholson during the mid-nineteenth century appeared in his satirical essays and poems; Leopold Fidlitz,
“The T Squares. No. I—Philologus Brown,” The Crayon, vol. 5 (February 1858), pp. 48-50; unsigned; “The T
Squares. Philologus Brown. — (Continued.)” The Crayon, vol. 5 (March 1858), pp. 77-79; unsigned; “The T
Squares. Philologus Brown. — (Concluded.)” The Crayon, vol. 5 (April 1858), pp. 107-08; unsigned; “The
Architect of Other Days,” The Architects and Mechanics Journal, vol. 1, (3 March 1860), pp. 171-72.

36 Myers, vi.
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engineer makes light of the architect as a dilettante. It is difficult to
deny that each is largely in the right.”’

The split between design and construction became a major preoccupation of mid- to late nineteenth-
century critics in Europe and America, and its early manifestations were inescapable when Eidlitz

arrived in New York City.

The Growth of New York City

Several governmental actions had contributed to the rapid economic growth of New York City after
peace was made with England in 1815.3® The Tariff Act of 1816 and the imposition of additional
duties two years later encouraged new industries, and institutions that could provide banking and
transportation services grew and prospered. Simultaneously, the success of the southern cotton
industry sent large sums of money to the city, and immigration increased. Perhaps most significantly,
completion of the Erie Canal (1817-25) between Albany and Buffalo made New York City the main
distribution center for goods passing between Europe and the American interior.”* Before these
events, New York City commerce was primarily regional; after them, the city assumed decisive

control of foreign trade.

A new financial center developed on Wall Street in lower Manhattan as the United States Branch
Bank (Martin Euclid Thompson, 1822-24; demolished) and the first Merchant’s Exchange (Martin
Euclid Thompson, 1825-27; demolished) provided a suitably scaled and designed environment for

commerce, the first in the English Georgian and the second in the Greek Revival style. Few privately

" Montgomery Schuyler, “Modern Architecture,” Architectural Record, vol. 4, no. 1 (July-September 1894), p.
13.

3% This discussion of the early financial development of New York City is based on Lois Severini, The
Architecture of Finance, Early Wall Street (Ann Arbor, MI: UMI Research Press, 1983), pp. 23-53.

% The canal was advocated by New York State governor De Witt Clinton as early as 1810, and by the time it
was finished, it cost $7.6 million and extended for 363 miles. Arthur G. Adam, “Erie Canal” in The
Encyclopedia of New York City, Kenneth T. Jackson, ed. (New Haven, CT and London: Yale University Press;
New York: New York Historical Society, 1995), p. 382.
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built financial institutions had existed in the area before 1830, however, wealth continued to increase

rapidly, and the population of New York City surpassed that of Philadelphia during that year.

Development and growth briefly paused when a fire broke out on the night of 16 December 1835 and
destroyed nearly 700 buildings in the nascent financial district. The disaster was followed by a
national financial crisis that culminated in a banking collapse in 1837. Nevertheless, a new Customs
House (Alexander Jackson Davis with John Frazee and William Ross, 1834-42)* was built on the
site of the old City Hall, and a new and larger Merchants’ Exchange (Isaiah Rogers, 1836-42; altered
and enlarged 1907 by McKim, Mead & White, now a hotel) replaced the existing building, although
by 1849 it was considered too small. Five private banks were also built while the Merchants’
Exchange was in construction. Private banks were usually family-run institutions involved in
brokerage, shipping, or merchandising. They made loans and investments, issued paper money, and
accepted deposits. In contrast to commercial banks, they did not require a charter from state or
national government and were permitted to lend amounts that exceeded their deposits. Private banks
emphasized their autonomy and privacy; however, commercial banks were answerable to the public

and perceived as corporate, forceful, and, most importantly, stable."!

The gradual stabilization of the financial system that encouraged all of this was initiated in 1838
when New York State legislature passed banking laws that linked formation of new banks to
adequacy of capital rather than political influence. Andrew Jackson’s 1841 closure of the Second
Bank of the United States in Philadelphia, an institution that operated as a de facto central bank, also
encouraged such activity. Concurrent with these events, railroads began to supplant canals and their

funding mechanisms gradually shifted from bonds to stocks. After the demise of the Second Bank,

® Frazee (1790-1852) was a self-taught sculptor who appeared in New York City directories in 1840; Dennis
Steadman Francis, Architects in Practice, New York City 1840-1900 (New York: Committee for the
Preservation of Architectural Records, n.d. 1980?), pp. 32, 66. I have not been able to identify William Ross.

* Severini, p. 2.

15

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.



Boston became a center for financing stocks, but when its bankers were caught short of capital during
an 1847, New York City financiers assumed their obligations and solidified their claim to financial
leadership. Two years earlier, Wall Street had experienced another fire that destroyed $5-7 million of
property, including 345 buildings. Such was the mood of optimism, however, that nearly all of the
surviving structures were also pulled down and by 1848, just before gold was discovered in
California, twenty-five banks were operating in the city. Within a few years, that number doubled,

largely due to the inflow of western gold.

After the Civil War, social and economic conditions changed dramatically.

The years from 1850 to 1870... were among the most remarkable
in our entire history. The days of a stable balance between
agriculture and industry were over. The sense of equilibrium had
vanished. Everything and everyone was on the move. Immigrants
by the millions... poured into this promised land, bringing with
them their own traditions, which in due course, were absorbed into
the mainstream of our culture. It is against this vital and shifting
background that one must try to understand the architecture of the
time. A single dominant style, such as the classical revival, was no
longer capable of expressing the complicated tensions of the
period; even the delicate balance between the Greek and Gothic
revivals, so long maintained, was impossible now.*

This absence of aesthetic agreement affected groups of buildings as well as individual structures. In
the older cities of the East Coast, this was especially noticeable. At the beginning of the nineteenth
century, areas in these cities tended to reflect traditional notions of enclosure and boundary that
reinforced social, economic, and architectural distinctions between the public and private realms.
Street grids regulated the placement of built fabric and, with the exception of civic and religious
monuments, the size, height, setback, and even appearance of most buildings was rélatively uniform.
After the Civil War, commercial and political concerns manifested greater presence in these areas in

the form of exceptionally large and, often, freestanding structures such as department stores, office

2 Ellen W. Kramer, “Contemporary Descriptions of New York City and Its Public Architecture ca. 1850,”
Journal of the Society of Architectural Historians, vol. 27 no. 4 (December 1968), p. 18.
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blocks, railroad stations, and governmental buildings. Pre-War relationships based on location, use,
and appearances were intentionally and drastically altered, and cities increasingly adapted themselves
to interests that were commercial, governmental, and private rather than civic, residential and public.

This was particularly true in New York City.*

The Eidlitz Family

In 1846, the year in which he received his first commission, Leopold Eidlitz married Harriet Amanda
Warner (1823?-91),* the daughter of Cyrus Lazelle Warner (1788/9-1852) and Elizabeth Wadland
Adams Warner (1792-1860).* Although Montgomery Schuyler, Eidlitz’s biographer and close
friend claimed that Warner was “an architect with whom [Eidlitz] was professionally associated soon
after coming to the United States,”* he did not always mention Warner in his accounts of Eidlitz’s
life. The manner in which they met and nearly all other aspects of their personal relationship are
unknown. No record of any collaboration has been located, although Biruta Erdmann claimed that

Eidlitz worked for Warner until he opened his own office in 1846.%

Little is known about Warner or his work. Said to have come from “old New England stock, and able
to trace his ancestry as far back as 1632,” a family memoir claimed that he was born in Ashfield,

Massachusetts, and his wife in Leicester, Vermont.*® At some time before 1822, they moved to

*# See Christine M. Boyer, Manhattan Manners, Architecture and Style 1850-1900 (New York: Rizzoli: 1985),
pp. 1-7.
* The year of Harriet’s birth is uncertain. Her age was given as 52 in the 1880 United States census; this would

mean that she was born in 1828 and, therefore, two years younger than Leopold. However, her obituary stated
that he was 68 when she died in 1891, making her year of birth 1823, the same as his.

4> Montgomery Schuyler, “Leopold Eidlitz,” Dictionary of American Biography, vol. 6, p. 61.
4 Montgomery Schuyler, “Leopold Eidlitz,” in Dictionary of American Biography, vol. 6, p. 61.

7 Biruta Erdmann, Leopold Eidlitz’s Architectural Theories and American Transcendentalism Thesis (Ph.D.)
University of Wisconsin-Madison, 1977 (Ann Arbor, MI: UMI Dissertation Services, 1989), p. 46 n. 6.

* Katherine Warner Radash and Arthur Hitchcock Radash, Register of the Ancestors and Descendents of

Samuel Warner of Wilbraham, Massachusetts, second ed. (Springfield, MA: The Samuel Warner Association,

1956), pp. 76, 78; Barbara W. Jamieson, The Commercial Architecture of Samuel A. Warner unpublished
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Geneseo, a small village located in western New York near Rochester. Settled in 1790, the town
became a county seat in 1821 and was incorporated in 1832. Warner was mentioned in 1829 in a
local newspaper account as the designer of-St. Michael’s Episcopal Church; however, the building
was demolished in 1866. He moved to New York City about 1837 where he worked as a builder and
architect, appearing in New York City directories from 1839 to 1851. He made a rendering of Isaiah
Rogers’ Second Merchants Exchange that was published as a colored lithograph by John H. Bufford

in 1837.%

Some have also credited Warner with the design of Kahal Kadosh Beth Elohim (Hazel Street)
Synagogue (1841, Charleston, SC), but the attribution is not certain.® The domed Greek Revival
building was a replacement for an earlier structure that burned in 1838. Hamlin and Beatrice St.
Julien Ravenel did not know if Warner or Russell Warren (1783-1860), an architect who worked in
Providence, RI, and New York City designed it.>! Jonathan Poston claimed that Warner might have
been the drafter rather than designer, although Rachel Wischnitzer pointed out that contract assigned
the design to Warner, “the architect of New York™ even though he was not involved in the

construction.”” Roger Kennedy suggested (and Gene Wadell confirmed) that Charles Friedrich

Thesis (MA) Pennsylvania State University, 1972, pp. 6, 11 n. 4, 12 n. 13, 14; Architects in Practice, New York
City, 1840-1900, p. 80; “Harriet [Amanda Warner] Eidlitz,” New York Times, 23 February 1891, p. 5.

4 The image was reproduced in Isaac Newton Phelps Stokes, The Iconography of New York City Island, 1498-
1909, compiled from sources and illustrated by photo-intaglio reproductions of important maps, plans, views
and documents in public and private collections, New York: Robert H. Dodd, 1918), vol. 3, pl. 118.

50 Records of Buildings in Charleston and the South Carolina Low Country, Harley J. McKee, compiler
(National Park Service, United States Department of the Interior, Philadelphia: Eastern Office of Design and
Construction, 1965), p. 11; The Preservation Society of Charleston, The Churches of Charleston and the
Lowcountry (Columbia, SC: University of South Carolina Press, 1977), pp. 55-57; Gerald Bernstein, “Two
Hundred Years of American Synagogue Architecture,” p. 11 in Two Hundred Years of American Synagogue
Architecture, exhibition catalogue, The Rose Art Museum, Brandeis University, Waltham, MA, 30 March-2
May 1976 (Waltham, MA: The American Jewish Historical Society, 1976).

3! Hamlin, Greek Revival Architecture in America, p. 200; Ravenel, p. 156.

52 Jonathan H. Poston, The Buildings of Charleston: a guide to the city’s architecture (Columbia, SC:
University of South Carolina Press, 1977), p. 450; Rachael Wischnitzer, Synagogue Architecture in the United
States, History and Interpretation (Philadelphia: The Jewish Publication Society of the United States, 1955), p.
39.
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Reichardt, a New York City contemporary of Warner, was involved at one time but nothing came of
his participation.”® Wadell suggested the most plausible scenario after a review of congregational
minutes. He determined that local builders/contractors Tappan & Noble prepared the accepted design
and specifications for the building. He also found that congregational trustees sent the design
drawings to Warner in New York where he made the construction drawings and numerous changes to
the design. The extent of the changes is unknown, however, because neither the Tappan & Noble nor
the Warner drawings survived.”® Rachel Wischnitzer also claimed that Warner designed the Marble
Collegiate (Reformed Protestant Dutch) Church (New York City, 1851-54); however, his son,

Samuel, designed it.>s

Cyrus and Elizabeth had four children: Samuel Adams (1822-97),% Francis Cyrus (1831-56), Hulda
Delia (d. 1859) and Benjamin Wilcox. All of the boys were said to be architects,”’ but no
information on the career of Francis or life dates for Benjamin could be found. Samuel, the oldest,
was born in Geneseo and appeared in New York City directories as an architect from 1849 to 1871;
Benjamin appeared from 1859 to 1902. As was customary at the time, both trained in their father’s
office. Samuel began his practice in 1849; he and Benjamin maintained individual offices except
when they shared one as partners in 1871.® Samuel was a founding member of the American
Institute of Architects and became a Fellow in 1869. He was financially successful and designed

many commercial buildings in New York City and several important public buildings in Texas,

3 Kennedy, p. 141 n. §; Wadell, p. 22.

3 Wadell, pp. 22-32.

% Wischnitzer, Synagogue Architecture in the United States, p. 39.

%6 The 1880 United Sates census gave his year of birth as 1819.

3" Montgomery Schuyler, “Leopold Eidlitz,” Dictionary of American Biography, vol. 6, p. 61.

%% «Samuel A. Warner” in Biographical Dictionary of American Architects (Deceased), Henry F. and Elsie
Rathburn Withey, eds. (Los Angeles, CA: Hennesy & Ingalls, Inc. 1970), p. 634.
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Louisiana, and North Carolina.” He also served with Leopold Eidlitz on an American Institute of
Architects committee that, in 1867, advocated formation of a polytechnical school to be operated by
the Institute in New York City.®® Cyrus died in Geneseo but was buried with his wife and son,
Samuel, in the Green-Wood Cemetery in Brooklyn along with several members of Leopold’s

family.®!

Leopold’s younger brother Marc (1826-92) followed his elder sibling to New York, founded a major
American construction dynasty, and achieved a level of financial success that eluded Leopold. Born
in Prague, he attended school until he was twelve years old when he was forced to look for work. He
left in 1847 when his father died and arrived in New York City where he apprenticed himself to a
mason-builder for four years. In 1854, he married the Austrian-born Mathilde Sohr (1830-1910) and
began work as a general contractor. This was a new type of enterprise that emerged around 1850
specifically to manage large institutional and commercial projects. Although he worked on the
structurally ambitious Harper & Brothers Building (John B. Corlies and James Bogardus, 1854), he
was said to have established his reputation in 1857 when he built the Broadway Tabernacle
Congregational Church, designed by his brother Leopold and one of the largest New York City
churches of the time. Marc also worked for other architects, mainly in New York City and Long

Island.®® At the time of his death, he was president of the Building Trades Club and the Germania

% «“Mr. Samuel A. Warner,” The American Architect and Building News, vol. 57 (3 July 1897), p. 2; “Samuel
A. Warner Dead,” New York Times, 24 June 1897, p. 7; Francis, pp. 43, 80; James Ward, Architects in Practice,
New York City, 1900-1940 (New York: Committee for the Preservation of Architectural Records, 1989), p. 82;
“Samuel A. Warner” in Biographical Dictionary of American Architects (Deceased), p. 634; Jamieson, pp. 6-
10.

% Leopold Eidlitz, Richard Griffith Hatfield, Emlyn Littell, Samuel Adams Warner, William Robert Ware,
“Report of the Committee on Education,” in American Institute of Architects, Proceedings of the Annual
Convention Held at the Rooms of the New York Chapter, October 22d and 23d, 1867 (New Y ork: Raymond and
Caulon, Publishers, 1867), pp. 4, 13-16.

81 «Samuel A. Warner Dead,” New York Times, 24 June 1897, p-7.

62 He built the Lord & Taylor store (James H. Giles, 1869-70; altered 1872-1902), the first Metropolitan Opera

House (J. Cleveland Cady, 1883), the Steinway & Sons Factory (1859-60) and Hall (Henry Beck, 1868), the

Astor Library (Alexander Saeltzer, 1853; Griffith Thomas, 1859; Thomas Stent, 1881), the German Hospital

and Dispensary (Carl Pfeiffer, 1869; William Schickel, 1883-84; DeL.omos & Cordes, 1888), the Presbyterian
20

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.



Bank as well as a founding member and the New York Representative of the National Association of

Builders.

Marc and his wife had five sons and two daughters. Of the daughters, Virginia died in infancy in
1860; Emily T. was born in 1859, but there is little additional information available on her. Th'e
oldest son, Alfred, studied civil engineering at Cornell but died in 1877, the year after he graduated.
Otto Mark (1860?-1928) also graduated in civil engineering from Cornell (1881) and became a
partner in the family business in 1884. Robert James (1864-1935) studied architecture at Cornell and
at the Royal Polytechnic in Berlin. He became a member of the family firm in 1881. Otto and
Robert assumed control of the family business in 1888 and renamed it Mark Eidlitz and Son after
their father retired.** Otto served as a “dollar-a-year man” during World War I, initially as chairman
of a committee investigating the needs of wartime worker housing, and later as chairman of the
United States Housing Corporation (1917-19), a $100 million program intended to carry out the
recommendations of the committee. Robert was an accomplished numismatist, and his Medals and
Medallions Relating to Architects, Compiled and Edited, and Reproduced in Great Part from the

Collection of Robert James Eidlitz,* is the standard work in its field. Charles (1867-1951) went to

Hospital (Richard Morris Hunt, 1868-72; J. Cleveland Cady, 1889), St. Vincent’s Hospital (William Schickel,
1882), the Church of the Incarnation (Emlyn T. Littell, 1864-65), the Gallatin Bank Building (J. Cleveland
Cady, 1886), and the residences of Ogden Goelet (McKim, Mead & White, 1885) and John Pierpont Morgan
(existing building 1853; altered by H. H. Richardson, 1888).

8 Otto’s year of birth is given as 1861 in the 1880 United States census.

6 After Robert died, the firm became known as McKenzie, Voorhees & Gmelin and based much of its practice
on the design of telephone company buildings. By the 1920s Ralph Walker (1889-1973), amaster of Art Deco,
joined the firm, now named Voorhees, Gmelin & Walker. That firm is now Haines Lundberg Waehler. Kisch,
pp- 158-59; “Death of Marc Eidlitz, Builder,” The American Architect and Building News, vol. 36, (May 7,
1892), p. 77; “Marc Eidlitz,” New York Times, 16 April 1892, p. 4; “Robert James Eidlitz,” Architectural
Forum, vol. 63, no. 1 (July 1935), p. 34; “An Historic Firm,” Architectural Record, vol. 5 (April-June 1896),
pp. 454-55; Woods, From Craft to Profession: The Practice of Architecture in Nineteenth-century America, pp.
154, 156-57, p. 226 n. 3; “C. L. Eidlitz Dead; Trade Arbitrator,” New York Times, 28 January 1951, p. 76;
King’s Handbook of New York City, an outline history and description of the American metropolis, with over
one thousand illustrations form photographs made expressly for this work, Moses King, ed., second ed.
(Boston, MA: Moses King, 1893), pp. 836, 838.

55 New York: privately printed [The Scribner Press], 1927.
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Columbia University and worked for Thomas Edison. After opening an electrical contracting
business, he became increasingly involved in settling labor disputes and founded the Electrical
Contractor’s Association, National Electrical Contractor’s Association, and Building Trades
Employers Association. The youngest son, Ernest Frederick (1868-1959) studied at Cornell and was

a socially prominent lawyer.*

Harriet and Leopold Eidlitz had six children: Harriet Francis, (1851-1 940),67 Elizabeth Warner (1851-

1931),%® Cyrus Lazelle Warner (1853?1921),% Julia T. (1855-1927),” Leopold, Jr. (1857-1929),”

% «Ernest F. Eidlitz, Lawyer 60 Years, “New York Times, 23 May 1959, p. 31.

7 Harriet’s obituary noted that she was descended from John Adams and educated in New York and Europe. In
1874, she married Schuyler Quackenbush (1847-1917) who, at his death, was the oldest member of the New
York Stock Exchange. The Quackenbush family farm had been located in lower Manhattan within the area that
is now located between 34™ to 40" Street and Third to Madison Avenue. “Mrs. F. Quackenbush,” New York
Times, 16 February 1940, p. 24. Harriet’s brother, Cyrus, designed a large, shingled, gambrel roof vacation
house with Colonial Revival details for Quackenbush (1898-99, Lee Avenue, East Hampton, L..1.). His own
house, “Overlea” (1896-97; Ocean Avenue, East Hampton, L.L; alterations and additions 1898, 1901), located
across the street, was considerably smaller. Quackenbush also commissioned a second house, probably as a
rental property in 1915 (Lee Avenue), but used John Custis Lawrence as his architect. Lawrence (1867-1944)
was born and lived in East Hampton. Trained as a sailor, carpenter, and builder, he altered and designed many
“dune homes” in the area including his own and those of Ring Lardner and Grantland Rice (both 1927) and was
an associate architect for the Hotel McAlpin (1904, F. M. Andrews & Company, Broadway between 339 and
34™ Street), then the largest in the world. East Hampton’s Heritage, An Illustrated Architectural Record,
Robert J. Hetner, ed. (New York: W.W. Norton, 1982), pp. 70, 83, 85, 173-75, 191-92; Sherrill Foster, “C. L.
W. Eidlitz, 1853-1921” in Long Island Country Houses and Their Architects, 1860-1940, Robert B. McKay,
Anthony K. Baker, and Carol A. Traynor, eds. (New York: W. W, Norton, 1997), p. 153; “J. C. Lawrence
Dead, Architect 40 Years,” New York Times, 27 August 1944, p. 33; Long Island Country Houses and Their
Architects, 1860-1940, pp. 250-52; Stern et al, New York, 1900, p. 272; David E. Tarn, “New York’s Newest
Hotel, Notes on the Hotel McAlpin, F. M. Andrews & Company, Architects,” Architectural Record, vol. 33, no.
3 (March 1913), pp. 231-41.

8 «Elizabeth Warner Eidlitz,” New York Times, 6 March 1931, p. 21; 7 March 1931, p. 16. I found little
information on Elizabeth other than a passenger record indicating that she returned to New York City after a
trip to Europe in 1896.

 Cyrus’ year of birth is given as 1854 in the 1880 United States census. He was born in Schenectady, New
York.

" Julia was likely named after Leopold’s mother. An amateur painter who was active in the New York City
area ca. 1890-1903, she was a board member of the Woman’s Art Club and exhibited there and at the National
Academy of Design. “Woman’s Art Club,” Collector, vol. 1,no. 1, 1890, p. 77; “Woman’s Art Club,” New
York Times, 14 February 1894, p. 8; “Julia T. Eidlitz” in Chris Petteys, Dictionary of Women Artists, an
international dictionary of women artists born before 1900 (Boston, MA: G. K. Hall & Co.), p. 226; “Julia T.
Eidlitz” Who Was Who in American Art 1564-1975, 400 years of artists in America, Peter Hastings Falk, ed., 3
vols. (Madison, CT: Sound View Press, 1999), vol. 1, p. 1025; “Julia Eidlitz,” New York Times, 23 October
1927, p. 17.

"' «Leopold Eidlitz [, Jr.],” New York Times, 7 June 1929, p. 19.
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and Mari Imogene (b. 1860).”> Both sons were architects. Cyrus was born the same year his
maternal grandfather died, was sent to school in Geneva when he was twelve years old, and entered
the Royal Polytechnic School in Stuttgart three years later. He returned to New York in 1871 and
began work as a draftsman for his father. He did not maintain his own office until Leopold died and
little is known about the extent of their collaboration. His first independent project was the 1878-79
post-fire reconstruction of St. Peter’s Church (the Bronx), a buiiding designed and completed by
Leopold in 1855. That work was followed by commissions for railroad stations in Detroit (1881) and
Chicago (1885) and the winning entry in an invited competition for the Buffalo Public Library (1884-
87). Although his practice was primarily regional, Cyrus built throughout the United States. His
early buildings recalled his father’s version of the German Romanesque; however, he soon began to
include an increasing number of classical elements.”* His practice was primarily institutional and he
is best known for the twenty-five story New York Times Tower (1903-05) designed with Andrew C.

MacKenzie (1861-1921), a structural engineer with whom he formed a partnership in 1895. Cyrus

2 Mari Imo gene married Walter Dannat Starr, the youngest son of Mary Caroline Dannat Starr, co-founder, and
manager of the House of the Holy Family, a Catholic charity founded in 1869 as the Association for
Befriending Children and Young Girls, a mission school that provided poor women in New York City with
training as seamstresses and in household management skills. Starr and the other co-founder, Monsignor
Thomas S. Preston, pastor of St. Ann’s Catholic Church, were converts to Catholicism, and Starr eventually
assumed the name “Mother Mary Veronica.” “Weddings in Early June,” New York Times, 3 June 1887, p. 5;
“Married,” New York Times, 3 June 1887, p. 5;“Women’s Work for Women,” New York Times, 18 May 1876,
p. 2. Leopold Eidlitz may have met Starr when her congregation purchased and moved into a building owned
by Temple Emanu-el from 1854 to 1870.

3 See The Buffalo Library and Its Building, illustrated with views, also brief historical sketches of the Buffalo
Fine Arts Academy, the Buffalo Society of Natural Sciences, and the Buffalo Historical Society, which occupies
parts of the same building (Buffalo, New York,: Art-Printing Works of Matthews, Northrup & Co., Office of
the “Buffalo Morning Express,” 1887), pp. 6-33.

™ The process can be seen in his First National City Bank (1886, 213 East Commerce Street, San Antonio, TX)
and adjoining San Antonio Loan & Trust Building (with Charles McKenzie, 1903, 235 East Commerce Street).
The asymmetrical two-story earlier structure featured Alhambra-esque decorative motifs, round-headed
window arches supported on colonettes, and an arcuated cornice, domed clock tower, and stepped pyramidal
entry porch supported on polished granite columns. The second building was linked to the first by a short,
recessed wing that employed a simplified version of the older structure's details and window forms and
introduced the flat-headed windows used in the newer structure. The tripartite, five-story symmetrical volume
of the addition employed classical details such as corner pilasters, projecting stringcourses, and a bracketed
comice. 4 Guide to San Antonio Architecture, Chris Carson and William McDonald, eds. (San Antonio, TX:
The San Antonio Chapter of the American Institute of Architects, 1986), p. 27. Schuyler does not mention the
building in “Cyrus L. W, Eidlitz,” Architectural Record, vol. 5, no. 4 (August 1895), pp. 411-35.
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married Jennie Dudley Turner (b. 1852), a descendent of Gov. Thomas Dudley of Massachusetts, in

1877.°

Relatively little is known about Leopold, Jr. He appeared in New York City directories in 1897 and
1900-01 and shared an office with his father and brother. He was mentioned in articles describing the
wedding of his sister Mari Imogene and was listed as a member of the Seawanhaka [Long Island]
Yacht Club.”® In 1914, he formed a corporation with Donald and David Ross to provide realty
contracting and engineering services. The firm, known as Eidlitz and Ross, eventually specialized in

steel contracting.”’

Leopold, his wife, and several of his children and grandchildren are buried in the Green-Wood
Cemetery in Brooklyn.”® The non-sectarian facility of choice for Manhattan’s upper class was laid
out 1838-40 by West Point-trained civil engineer, Maj. David B. Douglass. The Eidlitz burial plot is

located in Section 99 and consists of two lots: No. 6237 purchased on 28 August 1852 by Eidlitz, and

5 «Cyrus Lazelle Wamer Eidlitz,” New York Times, 6 October 1921, p. 17; Montgomery Schuyler, “Cyrus
Lazelle Warner Eidlitz” in Dictionary of American Biography, vol. 6, p. 60; “Mrs. John B. Jameson, Leader in
Club Work,” New York Times, 1 December 1952, p. 23; “Cyrus L. W. Eidlitz,” pp. 411-35; “The Evolution of
the Skyscraper, Architectural Record, no. 14 (1906), pp. 329-43; “The Romanesque Revival in America,”
Architectural Record, vol. 1, no. 2 (October-December 1891), pp. 166-69; Gwen W. Steege, “Cyrus Eidlitz” in
Macmillan Encyclopedia of Architects, vol. 2, p.13; Andrew Scott Dolkart, “Cyrus Lazelle Eidlitz” in Grove
Dictionary of Art, vol. 10, pp. 104-5; Francis, p. 54; Ward, p. 22; “Cyrus L. W. Eidlitz’s Funeral,” New York
Times, 8 October 1921, p. 12; “Cyrus L. W. Eidlitz, Architect, Dead,” New York Times, 6 October 1921, p. 13;
“Mrs. Cyrus L. W. Eidlitz,” New York Times, 20 June 1935, p. 19. An account of the decisions behind the
design of the Times Building appeared in “A New Home for the New York Times,” New York Times, 4 August
1902, p. 1.

76 “Weddings in Early June”; “Time Allowance in Yacht Races,” New York Times, 29 November 1881, p. 8;
Francis, p. 28; Ward, p. 22. Cyrus Lazelle Warner Eidlitz was also active in yacht racing.

" The firm had been in business at least since 1907 and was capitalized at $20,000 when it incorporated. “New
Incorporations,” New York Times, 4 June 1914, p. C7; “Donald Ross Dies in Fall,” New York Times, 12
February 1931, p. 15; “William H. Higbie,” New York Times, 1 September 1948, p. 48.

78 Salem Field, the main Jewish cemetery of New York City was established in 1851. It is located in Queens on
the Jamaica Plank Road and contains the family plots and tombs of the wealthiest and most influential Jewish
residents of New York City. It was opened by Temple Emanu-¢l, a client served by Eidlitz as early as 1847.
“Salem Fields Cemetery,” New York Times, 3 September 1877, p. 8; Myer Stern, The Rise and Progress of
Reform Judaism, Embracing a History Made from the Official Records of Temple Emanu-el of New York, With
a Description of Salem Field Cemetery, Its City of the Dead, With lllustrations of Its Vaults, Monuments, and
Landscape Effects (New York: Myer Stern, 1895), pp. 204-5.
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No. 6238, purchased on the same day and conveyed to him by Samuel A. Warner and Anthony
Brower. Warner, his brother Samuel Lazelle Warner, his father Cyrus Lazelle Warner, and other
members of their families are also buried in the combined lot. Brower was a lawyer whose
relationship to the Eidlitz and Warner families is unknown.” The plot is located near that of Stephen
Higginson Tyng (1800-85), rector of St. George’s Church, Eidlitz’s first independent commission.
Members of his brother’s family are buried in Section 179 on Plot 12129. None of the Eidlitz or

Warner grave markers is extant. Cyrus Eidlitz is buried in Buffalo.®

The New York City Architectural Community

Although Eidlitz could have found a reasonable number of ethnic peers when he arrived in America,
the number of practicing architects was considerably smaller; however, the situation changed quickly.
In a history of the American Institute of Architects, its author paraphrased a trade journal article that
claimed while not more than a half dozen architects were present in New York City in 1840, the
number increased nearly a hundred fold during the next twenty years, with most coming from
England and Germany.® Looking back more than thirty-five years later, The American Architect and

Building News, a professional journal founded in 1876, suggested some reasons for the change.

The cosmopolitan composition of our population and of the
architectural profession in particular is constantly brought to our
attention when we have occasion to look over our list of
subscribers, though the custom has made certain names so familiar
that it is not easy to remember that they are even more common in

7 «Burjal Transcript for Leopold Eidlitz” and “Catalogue of Heirs” provided by Jane Cuccurullo, Corporate
Secretary of the Green-Wood Cemetery.

80 “Cyrus L. W. Eidlitz’s Funeral,” New York Times, § October 1921, p. 12.

. 8L« A rchitecture as a Profession,” The Architects and Mechanics’ Journal, vol. 2, no. 26 (22 September 1860),
p. 251, cited in Henry Saylor, The A.LA.’s First Hundred Years (Washington, DC: The American Institute of
Architects, 1957), p. 13. Henry Hodgman Saylor (1880-1967), was an architect and journalist whose career
began in 1904 when he was named editor of the Boston-based magazine, Architectural Review, a position he
held until 1957. Between 1910 and 1952, he published about a dozen volumes on architecture including his
Dictionary of Architecture (New York: John Wiley & Sons, Inc., 1952), the first since Russell Sturgis’ work of
1901-02, and books on antiques and gardening. “Henry H. Saylor, Editor, 87, Dead,” New York Times, 23
August 1967, p. 45.
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foreign countries than in this. Teutonic, Gallic [sic] and Slavic
names are easy enough to identify, but the Anglo-Saxon alien can
be identified only by other attributes than the name he bears. It
would be interesting to know what cause led each individual to
emigrate to this country — not in these days, but in years ago, when,
from a foreigner’s standpoint, there was little in this country to
attract, or to promise a successful career in his chosen calling. To
escape military service, to avoid the consequences of engaging in
unsuccessful political movements, to obtain a mere livelihood
which was denied through lack of connection or the too crowded
condition of the profession, we imagine would account for the
presence of many a Continental architect who is now a good citizen
of the United States.*

Another writer suggested that foreign-born architects came to the United States to introduce an

architectural tradition that would not otherwise exist.

In 1850, so far as architecture is concerned, the United States was
Finland. We had no stock of native precedents, no fund of truthful
ideas, no developed training; in a word, no fecund tradition....
There was really nothing at home for the architect of talent to begin
with. He was forced to act as the colonists had acted before him —
import.®

Eidlitz seemed to confirm the validity of both views in the text of a paper he intended to read on 12

February 1891 at the final banquet of Fifth Annual Meeting of the National Association of Builders.®

82 “Jacob Wrey Mould,” The American Architect and Building News, vol. 19 (26 June 1886), p. 301.

8 « A Review of Architecture. History of work done in New York during the last quarter of a century,” in 4
History of Real Estate, Building and Architecture in New York City During the Last Quarter of a Century (New
York: Amo Press, 1967), reprint of first edition (New York: The Real Estate Record Association, 1898), p. 564.

8 «Builders Dine and Wine,” New York Times, 13 February 1891, p. 2. Eidlitz did not deliver his talk, probably
because his wife Harriet was gravely ill; she died ten days later. Schuyler took his place and began with a quip
that he attributed to Fidlitz: “It has been said that... American architecture is the art of covering one thing with
another thing to imitate a third thing, which, if genuine, would not be desirable.” He ended up speaking,
however, about something he considered to be quite serious: “the radical defect of modern architecture in
general, if not of American Architecture in particular... the estrangement between architecture and building —
between the poetry and the prose, so to speak, of the art of building, which can never be disjointed without
injury to both.” Schuyler’s talk was published as “Architecture” in Inland Architect and News Record, vol. 17
(February 1891), pp. 5-6, and as “The Point of View,” the opening piece in American Architecture, Studies by
Montgomery Schuyler (New York: Harper & Brothers, Publishers, 1892), pp. 1-5. The quip also appeared at
the end of Schuyler’s memorial series on Eidlitz; Leopold Eidlitz ITT, p. 378. Eidlitz’s paper was published as
“The Modern Builder,” Real Estate Record and Builders’ Guide, vol. 47 (21 February 1891), pp. 268-69. The
Real Estate Record and Builders’ Guide began publication as the Record and Guide in 1868. Initially a
compilation of conveyances and mortgage transactions, it soon developed an awareness of the relationship of
real estate to politics, the stock market, currency rates, and other markets and changed from a limited trade
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With the exception of Trinity Church, then in the process of
construction, and some minor churches built during the next ten
years,” the current buildings were houses and stores mostly 25 feet
front, from 40 to 60 feet deep, and about 45 feet high. Some of
these were still built entirely or partly of wood. The cost of these
buildings varied from $4,000 to $7,000.% The carpenters were the
contracting builders of the time, and in most cases the architects of
the buildings they contracted for. All others, masons, stone-cutters,
roofers and iron men, were sub-contractors.

review to a more inclusive business journal. In 1891, the Guide began publication of a new journal, the
Architectural Record. Boyer, p. 28; “About Ourselves,” Real Estate Record and Builders’ Guide, vol. 36 (7
March 1885), pp. 227-28.

%5 Although the size, cost, and complexity of Trinity Church was unusual for its time in New York City, Eidlitz
neglected to mention the impact of an even larger work: the Croton Aqueduct and the associated High Bridge
and distributing reservoir (both 1837-42). Both were commented on extensively in nineteenth century New
York City guidebooks. The Bridge, actually a Roman-inspired aqueduct that spanned the Harlem River and
valley, and the Egyptian-styled reservoir that it fed, located on the site of what is now the main branch of the
New York City Public Library, provided clear evidence of the unprecedented scale and fusion of engineering
and architecture that could be commanded in public works project; Dell Upton, “Inventing the Metropolis:
Civilization and Urbanity in Antebellum New York” and Morrison H. Heckscher, “Building the Empire City:
Architects and Architecture,” in Art and the Empire City: New York 1825-1861, Catherine Hoover Voorsanger
and John H. Kowat, eds., (New York: The Metropolitan Museum of Art; New Haven, CT and London: Yale
University Press, 2000), pp. 10, 180.

In his discussion of the relationship between technology, architecture, and nineteenth century public works
projects, Peters emphasized the process-driven aspect of the latter, calling it “a hybrid of scientific method and
an empirical, associative form of matrix thinking;” Tom F. Peters, Building the Nineteenth Century
(Cambridge, MA: MIT Press, 1996), pp. 3-93. He also claimed to see similarities of method among architects
and engineers of the period, noting, “Designers are matrix thinkers. They use personal and cultural values to
define relationships between design elements and relate them to their context. The associative quality of matrix
thinking led Isaac Johnson to discover a better hydraulic cement in a kilnload of sintered waste, Karl Althans to
transform cannonballs into ball bearings or a wagon spring into a truss chord, and Marc Brunel to translate
information form a zoomorphic to a mechanical format. A transformation remolds information within the
boundaries of a field, while a translation process crosses borders and moves it from one field to another.”
Peters, p. 347.

% Eleven engravings showing examples of such buildings, most located in lower New York City, were
published in 1846 (vol. 11) in Allgemeine Bauzeitung mit Abbildungen fiir Architekten, Ingenieurs,
Dekorateurs, Bauprofessionisten, Oekonomen, Bauunternehmer und alle, die an den Fortschritten und
Leistungen der neuesten Zeit in der Baukunst und den dahin einschlagenden Féchern Antheil nehmen. The
journal, founded in Vienna in 1836 by architect Christian Freidrich Ludwig von Forster (1797/99-1863)
appeared until 1918 and was the most important Central European architectural periodical of its time;
Schwarzer, pp. 29-30. Hitchcock reproduced two of the engravings (with their numbers reversed): Plate 20,
Nordamerikanische Bauart, von Schranke. Waarenmagazin, perspectiv. Ansicht und Querdurchschnitt. (North
American Architecture, by Schranke. Warehouse; perspective. View and Transverse Section.), and Plate 23,
Wohnhaus in New-York. Perspektivische Ansicht und Querdurchschnitt (House in New York. Perspective
View and Transverse Section.) The warehouse was located at the corner of Pine and Williams Street; the house
near Washington Square. Henry-Russell Hitchcock, “American Influences Abroad” in Edgar Kaufmann, Jr.,
ed., The Rise of an American Architecture, (New York, Washington, DC and London: Praeger Publishers,
1970), pp. 10-11, figs. 1-9 and 1-10. Allgemeine Bauzeitung was recommended for purchase in the Catalogue
of Books on Architecture published by the Committee on Library and Publications of the American Institute of
Architects in 1867.
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You ask me, were there no architects? New York counted about
ten or twelve practicing architects in 1843 [the year he arrived in
the United States], five of whom did not practice because they had
nothing to do.”’

The group of practitioners to whom Eidlitz referred included Martin Euclid Thompson (1786-1876),
Ithiel Town (1784-1844), Alexander Jackson Davis (1803-92), James Renwick, Jr. (1818-95) Minard
Lafever (1797-1854), and Isaiah Rogers (1800-69).® Most of them began their careers in
construction, with Thompson, Town, Lafever and Rogers trained as carpenters. Davis, however,
trained as printer and Renwick had a degree in engineering from Columbia University.* Other
European architects, most of who also came from Britain with a similar mix of training, soon
augmented their presence.”® They included James Gallier, Sr. (1798-1866), who arrived from Ireland
in 1832,”" and the English architect Thomas Thomas (1787/88-1871) who came in 1833* followed

by his son Griffith B. (1820-79) in 183 8.” Other English architects included Frederick Diaper (1810-

87 Eidlitz, “The Modern Builder,” p- 267, quoted in Francis, p. 2. Francis also noted that when Eidlitz retired
from practice around 1890, over 600 architects were present in New York City and more than four thousand
had used the title to describe their jobs.

% With the exception of Davis, whose name appeared in New York City directories as late as 1878, and
Renwick, who appeared up to 1895, the careers of the others ended between 1841 (Rogers) and 1862
(Thompson); Francis, pp. 25, 48, 64, 65, 75, 76.

% Charles D. Elliott, The American Architect from Colonial Times to the Present (Jefferson, NC and London:
McFarland & Company, Inc., Publishers, 2003), p. 26.

% William Robert Ware, “Architecture and Architectural Education in the United States,” The Civil Engineer
and Architect’s Journal, vol. 30 (1 April 1867), pp. 108; Heckscher, p. 181; Ellen W. Kramer, “Contemporary
Descriptions of New York City and It’s Public Architecture ca. 1850,” p. 265 n. 8.

?! Gallier appeared in New York City directories 1833-35. His comments on the architectural scene in early
nineteenth century New York City were similar to and confirmed those made by Eidlitz: “The majority of
people could with difficulty be made to understand what was meant by a professional architect; the builders,
that is, the carpenters and bricklayers, all called themselves architects, and were at that time the persons to
whom owners of property applied when they required plans for building; the builder hired some poor
draftsman, of whom there were some half dozen in New York [City] at that time, to make the plans, paying him
a mere trifle for his services. All this soon changed... and architects began to be employed by proprietors
before going to the builders; and in this way, in a short time, the style of buildings pubic and private showed
signs of rapid improvement.” Francis, p. 33; James Gallier, Autobiography of James Gallier, Architect (New
York: Da Capo Press, 1973), reprint of first ed. (Paris: E. Briere, 1864), p. 18 quoted in Heckscher, p. 181.

%2 Thomas Thomas appeared in New York City directories 1833-71; Francis, pp. 74-75.

% Griffith Thomas practiced with his father from 1839-72 and appeared in New York City directories from

1840-78. The elder Thomas had two other sons with whom he worked, Charles F. and Thomas Thomas, Jr.

Charles appeared in New York City directories in 1871 and Thomas Jr. 1837-38 and 1849-71. Francis, pp. 74-
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1906) who arrived ca. 1835,°* Calvert Vaux (1824-92) in 1836,” Richard Upjohn (1802-78) in
1839,% Frank Wills (1819/20-56/57) ca. 1847,” Henry John Dudley (1813-94) in 1851,% Frederick

Clarke Withers (1828-1901) in 1852,” and Jacob Wrey Mould (1825-86) ca. 1853.'®

German-speaking architects also came to New York City, although later and in smaller numbers.

Among them were Alexander and Edward Saeltzer who arrived in 1842,'®! Detlef Lienau (1818-77),

75; Dennis D. Francis, Joy M. Kestenbaum, and Mosette Glasser Broderick, “Thomas Tomas and Griffith
Thomas” in Macmillan Encyclopedia of Architects, vol. 4, p. 204.

% Diaper (1810-1906) was a prolific mid-nineteenth century New York City architect and appeared in New
York City directories 1838-92. Known for his Greek Revival commercial structures and Renaissance Revival
residential work, he turned to the Second Empire later in life. Diaper was born in England and studied with
Robert Smirke. He was a member of the British Institute of Architects before immigrating to America and was
a founding member of the American Institute of Architects. His American collaborators included Henry
Dudley and Alexander Saeltzer; Alfred J. Bloor was one of his students. Joan C. Weakley, “Frederic Diaper” in
Macmillan Encyclopedia of Architects, vol. 1, pp. 570-71; Francis, p. 26.

% Vaux appeared in New York City directories 1856-95; Francis, p. 78.

% Upjohn appeared in New York City directories 1845-72; Francis, p. 77.

*7 Wills appeared in New York City directories 1848-56; Francis, p. 83.

% Dudley appeared in New York City directories 1852-95; Francis, p. 27.

% Withers appeared in New York City directories 1856-1900; Francis, p. 83; Ward, p. 85.
1% Mould appeared in Néw York City directories 1853-86; Francis, p. 56.

190 Alexander and Edward appeared jointly in New York City directories 1844-47; Alexander appeared
separately 1850-79; Francis, pp. 66-67. Alexander studied with Gértner; Curran, “The German Rundbogenstil
and Reflections on the American Round-Arched Style,” Journal of the Society of Architectural Historians, vol.
47 (December 1988), pp. 368-70; “Gértners Farb- und Ornamentaufassung und sein Einflu} auf England und
Amerika,” in Friedrich von Gdértner, Ein Architektenleben, 1791-1847, Winfried Nerdinger, ed. (Munich:
Klinkhardt und Biermann, 1992), p. 212. Schuyler referred to Alexander’s original (now south) brownstone
wing of the Astor Library (1853, Lafayette Place) as a “tolerable specimen” of a Gartner-inspired building that
was inspired by Girtner’s Staatsbibliothek (1832-43); Leopold Eidlitz II, p. 282; Montgomery Schuyler,
American Architecture and other Writings by Montgomery Schuyler, William Jordy and Ralph Coe, eds., 2
vols. (Cambridge, MA: Belknap Press of Harvard University Press, 1961), vol. 1, p. 164 n. 76; Montgomery
Schuyler, “The Romanesque Revival in New York,” Architectural Record, vol. 1,no. 1 (July-September 1891),
p. 12. Alexander won the commission in a competition held in 1849 beating James Renwick who came in
second; Kramer, “Contemporary Descriptions of New York City and It’s Public Architecture ca. 1850,” p. 273.
A brief but useful description of the building is contained in The 1866 Guide to New York City (New York:
Schoken Books, 1975), reprint of Miller’s New York As It Is; or stranger’s guide to the cities of New York,
Brooklyn, and adjacent places; comprising notices of every object of interest to strangers; including public
buildings, churches, hotels, places of amusement, literary institutions, etc. (New York: J. Miller, 1866), pp. 48-
49. Alexander also worked with Frederic Diaper on the Mills House (1870, demolished) in Millbrae, CA;
Weakley, “Frederic Diaper” in Macmillan Encyclopedia of Architects, vol. 1, pp. 570-71.
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in 1848;'” Henry Fernbach (1826-83), ca. 1848,'® Frederick A. Peterson (1808-85) in 1851,'™ and

195 and all arrived in America during a period of high regard for German culture and

Henry Engelbert,
education. Kennedy claimed that American affection for Germany during the 1830s was based on a
mutual dislike of the French and British and seemingly comparable political aspirations,'* and Ellen
W. Kramer pointed out that many Germans who emigrated to the United States were of middle class

origins who, with their descendants, formed a sort of “intellectual aristocracy” in contrast to “other”

groups, i.e., the Irish.!”” Francis Morrone concluded that

While in the 1840s English taste was still prevalent in America, it
was being given a real run for its money by the immigration, not
only of the Germans, but of German ideas, German tastes, German
customs. Many things that are “typically American,” such as
picnics, parades, marching bands, apple pie, kindergarten, the

1921 jenau was born in Utersen, Schleswig-Holstein (then, ruled by Denmark), trained in Germany, worked in
Paris, and became a founding member of the American Institute of Architects; Ellen W. Kramer, “Detlef
Lienau, an Architect of the Brown Decades,” Journal of the Society of Architectural Historians, vol. 14, no. 1
(March 1955), p. 18. He appeared in New York City directories 1850-88; Francis, p. 50. Hamlin pointed out
the influence of eclecticism (“by 1850... supreme as the dominant New York taste”) on Lienau and Eidlitz;
Talbot Hamlin, “The Rise of Eclecticism in New York: The Contributions of Four Architects and Two
Materials,” Journal of the Society of Architectural Historians, vol. 11, no. 2 (May 1952), p 6.

19 Fernbach was a born in Breslau in Prussian Silesia or Lowenberg in Prussia and studied at the Berlin
Bauakademie. He appeared in New York City directories from 1856 to 1883. His practice included
synagogues, institutional, and commercial buildings. He favored the use of cast iron and designed more than
twenty commercial structures using that material during the 1870s and 1880s. He worked with Eidlitz on
Temple Emanu-c¢l (1866-68, demolished 1927). Joy M. Kestenbaum, “Henry Fernbach” in Macmillan
Encyclopedia of Architects, vol. 2, p. 52; Bush, p. 195; Francis, p. 30; “Henry Fernbach,” New York Times, 13
November 1883, p. 2; Stern et al, New York 1880, p. 476, Wischnitzer, “The Problem of Synagogue
Architecture, Creating a Style Expressive of America” Commentary Magazine, vol. 3, no. 3 (March 1947), p.
237.

1% peterson, architect, civil engineer and founding member of the American Institute of Architects, was born in
Prussia. While serving in the military, he traveled to England and developed political beliefs that caused him to
be imprisoned during the 1848 revolution in Germany. After escaping, he was given shelter in an American
ship and moved to New York. He appeared in New York City directories 1850-85 and was best known for the
Cooper Union Building (1853-59), a structure that Eidlitz altered 1884-85. Henry Saylor, “The Late F. A.
Peterson, Engineer and Architect,” The American Architect and Building News, vol. 17 (30 May 1885), p. 253;
Francis, p. 61.

19 Engelbert appeared in New York City directories 1852-78; Francis, p. 29.
106 K ennedy, p. 135.

%7 Ellen W. Kramer, “Contemporary Descriptions of New York City and Its Public Architecture ca. 1850,”
Journal of the Society of Architectural Historians, vol. 27 no. 4 (December 1968), p. 265 n. 8.
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preference for lager over ale, and much of our popular music, are in
fact imports from Germany.'®

These feelings changed dramatically after the uprisings of the 1840s when “... Prussia became more
like imperial Rome than Peisistraten Athens, [and] both sides in this admiring dialogue came to see

how little they had in common.”'®

Professional Affiliation

By the end of 1836, a scarcity of professional architects and work led Thomas U. Walter of
Philadelphia to assemble a group of twenty-three practitioners from New York, Philadelphia, Boston,
Baltimore, Washington, DC, and New Orleans with the intention of forming a professional
association.''® They met on 6 December at the Astor House in New York City where they
established “The American Institution of Architects,” drafted a constitution, and elected officers.'!!

William Strickland, also from Philadelphia, was elected President and Walter became Secretary.112

1% Erancis Morrone, The Architectural Guidebook to New York City (Layton, UT: Gibbs Smith, 1998), p. 128.

19 Kennedy, p. 135. Blackbourn noted that interest in the American Revolution that developed in Germany
during the 1770s was replaced with a more immediate concern for seemingly comparable events in France by
the end of the 1790s; Blackbourn, pp. 43-44.

1% This discussion is based on Woods, From Craft to Profession, pp. 28-32. Walter (1804-87) was born in
Philadelphia and trained with John Haviland and William Strickland. Initially apprenticed to his father as a
mason, he took up architecture and his commissions soon extended form Venezuela to China. He was best
known as the architect of the dome and extension of the United States Capitol, a commission won in a
competition in 1850. He also served as the second president of the American Institute of Architects, the
successor organization to his own. “Thomas Ustick Walter” in Biographical Dictionary of Philadelphia
Architects: 1700-1930, pp. 821-29.

! Alexander Jackson Davis served as acting President and Richard Upjohn as secretary; both were from New
York City. Also in attendance were Isaiah Rogers, Charles F. Reichardt, William C. Kramp, F. Schmidt,
Thomas Thomas and Thomas Thomas Jr., also from New York City; William Strickland and John Haviland
from Philadelphia; and Richard Bond, from Boston. Favorable letters were received from Ithiel Town and
Minard Lefevre from New York City; Asher Benjamin, Alexander Paris, and William Sparrell, from Boston;
Robert C. Long, from Baltimore; Amie B. Young, from Vermont, and James H. Dakin, from New Orleans. All
were practicing architects. Thomas Ustick Walter speaking for Richard Upjohn, “Opening Address,” American
Institute of Architects, Proceedings of the Fourth Annual Convention of the American Institute of Architects,
Held in Philadelphia, November 8" and 9", 1870,” (Committee on Publications of the American Institute of
Architects, 1871), p. 7.

12 gtrickland (1788-1854) was born in New Jersey and moved to Philadelphia with his father, a master

carpenter. Strickland apprenticed with Benjamin Henry Latrobe (1764-1820) for two years before going out on

his own. His successful entry in the competition for the Second Bank of the United States (1818, Philadelphia)
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Membership within the Institution was divided among those who had trained in the building crafts
and those who had trained in the offices of architects. All were increasingly involved in large-scale
projects funded by governmental, canal, and railroad capital and deeply affected by the parallel
emergence of active labor unions. Despite significant differences in social background, these
conditions lead the Institution’s artisanal and office-trained members to perceive a commonality of
interest that reflected economic conditions and professional aspirations. Nevertheless, after its
second meeting, held in Philadelphia in May 1837 at the Pennsylvania Academy of the Fine Arts, the
Institution never met again. Alexander Jackson Davis, a founding member from New York City,
attributed its demise to professional rivalries between New York and Philadelphia, but he also
claimed that the group never gained popular support because its library and activities were not
opened to the public. The financial panic and depression of 1837 also affected its members, and

funds required to sustain operations qﬁickly disappeared.

A successful attempt to form a national organization did not occur until 23 February 1857 when
Richard Upjohn and eleven other New York architects held a meeting that lead to creation of the
American Institute of Architects.!”> The meeting occurred two years after the American Society of
Civil Engineers was founded, and twenty years after the Royal Institute of British Architects received
its Royal Charter. The attendees consisted of Charles Babcock, Henry William Cleaveland, Leopold
Eidlitz, Henry Dudley, Edward Gardiner, Richard Morris Hunt, Jacob Wrey Mould, Frederick A.
Peterson, John W. Priest, John Welch, and Joseph C. Wells. Six were associated with Upjohn’s

office and, aside from Upjohn, who called and ran the meeting, all were young Americans returned

advanced neoclassicism and the Greek Revival in the United States as well as his career, but after a decline in
local commissions, he moved to Nashville, TN, where he designed the state capitol. “William Strickland” in
Biographical Dictionary of Philadelphia Architects: 1700-1930, pp. 767-71.

3 This discussion is based on Glenn Brown, “The American Institute of Architects. 1857-1907,” The
American Institute of Architects Quarterly Bulletin, vol. 8, no. 1 (April 1907), pp. 7-15; Ware, “Architecture
and Architectural Education in the United States,” pp. 107-8; Woods, From Craft to Profession, pp. 33-38,
Phoebe Stanton, and The Gothic Revival and American Church Architecture: An Episode in Taste 1840-1856
(Baltimore, MD: The John Hopkins Press, 1968), pp. 321-22.
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from training in Europe or young Europeans who had recently come to America. Except for Hunt,
who had recently returned from the Ecole des Beaux-Arts in Paris, they were also advocates of the
Gothic or Romanesque revivals. An additional group of eighteen architects consisting of William
Backus, Edward C. Cabot, Alexander Jackson Davis, Frederick D. Diaper, Arthur D. Gilman, John
Davis Hatch, Richard G. Hatfield, Detlef Lienau, Alpheus C. Morse, James Renwick, Jr., John W.
Ritch, Joseph Sands, George Snell, Thomas A. Tefft, Calvert Vaux, Thomas Ustick Walter, Samuel
Warner, and Frederick Clarke Withers did not attend the meeting but was invited to a collaborate on a
constitution for the organization. Vaux, Walter, Ritch, Sands, and Withers came to a meeting for that
purpose on 10 March 1857 where a committee charged with drafting a constitution suggested calling
the organization “The New York Society of Architects.” Walter, however, convinced the attendees to
change the name to “The American Institute of Architects.” On 15 April 1857, forty-nine signers
approved the new organization’s constitution and by-laws, and the organization incorporated under

the laws of the State of New York two months later.!™*

The Institute’s first board consisted of Richard Upjohn (president), Thomas U. Walter (first vice-
president and former secretary of the American Institution of Architects), Richard Morris Hunt
(librarian), and Andrew Jackson Davis.!"> When the first membership list was published in 1859, it
included thirty-seven members. Consistent with its goal of taking “energetic steps toward diffusinga
more general knowledge of Architecture,” the Inétitute arranged for seven public lectures whose
subject was pre-determined and could be delivered by either of two presenters chosen by ballot.
Eidlitz and Henry Dudley, both specialists in church design and firmly committed to goals of the

Institute, were chosen to give “On Church Architecture: the value of precedent, and the modifications

14 The constitution was published over the name of Richard Morris Hunt, Secretary of the organization in The
Crayon, vol. 4 (May 1857), pp. 151.

115 Blliot, p. 44; Heckscher, p. 187.
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rendered necessary by modern usages.”''® The scheme may have proven unwieldy, however, and a
notice in The Crayon stated that due to “certain members finding it inconvenient to lecture as
announced,” the Committee of Lectures would fill vacancies as needed.!!” Other outreach efforts
were made in 1860 when the Institute authorized creation of a committee of five members
empowered to “associate with themselves five or seven gentlemen, not members of the Institute, for
the purpose of establishing a library and academy for the education of architects.”*'® Eidlitz was
among this group, perhaps for his ability to charm potential members as evidenced in his humorous
after dinner talks and satirical articles published in The Crayon and the intellectual rigor of his more

serious contributions to that publication.

At a meeting of the Institute held on 6 March 1860, Eidlitz announced that architects from several
parts of the country who were not known in New York City had contacted members of the
organization and the editors of The Crayon and The Architect’s and Mechanics Journal concerning
membership.' During the following year, however, the Civil War began and meetings ceased.
Despite reorganization in 1864, the Institute retained its New York focus and formation of local
chapters continued to be discouraged. After a separate New York chapter was founded on 19 March
1867, chapters were subsequently organized in Philadelphia and Chicago (1869); Boston, Cincinnati,
and Baltimore (1870); San Francisco (1871); and Indianapolis, Washington, DC, Michigan, and

Central New York (1887).'%

Richard Morris Hunt was elected the first president of the New York chapter with Eidlitz and James

Renwick vice presidents, Edward T. Potter treasurer, and Charles Gambril secretary. The aftermath

116 « American Institute of Architects,” The Architects and Mechanic’s Journal, vol. 1,n0. 1 (October 1859), pp.
4-5. A similar account appeared in The Crayon, vol. 6 (September 1859), pp. 278.

17 « American Institute of Architects,” The Crayon, vol. 6 (November 1859), pp- 246.

18 « American Institute of Architects,” The Crayon, vol. 7 (February 1860), p. 52.

119 « American Institute of Architects,” The Crayon, vol. 7 (April 1860), p. 108.
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of the election suggested severe internal problems when Eidlitz declined to serve and was replaced by
Calvert Vaux. Eidlitz’s decision may have been reflected a dispute with George B. Post and Hunt at
the 1867 AIA convention that involved a failed attempt to create a polytechnical school operated by
the AIA. Hunt also asked to resign (he had recently left for a visit to'the Paris Exposition), but his
request was refused while Gambril and Potter’s were accepted (they were replaced by Alfred J. Bloor
and Detlef Lienau, respectively).’?! Despite refusing to serve as vice president, Eidlitz agreed to
serve on the Members Committee on Education with Robert G. Hatfield,'” Emlyn T. Littell,'”
Samuel A. Warner, and William Robert Ware."* During the following year, Eidlitz became
Chairman of the Institute’s Committee on Education and a member of the Board of Trustees. This
was especially significant because the Trustees, rather than the officers, controlled the business side
of the organization.'” Nevertheless, Eidlitz resigned from the Institute altogether in 1869, as did
Calvert Vaux and Frederick Clarke Withers."”® The reasons for the situation are not known but

Kowsky suggested tensions that developed between Eidlitz and Withers during a competition held

120 Brown, p. 8.

121 Calvert Vaux and Alfred J. Bloor, “Report of the New York Chapter” in American Institute of Architects,
Proceedings of the Annual Convention Held at the Rooms of the New York Chapter, October 22d and 23d, 1867
(New York: Raymond and Caulon, Publishers, 1867), p. 25.

122 Hatfield (1815-79) was the first Treasurer of the AIA and served in that position until his death. He
practiced in New York City with his brother and specialized in governmental and institutional projects. The
Hatfield brothers were considered experts in building construction and published articles on structural theory.
“R. G. Hatfield” in Biographical Dictionary of American Architects (Deceased), p. 271.

123 1 jittell (1840-91) was born and trained in Philadelphia. Active in the New York Chapter of the AIA, he
specialized in ecclesiastical projects and built in both cities. “Emlyn T. Littell” in Biographical Dictionary of
American Architects (Deceased), p. 374.

124 Ware (1832-1915) is the founder of modern architectural education in America. After studying civil
engineering and working for an architect, he joined the atelier of Richard Morris Hunt where he met his future
partner, Henry Van Brunt. In 1865, Ware was appointed head of the new architecture program at M.L.T. and
based its curriculum on methods he observed at the Paris Ecole des Beaux-Arts. He was called to Columbia
College in 1881 to found its department of architecture and remained there until he retired in 1903. Ware was
active in the ATA and formulated its rules for competitions. William A. Coles, “William R. Ware,” MacMillan
Encyclopedia of Architects, vol. 4, pp. 373-74.

125 Saylor, pp. 10, 12; Upjohn, pp. 161, 167-68.

126 American Institute of Architects, Proceedings of the Third Annual Convention of the American Institute of
Architects, Held in New York, November 16" and 17", 1869 (Committee on Library and Publications of the
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earlier that year by the Church of the Holy Trinity. Neither man won decisively and the church went

to Eidlitz while the rectory went to Withers.'”’

A Jewish Architect?

Much has been made of Leopold’s religion and that of his brother Marc within the American and
European Jewish communities. Wischnitzer and Gerald Bernstein reflected a common view that
Eidlitz was probably the first Jewish architect in the United States'*® and Olga Bush placed Eidlitz as
amember of Temple Emanu-el, “the first Reform congregation in New York which was composed of
the city’s most affluent and elite German Jews (including the architect himself).”'? Robert A. M.
Stern claimed that Eidlitz’s religious beliefs were never disclosed."” Perhaps in an attempt to resolve
these disparate views, the Universal Jewish Encyclopedia included an article on Eidlitz but never

mentioned his religion.””' The only contemporary attribution of religious affiliation appears in an

American Institute of Architects, 1870), p. 14. Six other members were dropped for non-payment of dues and
did not ask for reinstatement.

127 R owsky, The Architecture of Frederick Clarke Withers and the Progress of the Gothic Revival in America
After 1850 (Middletown, CT: Wesleyan University Press, 1980), pp. 90-93.

128 Wischnitzer, Synagogue Architecture in the United States, p. 5; Gerald Bernstein, “Two Hundred Years of
American Synagogue Architecture,” p. 11 in Two Hundred Years of American Synagogue Architecture, pp. 12,
15.

12 Olga Bush, “The Architecture of Jewish Identity: The Neo-Islamic Central Synagogue of New York,”
Journal of the Society of Architectural Historians, vol. 63, no. 2 (June 2004), p. 192.

130 Robert A. M. Stern, Thomas Mellins, and David Fishman. New York 1880: Architecture and Urbanism in
the Gilded Age (New York: The Monacelli Press, Inc., 1999), pp. 326.

Bl <1 eopold Eidlitz” in Universal Jewish Encyclopedia, Isaac Landman, ed., 10 vols. (New York: Universal
Jewish Encyclopedia, Inc., 1939-43), vol. 4 p. 22.

Popular identification of Eidlitz with the American Jewish community is probably responsible for the incorrect
attribution of the Baxter Memorial Library (1889, 96 Grove Street, Rutland, VT; now the Rutland Jewish
Center) to Eidlitz by its present occupants. It was actually designed by Arnold William Brunner (1857-1925)
and Thomas Tryon (1859-1920) who practiced together in New York City in from 1886 to 1898. Brunner, who
was Jewish, trained with George B. Post and studied in Europe. Among the firm’s first major commissions was
Temple Beth-El (1890-91, East 76™ Street and Fifth Avenue, demolished). Brunner designed several other
synagogues after he left Tryon. This situation, and the building’s Romanesque detailing, may have contributed
to the error. The Historic Architecture of Rutland County: including a listing of the Vermont state register of
historic places, Curtis B. Johnson, ed. and Elsa Gilberston, ass’t. ed. (Montpelier, VT: The Vermont Division
for Historic Preservation, 1988), pp. 288, 291; Kathlyn Hatch and Emma Jane Saxe, National Register of
Historic Places Inventory — Nomination Form, H. H. Baxter Memorial Library, 1978; “Arnold W. Brunner” in
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account of the dedication in 1847 of a synagogue designed by Eidlitz: it referred to him as “an

Israelite.”'*

Leopold Eidlitz did not write about or publicly discuss his religious affiliation. He and all of his
children who married did so outside of the Jewish religion and, with the exception of two synagogue
commissions, Judaism did not play an obvious role in his personal life or career. The only written

reference to the Jewish religion made by him is inconclusive:

The Jehovah of the Jews is defined as the God who visits the sins
of the fathers upon the children. Christianity teaches a God of love
who exacts faith and obedience as the condition of eternal
happiness. Modern science, as far as it has an opinion on this
subject, tends to the belief that God is law.'*3

Eidlitz’s great-niece did not believe that he was Jewish and described two situations in which her

father seemed to concur.

My father was Sr. Warden at The Church of the Resurrection (High
Episcopal in NYC), a member of exclusive clubs (in the days when
Jews would have been banned), listed in the Social register, and
like his immediate family, Episcopalian or Catholic. I had heard
from my mother that on their trip to Europe in 1929, he showed her
the Christian cemeteries where his relatives were buried in Vienna,
anxious to point out that the Eidlitz family was not Jewish.

I also remember as a young teenager hearing that my father had
been very upset one September afternoon when he stopped at a
newsstand outside his 42nd street law office to buy a paper, and the
newspaper seller wished him a Happy New Year!'**

Biographical Dictionary of American Architects (Deceased), p. 85; Steven McLeod Bedford, “Arnold William
Brunner” in Macmillan Encyclopedia of Architects, vol. 1, p. 314; “Thomas Tryon” in Biographical Dictionary
of American Architects (Deceased), p. 608; Architects in Practice, New York City 1840-1900, pp. 18, 76;
Joseph Gutmann, “Jewish Participation in the Visual Arts of Eighteenth- and Nineteenth-Century America,”
American Jewish Archives, vol. 15, no. 1 (April 1963), pp. 56-57; Stern et al, New York 1880, pp. 332-33.

132 A. Abraham, “Consecration of the New Synagogue Shaaray Tefila” The Occident, and American Jewish
Advocate, A Monthly Periodical Devoted to the Diffusion of Knowledge on Jewish Literature and Religion, vol.
4, no. 5 (August 1847), p. 222-29.

13 Leopold Eidlitz, The Nature and Function of Art, More Especially of Architecture (New York: A. C.
Armstrong & Son; London: Sampson Low, Marston, Searle & Rivington, 1881), p. 182.

134 Email from Elizabeth Eidlitz, 2 October 2004.
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Few Jewish architects had practiced in Europe before 1840. Wischnitzer mentioned only George
Basevi (1794-1845) and David Mocatta (1806-82), all of whom began their careers in the late 1820s
and 1830s in England, and Albert (Albrecht) Rosengarten (1809-93) in Germany."*> Paul and
Percival Goodman also mentioned Basevi and Mocatta as well as the German architects Georg
Heinrich Friedrick Hitzig (1811-81) and Alfred Messel (1853-1909).*¢ Carl Herselle Krinsky noted
the French architect, Jacob Silveyra'’ and attributed the lack of a Jewish presence in the profession
to “... the poverty of most Jews throughout history, the legal regulations applied to them, and the
uncertain skills of builders” who created their synagogues. She also suggested that under such
circumstances, modification of existing buildings rather than erection of new ones tended to diminish

architectural aspirations and claimed that the Talmud encouraged obliviousness to surroundings

135 Wischnitzer, Synagogue Architecture in the United States, pp. 5, 43. Basevi and Mocatta were pupils of
John Soane (1753-1837). Basevi (who converted to Christianity) was a prolific architect who designed several
classical London terraces including Belgrave Square, Pelham Crescent, and Thurloe Square. He also designed
the Conservative Club in London and St. Mary’s church in Greenwich but is best known for the winning entry
in the 1835 competition for the Fitzwilliam Museum at Cambridge. He was killed while inspecting repairs at
Ely Cathedral. Mocatta was born to an English banking family and worked for most of his life for the London
Brighton & South Coast Railway. He was a Senior Trustee of the Soane Museum and was associated with John

- Davies, Nathan M. Rothschild’s architect, in the construction of the Romanesque Revival New Synagogue in
Great St. Helens, London (1838); “George Basevi” and “David Mocatta” in Directory of British Architects
1834-1914, Antonia Brodie, Alsion Felstead, Jonathan Franklin, Leslie Pinfield, Jane Oldfield, eds., (London
and New York: Continuum, 2001), vol. 1, p. 129; vol. 2, p. 194; de Brefny, pp. 151-52. Rosengarten, “the first
modern architect of Jewish birth in Germany” trained in Kassel, studied with Labrouste in Paris, and visited
Rome. In addition to working for the Hessian state building service, he maintained a private practice and was
the author of a Die architektonischen Stylarten: eine kurze, allgemeinfassliche darstellung der
charakteristischen verschiedenheiten der architektonischen stylarten Braunschweig (F. Vieweg, 1857). The
book was translated and published in England and the United States as A Handbook of Architectural Styles in
revised editions from 1858 to 1927. Wischnitzer, Synagogue Architecture in the United States, p. 69; Krinsky,
p. 68.

13 Hitzig trained under Schinkel and in Paris. Along with other Schinkel pupils, Hitzig helped define Berlin’s
domestic residential typologies. Messel built the Wertheim department store, several banks, and the Hesisches
Landmuseum. Paul Goodman and Percival Goodman, “Jews in Modern Architecture, After a Late Start”
Commentary Magazine, vol. 24, no. 1 (July 1957), pp. 30-31; Barry Bergdoll, “Friedrich Hitzig” in Macmillan
Encyclopedia of Architects, vol. 2, pp. 395-96.

137 Silveyra co-designed, with Philippe-Jérome Sandrié, a neo-classical synagogue located at Rue Notre Dame
de Nazareth in Paris (1819-22; demolished); Krinsky, pp. 67, 246; Brian de Breffny, de The Synagogue (New
York: Macmillan Publishing Co., Inc., 1978), p. 130.
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during prayer.”*® Of perhaps greater significance, however, were conditions in Europe before civil
g pray perhap gn

emancipation.”’

Before emancipation, while some Jews had entered the construction
trades in eastern and central Europe, the design and supervisory

positions in private and governmental architecture had been

reserved for Christians. After the middle of the nineteenth century,

it became possible for Jews to take architectural qualifying

examinations. As pious boys could not have drawn, written,

handled money, or ridden on the Sabbath, Jewish architects and

construction engineers came from prosperous and culturally

assimilated families who may not have observed all the traditional

practices of Judaism.'*’

Much of the speculation about Eidlitz’s religion may reflect the long history of the family name in
Prague. Jewish traders had settled in the Prague basin by the 10th century, and the Jewish settlement
gradually congregated in an area located near the river, in the northwest part of what became the Old

Town. The Jewish quarter was first clearly defined in the first third of the 13th century when it was

138 K rinsky, p. 20.

139 The legal emancipation of the Jews was closely tied to the general movement toward increasing political
liberty and egalitarianism that began during the late eighteenth century. During the period between the French
Revolution and the Congress of Berlin (1789-1878), emancipation defined as achievement of legal equality
occurred in France (1789), the Netherlands (1796), Italy (1870), Germany (1871), and Austria-Hungary (1867).
In some of these countries, the process occurred in conjunction with cataclysmic political events such as the
revolutions of 1789-91, 1830-31, and 1848-49, the unification of Germany and Italy, and attainment of
independence in Hungary. In England and Scandinavia, emancipation was achieved through legislation, while
application of international diplomatic pressure was necessary to achieve similar results in Switzerland, Serbia,
and Bulgaria.

The influence of Enlightenment ideas, especially those contained in the “Declaration of the Rights of Man and
of the Citizen” passed by the French National Assembly on 26 August 1789 motivated discussions of
emancipation that took place during this period. Advocates claimed that maintaining the politically limited and
socially inferior status of the Jews was incompatible with the notion of civic equality, and that it contradicted
the principle of natural rights and undermined the civic equality of those who had attained it through revolution
or were entitled to it by principle. They also claimed that protection of the natural rights of their citizens should
be the objective of all governments. According to this train of thought, Jews should be accorded the liberties,
advantages, and political rights of all the citizens of the countries in which they lived, without exception. The
recommendation was seen as a reflection of existing social conditions since it had become apparent that, despite
their ethnic origin and messianic hopes, Jews adopted the language and the culture of the environments in
which they lived, were loyal to the state, and identified themselves with the nationalistic aspirations of their
fellow citizens.

190 K rinsky, p. 67. “Pious boys” might also have been deterred by Second Commandment hostility to the visual
arts.
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separated from the fortified Old Town by seven gates.'*!

Although its walls were removed in the
early part of the nineteenth century, if they were Jewish, Eidlitz’s family might have lived in the
Josefov (ghetto), an area that did not become an official part of Prague until 1850, two years after

12 Tn 1849, Emperor Franz Joseph I amended the Austrian constitution to

Jews were granted equality.
state that “the enjoyment of civil and political rights does not depend upon religious confession.”
Because land ownership, residency, and occupational rights were covered by this clause, all of

Vienna became available for Jewish settlement and the ghetto began to empty out. Many of these

rights were revoked, however, between 1853 and 1867.14

Architectural historian Christian Norberg-Schulz called the Josefov “one of the most characteristic
parts of the city” and added “but because of its slum-like conditions it was torn down after 1893.”1*
The project, the result of a proposal made in 1885 by Alfred Hurtig and a competition held in 1893
won by Josef Sakaf, began as a paving and sewer scheme initiated in response to a series of
disastrous floods that plagued the area during the eighteenth and nineteenth centuries. It was also
advanced by developers eager to build apartment blocks in the center of the city, and they are now
blamed for the extensiveness of the clearance and destruction of historic buildings that began in 1896
and continued to 1913. Because most of the Jewish population had left after the 1849 revolution,

nearly all of the buildings in the area associated with their history were razed, with only six

'] Jane Pavitt, Prague (Manchester, UK and New York: Manchester University Press, 2000), p. 17. An
account of the area appeared in Anthony M. Dignowity, M.D., Bohemia Under Austrian Despotism, Being an
Autobiography (New York: privately published, 1859), pp. 178-82, reprinted in Guido Kisch, In Search of
Freedom, A History of American Jews from Czechoslovakia (London: Edward Goldston & Son, Ltd., 1949), pp.
195-97. Dignowity attributed the squalid conditions he observed to years of unfair and ill-advised Austrian
governmental policy, and compared them to what he considered to be beneficial affects of Jewish assimilation
(including modification and abandonment of religion) he observed in Great Britain and America.

42 pavitt, p. 17.

143 Carol Herselle Krinsky, Synagogues of Europe: Architecture, History, Meaning (Cambridge MA and
London: The MIT Press, 1985), p. 191.

144 Christian Norberg-Schultz, Genius Loci — Towards a Phenomenology of Architecture (New York: Rizzoli,
1984), p. 85; translation of Genius loci — paesaggio, ambiente, architettura (Milan: Electa, 1979). The
assessment was confirmed by a New York Times correspondent who visited the quarter before it was
demolished; “Bohemia,” New York Times, 21 August 1852, p. 1.
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synagogues, the Town Hall, and the cemetery saved. These structures ranged in age from twelfth
through early nineteenth century, and from Gothic to Baroque in style. At the start of the twentieth
century, blocks of flats in a variety of revival and contemporary styles replaced the demolished
buildings, although some of the adverse effects of the first round of work were mitigated by a second
competition held in 1902 in which picturesque planning techniques replaced the Hausmann-esque

approach of the earlier scheme.'¥’

Avraham Barkai wrote that Bavarian Jews, mainly from Franconia, were the pioneers of the mass
exodus to the New World, followed closely, and probably in similar quantity by Jews from
Bohemia.'*® During the post-Napoleonic period, the Bohemian Jewish community involuntarily
returned to its former low status, excluded from most trades and forbidden to own land. Although
mass emigration might have alleviated these problems, it was not pursued as a popular response until
after 1848, a situation that Guido Kisch attributed to Jewish conservatism and patriotism.147
Approximately 15,000 Jews lived in America in 1840. Ten years later, the number increased to
50,000, and by 1860, there were 150,000; nearly all were of German descent."*® In New York City,

500 Jews were present in 1825; by 1848, there were 12,000 to 13,000, and around 60,000 by 1860.'*

145 Radomira Sedlakova, Prague, an architectural guide, Michal Schonberg, trans. (Venice: Arsenale Editrice,
1977), pp. 22, 106; Rosislav Svacha, The Architecture of New Prague, 1895-1945, Alexandra Biichler, trans.
(Cambridge, MA and London: The MIT Press, 1995), pp. 5-22.

146 Avraham Barkai, Branching Out: German-Jewish Immigration to the United States, 1820-1914 (New York
and London: Holmes & Meier, 1994), p. 15.

47 Kisch, pp. 13, 21-22.

8 The 1850 census found 31 Jewish congregations in the United States with accommodations for 16,575
worshipers. Four years later, the New York Times found that 65 congregations were in existence, 15 of which
were located in New York City and served half of the of the 60,000 American Jewish population. “Jews in
America,” New York Times, 25 March 1854, p.2.

149 Jacob Lestschinsky, “Jewish Migrations, 1840-1956” in The Jews: Their History, Culture, and Religion,
Louis Finkelstein, ed., 2 vols. (New York: The Jewish Publication Society of America, 1960), vol. 2, p. 1539;
Nathan Glazer, “Social Characteristics of American Jews” in Finkelstein, vol. 2, pp. 1695, 1698. The number is
unclear and another source gives a range of from 7,000 to 20,000 in 1860; Stanley Nadel, Little Germany:
Ethnicity, Religion, and Class in New York City, 1844-80 (Urbana, IL: University of Illinois Press, 1990), pp.
95-99.
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After the 1830s, most German-speaking immigrants lived in Kleindeutchland (Little Germany), a
Lower East Side neighborhood. Located near what was then the northeast edge of the city, the area
was bounded by 14™ Street, the East River, Grand and Division Streets, and the Bowery. For many
of the Bohemians who landed in New York, Kleindeutchland was a stop on the way to a more
permanent home and reports written in 1843 noted that most of the inhabitants were extremely poor
and lived in squalid surroundings.'® The location of Eidlitz’s residences prior to 1851 is unknown.
However, by 1850, he had begun construction of a house at Riverside Drive and 86™ Street, a

location far removed from Kleindeutchland.

Joseph Gutman’s investigation of American artists of Jewish origin born in or outside of the United
States before 1860 showed no major differences between the work of such artists and their
contemporaries and he concluded that the work of eighteenth- and nineteenth-century artists of

identifiable Jewish descent was indistinguishable from that of their gentile contemporaries.

No great pioneers or innovators stand out. In an age of artistic
mediocrity, they, too, were content, in the main, to gain public and
academic acceptance. In style and, for the most part, in subject
matter, their works were indistinguishable from the dominant
artistic currents of eighteenth- and nineteenth-century America.'

Gutmann’s assertions of artistic mediocrity apparently did not extend to architecture. While he
acknowledged that Jews were active “not only as sculptors and painters,” he mentioned only two
architects other than Eidlitz: Dankmar Adler, and Amold W. Bruner. Adler (1844-1900), the son of a

rabbi and Louis Sullivan’s partner, was born in Germany and came to America in 1859, Bruner

130 Barkai, pp. 53-54. The Christian portion of the community was nearly decimated when more than 1,000 of
its members were killed in a Hudson River excursion boat explosion and fire on 15 June 1904. Many of the
remaining inhabitants moved uptown to Yorkville, Brooklyn, the Bronx, and Astoria in Queens, and the old
neighborhood was subsequently taken up by newly arrived Russian and Polish immigrants. Stanley Nadel,
“Kleindeutchland,” Encyclopedia of the City of New York,” p. 639; Capek, p. 40; “1,000 Lives May Be Lost in
Burning of the Excursion Boat Gen. Slocum, “New York Times, 16 June, 1904, p. 1.

131 Joseph Gutmann, “Jewish Participation in the Visual Arts of Eighteenth- and Nineteenth-Century America,”
American Jewish Archives, vol. 15, no. 1 (April 1963), pp. 56-57.

42

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.



(1857-1925), born in New York City, based his successful career on advocacy of classical modes of

design for institutional architecture and city planning. Both were a generation younger than Eidlitz.
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2. THREE SCHOOLS: PRAGUE, VIENNA, AND BERLIN

The status of architectural education in early to mid-nineteenth century German-speaking Europe
reflected its underlying political fragmentation. Leopold Eidlitz attended polytechnical schools in
Prague and Vienna, both within the Austro-Hungarian Empire, but most of his German-speaking
New York City contemporaries were trained at the Berlin Bauakademie, a Prussian school. His
training was of brief duration and narrow scope relative to the material offered at the
Bauakademie, and the situation had a strong influence on his approach to design and his interest

in architectural education.

The Availability of Architectural Training in German-speaking Europe

Eidlitz’s desire to obtain architectural training in a German-speaking school could have been
satisfied in a limited number of ways: as a trainee in the office of a practicing architect, as a
private student of a practicing or academic architect, or as a student at a building, art, or
polytechnical school. This is because in pre-industrial German-speaking Europe, no single
system of architectural education existed above the apprentice level, although training was
available in military schools, royal academies, art academies, and at the first Prussian Realschule
(secondary school).! Because these institutions were intended to train government architects and
building inspectors, they offered a polytechnical curriculum that emphasized technology rather
than art (the better students were encouraged to resolve their aesthetic deficiencies with study in

Paris or Rome after graduation).> Admission generally required a year of experience in a

! Vincent Clark, “A Struggle for Existence: The Professionalization of German Architects,” in German
Professions, 1800-1950, Geoffrey Cocks and Konrad H. Jarausch, eds. (New York and Oxford: Oxford
University Press, 1990), p. 145.

2 Charles D. Elliott, The American Architect from Colonial Times to the Present (Jefferson, NC and
London: McFarland & Company, Inc., Publishers, 2003), p. 62; Clark, p. 148.
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practitioner’s office and, after completion of a four-year program, graduates could enter

government service or receive a diploma and go out on their own.

As neither Eidlitz nor hié biographers ever mentioned apprenticeship or private training, it seems
likely that attendance at ;cl state-operated and -funded polytechnical institution was the most
feasible way for him to pursue a career as an architect. This supposition is supported in accounts
of his attendance at the Royal Bohemian Estates Polytechnical School in Prague, although they
do not mention what he studied. Admission to such state-operated schools was based on a
student’s finances, native language, and, to a lesser extent, religion, and during the early
nineteenth century, an increasing percentage of students in colleges and technical schools tended
to come from a proto-middle class, “the intermediate strata of shopkeepers, independent craft
producers, schoolteachers, and some peasant farmers — the Mittlestand in the terminology of

Central Europe’s old corporate society.”

Several factors contributed to this situation, not the least of which were low tuition costs and the
ready availability of financial exemptions and scholarships. In Prague, where Czech was spoken,
the language of instruction had become less of a concern because of educational reforms
introduced by Maria Theresa and Joseph IL* Religion, however, was still a factor during the
1830s as reflected in the large number of Catholic teachers in high schools and universities. Even

so, eighteenth-century assertions of state power by Joseph II had granted religious toleration to

? Gary B. Cohen, Education and Middle-class Society in Imperial Austria, 1848-1918 (West Lafayette, IN:
Purdue University Press, 1996), p. 130.

4 While reforms introduced in Hapsburg lands permitted primary school instruction in a student’s native
language, German was required at the upper levels. Consequently, during the early nineteenth century,
nearly all public education in Hapsburg schools above the elementary level was conducted in German.
These efforts persisted in Bohemia long after Joseph’s death and most middle- and upper-class Czechs
tended to present themselves as linguistic and, usually, cultural Germans. Rural peasants were among the
few Czechs who continued to speak the national language and maintain traditional customs until the
unsuccessful Bohemian and Moravian political rebellions of 1848 legitimized the association of
nationalism and language; In Search of Freedom, A History of American Jews from Czechoslovakia
(London: Edward Goldston & Son, Ltd., 1949), pp. 31-32.
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non-Catholics and the ability of adherents of most religions to operate primary schools, attend all
university facilities except Catholic theological schools, and obtain degrees.’” While procedures
were available for those wishing to convert or declare themselves “without religion” to pursue
social and economic mobility, few did either. Requirements for registration of religious
affiliation and payment of taxes to support minority religious institutions were not imposed until

the late nineteenth century.®

The Origins of the Polytechnics

European institutions of higher education that offer programs in the liberal arts descended from
the European universities of the Middle Ages. However, polytechnical institutions and technical
colleges originated at a different time and place. As European countries began to expand their
interest in and reliance on industrialized processes, the need for factories, machinery, power, raw
materials, and the knowledge to use them became apparent. Despite the large sums of money
involved and the effects of industry on society, the technical education required to support such

enterprise developed slowly in Europe.

France moved relatively quickly toward industrialization, thereby creating a demand for trained
technicians and engineers. When the National Convention established the Ecole des Travaux
Publics in Paris in 1794 by (the name was changed to “Ecole Polytechnique” in 1795), it created a

model for comparable institutions throughout Europe and, later, America.” The school prepared

* Cohen pp. 129-31.
¢ Cohen, pp. 135-36.

7 Schwarzer claimed that the process actually began nearly fifty years earlier with the establishment of the
Ecole des Ponts et Chaussées, an advanced engineering institution, in 1747; Schwarzer, p. 101. For a
history of the French polytechnical schools, see Antoine Picon, French Architects and Engineers in the Age
of Enlightenment, Martin Thom, trans. (Cambridge, UK and New York: Cambridge University Press, 1992)
and L’Invention de L’Ingénieur Moderne, L’Ecole des Ponts et Chaussées 1747-1851 (Paris: Presses de
L’Ecole Nationale des Ponts et Chausées, 1992). The first American schools of engineering were located
at the West Point Military Academy (West Point, New York, initiated 1798, opened 1802, instituted as a
school of engineering 1818) and the Rensselaer School (Troy, New York, 1824). The latter was the first
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its students for military and civil service but emphasized mathematics and technology in a
mandatory core curriculum that included mathematics, descriptive geometry, and physics.?
Schools based on this multi-disciplinary approach were called “polytechnic” from the Greek
noivteyvog (“skilled in many arts”). Many opened in Europe during the early part of the

nineteenth century and focused on science, engineering, and the applied sciences.

The emphasis on useful and practical subjects, however, was only one difference between a
polytechnic and a traditional university. The fundamental purpose of the polytechnic movement
was to provide the working classes with an education that emphasized practical skills, an end
quite different from that of the education of the upper classes whose children were trained in
universities for administrative careers. In some cases, particularly where communities of skilled
mechanics or technicians already existed, polytechnics enabled those already familiar with the
practical side of engineering to formalize their skills. Polytechnics also differentiated themselves
from traditional institutions of higher education through “hands on” learning in laboratories and
workshops as well as lectures. This emphasis on praxis was particularly important during the
early period of the movement because, in addition to intellectual mastery of subject matter, many

engineering students had to make their own instruments and tools.

Within Hapsburg lands, polytechnical institutions were established in Prague (1806), Graz

(1814), Vienna (1815), Kracow (1833-34), Lemberg (1844), and Brno (1843). However, before

private technical school in the United States and the first to use a laboratory approach to teaching. In 1833,
it became the Rensselaer Institute and its first class of civil engineers graduated in 1835. During the 1830s,
the school changed its emphasis from agriculture to the creation of polytechnical institution for architecture
and engineering although its name was not changed to “Rensselaer Polytechnic Institute” until 1849.
Ulrich Pfammatter, The Making of the Modern Architect and Engineer, Madeline Ferretti-Theilig, trans.
(Basel, Boston, Berlin: Birkhduser, 2000), pp. 273-75.

¥ The Ecole Polytechnique was also a preparatory school that sent its best graduates to the Ecole des Ponts
et Chaussées, rather than to the Ecole des Beaux-Arts where architecture was taught.
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1875, architectural courses were available only in Vienna, Prague, Limberg, and Krakéw.’
Comparable schools within Germany opened in Berlin (the Bauakademie in 1799 and the
Gewerbeakademie in 1821), Karslruhe (1825), Darmstatdt (1829), Munich (1827), Dresden
(1828), Stuttgart (1829), and Hanover (1829)."° In all of these places, polytechnical schools

quickly assumed a dominant role and came to resemble universities in their rigor and prestige."!

The Polytechnical Institute in Prague

Iﬁ January 1705, Christian Joseph Willenberg (1655-1731) petitioned Emperor Leopold I to start
a college of engineering sciences in Bohemia. Willenberg, a native of Silesia and a landscape
engineer who received his mathematical and technical training in the French army, left France
after his service and settled in Prague. Two years later in response to Willenberg’s petition,
Leopold's son, Emperor Joseph I, ordered the Czech General Estates to found an engineering
school there. Because the Bohemian provinces of the Austrian monarchy were exhausted by
taxation at the time, money for the new school was not made available and it remained without
funds until 1717 when Emperor Charles VI, the son of Joseph I, ordered the Estates to carry out
his grandfather’s order. The Institute of Engineering Education opened with twelve students in
Willenberg’s apartment the next year and after 1725, under the direction of Johann Ferdinand
Schor, the curriculum expanded to include civil architecture, bridge building and military

architecture, drawing, and visits to construction sites. Schor, the author of the school’s

? Christopher Long, “East Central Europe: National Identity and International Perspective,” Journal of the
Society of Architectural Historians, vol. 61, no. 4 (December 2002), p. 519; Pfammatter, pp. 210-11.
Pfammatter does not include Prague in this list.

10 pfammatter, pp. 210, 222; Cohen, p. 14. Neumann distinguished between art and military academies and
polytechnics. For the academies, he gave the following dates: Berlin (1706), Dresden (1763), Dusselfdorf
(1780), Kassel (1781), Munich (1808). For the polytechnics, he gives: Vienna (1815), Karlsruhe (1825),
Munich (1827), Dresden (1828), Stuttgart (1829) Hanover (1831), Brunschweig (1835), Darmstadt (1836),
Zurich (1853). Dietrich Neumann, “Teaching the History of Architecture in Germany, Austria, and
Switzerland: Achiteckturgeschichte vs. Bauforschung,” Journal of the Society of Architectural Historians,
vol. 61, no. 3 (September 2002), p. 379 n. 6. Schwarzer noted that engineering schools were also
established in Freiburg (1765) and Berlin (1770).
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mathematical sciences textbook, was accomplished in field and forest surveying and “correction

to political estates.”’

After his death, FrantiSek Antonin Herget, a professor known for his
lectures on practical applications of mechanics, substantially expanded the curriculum to include
more scientific and engineering courses. The school’s military offerings were eventually
transferred to the military academy and other military schools, and after 1787, the department of
philosophy of the University of Vienna absorbed the engineering courses. By 1779, more than
two hundred students were enrolled, and after Herget’s death in 1800, the need for an
independent school of engineering that could meet the increasing needs of the industrial and
commercial sectors of the Bohemian and Austro-Hungarian economies became apparent.”® At

that time, nearly all governmental infrastructure projects were designed by students of Herget,

and one of them, FrantiSek Josef Gerstner (1756-1832), assumed the leadership role in that quest.

Gerstner was an early hydro-mechanical engineer and a professor of mathematics at Prague
University. He was interested in wave theory and took an interest in metallurgy and in
improvement of waterwheels as a cheap source of energy for industry. He had devised a model
technical and scientific curriculum for Austrian technical schools in 1797 and spoke during the
following year at an imperial commission concerned with establishing technical schools based on
the French polytechnical model. He advocated retention and expansion of Herget’s program
while keeping the basic scientific mathematical and scientific course within the department of
philosophy of the University of Vienna. However, he also wanted to establish a more advanced
course within a new and independent polytechnical school. That new institution would serve the
state and society by providing teachers whose students would improve commerce and industry,

and recruit civil servants and other governmental types. More specifically, the school would

" Clark, p. 145.
12 Jelinek, p. 3-19 cited in Pfammatter, p. 212.
13 Jelinek, p. 19-26 cited in Pfammatter, p. 212.
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support the national textile, glass, and iron industries through instruction in chemistry and
mechanics. This goal was expanded when the imperial court called for the addition of

architecture and architectural engineering to the curriculum.

The new school opened with 106 students on 10 November 1806, making the Prague Polytechnic
the oldest polytechnical school outside of Paris and the only school of higher technical education
within the Austrian monarchy. Intended to “raise the commerce of the Fatherland through

scientific instruction,”*

its curriculum was divided into four areas: elementary mathematics and
practical geometry, mechanics and hydraulics, agricultural and hydraulic architectural
engineering (including general architecture and drawing), and general and specialized
chemistry.” By 1812 enrollment became obligatory for government architects, and master
builder designation required a diploma from the school. Additional subjects related to national
industries were offered in 1817, and by 1822, drawing was required for all disciplines. When the
Vienna Polytechnical Institute opened in 1815, Gerstner responded by making plans to expand
the Prague institution by incorporating a two-year secondary school that would feed students into
a specialized three-year program. This was accomplished 1833-34, one year after he retired and
died.'® In 1839, the architecture and architectural engineering program was reorganized into a
two-year course to address innovations in technology such as chain bridges and railway

engineering.!” In 1843, the entire school was reorganized again,'® and in 1863, instruction

became available in Czech as well as German."

' Pfammatter, p. 214.
15 Jelinek, p. 31-37 cited in Pfammatter, p. 214.
16 Jelinek, p. 56-71 cited in Pfammatter, p. 215.

17" A 435-foot chain bridge built in Prague in 1842 crossed the Vltava River and linked Mala Strana with
Staré Mé&sto. It was demolished in 1899.

'8 Jelinek, p. 76-85 cited in Pfammatter, p. 215.

1 Johann Georg Ritter von Schoen, Die Technischen Hochschulen und deren Organisation in Oesterreich
(Leipzig: E. L. Morgenstein, 1882), p. 15, cited in Pfammatter, p. 215.
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Many biographical accounts claim that Eidlitz left Prague because he had outgrown the
educational opportunities available there.” Apparently, this was situation was fairly common in
Bohemia as over half of those who attended Prague technical schools between 1806 and 1856
departed for other Hapsburg territories when their training was finished?® For potential
architects, aside from the profound religious and political differences among Bohemians,
Prussians, and Austrians that might have affected such decisions, architectural leadership was
contested among several locales and, compared to Paris, no Central European city assumed
dominance over architectural culture. The German architect Albert Rosengarten, a contemporary

of Eidlitz, neatly summarized the situation:

Speaking generally, during the last few decades [i.e., before the
late 1850s] a very remarkable uncertainty and vacillation are
noticeable in the application of all the styles that have been
hitherto in use. In contradistinction to France, where all
architects come from one and the same training-school, and
embark on the same course of to acquire a thorough knowledge
of their profession, in Germany the various architectural schools
render a uniform education impossible, and, as is natural to
suppose, promote the most varied views: for the method of
instruction and the subject-matter taught themselves differ, and
so do the degrees of artistic knowledge possessed by the teachers
who influence by their words; and the same differences exist
among the architects who are summoned to carry out the most
important buildings, and so to exert influence by their example.
These things determine the course and direction of the whole
German school. 2

2 «[ eopold Eidlitz” in The Public Service of the State of New York. Historical, Statistical, Descriptive,
and Biographical. Illustrated with Views and Portraits, Paul A. Chadbourne, editor-in-chief, (Boston:
James R. Osgood and Company, 1882), vol. 2, p. 77; The American Architect and Building News, vol. 93,
(1 April 1908), Part 2 (“Current News Section”), p. 17; “Leopold Eidlitz Dead,” New York Times, 23
March 1908, p. 1.

2! Cohen, p. 15.

22 Albert Rosengarten, A Handbook of Architectural Styles, W. Collett-Sanders, trans. (Boston: Longwood
Press, 1977), reissue of translation (London: Chatto and Windus, 1878) of Die architektonischen Stylarten:
eine kurze, allgemeinfassliche darstellung der charakteristischen verschiedenheiten der architektonischen
stylarten (Braunschweig: F. Vieweg, 1857), pp. 471-72.
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Mitchell Schwarzer added that while Viennese taste predominated in Hapsburg lands such as
Bohemia, Galacia, and Hungary, its authority was actively challenged in other German-speaking

states.23

In Karlsruhe, Munich, and Berlin, for example, architecture developed a distinctive
character related to the instruction given by charismatic teachers in the academies ~and
polytechnical schools of those cities. Rosengarten claimed to see a Berlin approach founded by
Schinkel and reflective of French thought in its attempt to adapt classical architecture to modern
requirements. In Stuttgart, preferences for Renaissance models also reflected the French
education of the leading architects and their subsequent study of Italian buildings. In Munich,
however, a “Romantic-Byzantine” mode advocated by Gértner superseded Klenze’s classicism
and extended Girtner’s influence within southern Germany and Austria. A concem for clear
relationships between construction and ornament implicit in the Munich approach was advocated
in Karlsruhe by Hiibsch, Eisenlohr, and Thierry®* as an alternative to Weinbrenner’s notions of
classicism, and the approach was also said to be preferred in Baden although Rosengarten also
saw a tendency toward the use of richer, more elegant, and more colorful details and materials

and a movement toward the Gothic.?’> Dresden on the other hand, was said to favor Renaissance

modes of design due to the influence of Poppelmann’s work at the Zwinger (1705/1708-22;

2 Mitchell Schwarzer, German Architectural Theory and the Search for Modern Identity (Cambridge, UK
and New York: Cambridge University Press, 1995), pp. 25-26.

 Friedrich Bisenlohr (1805-1854) studied at the Karlsruhe Polytechnic from 1824 to 1826 under Friedrich
Weinbrenner.  After returning from Italy, he was appointed a teacher at the school in 1832 by
Weinbrenner’s successor, Heinrich Hiibsch, became a professor in 1839, and remained there during the
1840’s. His main work involved planning and constructing buildings for the Baden State railway. In 1850-
51, he designed the case that came to be used for Black Forest “cuckoo” clocks based on the gatekeeper
lodges he designed for railroad. In 1853, he became director of the Bauschule in Karlsruhe. Dietrich
Neumann, “Jakob Friedrich Eisenlohr” in Grove Dictionary of Art, Jane Turner, ed., 34 vols. (London:
Macmillan Publishers Limited; New York: Grove’s Dictionaries, Inc., 1996), vol. 10, pp. 119-20. Carl
Ludwig Thierry, who was once an associate of Weinbrenner, taught at the Karlsruhe Polytechnic at the
same time; Micahel J. Lewis, The Politics of the German Gothic Revival: August Reichensperger
(Cambridge, MA and London: The MIT Press, 1993), p. 274 note 2.

2 Rosengarten, p. 477.
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portions demolished)®® and the Semper’s Konigliche Hoftheater (1838-41, burned 1869). In
Hamburg, the private realm controlled most architectural activity and rigid stylistic canons did
not develop. In Vienna, the location of the only fully comprehensive university of importance in
the Alpine and Bohemian regions of Austria between 1815 and 18487 the outcome was similar
with no single school achieving dominance because the court rather than individuals dominated

the schools.?®

The Polytechnic in Austria

The range of intellectual opportunities available in Vienna and its relatively non-doctrinaire
educational environment may have attracted Eidlitz more than relative rigidities of non-Hapsburg
Europe since his interests went far beyond the technical aspects of his profession. Architecture
was first taught in Hapsburg lands in art and military academies during the late eighteenth and
early nineteenth centuries, but establishment of technical universities during the first half of the
nineteenth century effectively replaced the older system. Despite regressive measures taken in
many areas of governance after the defeat of Napoleon, the Hapsburg monarchy initiated a
program to modernize and improve education within its territories. Although technical schools

established as a result of that initiative frequently suffered from poor facilities and inadequate

% The Zwinger is an incomplete fragment of an extensive scheme for the replacement of the official
residence of the Prince-Elector of Saxony and King of Poland, Frederick Augustus II (“The Strong,” 1670-
1733), that burned on 25 March 1701. Matthdus Daniel Poppelmann (1662-1736), state trained and
employed, incorporated a diverse assemblage of elements extracted from seventeenth century Roman
palazzi, Parisian hdétels, and Perrault’s design for east fagade of the Louvre. Designed an orangerie, its
scope was substantially expanded to accommodate a royal wedding and it became an enclosed garden
bounded by pavillioned exedrae and long flanking wings. Its richly omamented pavilions and wings
enclosed a theatre and ballroom within a setting of gardens and fountains, all of which could be observed
from terraces, arcades, passageways, and free-standing staircases that lead to viewing platforms located
within and on the roofs of the pavilions. Christian F. Otto, “Matthdus Daniel Péppelmann,” Macmillan
Encyclopedia of Architects, vol. 3, pp. 453-5; Anna Teut, “Dresden/Pillnits — Fragments of a Baroque
Myth,” Diadalos, no. 20 (15 June 1986), pp. 66-75.

7 Cohen, p. 12.

2 Lewis, The Politics of the German Gothic Revival, p. 59; Schwarzer, p. 26; Rosengarten, pp. 475-78,
479.
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funding, their standards were higher and enrollments greater as a percentage of total population
than similar institutions in many German-speaking states. Hapsburg technical schools also
tended to be civil, rather than military, in orientation and, except in Vienna, they provided
standardized curricula. Evens so, Austria had no state certification program for non-military
engineers in the early nineteenth century and technical institutes did not award diplomas or
certificates or administer comprehensive examinations. Consequently, most students enrolled for

only one or two semesters.”

The first technical schools in Austria were established in Jichymov (1716) and Banské Stiavnica
(1725). They were concerned with mining, and emphasized efnpirical and traditional, rather than
systematic and scientific, knowledge. However, members of the business community and several
imperial commissions believed that education could also advance technology, craft, and
commerce and Prague and Vienna became some of the first cities to establish educational
institutions directed toward such ends. Austria, in particular, possessed an educational tradition
and system that was conducive to Enlightenment and, specifically, French models of
institutionalized and systematic scientific and technical instruction. The Austrian government
and business community also desired to improve commerce and industry by making its products
more useful and increasingly available to its population. While some subjects not geared to
specific professions were taught, the Austrian educational system encouraged specialized
vocational education that was responsive to regional concerns rather than the broad French
polytechnical model. In the first Austro-Hungarian technical schools established in Prague
(1806) Vienna (1815), Cracow (1833-34), and Lemberg (1844) this view resulted in the
development of comprehensive educational programs situated within independent academic

departments. Pfammatter claimed that this situation represented an “organizational transition” in

» Cohen, pp. 14-15; Christopher Long, “East Central Europe: National Identity and International
Perspective,” Journal of the Society of Architectural Historians, vol. 61, no. 4 (December 2002), p. 528, n.
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the history of education, a process subsequently emulated by other schools. He also suggested
that, for this reason, comprehensive subjects such as architecture, building design, and
construction were only taught at these schools until 1875 because provincial schools, such as

those established in Brno (1849) and Graz (1864), maintained their specialized orientations.*

The Polytechnical Institute in Vienna’'

Although he did not include a history of the Vienna Polytechnical Institute in his articles on
Eidlitz, Schuyler could reasonably claim “There is and long has been a specially close connection
in Vienna between the science and the art of building, elsewhere so harshly divorced to their
mutual disadvantage.”” Although Gerstner’s Prague polytechnical curriculum model of 1797
can be regarded as the starting point for the Vienna Polytechnical Institute, two widely held local
views influenced the newer institution from its inception. These included a belief that the model
of the Ecole Polytechnique was unworthy of being adapted to Viennese conditions, and a desire
to retain a level of academic freedom not present in existing technical schools, particularly those
that taught architecture.”> Both notions reflected a lack of sympathy for a curriculum in which
étudents were required to attend a proscribed series of courses. The Viennese preferred their
schools to be open to all “artistically eager” attendees, with each deciding on an appropriate
course of study that need not result in a diploma. This approach was maintained at the Vienna
Polytechnical Institute until 1863 when “obligatory instruction” was introduced and unlimited

freedom to determine the course of study was abandoned as part of a comprehensive

8.
30 pfammatter, pp. 210, 212.

3! For the early history of the Vienna Polytechnical Institute, Pfammatter relies on Joseph Neuwirth, ed.,
Die k.k. Technische Hochschule in Wien 1815-1915. Gedankschrift Hrsg. vom Professorenkollegium
(Vienna: in Kommission bei Gerold, 1915).

32 Leopold Eidlitz I, p. 164.
33 Pfammatter, p. 216.
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reorganization.’* Similarly, until 1869, reports of course completion rather than diplomas were
accepted in the public sector as proof of competency in specialized professions. Attendees of

other polytechnical schools used reports of this kind to obtain jobs.”

Planning for the Viennese school began in 1805 when Emperor Franz I asked the imperial
commission on education to prepare a feasibility study for the creation of a technical university in
Vienna by funding a report on the Prague technical school. Conflicts between commercial and
educational interests in the school’s founding organization created a ten-year deadlock that
Johann Joseph Prechtl (1778-1854), son of the manager of an iron works, scientist, academic, and
educator entered at midpoint. His involvement began while teaching physics, chemistry, and
natural history at the Realakademie St. Anna in Vienna, and a year after establishing a naval
academy in Trieste for the Austrian government where he served as a professor of mathematics.

A twentieth century account of Prechtl’s view of the purpose of the school noted

The polytechnical institute is to accomplish the transition from
pure theory to practice and is to teach the application of
theoretical principles to individual branches of activity so that
the processes upon which they are based can be introduced into
the working place.*

Prechtl envisioned the school as a particularly Viennese institution in the sense that it would
attempt to consolidate remaining national resources diminished by the Napoleonic wars and the
associated loss of territory. Other issues, such as the introduction of scientific and technical

education as an Enlightenment replacement for workshop empiricism and ignorance were

3 Neuwirth emphasized that the Viennese model was based on academic freedom and government funding.
In this way, “it was at least to allow each individual the possibility of freely taking advantage of this
institute of instruction [i.e., the Vienna Polytechnical Institute] according to his respective talents and
inclinations and according to his individual career choice; its admirable reasoning that ‘school discipline
and order can indeed exist without school compulsion’ deserves a place of honor among the educational
principles exhibited by any government at that time.” Neuwirth, p. 58, translated and cited in Pfammatter,
pp. 218-19.

3% Neuwirth, p. 82, cited in Pfammatter, p. 219.

% Cited in Neuwirth, p. 14; translated and quoted in Pfammatter, p. 217.
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adjusted to recognize the political and social environment in which the school would operate.
This allowed for a unique approach that simultaneously accommodated academic freedom,
specialized training, and systematic, yet practical, education in aesthetics. This approach did not
replicate French practice, and the school was initially divided into three areas: chemical-technical,
mathematical-technical, and empirical-technical. All were expected to combine theory, practice,
testing, experimentation, and demonstration through appropriate models. Aesthetic education
was to include art history, history of commerce, geometrical and model drawing, pattern and
architectural design, and theory of forms. Although the Akademie der bildenden Kiinste opposed
the scheme,’’ the school was authorized in 1814 and Prechtl was appointed director. During the
following year, he traveled to Paris on the invitation of the French government to observe French

technical schools and purchase equipment, materials, and books for the new institution.

The Vienna Polytechnical Institute opened on 6 November 1815 in temporary quarters with three
professors and forty-seven students. It was divided into a technical and a commercial school.
Remarks made by Prechtl on that day suggested that he believed that the Institute and the
Akademie were deserving of comparable support.®® This notion of equivalence and difference is
essential to understanding his view of the school’s relationship to the universities. In an 1816

statement of its position, a spokesman for the school wrote

The polytechnical institute will be for the commercially
industrious bourgeois estates with respect to the practical arts
and to the technical and civil services that which the universities

3" Neuwirth, pp. 20-50, cited in Pfammatter, p. 218.

*¥ The new building (1816-18) shared the Karlsplatz with Johann Bernard Fischer von Erlach’s Karlskirche
(Parish Church of St. Charles Boromeo, 1715- 22, completed by Joseph Emanuel Fischer von Erlach, 1722-
29). Designed by the Court Building Administrator and built under the supervision of Josef Schemmerl
Ritter von Leytenbach, the Institute was extended in 1838 and its ceremonial hall decorated 1835-42 by
Peter von Nobile. Nevertheless, it was situated on the east bank of the Wien River, outside the city walls
while the Academy remained within the old city. Architecture in Vienna (Vienna: Georg Prachner Verlag,
1992), pp. 56, 59. Leytenbach (1752-1844) was the Director of the Imperial Building Yards and worked on
the national road and river conservancy board for 67 years.
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initially are for educating civil servants and for the sciences as
39
such.

In reinforcement of this view and in common with its French predecessors, the Vienna
Polytechnical Institute housed a museum intended to function as a “conservatory of the arts and
commerce.”® Travel by teaching staff was encouraged, a school journal was begun, and the staff
was provided with requirements for producing textbooks. During the following year, the
Emperor approved statutes for an Imperial-Royal Polytechnical Institute to be located in Vienna
that incorporated many of Prechtl’s goals such as establishment of academically free commercial
and technical divisions, creation of a preparatory school with emphasis on science, creation of a

technology museum, and creation of an association for the advancement of Austrian industry.

The position and nature of architectural education within the Vienna polytechnical school
changed frequently. In 1827, the school of manufacturing and engraving design, the training site
for architectural illustration, was moved from the Akademie to the Institute, but in 1842, it was
moved back and the Institute established its own design school. Three years earlier, Prechtl had
created a two-year course in building science and construction within an existing program for
agricultural and waterworks building construction, a course that Eidlitz could have attended and
whose subject matter appears to be relatively consistent with accounts of his training. The new
course was intended to provide “knowledge of building materials, the properties of which the
architect must base his structures and joining elements on.” The approach would not involve
“copying but as much as much as developing one’s own design as far as possible” so that “in
manifesting the theories in individual objects the students would be given the opportunity to

ponder and think upon them.”* Building design and construction was established as a separate

% Cited in Neuwirth, p. 58; translated and quoted in Pfammatter, p. 219.

* Neuwirth, p. 82f, cited Pfammatter, p. 219.

! Cited in Neuwirth, p. 129; translated and quoted in Pfammatter, p. 220.
58

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.



discipline in 1866 after a far-reaching reorganization of the school in 1863 that resulted in a

differentiated system of specialized schools.

Eidlitz was said to have studied Landwirtschaft (land stewardship), most likely at the Vienna
Polytechnical Institute* since is unlikely that courses in the subject would have been offered at
the Akademie der bildenden Kiinste (Academy of Fine Arts) where architecture studios were

divided between Classical and Gothic instructors.*

Attempting to explain how he transcended
this seemingly limited educational experience, Schuyler wrote that Eidlitz’s instruction in “the
erection of sundry humble and utilitarian classes of buildings called for in the administration of
an estate” caused his imagination to “[take] fire at the possibility of doing worthier and larger

things.”™

While the statement may be correct, this view of his training does not accurately reflect
its true extent because the intent and form of architectural education in the early nineteenth

century in German-speaking Europe was vastly different from what Schuyler knew in America.

During the eighteenth century, three kinds of providers had offered architectural services in
German-speaking lands: the Baumeister (artisan builder) who was trained as a carpenter or mason
and usually worked on private commissions; the court architect who was better trained and could
engage in military and civil engineering as well as architecture; and the Baubeamte (state building
official) whose role emerged with the growth of the bureaucracy during the eighteenth century.

During the next century, the system began to change, primarily in response to industrialization,

*2 Montgomery Schuyler, “A Great American Architect: Leopold Eidlitz 1. Ecclesiastical and Domestic
Work, [hereafter, “Leopold Eidlitz 1,’]” Architectural Record, vol. 24, no. 3 (September 1908), p. 164.

* Richard Phene Spiers, “Professional Education Abroad,” The American Architect and Building News,
vol. 16 (5 July 1884), p. 5.

* «“The late Leopold Eidlitz,” Journal of the Royal Institute Of British Architects, vol. 15, (November
1907-October 1908), pp. 654; Leopold Eidlitz I, p. 164. Kisch claimed that Eidlitz also studied in Bologna;
Kisch, pp. 157-58. Only The Western Architect suggested that Eidlitz had anything that approached a
formal architectural education and wrote “after spending several years of his youth studying architecture in
Vienna, and elsewhere in Europe, he came to this country.” “Obituary. Leopold Eidlitz,” The Western
Architect, vol. 11 (June 1908), p. 74.
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but also because of the demise of royal patronage. In particular, former court architects began to
work in state or municipal building departments and their work became increasingly concerned
with the effects of urbanization, transportation, and commerce. At the same time, contractors and
architects began to replace Baumeisteren. Both groups removed themselves from the physical
work of construction as contractors became employers and architects concentrated on client
consultation, design, and construction administration. These processes accompanied an increase
in private practice among architects with the amount rising from 15 percent in 1840 to more than
40 percent by 1880, nearly all of which was directly related to the demand for factories,

warehouses, department stores, and private residences.”

The Polytechnic in Germany

Technical schooling in Germany developed relatively late compared to France and Great Britain
due to the slow pace of political unification and removal of customs barriers. The effects of this
situation can be seen in the lingering importance of an agreement made in January 1834 among
the members of the Deutscher Bund (German Federation) to establish a Deutscher Zollverein
(German free trade area). While a Prussian constitution was established in January 1850, the
Bund, a group of thirty-five sovereign monarchs and four independent cities, remained intact,
albeit under Prussian leadership, until full German unification came in May 1871. The absence
of a central governmental body able to develop and implement a correlated approach to
commerce, technology, and education during that period slowed the development of technical
schools and, in response, the government became involved in the active promotion of commerce,
thereby strengthening (and blurring) the relationship of business to politics. This relationship

manifested itself in creation of governmental associations for commercial progress, expenditures

* Clark, pp. 143-45. His statistics are based on analysis of 268 architects whose biographies appear in
Bibliographie zur Architektur im 19. Jarhundert, Stephan Waetzold, ed. (Lichtenstein: Nedndlen, 1978).
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for museums, exploration and educational travel, hosting of national and international exhibitions,

and an increased commitment to technical and scientific education.*t

The Berlin Bauakademie

Although FEidlitz did not study at the Berlin Bauakademie, it provided the training for most of his
German-American architectural contemporaries and set the standard for architectural education in
German-speaking Europe. The Koénigliche Berliner Bauakademie (Royal Berlin Architectural
Academy), Germany’s first state-run school devoted entirely to architecture and the most well-
known of the German-speaking schools of architecture, can be said to have begun in 1765 when
Fredrick II founded a Bergakademie (School of Mining) in Freiberg. The school was in full
operation by 1770, and a short-lived, Enlightenment-oriented Ecole de génie d’architecture
(School of the spirit of architecture) was established in his court in 1776 while efforts were made
to expand existing institutions such as the Akademie der bildenden Kiinst. Nevertheless, civil
service demands for well-trained engineers could not be met, and in 1799, the Royal Prussian
Oberbaudepartement (Office of Works) established a Bauakademie modeled after the Ecole
Polytechnique in Paris as an affiliate of the Akademie der bildenden Kiinst. The new school was
managed by the director of the art school or by the Oberbaudepartement and, until 1824, craft
apprentices and journeymen educated at the art school were permitted to attend lectures at the

building school.

4 pfammatter, pp. 222-23.

*7 This material is based on Pfammatter, pp. 223-28; Hanno-Walter Kruft, 4 History of Architectural
Theory from Vitruvius to the Present, Ronald Taylor, Elsie Callander and Anthony Wood, trans. (London
and Princeton, NJ: Zwemmer and Princeton Architectural Press, 1994), translation of Geschichte der
Architekturtheorie: Von der Antike bis zur Gegenwart (Munich: C. H. Beck’sche Verlagsbuchhandlung
[Oscar Beck], 1985), p. 294; Neumann, p. 379 n. 6; Watkin and Mellinghoff, pp. 110-11, and Anna
Wesenber, “Art and Industry,” in Karl Friedrich Schinkel: A Universal Man, Michael Snodin, ed. (New
Haven, CT and London: Yale University Press, 1991), pp. 57-63. Pfammatter relied on F. Schnabel, Die
Anfingen des technischen Hochschulwesens. Festschrift anlifilich des 100jdhrigen Bestehens der
Technischen Hochschule Fredericiana zu Karlsruhe (Karlsruhe, 1925) and K. Schwarz, ed., Von der
Bauakademie zur Technischen Universitit. 200 Jahre Forschung und Lehre (Berlin, 1999).
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In 1821, Peter Christian Wilhelm Beuth (1781-1853), director of the Prussian Technischen
Deputation fiir Gewerbe (State Agency for Trade) since 1819 and one of the governmental
functionaries most responsible for post-1815 improvements in Prussian economic conditions,
founded a Gewerbe Schule (College of Trade) in Berlin. Based on the Paris Conservatoire des
arts et métiers (1799), it was intended to educate public-school graduates in theory and science
for careers in the chemical industry, building technology, and mechanical engineering, and as
teachers for provincial trade schools.*® With his friend Schinkel serving as aesthetic advisor,
Beuth professed an interest in developing skills and abilities among his students that would
encourage “refining commerce through art,” and his curriculum required them to take the same
classes irrespective of their discipline. However, in 1824, under his the direction, the
Bauakademie curriculum was changed: while practical and technical courses remained at that
institution, theory courses moved to the Akademie der bildenen Kiinst. Enrollment remained
high in engineering, but it fell so low in architecture that the department closed for three years.*
Beuth’s separation of disciplines was not maintained consistently, however, and it was strongly
attacked by Schinkel in his teaching and in his design for a new building for the Bauakademie

(1831-36, demolished 1961) that was commissioned by Beuth.”

8 A similar school was started in Vienna in 1825; Schwarzer, p. 101.

* Schinkel opposed a similar move in 1819 when the Prussian Ministry of Culture wanted to convert the
Diisseldorf Akademie der bildenden Kiinst into a polytechnical school. Weinbrenner also opposed attempts
to attract architecture students to engineering and mathematics lectures and contended that his students
already had too much to learn. Clark, p. 147-48.

50 In Schinkel’s Sammlung Architektonischer Entwiirfe, the building is called “Die allgemeine Bau-Schule
in Berlin” (The general building school of Berlin). In addition to classrooms, it incorporated the offices of
the Oberbaudeputation (Building Authority) and the Schinkel family apartment. Schinkel wrote that the
new facility was required because “The limited space and facilities of the Royal Building Academy in
Berlin [housed in the New Mint designed by Johann Heinrich Gentz, 1798-1800]... did not allow for
proper display and public use of the designs, maps, and models within....” He also wrote “Another reason
for the construction was the intended reorganization of the academy.” Karl Freidrich Schinkel, Collection
of Architectural Designs including designs which have been executed and objects whose execution was
intended (Chicago: Exedra Books Incorporated, 1982), reprint of Sammlung architektonischer Entwiirfe
enthaltend theils wereke welche ausgefiihrt sind theils gegestinde deren ausfiihrung beabsichtigt wurde
(Berlin: Ernst and Korn, 1866), translation of notes to Plates 115-22, pp. 48-49.
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Beuth continued to advance his positivistic view of education and in 1827, he merged the
Gewerbe Schule and the re-opened Bauakademie into the Allgemeine Bauschule (General School
of Architecture) that emphasized engineering. He became director of the facility in 1831 and
from 1830 to 1845 also served as Leiter der Abteilung fiir Handel, Gewerbe und Bauwesen
(Director of Commerce, Industry, and Construction Affairs) for the Prussian interior and finance
ministries. The Gewerbe Schule and the Bauakademie separated again after Beuth resigned in
1845 and two years later, a series of complaints from faculty, students, and professionals about
inadequate artistic offerings and an over-emphasis on science at the Bauakademie created reforms
that allowed students to specialize in Land- und Schéenbau (rural and “fine” architecture) or
Wege- und Wasserbau (road construction and hydraulic engineering).”’ These events were
probably known to Eidlitz, and they appear to have influenced his unsuccessful attempt in 1867 to
establish a school of architecture based on the polytechnical model and operated by the American

Institute of Architects.>

In 1869, the Gewerbe Schule became the Gewerbeakakademie and during the following year, the
Prussian government made plans to merge it with the Bauakademie. Little happened until 1876
when a decision was made to establish the Konigliche Technische Hochschule (Royal Technical
College). By this time, Beuth’s vision of flexible and direct technical training was gone. The
Gewerbeakademie had become a technical school with stiff admission requirements and the
provincial trade schools operated as nine-year Oberrealschulen (higher secondary institutions)

that taught Latin.”® At the Bauakadmie, the curriculum became increasingly fragmented when a

51 Clark, p. 147.

52 Leopold Eidlitz, Richard Griffith Hatfield, Emlen T. Littell, William Robert Ware, and Samuel Adams
Warner, “Report of the Committee on Education” in American Institute of Architects, Proceedings of the
Annual Convention Held at the Rooms of the New York Chapter, October 22d and 23d, 1867 (New York:
Raymond and Caulon, Publishers, 1867), pp. 13-16. Warner was Eidlitz’s brother-in-law.

3 Kees Gispen, “Engineers in Wilhelmian Germany: Professionalization, Deprofessionalization, and the
Development of Nonacademic Technical Education,” in German Professions, 1800-1950, p. 106.
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special course for Baumeisteren was initiated in 1875 and architecture was separated from civil
and hydraulic engineering during the following year. Nevertheless, the government initially
refused to consider separate departments for the new school. The issue was resolved in 1879
when the Bauakademie merged with the Privatgesellschaft junger Architekten, a small discussion
group established by Friedrich Gilly and Johann Heinrich Gentz more than one hundred years
earlier, to form the architecture department of the new Tehnische Hochschule that opened on 1
April of the following year. The new institution also absorbed the Gewerbeakakademie and
established four additional independent departments: civil engineering, mechanical engineering

(including shipbuilding), chemistry and metallurgy, and the general sciences.
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3. FROM GILLY TO GARTNER:

ARCHITECTURAL THEORY IN GERMAN-SPEAKING EUROPE

Although his training had emphasized the pragmatic over the intellectual, a body of architectural
theory specific to German-speaking Europe was available to Leopold Eidlitz while he was in Europe.
The earliest examples of this material consisted of construction manuals written for government-
sponsored schools located in Berlin but used throughout German-speaking Europe. French treatises
supplanted this material, at first concerned with classical architecture, and later, with increasingly
instrumental approaches. The quest for a specifically German architecture that paralleled political
developments during the early nineteenth century culminated in a rejection of classical forms that
developed in Prussia spread throughout German-speaking Europe. Adherents ofthis approach, which
had several parallels in northern Europe, frequently quarreled over the relative merits of the various
architectural styles they supported and thereby trivialized many of their arguments, a point that was

not lost on Eidlitz.

The French-German Connection

Although Hanno-Walter Kruft has claimed that no systematic account of nineteenth-century German
architectural theory had been published,' Nikolaus Pevsner made an early contribution to that project
in a paper on Karl Friedrich Schinkel presented by to the Royal Institute of British Architects on 11
December 1951. In his opening statement, Pevsner suggested that the most significant and, then,
recent architectural developments in Furope took place within a relatively small temporal,

geographic, and cultural arena.

! Hanno-Walter Kruft, 4 History of Architectural Theory from Vitruvius to the Present, Ronald Taylor, Elsie
Callander and Anthony Wood, trans. (London and Princeton, NJ: Zwemmer and Princeton Architectural Press,
1994), translation of Geschichte der Architekturtheorie: Von der Antike bis zur Gegenwart (Munich: C. H.
Beck’sche Verlagsbuchhandlung [Oscar Beck], 1985), p. 290.
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It is doubtful whether the history of architecture can at any period
be treated in exclusively national terms. For no period however
would such treatment be less possible than the last two hundred
years. From about 1760 onwards, the history of architecture in the
West develops as a Franco-Anglo-German alliance — or in an
Anglo-Franco-German, or a Germano-Anglo-Franco alliance. Any
neglect of this fact would seriously impair the results of national
scholarship.?

This is an important point because it signified Pevsner’s wish to establish a clear and convincing
lineage for certain participants in the recent history of architecture. He attempted to demonstrate the
validity of his notion for Germany by emphasizing a shift in preference among the architectural
avant-garde from local versions of the late Baroque and Rococo to local versions of French
neoclassicism. That earlier work was embodied in the ca. 1700 designs of Andreas Schiliiter (c. 1660-
1714) in Berlin, Matthdus Daniel Péppelmann (1662-1736), Zacharias Longuelune (1669-1748) in
Dresden, and Johann Bernard Fischer von Erlach (1656-1723) and Johann Lukas von Hildebrandt
(1668-1745) in Vienna, and in the mid-century Rococo work of Balthasar Neumann (1687-1753),
Johann Michael Fischer (1692-1766), Dominikus Zimmermann (1685-1766), and the brothers
Cosmas Damian (1686-1739) and Egrid Quirin Assam (1692-1750) in central and southern Germany.
Nevertheless, these extraordinary talents were unable to create a specifically German architecture
during their lifetime and Watkin and Mellinghoff concluded, “There is no unity because there is no

cultural or political center, no guidance or national identification with a particular style.”

Pevsner saw the French influence as a positive factor and was concerned with a specific approach to
design and a limited number of personalities. He described the architects in who he was interested,

all of them born between 1730 and 1740, as “men of varying achievements, but all of them

? Nikolaus Pevsner, “Schinkel,” Journal of the Royal Institute of British Architects, vol. 59, no. 3 (January
1952), p. 89.

* David Watkin and Tilman Mellinghoff, German Architecture and the Classical Ideal (Cambridge, MA: The
MIT Press, 1987), pp. 17, 57.
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revolutionaries of pure form” and practitioners of what he referred to as “the [George] Dance style.*
The group consisted of Etienne-Louis Boullée (1728-99), Charles de Wailly (1730-98) and Marie-
Joseph Peyer (1730-88), Jacques-Denis Antoine (1733-1801), Claude-Nicolas Ledoux (1736-1806),
Jacques Gondoin (1737-1818), Alexandre-Théodore Brongniart (1739-1813), and Jean-Frangois-
Thérése Chalgrin (1739-1811). Pevsner ascribed their inspiration to a Piranesian view of Roman
antiquity’ tempered by the classicising influence of the Burlingtonian-Palladian “achievement of
England.”® While he also admitted Charles Percier (1764-1838), Pierre-Frangois-Léonard Fontaine
(1762-1853), and John Soane (1753-1837), architects of the next generation, to this group of
“revolutionaries,” he dismissed the French and English architects born in the 1780s and concluded
“to find genius we have to go to Berlin.”’ This is because Friedrich Gilly (1772-1800) and Karl
Friedrich Schinkel (1781-1841) lived and worked in that city. For Pevsner, Gilly and Schinkel
personified the opposing but complementary views necessary for the development of modern
architecture, with the former embodying Schiller’s notion of building as a manifestation of the active
role that beauty would assume to bring about a stable and free society in a future age, and the latter

associated with the Industrial Revolution, its products, and its buildings.8 For Eidlitz, although he

* Pevsner, p. 89.

3 Giuseppe Vasi, Delle magnificenze di Roma antica e moderna... dedicate alla sacra Real Maesta di Carlo:
infante di Spagna ré delle Due Sicilie / da Giuseppe Vasi da Corleone... e dal medesimo fedelissimante
disegnate ed incise in rame (Rome: Stamperia del Chracas, 1747-1761). For Piranesi’s theoretical views, see
Rudolf Wittkower, “Piranesi’s ‘Parerre su Parchitettura’,” Journal of the Warburg and Courtauld Institutes,
vol. 2, (1938-39), pp. 147-58.

% Pevsner, p. 89.
7 Pevsner, p. 89.

¥ Schiller (1759-1805) believed that society must transcend the physical to achieve rationality and morality.
For him, Art allowed society to restore itself to a condition that enabled it to reach this end. When individuals
are parts of a larger order, they are unable to develop fully. Personal freedom can occur only through
education, and the key to education, for Schiller, is the experience of beauty. Therefore, sensuality tempered by
aesthetic education is necessary not only for the proper balance of the individual soul, but also for the
development of society. Such development comes from aesthetic judgments that allow beauty to guide reason.
The problem is that humanity occupies two conflicting realms; Nature (complexity, content, phenomena,
feeling) and Reason (unity, form, morality, consciousness). Only Art can resolve this duality through a uniting
of the material instict [Soffireib] with the formal instinct [Formtreib], and sensuousness with reason. When this
unity is achieved through a kind of play impulse [Speiltreib], beauty will result, Art will endow humanity with
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acknowledged Schinkel’s increasingly tectonic concerns, he seemed more drawn to Gilly’s view of

architecture as a social practice.

David Gilly

It is significant that David Gilly (1748-1808), Friedrich’s father, trained his son, Friedrich, and Karl
Friedrich Schinkel’ The elder Gilly descended from a French Huguenot family that settled in the
Pomeranian region of Prussia in 1689, an area won by Prussia from Sweden in the Northern War
(1720). The Edict of Potsdam, issued in 1685, had encouraged the Huguenots to settle in Prussia and

escape the religious persecution that followed revocation of the Edict of Nantes earlier that year."

physical and spiritual well-being, and the State will vanish. See Israel Knox, The Aesthetic Theories of Kant,
Hegel, and Schopenhauer (New York: The Humanities Press, 1958), pp. 70-74.

Eidlitz believed that Schiller’s notion of duality did not go far enough, and he likened the situation to a
pendulum in which Nature and Reason could not be kept in check solely by Art. For Eidlitz, Art is a powerful
and independent force that is based on humanity’s inherent need for “re-creation, a desire to do, to work, [and]
to explain and illustrate nature’s laws.” Leopold Eidlitz, The Nature and Function of Art, More Especially of
Architecture (New York: A. C. Armstrong & Son; London: Sampson Low, Marston, Searle & Rivington,
1881), pp. 147-49.

? Biographical information is based on Barry Bergdoll, “Friedrich Gilly” in Macmillan Encyclopedia of
Architects, 4 vols., Adolf K., Placzek, ed. (New York: Free Press; London: Collier Macmillan, 1982), vol. 2,

pp. 205-08; Robert Williams, “David Gilly” in Grove Dictionary of Art, Jane Turner, ed., 34 vols. (London:

Macmillan Publishers Limited; New York: Grove’s Dictionaries, Inc., 1996), vol. 12, pp. 641-42; Watkin and

Mellinghoff, pp. 64-74; Hitchcock, pp. 42-43; Fritz Neumeyer, “Introduction,” Friedrich Gilly, Friedrich Gilly:

Essays on Architecture, 1796-1799, David Britt, trans. (Santa Monica, CA: The Getty Center for the History of
Art and the Humanities, 1994),pp. 1-10.

1 Gilly, Friedrich Gilly: Essays on Architecture, 1796-1799, p. 137, 1. 4.

The Edict of Nantes, issued by Henri IV on 13 April 1598, granted French Protestants rights equivalent to those
of Roman Catholics. The Edict was intended to end the Wars of Religion fought among the Catholic League
and the Huguenots from 1562 to 1598, and it restored peace and internal unity to France for many years. Henri
had been a Protestant until assuming the throne, and he remained sympathetic to their concerns despite
converting to Roman Catholicism to become king (“Paris is worth a Mass”). On 18 October 1685, Louis XIV
renounced the Edict and declared Protestantism illegal. Although the Wars of Religion did not resume, the
action increased hostility among the Protestant nations that surrounded France. Many Protestants left France,
with most going to England and Germany, thereby aiding her enemies, and depriving her of many of her most
skilled and industrious citizens.

Potsdam was the capitol of Brandenburg, a Prussian state and Germany’s largest electorate. In 1640, the
Hohenzollern elector Frederick Wilhelm assumed power there. He issued the Edict of Potsdam on 29 October
1685 to encourage the Huguenots (as well as colonists from Holland and Switzerland) to settle in Brandenburg
to stimulate development of commerce and trade. In 1701, Elector Frederick III of Brandenburg crowned
himself Frederick I, King in Prussia, and under the reign of his son, Frederick IT (“The Great,” reg. 1787-89),
Prussia emerged as a European power.
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Born in the port city of Schwedt, David was the first to pass the state architectural examination in
1770 and rose to the rank of Baudirektor (Director of Building) in Pomerania in 1799. In that
position, he led harbor construction at Swinemuende and Colberg, designed and erected bridges,
churches, and public buildings, and was involved in town planning. In 1783, he opened a private
school of architecture in the Pomeranian city of Stettin, which emphasized French rationalist theory
within the context of rural commissions, and it was at this school that his son, Friedrich, received his
initial training. In 1788, on the orders of Frederick Wilhelm II, David moved to Berlin to become the
Geheimen Oberbaurat (Superintending Architect) in the Oberhofbaumt (Construction Supervision
Bureau). Also called to Berlin at that time were Carl Gotthard Langhans (1733-1808)"! and Friedrich
Wilhelm Freiherr von Erdmannsdorff (1736-1800),"? the leading practitioners of neoclassicism in

Germany. Their arrival marked the beginning of a significant break with Baroque architectural taste.

David Gilly maintained his involvement in architectural education by directing the private
Lehranstalt zum Untrerricht junger Leute in der Baukunst (Institute for the Education of Young
People in the Art of Building) from 1793 to 1796. He was also the founder of the Bauakademie,

established in Berlin in 1799 by the Royal Prussian Oberbaudepartement (Office of Works) as an

! Langhans was born in Silesia and trained in Breslau before becoming the Oberburaut in Silesia. When he
arrived in Berlin in 1778, he became director of the Royal Office of Buildings. He was active in Berlin and
Potsdam, and his work reflected the transition in German architecture from a local version of French Rococo to
Prussian neoclassicism. He is best known for his design for the Brandenburg Gate (1789-94), the “frontispiece
to Romantic Classicism in Germany”; Hitchcock, p. 42. Located at the west entrance to Berlin, its Greek
propylaea model was suggested by King Wilhelm Frederic ITI. Andrzej Rottermund, “Carl Gotthard Langhans”
in Grove Dictionary of Art, vol. 18, p. 741; Robin Middleton and David Watkin, Neoclassical and 19th Century
Architecture (NY: Electa/Rizzoli, 1987), p. 407; Barry Bergdoll, “Carl Gotthard Langhans” in Macmillan
Encyclopedia of Architects, vol. 2, pp. 606-07.

12 Although Erdmannsdorff was not trained as an architect, he introduced mid-eighteenth-century English
modes of architecture, decoration, and landscape design to Germany after seeing Palladian-inspired work while
visiting England in 1763. He also studied in Italy 1761-63, 1765-66, and 1770-71with Giambattista Piranesi
(1720-78), Charles-Louis Clérisseau (1721-1820), and Johan Joachim Winckelmann (1717-68). Erdmannsdorff
was an honorary member of the Berlin Academie der bildenden Kiinst and his house in Dessau often served as
a school, one of his pupils being Friedrich Gilly. Andreas Kreul, “Friedrich Wilhelm von Erdmannsdorff” in
Grove Dictionary of Art, vol 10, pp. 447-48; Middleton and Watkin, p. 399; Eberhard Driicke, “Friedrich
Wilhelm von Erdmannsdorff,” Beverley R. Placzek, trans., in Macmillan Encyclopedia of Architects, vol. 2, p.
28
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affiliate of the Akademie der bildenden Kiinst (Academy of Fine Art) and modeled after the Ecole
Polytechnique in Paris. He taught bridge and hydraulic engineering, and port, reservoir, dam,
irrigation canal, and other hydraulic construction until 1804. He also wrote several books on the
practical application of these and other topics."”> Pupils at the Bauakademie included Schinkel, Leo

von Klenze, Johann Jakob Friedrich Weinbrenner (1776-1826),'* Johann Carl Ludwig Engel (1778-

13 These include Anleitung zur Anwendung der Bohlen-Diicher bey 6konomischen Gebiuden und insonderheit
bey den Scheunen; Mit 6 illumin. Kupfern (Berlin: Decker, 1801); Beschreibung der Feuer abhaltenden
Lehmschindelddcher, nebst gesammelten Nachrichten und Erfahrungen iiber die Bauart mit getrockneten
Lehmziegeln (Berlin: Friedrich Maurer, 1796); Praktische Anleitung zur Anwendung des Nivellirens oder
Wasserwdgens in den bey der Landeskultur vorkommenden (Berlin: Gedruckt bey G. Decker, 1800); Uber die
Griindung der Gebdude auf ausgemauerte Brunnen (Berlin: Im Verlage der Realschulbuchhandlung, 1804);
Ueber Erfindung, Construction und Vortheile der Bohlen-Ddcher, mit besonderer Riicksicht auf die [Urschrift
“ihres”] Erfinders (Berlin: bei F. Vieweg dem Aeltere, 1797); with Johann Albert Eytelwein and Baptista Baria,
Kurze Anleitung auf welche Art Blitzableiter an den Gebduden anzubringen sind... (Berlin: In der
Buchhandlung der Realschule, 1802); with Johann Albert Eytelwein, Praktische Anweisung zur
Wasserbaukunst: welche eine Anleitung zum Entwerfen, Veranschlagen, und Ausfiihren der am gewéhnlichsten
vorkommenden Wasserbaue enthdlt (Berlin: Auf kosten der berfasser, 1802-1808). Publication dates given are
for first editions; many were reprinted several times.

Gilly was also the author of a widely-reprinted textbook, Handbuch der Land-Bau-Kunst, vorziiglich in
Riicksicht auf die Construction der Wohn- und Wirthschafts-Gebdude fiir angehende Cameral-Baumeister und
Oekonomen, 2 vols. (Berlin: bei Friedrich Bieweg dem alteren, 1797-98). After his death, the book was revised
by D. G. Friderici (a nom de plume? His son as “little Friedrich™), and published in several editions, the last in
1828. The book’s importance and endurance can be seen in a request made by the publisher Viewig to
Gottfried Semper in 1843 for a revised version; Caroline Van Eck, Organicism in nineteenth-century
architecture: An inquiry into its theoretical and philosophical background (Amsterdam: Architectura & Natura
Press, 1994), p. 26.

!* Weinbrenner was an architect, urban planner, writer, and teacher. As city architect of Karlsruhe, he shaped
the image of that city and his ideas came to influence most public architecture in Baden. However, the
persistence with which he clung to the neoclassical ideas that he advocated tended to make his work
increasingly irrelevant to younger practitioners and critics. Initially trained as a builder, he studied architecture
in Switzerland (1788-90), Vienna (1790-01), Dresden (1791), and Berlin (1791-02). However, his contact in
Berlin with Langhans and Friedrich Gilly and a five-year stay in Rome (1792-97) where he met archeologist
and theorist Aloys Ludwig Hirt (1759-1837) and several Prix de Rome winners from the Paris Académie
Royale d’ Architecture had the greatest influence on his work. After he returned from Rome, Weinbrenner went
to Baden to work for the Building Administration in 1800, and in 1809, became Chief Director. Through his
involvement in urban planning, he had great influence on building activity in the region and soon took over all
important projects while creating a decentralized administration that could supervise building activities
throughout Baden. His first plan for Karlsruhe (prepared as a student in 1790) and a revised version made in
Karslruhe in 1797 formed the basis of the town’s design. Both emphasized axiality, serial development, and
sequences of squares and Weinbrenner’s overlay of these neoclassical forms on the existing Baroque radial city
plan. Weinbrenner also taught architecture in a private Bauschule that he established in Karlsruhe. It drew
many students from outside of Baden and his pupils included Georg Moller, Friedrich von Gértner, and his own
successor, Heinrich Hiibsch. His school was incorporated into the Karlsruhe Polytechnikum founded in 1825.
Although he published a book on theatre construction, Uber Theater in architektonischer Hinsicht; mit
Beziehung auf Plan und Ausfiihrung des neuen Hoftheaters zu Carlsruhe, Tibingen: J. G. Cotta, 1809), most of
his writing remained incomplete and he was mainly involved with business affairs at the end of his life. Wulf
Schirmer, “Johann Jakob Friedrich Weinbrenner” in Grove Dictionary of Art, vol 33, pp. 38-40; Eberhard
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1840)," and Carl Haller von Hallerstein (1774-1817)."¢ In this sense, David Gilly can be said to have

metaphorically and literally founded a Franco-Prussian school of architecture.

Gilly also edited an illustrated architectural journal, Sammlung niitzlicher Aufsditze und Nachriéhten
die Baukunst betreffend. Fiir angebende Baumeister und Freunde der Architektur that addresséd
issues ranging from construction methods and costs to architectural history and book reviews. Gilly
and members of the Koniglich Preuflich Ober-Bau-Departements (Royal Prussian Building
Authority) founded the journal in January 1797 and jointly edited it through 1804; Gilly edited it

alone until 1806."” Despite irregular publication, it became a prototype for similar journals.

Driieke, “Freidrich Weinbrenner,” Beverley R. Placzek, trans., in Macmillan Encyclopedia of Architects, vol. 4,
pp- 385-86; David Brownlee, “Freidrich Weinbrenner and Karslruhe: An Introduction” in Friedrich
Weinbrenner, Architect of Karlsruhe: A Catalogue of the Drawings in the Architectural Archives of the
University of Pennsylvania, David B. Brownlee, ed., (Philadelphia: University of Pennsylvania Press, 1986), p.
3-11; Hitchcock, pp. 43-44; Pfammatter, pp. 229-30.

!> Engel was born in Berlin. After briefly working in Tallinn, Estonia and Petersburg, Russia, he moved to
Helsinki in 1816 where he practiced city planning and architecture in that city and throughout Finland. He was
extremely prolific and his neoclassical influence remained strong throughout that country through the end of the
nineteenth-century. Middleton and Watkin, pp. 398-99; J. M. Richards, “Carl Ludwig Engel” in Macmillan
Encyclopedia of Architects, vol. 2, pp. 26-27.

'8 Hallerstein was an archeologist who specialized in Greek sculpture. He and Italian architect Giacomo
Quarenghi (1744-1817) received the original commission from Ludwig I for the Glyptothek, a project that was
subsequently given to Klenze (Munich, 1816-30); Watkin and Mellinghoff, p. 143.

17 Only one German language architectural publication, Allgemeines Magazine fiir die biirgerliche Baunkunst,
published 1789-96 in Weimar, preceded Gilly’s. Not specifically directed toward architects and builders, it
contained book reviews, extracts, and translations, and was directed toward appreciation of architecture rather
than providing technical information. Neumeyer, pp. 57.

Despite the inclusion of some technical material in Gilly’s publication, Schwarzer claimed that periodicals of
the period “lacked a comprehensive approach to architecture” that reflected their genesis in aristocratic and
bourgeois dilettantism. He also claimed that specialized architectural journalism did not develop in Germany
until the nineteenth-century when new programmatic, technical, intellectual, and social concerns impacted
practitioners, and new methods of printing and distribution enhanced the ability of publications to address such
concerns. He particularly cited Allgemeine Bauzeitung mit Abbildungen fiir Architekten, Ingenieurs,
Dekorateurs, Bauprofessionisten, Oekonomen, Bauunternehmer und alle, die an den Fortschritten und
Leistungen der neuesten Zeit in der Baukunst und den dahin einschlagenden Fidchern Antheil nehmen, founded
in Vienna in 1836 by architect Christian Freidrich Ludwig von Forster (1797-1863) and published weekly
1836-38, monthly 1839-95, and quarterly 1896-1918, as the most important example of the new Central
European architectural publications. Geographically- and organizationally-oriented periodicals such as
Zeitschift fiir praktische Baukunst (Leipzig, 1841-65), Deutsche Bauzeitung (Berlin, 1868-1942), Centralblatt
der Bauverwaltung (Berlin, 1881-1944), and Die Architekt (Vienna, 1895-1922) emulated its comprehensive
coverage of technical, aesthetic, and political topics. Mitchell Schwarzer, German Architectural Theory and
the Search for Modern Identity (Cambridge, UK and New York: Cambridge University Press, 1995), pp. 29-30.
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The Rise of a “German” Architecture

This view of the beginnings of a distinctive German architecture that was deeply rooted in
eighteenth-century French practice is held by many historians, but subsequent developments were
complex and cannot be understood without taking into account the birth of a unified German state,
the political ties between the new state and the rest of Europe, and relationships between German
architects and their other European counterparts. Micahel Lewis emphasized this complexity when

he referred to the 1790s as

a decisive decade for German architecture. One cannot speak of a
German architecture before that time in the same sense that one
speaks of a characteristic French or English form of that art. In
part, this was the consequence of Germany’s political division into
a multitude of sovereign states. While notable architects worked in
Berlin, Munich, Stuttgart, Kassell, and other cities, none of these
possessed the national cultural primacy of London or Paris. Until
the founding of the Berlin Bauakademie in 1799, there was no truly
national architectural school, and a comprehensive architectural
education could only be had abroad or in the office of one of the
French émigré architects occasionally summoned to German cities.
What distinction German architecture had at this time was the
result of regional vernacular patrimony, not the product of an
indigenous intellectual or professional tradition.'®

Watkin and Mellinghoff expressed a similar view and documented its manifestation in a confluence
of personalities, projects, and buildings."” In their view, this Franco-Prussian school, its members all

German and born between 1733 and 1772 and of which Schinkel was said to be the heir, were united

18 Michael J. Lewis, “The Birth of a German Academic Tradition” in Friedrich Weinbrenner, p- 35.

19 Watkin and Mellinghoff included Johann Gottfried Schadow (1764-1850), sculptor, draftsman, printmaker,
and theorist, in David Gilly’s circle. Schadow’s work combined a restrained and somewhat sentimental version
of neoclassicism and a strong and detailed realism. He advocated the close study of nature and is considered
the first exponent of the nineteenth-century Berlin sculptural tradition. Born in Berlin, he traveled to Rome in
1785 and was appointed director of sculptural works at the Ministry of Architecture the year after he returned in
1787. He subsequently became head of the court sculpture workshop, beating Canova for the post, and in
1788-89, produced several reliefs for the new royal chambers in the Berlin Residenz designed by
Erdmannsdorff and Langhans. The sculptural ornamentation for Langhans’ Brandenburg Gate in Berlin (1791)
is among the best known of his designs. Schadow became the secretary of the Berlin Akademie der Kiinste in
1787, and was its director from 1815 until he died. He simultaneously directed the Akademie der bildenden
Kiinste and the Bauakademie from 1816 to 1824. Gotz Eckardt, “Johann Gottfried Schadow” in Grove
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by a positive response to Ledoux and service to Friedrich Wilhelm II’s attempt to make Berlin a

cultural center dominated by German artists.”

However, the situation changed dramatically, as
French influence began to decline after the rediscovery of Greek architecture and the subsequent
dismissal of Roman arid Renaissance modes of design by the avant-garde in Rome and, eventually,
Berlin. These changes allowed German architects to become increasingly self-reliant and less
obligated to French influence because they could obtain information from English publications and
visits to Greek archeological sites in southern Italy and Sicily for themselves.2' The results of these
transformations in taste and practice were especially apparent in the career of David Gilly’s son,
Friedrich.?? Although his fame is associated with less than ten years of productive work and his few
built designs were modest, he was an extremely important member of this group. His sudden death in
Karlsbad in 1800 from a pulmonary disorder prematurely ended a career of great significance and

potential and made him an unwitting avatar for ideas and causes that were largely anachronistic and

irrelevant to the time in which he lived.?

Dictionary of Art, vol. 28, pp. 42-25; Ulrich Pfammatter, The Making of the Modern Architect and Engineer,
Madeline Ferretti-Theilig, trans. (Basel, Boston, Berlin: Birkhduser, 2000), p. 224.

20 Watkin and Mellinghoff, pp. 59, 61-64.

211 ewis, “The Birth of a German Academic Tradition,” pp. 35-36. For example, while Le Roy’s Les ruines des
plus beaux monuments de la Gréce; Ouvrage divisé en deux parties, ou I’on considere, dans la premiére, ces
monuments du coté de [’histoire, et dans la seconde, du céte de I’architecture (Paris: H. L. Guérin & L. F.
Delatour1758) was perhaps the first serious attempt to accurately document classical Greek architecture, James
Stuart and Nicholas Revett’s The Antiquities of Athens (London: J. Haberkorn, 1762) was considered by many
to be a superior effort.

22 Many of Gilly’s original drawings were destroyed during World War II. A catalog of this material appears in
the Appendix to Alste Oncken, Friedrich Gilly, 1772-1800 (Berlin: Gebr. Mann Verlag, 1981), reprint of first
ed. (Berlin: Deutscher Verein fiir Kunstwissenschaft, 1935).

2 Hitchcock had little interest in him; Henry-Russell Hitchcock, Architecture: Nineteenth and Twentieth
Centuries (Harmondsworth, Middlesex, UK and New York: Penguin Books, 1977), p. 42. However, Pevsner
wrote that with Gilly and Soane, “...we are close to a new style of the new century,” although several pages
later he added, “Even with regard to Soane and Gilly, we have to be careful not to over-estimate their
originality and ‘modernity’.” Nikolaus Pevsner, 4An Outline of European Architecture, sixth ed.
(Harmondsworth, Middlesex, UK: Penguin Books, 1963), pp. 375, 377. Within the German-speaking world,
notions of Gilly’s ever-changing posthumous significance ranged from that of Schinkel’s source to the

personification of politically-suspect neoclassicism; Neumeyer, pp. 10-21.
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Fredrich Gilly

When he arrived in Berlin with his father, Freidrich Gilly began studies at the Akademie der
bildenden Kiinste where his teachers included the architects Langhans and Erdmannsdorff as well as
the artists Schadow, Rode,* and Chodowiecki.* After working for Langhans, Gilly was appointed a
Kondukteur (Supplementary Inspector) in the Kénigliche Baubehérde (Royal Building Corps) in
1790.25 He received his first private commission in 1792 and began to teach architectural drawing in
his father’s school the next year. Watkin and Mellinghoff stated that Gilly was influenced at this
time by his reading of Goethe and Winckelmann, and that his association with playwright Johan
Ludwig Tieck (1773-1853) and poet Wilhelm Heinrich Wackenroder (1773-98), both in their early
twenties, contributed to his self-perception as “...a romantic artist in lonely pursuit of eternal

truths.”?’

Gilly first came to public attention with a group of ten pen and pencil and wash drawings of the ruins
of a late thirteenth-century castle, Schloss Marienburg that was located near Danzig and built by the

Prussian Knights of the Teutonic Order.® He inspected the site in 1794 during an official tour of

** Christian Bernhard Rhode (1725-97) was a painter, draftsman, and etcher who studied in Paris, Rome, and
Venice. He became a member of the Akademie der bildenden Kiinste in 1756, Director in 1783, and an
exhibitor 1786-97. His depictions of Enlightenment themes as depicted in scenes of ancient and recent history
constitute his most significant work.

% Daniel Nikolaus Chodowiecki (1726-1801) was a self-taught painter, draftsman, and engraver who initially
specialized in miniatures. He became a member of the Berlin Kunstakademie in 1764 and began painting for
the court. He concentrated on illustration after 1768, became director of the Kunstakademie in 1797, and never
left Berlin except for trips to Danzig and Dresden. Although he illustrated Werther, Goethe seems to have
considered him no more than technically adept. Irene Haberland, “Daniel Nikolaus Chodowiecki” in Grove
Dictionary of Art, vol. 7, pp. 183-84; Johann Wolfgang von Goethe, “Ancient versus Modern,” translation of
“Antik und Modem” in Uber Kunst und Altertum, vol. 2 (1818) in Essays on Art and Literature, John Geary,
ed., Ellen von Nardoff and Ernst H. von Nardoff, trans., (New York: Suhrkamp Publishers, 1986), p. 91.

% Neumeyer, p. 5.
27 Watkin and MellinghofT, p. 66.

8 He also included a technical drawing of a millrace built by the Knights of the Teutonic Order intended to
demonstrate “evidence of the care that the knights took for the good of the land.” Friedrich Gilly: Essays on
Architecture, p. 111.
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Pomerania with his father.”” The drawings were exhibited at the Akademie der bildenden Kiinst in
1795 and published in as a series of engravings between 1799 and 1803.*° Gilly also published an
essay about the castle in 1796 that re-ignited an interest in Gothic art among German artists and

31

intellectuals.” Enthusiasm for the Gothic, initiated more than twenty years earlier by Goethe’s

anonymously published paean to Strasbourg Cathedral and its architect, Erwin von Steinbach,*® had

 When they arrived, the castle was used as an infantry barracks. David had organized the trip to prepare plans
for demolition of a portion of it to accommodate a new storage facility. The work would have continued a
process of alterations begun by Freidrich a year after the building was captured by Prussian troops in 1772.

3% Copper engraver Johann Friedrich Frick (1774-1850) made the plates and published the first as a frontispiece
in Sammlung niitzlicher Aufsiitze und Nachrichten die Baukunst betreffend 1, no. 2 (1797). After Gilly died,
Frick and architect Martin Friedrich Rabe (1775-1856), a member of Gilly’s circle, returned to the castle to re-
measure it to depict it more accurately. Engravings published after that visit incorporated changes to Gilly’s
original drawings as well as additional plans, architectural details, and an expanded version of one of Gilly’s
drawings. Although the title page to the plates was dated 1799, the new engravings and the introduction written
by Frick were published under his name with German and French texts as Schloss Marienburg in Preufien/Le
chéteau de Marienbourg en Prusse (Mareinberg Castle in Prussia, Berlin: 1803). Neumeyer, pp. 37, and
“Notes on the Marienburg Illustrations” in Friedrich Gilly: Essays on Architecture, p. 117.

31 «“On the Views of Marienburg, Castle of the Teutonic Order in West Prussia, Drawn in the Year 1794 by Mr.
Gilly, Supervisor at the Royal Building Administration,” Friedrich Gilly, Essays on Architecture, pp. 105-11,
translation of “Uber die vom Hern Oberhof-Bauamts-Kondukteur Gilly im Jahr 1794 aufgenommenen
Ansichten des Schlosses der deutschen Ritter zu Marienburg in Westpreuflien” in J. W. A. Kosmann and Th.
Heinsius, eds., Denkwiirdigkeiten und Tagesgeschichte der Mark Bamburg, pp. 667-76. His introduction is
similar to those that accompanied collections of measured drawings of Greek antiquities: “In addition to the
plan of the whole, the drawings [ made of these buildings on my travels in the year 1794 include a series of
views of the most interesting parts of the castle, together with a survey of all the individual parts, connections,
and dimensions, which will serve as an elucidation for the architect”; “On the Views of Marienburg...”;
Friedrich Gilly: Essays on Architecture, p. 108.

32 Johann Wolfgang von Goethe, “Von deutscher Baukunst”, written 1772, dated 1773. While his essay is
ostensibly about the Cathedral, its real purpose is an attack on classicism, particularly the French version
advocated by Marc-Antoine Laugier in Essai sur l'architecture (Paris: Chez Duchesne, 1753. After admitting
the usual prejudices (“for me, everything was Gothic that did not fit my system”), Goethe described how he
experienced something akin to a religious conversion when he visited the building. Writing of the emotion that
it elicited (“I could relish and enjoy, but by no means identify and explain™), he surrendered to the building’s
“thousand harmonizing details” and understood that “German architecture, [is] our architecture.” However, the
distinction between classical and Gothic may not have been absolute for Goethe and, as if echoing Vitruvius (or
Laugier), he acknowledged that the “countless parts” of the church made up “whole masses” whose overall
effect was “simple and great.” Johann Wolfgang von Goethe, “Von deutscher Baukunst” (1772) in Johann
Wolfgang von Goethe, Goethe’s Collected Works, John Geary, ed., Ellen von Nardoff and Emst H. von
Nardoff, trans., (New York: Suhrkamp Publishers, 1986), pp. 3-10. Laugier claimed Gothic architecture as a
French innovation and, in a similarly ambivalent manner, revealed that his admiration for the classical was not
exclusive: “Our Gothic churches are still the most acceptable [style in which to build]. A mass of grotesque
ornaments spoils them, and yet, we are awed by a certain air of greatness and majesty. Here we find ease and
gracefulness, they only lack majesty. We have rightly measured the follies of the Gothic (I’architecture
moderne) and we have returned to the antique, but it seems we have lost good taste on the way.” Marc-Antoine
Laugier, An Essay on Architecture, Wolfgang and Anni Herrmann, trans. (Los Angeles: Hennessey & Ingalls,
1977), p. 100.
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supplanted admiration for classicism by the time Gilly’s drawings were exhibited.”> However, in the
first paragraph of his essay, Gilly introduced a significant distinction between his view of the Gothic
and that which preceded it, and in one carefully worded sentence, the physical qualities of the castle

were given equal standing with its cultural associations.

The castle of Marienburg in West Prussia presents a variety of
interest. Architecturally remarkable for its colossal and audacious
construction and for its truly grand simplicity of style, the castle is
also a monument of great antiquarian and patriotic significance.**

Gilly was not concerned with the contrived responses elicited by ersatz monasteries and mock castles,
and he mixed descriptive prose with metaphorical fancy to reveal authentic reactions induced by

authentic Gothic ruins.

“Gothick” architecture had reached Germany around 1760 with the taste for English landscaping and
gardens. However, Gilly changed its significance from a garden entertainment intended to evoke a
limited range of carefully defined emotions to the design of objects responsive to intense physical and
emotional encounter. This notion of an emotionally reciprocal architecture revealed itself in accounts

that animated physicality and structure. He wrote of the castle, “...indeed, it was once said in praise

33 Neumeyer, p. 25. Goethe’s writings appear to reflect this change in taste, although they can also be read as a
continued personal appreciation of both. In an essay published in Uber Kunst und Altertun am Rhein und Main,
vol. 4, no. 2 (Weimar, 1823) that was also titled “Von deutscher Baukunst,” he wrote about Cologne Cathedral
but was more direct about his advocacy of classical principals than in the earlier piece on Strasbourg. Asifto
legitimatize his opinion by quoting “the testimony of a Frenchman, who in his own style was opposed to the
one we are celebrating here,” he began with a quotation from Frangois Blondel’s Cours d’Architecture (Paris,
1675), vol. 5, sect 5, chap. 17: “...we look with pleasure on those Gothic buildings whose beauty seems to
derive form and is seen in symmetry and the relationship of the whole to the parts among themselves, without
taking into account the ugly ornaments with which they are covered.” Goethe confirmed this judgement
through his own observations: “Even the interior of the Cathedral, although impressive, frankly strikes us as
inharmonious. Only when we enter the completed choir do we encounter a surprising harmony. Then we are
happily amazed, then we are joyously startled and experience a great sense of complete fulfillment.” Of the
1773 version of “Von deutscher Baukunst,” he noted “On re-reading it, I was pleased to discover that I had no
cause to be ashamed, for I had been intuitively aware of the inner proportions of the whole, had grasped the
natural evolvement of the ornamentations of the whole... All this corresponded well with my friends’ recent
views as well as with my own.” Johann Wolfgang von Goethe, “Von deutscher Baukunst” (1823) in Essays on
Art and Literature, pp. 12, 14.

3 «On the Views of Marienburg...,” Friedrich Gilly: Essays on Architecture, p. 106.
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of this building that it stands as deeply embedded in the earth as it rises above it”,** and in a similar

manner, he described vaulting that ...seems to shoot aloft like a rocket from each pier and converges
at the crown in alternating points...” and concluded “... the effect of the whole, as in every part of
the castle, is one of grandeur and exhilaration.”® Tt would be a mistake, however, to suggest that
Gilly’s admiration for Gothic ruins set him totally at odds with more conventional modes of design,
and he made this point in a comment directed towards those who blindly advocated the English
garden manner over the French: “There is, without doubt, such a thing as an artistic treatment of
ordered plans; and it is an exaggeration to say of them, flatly: ‘Symmetry is surely born of indolence

and vanity.””’

Gilly’s interest in Marienburg contributed to a renewed interest in the brick
construction that was common throughout Northern Germany and Poland, and influenced public and

governmental opinion that eventually led to restoration of the castle.*®

Using funds made available when Friedrich II bought one of his Marienburg drawings, Gilly traveled
to Paris, Dessau, Weimar, Strasbourg, London, Hamburg, Vienna, Prague, and Dresden in 1797-99.

Visits to Italy were impossible at this time because of the French occupation of Rome after

35 “On the Views of Marienburg...,” Friedrich Gilly: Essays on Architecture, p. 108.
36 «On the Views of Marienburg...,” Friedrich Gilly: Essays on Architecture, pp. 109-10.

37 «A description of the Villa Bagatelle, near Paris,” Friedrich Gilly: Essays on Architecture,p. 142, translation
of “Beschreiung des Landhauses Bagatelle bey Paris,” Sammlung niitzlicher Aufséitze und Nachrichten die
Baukunst betreffend 3, no. 3 (1799), pp. 106-15. The quotation is from René-Louis, marquis de Girardin, De la
composition des paysages sur le terrain, ou Des moyens d’embelleir la nature autour des habitations
champétres (Geneva: 1777, fourth rev. ed., Paris: Debray, 1805), ch. 1: 30: “La symétrie est née sans doute de
la paresse et de la vanité.” Gilly felt that because the new English style was in its infancy, its value was
frequently obscured by a quest for novelty and lack of technical ability among its proponents and practitioners.
As a source of reliable information, he recommended Uber den guten Geschmack bei linlichen Kiinst- und
Garten-Anlagen (Leipzig: 1798), a German translation of Uvedale Price’s An Essay on the Picturesque, as
compared with the Sublime and the Beautiful, and, on the Use of Studying Pictures, for the Purpose of
Improving Real Landscape (London: J. Robinson, 1794).

% In 1804, the Prussian government classified Marienburg Castle worthy of preservation and made plans to
rebuild it immediately after Napoleon’s troops retreated. In 1815, state chancellor Prince Charles August von
Hardenberg ordered Theodor von Schén (1773-1856), Oberprisident (Regional President) of West and East
Prussia, to start the rebuilding program. Schon envisioned the project as a national monument to the Wars of
Liberation and Prussian reforms of that period, and in 1816, the SchloB bauverwaltung Marienburg
(Marienburg Castle Reconstruction Committee) was formed. Work started a year later and continued as late as
1931.
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Napoleon’s Lombardy campaign of 1796.%° Surprisingly, while he saw the work of architects such as
Legrand and Molinos,” Poyet,‘“ and Ledoux in Paris, he did not discuss them in the accounts of his
“travels his father’s journal.” Instead, he described Frangois-Joseph Bélanger’s Chateau de

Bagatelle,” a small residence built in the Bois de Boulogne near Paris in 1777 that would serve as a

% Neumeyer, p. 6

0 Primarily a holder of administrative posts, Jacques Molinos (1743-1831), city architect of Paris during the
Empire, pursued a general practice that included residential and institutional work as well as gardens and
decorations for public festivals. He is best known for the Orangerie du Muséum near the Louvre and the
original timber dome that covered the Halle aux Blé (Paris, 1782-83, with Jacques-Guillaume Legrand)
designed by Camus de Mezi¢re; Middleton and Watkin, p. 413; Gérard Rousset-Charny, “Jacques Molinos,”
Richard Cleary, trans., in Macmillan Encyclopedia of Architects, vol. 3, p. 224.

! Bernard Poyet (1742-1824) studied with de Wailly and became the city architect of Paris. A design for a
hospital prepared by him in 1788 appeared in Jacques Tenon, Mémoire sur les hépitaux de Paris (Memoirs of
the hospitals of Paris, Paris: 17917), the standard work on the subject at the time. It became the accepted model
for similar projects and a version of it appeared in vol. 3, pl. 18 of Durand’s Pregis. Poyet also prepared a
design for the Hopital Ste.-Anne (Paris, 1785-88), a giant radial structure intended for 5,000 patients. It was
admired by Durand and Legrand but never built because of impracticality and cost. Middleton and Watkin, p.
420; Kauffman, p. 159; Richard Cleary, “Bernard Poyet” in Macmillan Encyclopedia of Architects, vol. 3, p.
469; Claude Mignot, Architecture of the Nineteenth Century in Europe, D. Q. Stephenson, trans. (New York:
Rizzoli International Publications, Inc., 1984), translation of L ’Architecture au XIX siécle (Fribourg: Office du
Livre, 1983), pp. 225, 232-33.

2 Pevsner claimed that Gilly was receptive to the work of the more radical French architects because his
sensibilities had been prepared through his knowledge of Piranesi, and he found proof for his argument in the
strongly geometric projects that Gilly created before he visited Paris in 1798. These include a 1794 sketch of a
small room with a screen of Doric columns, coffered ceiling, and semi-circular window recess, and a 1796
design for a national monument to Fredrick the Great; Pevsner, p. 90. Nevertheless, Gilly associated
Bélanger’s work with, and reserved his highest compliments for, the more conservative, archeologically
correct, and luxurious French variety of neoclassicism advocated by Charles Percier and Pierre-Frangois-
Léonard Fontaine in the “the remarkable preface, written in the true language of art” of their Palais, maisons, et
autres édifices modernes, desinés a Rome, Paris, 1798) and in an announcement for the book, presumably
written by them, in the Magasin encyclopédique, ou Journal des sciences, des lettres, des arts. ““A description
of the Villa Bagatelle, near Paris,” Friedrich Gilly: Essays on Architecture, p.147 n.**.

# «A description of the Villa Bagatelle, near Paris,” Friedrich Gilly: Essays on Architecture, pp. 139-48.

Bélanger (1744-1818) was a French architect and landscape designer with a distinguished career as a royal
architect in the courts of Louis XV and Louis XVI. He attended the Académie Royale d’ Architecture in Paris
1764-66 under Julien-David Le Roy and Pierre Contant d’Ivry (1698-1777). Although an accomplished
landscape architect, he also designed interior decoration and court festivals. He excelled in business dealings
(his pseudonym was “Bellangé”), and he bought the position of principal architect to the comte d’ Artois, the
brother of Louis XVI who became the reactionary Charles X (reg. 1824-30). The house was commissioned,
designed, and built in six weeks (21 September — 26 November 1777) in response to a challenge from Marie-
Antoinette.

Although most of Bélanger’s work was residential, he also replaced the wood dome of the Halle aux B1é (1763-
67, Paris) that burned in 1802 with one of iron. That structure, added to the building designed by Nicolas
Camus de Méziéres (1721- ca. 1793) was itself designed and built 1782-83 by Jacques-Guillaume Legrand and
Jacques Molinos using methods devised by Philibert de 1’Orme (ca. 1510-70). Bélanger’s replacement, the first
of its kind, was built 1806-11 and featured cast iron ribs and wrought iron tie rings. Giedion noted that
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model for a house intended for his own use and a picturesque park built 1786-93 for the Duc

d’Orléans in La Raincy, near Paris.**

Gilly’s most significant work was a competition entry for a monument to Fredrick the Great, King of
Prussia. The brief called for a monumental setting for a statue of the king intended to foster morality
and patriotism and it attracted entries from Langhans, Erdmannsdorff, Johann Heinrich Gentz, and
Aloys Hirt. Gilly placed his scheme in the Leipziger Platz, an area situated immediately inside the
Brandenburg Gate, which marked the start of the Potsdam road to Sans Souci, Frederick’s summer
estate. Although his preliminary designs were based on Roman models, Gilly gradually developed an
approach based on a Romantic vision of fifth-century BC Greek antiquity. The présentation drawings
showed a sacred precinct in the shape of an elongated octagon, “unconfined but — as it were — defined
by subsidiary structures of very fresh and varied design.”* These “subsidiary structures” consisted
of dark obelisks and sphinxes and the precinct was entered though a propylaea consisting of a
triumphal arch capped by a quadriga and flanked by Doric colonnades. Within the precinct, a
bronze-roofed Doric temple made of a light-colored stone contained a large seated statue of Frederick
II. It rested on a high podium of a dark stone, penetrated by vaulted passages and was surrounded by
low staircases, Doric colonnades, and battered walls, all of which were made of the same dark

masonry. A field of stars was painted on the ceiling of a crypt located below the temple at the

Bélanger was assisted by an engineer, Frédéric Brunet (b. 1768), and claimed that although iron was merely
used as a replacement for the wood, the enterprise was significant because “To our knowledge this marks the
first time that architect and engineer were no longer combined in one person.” The project was published inF.
Brunet and M. Bélanger, Dimensions des fers qui doivent former la coupole de la Halle aux Grains, calculées
d'aprés la composition de M. Bélanger, Architecte des Monuments Publics, Paris: 1809. Susan B. Taylor,
“Frangois-Joseph Bélanger” in Grove Dictionary of Art, vol. 3, pp. 523-24; Middleton and Watkin, p. 386;
Marc Dilet, “Frangois-Joseph Bélanger” in Macmillan Encyclopedia of Architects, vol. 1, pp. 169-70; Sigfried
Giedion, Building in France — Building in Iron — Building in Ferro-Concrete, J. Duncan Berry, trans. (Santa
Monica, CA: The Getty Center for the History of Art and the Humanities, 1995), reprint of Bauen in
Frankenreich, Bauen in Eisen, Bauen in Eisenbeton (Leipzig: Klinghardt & Bierman, 1928), p. 104.

# « A Description of Rincy [sic], a Country Seat near Paris,” Friedrich Gilly: Essays on Architecture, pp. 155-
62, translation of “Beschreibung des Landhauses Rincy [sic] unweit Paris,” Sammlung niitzlicher Aufsditze und
Nachrichten die Baukunst betreffend 3, no. 2 (1799), pp. 116-24. Only the first portion of a projected longer
article was published before Gilly died.
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intersection of the podium vaults; the temple was illuminated by top lighting. Gilly’s explanatory
notes stated that the ensemble was intended to stir the emotions and spiritually elevate those viewing

.. 4
it 46

Although Gilly did not win the competition,*” his design astonished the public when it was éxhibited
at the Akademie der bildenden Kiinst in 1797. In its use of unusual classical forms and in the
pathetic qualities of its imagery, the project recalled such contemporary French architecture as
Boullée’s project for a cenotaph for Isaac Newton (1784). However, Gilly’s design was much more
site-specific and, while it lacked Boullée’s abstract qualities and huge scale, its influence continued
into the 1830s, culminating in Leo von Klenze’s Walhalla, built high above the banks of the Danube
near Regensburg (1830-42) for Ludwig I of Bavaria.*® Many accounts claim that Schinkel decided to
become an architect when he saw the drawings. Tieck and Wackenroder, who collaborated earlier
that year on HerzensergeifSungen eines kunstliebenden Klosterbruders, an anonymously published
novel that celebrated the sacred mission of art,” declared Gilly a genius as worthy of admiration and

emulation as Frederick the Great, the national genius.

Gilly’s unexecuted c. 1798 competition design for the Schauspielhaus in the Gendarmenmarkt district

of Berlin, based on his study of contemporary French theatres in Paris, was of similar importance.”

* Hitchcock, p. 42.

* See the two versions of “Note on the Frierichsdenkmal” in Friedrich Gilly: Essays on Architecture, pp. 129-
33. They are similar in content: the first is a letter to Frederick from Gilly dated 21 April 1797; the second is a
transcript from a lost Gilly sketchbook.

*7 Langhans won, but his relatively modest project was not built because Frederick died the same year.
* Watkin and Mellinghoff, p. 69; Middleton and Watkin, p. 401.

* Berlin: Johan Friedrich Uger, 1797. The book depicted the artist as an eccentric who was particularly
alienated from society; Gilly owned a copy. Barry Bergdoll, Karl Friedrich Schinkel, An Architect for Prussia
(New York: Rizzoli International Publications, Inc., 1994), p. 12. For a discussion of the alienated and
eccentric artist, see Rudolf and Margot Wittkower, Born under Saturn, The Character and Conduct of Artists:
A Documented History from Antiquity to the French Revolution (London: Weidenfeld and Nicolson, 1963),
Chapter IV, “Eccentric Behavior and Noble Manners” and Chapter V, “Genius, Madness, and Melancholy.”

%0 A theatre was built 1800-02 based on Langhans’ winning entry. Gilly supervised its construction and, after a
fire in 1818, it was replaced with a building designed by Schinkel (1818-26).
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Its auditorium, akin to the preliminary designs of Peyre and de Wailly for the Théatre de 1’Odéon
(Paris, 1767-70), the Théatre Faydeau by Legrand and Molinos (Paris, 1789), and Ledoux’s theatre at
Besangon (1775-84),”' was separated from the stage by a coffered proscenium arch and featured
“democratic” seating in a semicircular amphitheater. Although it contained a royal box, this product
of the French Revolution mixed the social classes and was reflected in the building’s volumetric
qualities. The entrance was marked by a Doric portico without pediment, and the arcaded passages
that curved back from it enclosed the seating area and intersected the cubic block of the stagehouse.
The same motifs, although significantly less related to their function, were repeated at the rear. The
bold massing and delicate Greek ornament of the stagehouse contrasted strongly with the curved
passages, and the overall design recalled the geometric rigor of Boullée and Ledoux. Gilly also
designed a theatre built in Kénigsberg (1799-1800; destroyed 1838). However, it was heavily altered
by the client during construction and disowned by Gilly; it is relatively conventional in comparison.
His 1796 proposal for rebuilding the fire-damaged Nikolaikirche in Potsdam recalled the
Schauspielhaus scheme in its use of a cube with a Doric portico, this time surmounted by a cupola.

It, too, was not built, but it influenced the Nikolaikirche ultimately designed by Schinkel (1826-49).

Gilly produced many designs for country houses and for pavilions in the parks and gardens of those
designed by his father. Of designs intended for his own use, only the Villa Molter in the Tiergarten
(Berlin, 1799-1801; destroyed nineteenth-century) was built. Based on Bélanger’s Chateau de
Bagatelle, he published an illustrated description of the French house in his father’s magazine while

the villa was in construction.

When he returned to Berlin, Gilly was appointed Senior Court Building Inspector in 1798 and

became a professor of optics, perspective, and architectural and mechanical drawing at the newly

5! Watkin and Mellinghoff, p. 71. In keeping with his tri-national view of late eighteenth-century European
architecture, Pevsner claimed that “A building like this cannot be properly appreciated without knowing
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established Bauakademie the following year.”* In 1798, he and Johann Heinrich Gentz established
the Privatgesellschaft junger Architekten (Private Society of Young Architects), a group of seven
architects that-included Schinkel, von Klenze, von Hallestein, and Langhans, who met weekly to

discuss readings; critique their own work, and participate in impromptu competitions.

The Significance of Jean-Nicolas-Louis Durand

In his amplification of Pevsner’s characterization of German architecture, Emil Kaufmann noted, “It

is a well-known fact that Durand’s textbooks were used all over Europe through many decades.”

Jean-Nicolas-Louis Durand (1760-1834), French architect, teacher, and writer, was among the most

England” and he compared its semi-circular apse and colummar screen to motifs used by Robert Adam;
Pevsner, p. 89.

52 Freidrich expressed substantially divergent views from those of his father concerning the aims of the
Bauakademie in an unsigned essay, “Einige Gedanken iiber die Notwendigkeit, die verschiedenen Theile der
Baukunst, in wissenschaftlicher und praktischer Hinsicht, moglichst zu vererinigen”; Friedrich Gilly: Essays on
Architecture, pp. 165-75, originally published in Sammlung niitzlicher Aufsitze und Nachrichten die Baukunst
betreffend 3, no. 2 (1799), pp. 3-12. In the piece, he opposed what he considered positivist course of instruction
and emphasis on employment with the Prussian government as well as an increasing estrangement of art,
science, and craft within architecture.

An account of the Bauakademie curriculum, “Nachricht von der Errichtung der Konglichen Bauakademie”
written by the Johann Albrecht Eytelwein (1764-1849), the school’s first director and a teacher of mechanical
engineering (he wrote several books with David Gilly), appeared on pages 28-40 of the same issue. In the
article, Eytelwein argued for a pragmatic emphasis on engineering over “great architecture” as a response to the
needs of the state. However, another article written by him described the purpose of the Bauakademie in a
more general manner, calling it “...an institute that would transport in its instruction all branches of the art of
building in their proper inter-relationship, and where theory and praxis go hand in hand in educating the
prospective master builder.” In this context, the influence of the Prussian government was said to be justifiable
because “...in comparison so very much is built at royal expense and such great sums are spent on buildings of
everykind.” Kruft, p. 294; Johann Albrecht Eytelwein “The Bauakademie — A Kind of Polytechnical School,”
reprinted and cited in K. Schwarz, ed. Von der Bauakademie zur Technischen Universitdt. 200 Jahre
Forschung und Lehere (Berlin: 1999) and translated in Pfammatter, p. 223.

%3 Emil Kaufmann, Architecture in the Age of Reason, Baroque and Post-Baroque Architecture in England,
Italy, France (New York: Dover Publications, 1968), reprint of first ed. (Harvard, MA: Harvard University
Press, 1955), p. 117. Neumann makes a similar comment within a discussion of the teaching tools used in the
architectural education of German-speaking students, noting that “It is not surpassing that with its roots in the
art academies, the teaching of architecture in its historical forms was centered for a long time on drawing from
models and, occasionally, local architecture. The schematic drawings of building types and architectural
elements that Jean-Nicolas-Louis Durand and others introduced at the beginning of the nineteenth-century in
France had a clear influence in Germany as well (on architects such as von Klenze and Freidrich Gértner),”
Dietrich Neumann, “Teaching the History of Architecture in Germany, Austria, and Switzerland:
Achiteckturgeschichte vs. Bauforschung,” Journal of the Society of Architectural Historians, vol. 61, no. 3
(September 2002), p. 376.
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influential teachers of his time. His belief in function and economy of means as the basis of
architecture was advanced in publications that remained in use into the twentieth-century. However,

its is difficult to reconcile his announced intentions with his influence and Werner Szambien notes

Durand is usually thought to have broken the continuity of the
classical tradition in architecture. T am not here to isolate any such
break. Breaks of this sort tend to be discerned when a more
gradual process of transformation cannot be recognized, either
because the true facts are not yet established, or because the subject
is not closely enough studied. ..

The complexity of his activity — and of his life — explains in part
why Durand has been classified in so many different ways. He has
been called a builder, a functionalist, a rationalist, a revolutionary,
a utilitarian, and an architect of the rising bourgeoisie. He has been
seen as the last exponent of classical architecture, as the begetter of
modern functionalism; he has been set in the decline of the baroque
tradition, and in the history of the rise of the engineer.

Each of these descriptions has a modicum of truth, but their
multiplicity points to a certain confusion.™*

Durand initially studied with Pierre Panseron (fI. 1736) and then worked in the office of Etienne-
Louis Boullée after 1776. He also took courses with Julien-David Le Roy at the Académie
d’ Architecture and participated in competitions under the guidance of Jean-Rodolphe Perronet. He
came in second twice in the Prix de Rome competition: in 1779 for a museum, and in 1780 for a
school. During the 1780s, he worked as a draftsman for Boullée and for the engraver Jean-Frangois
Janinet. Few of his designs were constructed and a rare example is the Maison Lathuille (1788), a
building with Greek ornament and an extremely simple plan. About 1790 he executed a series of
drawings, Rudimenta Operis Magni et Disciplinae, that are probably a pictorial representation of
Boullée’s theories centered on the notion of expressive forms and “character” in architecture. In

1794, Durand joined Louis-Michel Thibault, another student of Boullée, to carry out the decoration

3% Szambien attributed that confusion to the meager state of research on Durand’s ideas. He claimed that
“almost all information on him comes from his own publications” and acerbically concluded “Most historians
accept that Durand’s influence was ‘important.”” Werner Szambien, “Durand and the continuity of tradition” in
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for the Féte de Bara et Viala in the Panthéon, Paris. The event did not take place, however, and
nothing was built. They also won several other competitions for public buildings in 1794 but none of

these was built, either.

Durand’s competition successes led to an appointment at the new Ecole Polytechnique, beginning in
1795 as a draftsman, and from 1797 to 1833 as professor of architecture. During this period, the
school provided only basic education for engineers who went on to more specialized work.
Consequently, Durand’s architectural course was limited to a few sessions and it took second place to
subjects such as Gaspard Monge’s descriptive geometry. Durand produced two major publications in
response to the situation: Recueil et paralléle des édifices de tout genre, anciens et modernes,
remarquables par leur beauté, par leur grandeur, ou par leur singularité, et dessinés sur une méme
échelle” and Précis des lecons d’architecture données a I’Ecole polytechnique depuis sa
réorganisation; précédée d’un sommaire des legons relatives & ce nouveau travail’® These are

commonly known as the “Grand Durand” and the “Petit Durand,” respectively.

The origins of the Recueil were in the collection of six prints that Durand exhibited at the Salon of
Year VII (1798/1799). The remainder was assembled in two groups over the next two years, and the
completed work depicted more than‘thjrty building types in plan and elevation, dating from the
Egyptian period to the eighteenth-century. Although Durand’s preference was for extant structures,
he included several reconstructions. The overall approach was similar to that used by Julien-David
Le Roy (1724-1803) in Les ruines des plus beaux monuments de la Gréce; Ouvrage divisé en deux

parties, ou l’on considere, dans la premiére, ces monuments du cété de I’histoire, et dans la seconde,

The Beaux-Arts and nineteenth-century French architecture, Robin Middleton, ed., (Cambridge, MA: The MIT
Press, 1982), p. 19.

55 Paris: Gillé, 1799.

38 Paris, Chez I’ Auteur, 1802-25. Durand revised the 1802-05 edition of the Précis and published it as the
Nouveau précis des legons d'architecture données a I'Ecole impériale polytechnique (Paris: Chez I’ Auteur,
1809-13).
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du céte de I'architecture.’” However, Durand’s work was unique for several reasons: he organized
buildings by type, he simplified his models by redrawing and amending them to suit his purposes
(especially those selected from Piranesi’s work), and he presented all of the buildings at a common
scale in plan, section, and elevation.® The 1801 and 1833 editions of the Recueil were supplemented
by a fifty-two page text consisting of a substantial extract from architect Jacques-Guillaume
Legrand’s “Essai sur I’histoire générale de I’architecture.”® The “Essai” was published separately in
1809 on the advice of Charles Paul Landon (1760-1826) with Durand listed as co-author.* Durand
concurred with Legrand when he suggested using Legrand’s text because teaching responsibilities
made preparation of his own text impossible. The work was aimed at a wide public although it
remained in use at the Ecole des Beaux-Arts into the twentieth-century. The Précis contained
Durand’s lectures given at the Ecole Polytechnique and came in two volumes. The first focused on
architectural composition, while the second was concerned with the design of public buildings.
Durand declared himself an opponent of a long line of architectural thinking stretching from
Vitruvius to Marc-Antoine Laugier. In his view, economy, and fitness for purpose was the basis of
architecture, and his course proposed a standard, simplified vocabulary of neoclassical forms and

proportions.

37 Paris: H. L. Guérin & L. F. Delatour, 1758. Le Roy added plans to the second corrected, augmented, and re-
titled edition; Les ruines des plus beaux monuments de la Gréce: considérées du cété de Uhistoire et du cote de
l'architecture, 2 vols., Paris: Imprimerie de Louis-Frangois Delatour, 1770.

38 Kruft refers to the Recueil as a “typological atlas”; Kruft, p- 273.

%9 Legrand (1743-1807) was well established within the French architectural community, having studied with
Jean Rodolphe Perronet and Frangois Blondel and married the daughter of Charles Louis Clérisseau. His
practice concentrated on public works projects and he published several books, written alone and with others.
He wrote the first biography of Piranesi, although it was not published until the twentieth-century; Jacques-
Guillaume [Legrand], “Notice historique sur la vie et sur les ouvrages de J. B. Piranesi” in Marina Miraglia, ed.,
Grafica, Mostra della Calcografia dedicata a Giovanni Battista Piranesi, exhibition catalogue (Rome: Edizioni
dell'elefante, 1976), p. 5).

% Jacques-Guillaume Legrand and Jean-Nicolas-Louis Durand, Essai sur I ’histoire générale de I’architecture
(Essay on the General History of Architecture, Paris: Soyer, 1809). Landon was a prominent art historian, a
student of the Ecole de Beaux-Arts in Rome, and later a curator of paintings at the Musée in Paris, the precursor
of the Louvre. He translated and published the first French edition of Stuart and Revett’s Antiquities of Athens;
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Durand’s course underwent few modifications. His Partie graphique des cours d’architecture
données & I’Ecole polytechnique depuis sa réorganisation® amounted to a simplification of his
published teachings of 1802. The Choix des projets d’édifices publics composés par MM. les éleéves
de I’Ecole polytechnique® written by Durand in collaboration with Frangois-Tranquille Gaucher

(1766—1846) contained various projects by students at the Ecole Polytechnique.

Durand did not participate in the great projects of the French Empire. He designed many projects but
his few built works consisted of the Hotel Lathuille in Paris, (1788), Maison Lermina a house for an
administrator at the Ecole Polytechnique at Chessy, Seine-er Marne (ca. 1802), a house at Thiais (ca.
1811), his own house (1820) and country house (1825) in Thiais, and a portable panorama with
Charles O. Barbaroux (1828).°® His buildings illustrate the principles taught in his course and his
importance reflects his teaching and the extent of its influence. For more than thirty years, all
students at the Ecole Polytechnique were trained by Durand, whose influence is evident in public
architecture in France from the beginning of the nineteenth-century. His rationalism corresponded to
the economic and ideological needs of Napoleonic France by affirming the role of economy and
function through standardization of structural elements. Despite the radical views expressed in his
writings, he did not contest the usefulness of antique forms and contributed to their continued

presence in French architecture.

Durand’s influence in Germany was also considerable and his writings ultimately came to occupy an

important place in a country where architectural training was still not systematically organized. His

James Stuart, Nicholas Revett, Laurent Frangois Feuillet, C. P. Landon, Les antiquites d'Athénes, mesurées et
dessinées, Paris: Firmin Didot, 1808-1822.

¢! Paris, Chez I’ Auteur, 1821.
52 Paris, 1816.

8 Jean-Nicolas-Louis Durand, Précis of the Lectures on Architecture, David Britt, trans. (Santa Monica, CA:
The Getty Center for the History of Art and the Humanities, 2000); translation of Précis des lecons
d’architecture données a l’Ecole polytechnique, par J. N. L. Durand (Paris, Chez 1’ Auteur, 1802-05) and Partie
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ideas were first made known to German architects during their visits to Paris, an activity that
traditionally occurred at the end of their training and was intended to “perfect” their knowledge.
During the early nineteenth-century, these excursions allowed for study, studio visits, and observation
of construction activity that increasingly included such iron structures as the Pont des Arts (1803).
These trips gradually began to replace the visits to Italy that were typical of earlier generations, and
increased diffusion of knowledge of French architecture. Friedrich Gilly was in Paris 1797-98, and
other Germans such as Johann Heinrich Gentz,64 Caspar Frederick Harsdorff,65 Christian Traugott

Weinlig,66 Carl Ludwig Wimmel,*” Leo von Klenze,*®® Karl von Fischer,” Friedrich von Gértner,

graphique des cours d’architecture données a I’Ecole polytechnique depuis sa réorganisation; précédée d'un
sommaire des lecons relatives a ce nouveau travail (Paris, Chez I’ Auteur, 1821), “Works by Durand,” p. 320.

 Gentz (1766-1811), the brother-in-law of Friedrich Gilly, and Carl Gotthard Longhans were the most
prominent neoclassical architects in Prussia before Schinkel. Gentz was born in Breslau and studied drawing
and architecture in Berlin He returned there after visiting Italy, England, and France 1790-95 and became
Professor of Civic Design at the newly founded Bauakademie in 1799 and was appointed Hofbaumeister
(Building Supervisor) in 1810. His competition entry for a memorial to Frederick the Great was well received,
but the New Mint (1798-1800, destroyed 1886, Berlin) was his most important work. It featured a bronzed
sandstone frieze deigned by Gilly and housed the city building department as well as the Bauakademie where
both taught. Barry Bergdoll, “Heinrich Gentz” in Macmillan Encyclopedia of Architects, vol. 2, p. 185; Adrian
von Buttlar, “Johann Heinrich Gentz” in Grove Dictionary of Art, vol. 12, pp. 310-11.

85 Harsdorff (1735-99), the leading figure in Danish architecture in the late eighteenth-century, was also an
interior designer and teacher. Born in Copenhagen, then a part of Prussia, he trained at the Kongelige Danske
Kunstakademi (Royal Danish Art Academy) located in that city. He won a gold medal in 1756 and received a
travel scholarship that allowed him to spend six years in Paris and Rome where he observed the rise of
neoclassicism. He returned to Copenhagen and began a successful career as a teacher, civil servant, and
practicing architect. Hanne Raabyemagle, “Caspar Frederik Harsdorff” in Grove Dictionary of Art, vol. 14, p.
201.

5 Weinlig (1739-99) was born in Dresden and studied in Rome. Primarily a theorist and writer, he was a
follower of Winckelmann and completed only one building: a riding hall based on Bramante’s Tempieto
located behind the Zwinger in Dresden (1776). Nevertheless, in 1799 he was promoted to master builder of the
Oberland in Saxony and, ultimately, to the head of the Saxon main civil building department. “Christian
Traugott Wenlig” in Allgemeines lexikon der bildenden kiinstler von der antike bis zur gegenwart, unter
mitwirkung von 300 fachgelehrten des in- und auslandes, Ulrich Thieme and Felix Becker, eds. (Leipzig, W.
Engelmann, 1907-50), vol. 35, pp. 298-99.

7 Wimmel (1786-1845) was a born in Berlin where his father was a master mason who worked with Carl
Gotthard Langhans and David Gilly. He trained as a carpenter with his father but later studied architecture
under Langhans in Hamburg 1807-09. Wimmel subsequently spent four years traveling during which he
studied in Karlsruhe under Friedrich Weinbrenner and visited Paris and Italy. He returned to Hamburg in 1814
and joined the city building department where he prepared his first city plan in 1816 and became Director of
Building in 1818. He visited Great Britain in 1841 as a member of a Prussian delegation studying prisons and
asylums. “Carl Ludwig Wimmel” in Grove Dictionary of Art, vol. 33, p 228.
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Friedrich Weinbrenner,® Jacques-Ignace Hittorff,” and Franz Christian Gau’ also visited before

%8 Klenze (1784-1864) studied with Percier and Fontaine in Paris between 1812 and 1814; Oswald Herder,
Friedrich von Gértner (Munich, 1976), pp. 38-39 cited in Kathleen A. Curran, “The German Rundbogenstil and
Reflections on the American Round-Arched Style,” Journal of the Society of Architectural Historians, vol. 47
(December 1988), p. 357 n. 23. Curran does not accept Herder’s claim that Klenze also studied with Durand.

% Fischer (1782-1820) was born in Mannheim, studied in Vienna, and traveled in France and Italy from 1806 to
1809 before settling in Munich where he was appointed a professor at the Akademie der bildenden Kiinste.
Friedrich von Girtner was one of his pupils. He was appointed Koniglicher Oberbaurat the following year by
Ludwig, Crown Prince of Bavaria in his effort to make Munich a suitable capital for the new kingdom of
Bavaria created in 1806. Fischer prepared a comprehensive urban plan (1808—12) that influenced the city’s
development throughout the nineteenth-century and designed the Hof- und Nationaltheater (Munich, 1811-18,
burned 1823), at the time the largest public opera house in Western Europe. It was based on the Théatre de
I’Odéon (Peyre and de Wailly, 1767-70, 1779-82, Paris) and employed classical, rather than Baroque, motifs,
He prepared unsuccessful schemes for the Glyptotek and Walhalla, both of which were built by Klenze who
also rebuilt Fischer’s theatre. Egon Verheyen, “Karl von Fischer” in Macmillan Encyclopedia of Architects,
vol. 2, pp. 71-72; Claudia Bolling, “Karl von Fischer” in Grove Dictionary of Art, vol. 11, pp. 128-29,

7 Albert Rosengarten (1809-93), a German architect, considered Weinbrenner responsible for the collapse of
classicism in Germany. “Classical architecture was diffused in Germany... with a deficiency of spirit by the
School of Weinbrenner. The method of this school consisted of indiscriminately introducing columnar
porticos, and especially in forcibly combining modern architectural requirements with the temple forms of
antiquity, after the manner of Palladio; with this difference, however, that in the Italian productions of this
description a certain skill was associated with taste and a feeling for fine proportions, whilst Weinbrenner’s
German school and those architects who followed in his footsteps, cannot boast an equal share of these merits.”
Rosengarten, 4 Handbook of Architectural Styles, W. Collett-Sanders, trans. Boston: Longwood Press, 1977),
reissue of translation (London: Chatto and Windus, 1878) of Die architektonischen Stylarten: eine kurze,
allgemeinfassliche darstellung der charakteristischen verschiedenheiten der architektonischen stylarten,
Braunschweig: F. Vieweg, 1857), p. 461.

! Hittorff (1792-1867) was born in Cologne, the only son of a family of prosperous artisans from the Rhineland
who became a French citizen after France annexed Cologne in 1794. In that status, Hittorff was able to study in
Paris and he entered the Ecole des Beaux-Arts in 1811 where he worked in the atelier of Charles Percier. After
the return of the Rhineland provinces to Prussia in 1814, he could neither continue his French education nor
compete for the Prix de Rome. Consequently, he and another young architect, Joseph Lecointe (1783—1858),
were taken on by Frangois-Joseph Bélanger, who had been reappointed Architecte des Fétes et Cérémonies
Royales after the restoration of the Bourbons. While in Bélanger’s office, Hittorff worked on the iron
replacement dome for the Halle aux Blé. When Bélanger died, Hittorff and Lecointe assumed Bélanger’s
commissions, thereby developing a successful practice based on social and governmental connections. His
success allowed him to travel briefly to England (1820) and Germany (he met Schinkel in Berlin in 1821), and
to take an extended trip to Italy (1822-24) during which he and Karl Ludwig Zanth (1796-1857), a German
architect and a member of Hittorff’s atelier, observed traces of painted polychromatic decoration on Greek
temples in Sicily. These experiences led to book, co-authored with Zanth, that advocated use of such
decoration in restorations; Architecture antique de la Sicile; ou, Recueil des plus intéressants monuments [sic]
d'architecture des villes et des lieux les plus remarquables de la Sicile ancienne, Paris: Imprimé chez P.
Renouard, 18277?). Hittorff presented the results of his research and his theory of the polychromy of ancient
buildings to the Académie des Beaux-Arts. Similar evidence and recommendations appeared as early as 1811,
but the notion that ancient Greek architecture could employ intense color broke with the aesthetic norms of
neoclassicism. Radical students took up the idea at the end of the 1820s in support of Henri Labrouste’s (1801-
75) proposals for restoration of the Greek temples at Paestum, and by the 1830s, the approach spread
throughout northern Europe. While many of its adherents saw it as proof that the Greek architectural
decoration was accumulative and, therefore, free of academic constraints, Hittorff saw polychromy as evidence
of the orderly nature of the underlying architecture. Despite the controversy (and because of his government
service), Hittorff received a sizeable number of commissions in which he was able to demonstrate theoretical
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1810. Szambien attributes the presence of German artists and architects in Paris during that period to
their ability to obtain passports relatively easily because Prussia was allied with France. In contrast,
architects from London and Vienna were less commonly seen because their homelands had a more
contentious relationship with that country. Similarly, during the Napoleonic Wars, there was little
building activity in Berlin, in contrast to the southern principalities allied to Napoleon. However, the
situation became substantially different after 1850 when political relations changed and the interests
of German architects who visited Paris became more closely allied with those of the Ecole des

Beaux-Arts than with the Ecole Polytechnique.”

Although reprinted frequently in France, Durand’s works were not easily obtained elsewhere.
Pierson notes that translations of the Précis circulated in Germany as early as 1806, probably
referring to excerpts made available by Carl Friedrich Anton von Conta (1778-1850), a diplomat in

the Weimar court.”* Szambien and Valleri also mention unauthorized editions published in Venice

and practical aspects of his view of polychromy. Among the most important of these is St. Vincent-de-Paul
(1833-48, Paris), a church whose square plan contrasted strongly with the eclectic assemblage of architectural
elements in its fagades and interiors. Hittorff published a program that described its sculpture, monumental
painting, cabinet making, and stained glass, and positing the building as a link between antiquity and
modernity. His last work, the Gare du Nord (1858-66, Paris) was similarly unconventional in that its masonry
skin wrapped, but did not internally conceal, an iron-framed train shed. David Van Zanten, “Jacques-Ignace
Hittorff” in Macmillan Encyclopedia of Architects, vol. 2, pp. 391-95; Thomas von Joest, “Jacques-Ignace
Hittorff” in Grove Dictionary of Art, vol. 14, pp. 592-93.

™ Gau (1790-1854), an architect, writer and archeologist, was born in Cologne and began studies in Paris at the
Ecole de Beaux-Arts in 1811. He was as much a scholar as a practicing architect and traveled in Egypt on a
scholarship from the Prussian government and then in Italy (1815-21) gathering material for several books.
During the 1820s, he operated a private school of architecture attended by Gottfried Semper, and during the late
1820s and the 1830s, he obtained several official posts in Paris. In 1839, Gau received a commission to build a
Gothic cathedral in Paris intended to be comparable to that in Cologne. Work began in 1846 but he died before
it was completed. The building, Ste. Clothilde, became a symbol of the official recognition of the Gothic
Revival in France and contributed to Viollet-le-Duc’s rejection of the style. David Van Zanten, “Franz
Christian Gau” in Macmillan Encyclopedia of Architects, vol. 2, pp. 170-01; Barry Bergdoll, “Franz Christian
Gau” in Grove Dictionary of Art, vol. 12, p. 178.

7 Wermner Szambien, Jean-Nicolas-Louis Durand, 1760-1834: de I'imitation & la norme (Paris: Picard, 1984),
pp- 111-12.

™ Grundlinien der biirgerlichen Baukunst nach Herrn Durand, Prof- Der Baukunst an der Ecole Polytechnique
zu Paris fiir Deutsche Bau-und Werkschulen, Halle: 1806). Conta studied briefly at the Ecole Polytechnique
and the book is a condensation of several lectures given by Durand that he attended. Curran noted that in his
introduction, Conta claimed that Durand’s Recueil, published in Paris in 1806, was well known to German
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and Brussels before the 1820s as well as a trip that Durand took to Naples in 1822 to arrange for the
sale and publication of his writings. However, the first relatively complete German version of
Durand’s work, Abriss der Vorlesungen iiber -Baukunst did not appear until 1831. It was translated
by Clemens Wenzeslaus Coudray (1775-1845),a teacher of Conta, twice a winner of the Grand-Prix
ofthe Académie national d’architecture, practicing architect, and the designer of the copper etchings
contained in the second volume of the Précis. Coudray met Durand when, after completing his
architectural training in Leipzig, Dresden, and Berlin, he came to Paris in 1800 from Frankfurt,
intending to purchase a copy of the Précis for an acquaintance. While in Paris, he received
permission to assist Durand with his courses and work in his atelier. Despite that close professional
relationship and a successful architectural practice, Coudray left Paris for Italy in 1804 and remained
there until 1805 when he returned to Germany. He subsequently worked in Frankfort and Fulda,
however, most of his life was spent in Weimar, where he was appointed Oberbaudirektor (1816) to
the Grand Duchy of Saxe-Weimar-Eisenach, one of the smaller and poorer of the German states and
the location of most of his work. Although Coudray’s translation of Durand, begun in 1803 and
based on notes for courses he taught in Fulda, was presented to Goethe, Weimar’s most eminent
citizen, the ceremony took place in Karlsruhe, a city with its own polytechnical school founded in

1825.

Coudray introduced several German students to Durand who studied with him before returning home.
Among them were Gottlob Georg Barth (1777-1848) and Johann Friedrich Christian Hess (1785-
1845). Barth, previously trained in Karlsruhe, Stuttgart, and Berlin, studied at the Ecole
Polytechnique 1801-03 and, after traveling to Rome, returned to Stuttgart in 1805 where he

established a practice and became the city architect. Hess studied at the Ecole Polytechnique 1802-

architects. Curran, “The German Rundbogenstil and Reflections on the American Round-Arched Style,” p. 352
n. 5.
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03 and, after traveling in Italy with Coudray and Gértner, returned to Frankfurt where he practiced

and became the city architect, a position previously held by his father.”

Albert Rosengarten summarized Durand’s role in Germany during the nineteenth-century and a

somewhat unexpected side effect of his teachings.

In France and Germany the influence of the schools has become
very considerable, and within the last ten years has given rise to
several different and coexistent subdivisions of the art.

The French school of Durand was the most general and widely
extended of these. It endeavored to lead architecture back again to
the Italian Renaissance, and the study of ancient Roman
monuments, which were employed as models, were its foundation.
A certain rational treatment is peculiar to this school: its tendency
is rather to work out new designs and form new systems than to
promote the expression of the imagination and aesthetic
conceptions.’®

This situation is reflected in Hitchcock and Villari’s linkage of the influence of Durand’s methods to
Romantic Classicism, a loosely defined blend of post-Enlightenment sentiment and reverence for
Greek and Roman antiquity, in early nineteenth-century European architecture in general, and to

77

architecture in the German states in particular.”” The term was introduced in 1922 by Sigfried

Giedion as “Romantischer Klassizismus” and substantially expanded in 1944 by Fiske Kimball.”

5 Pfammatter, pp. 74, 76; Szambien, Jean-Nicolas-Louis Durand, 1760-1834: de ’imitation d la norme, pp.
122-32; Szambien, “Clemens Wenzeslaus Coudray” in Grove Dictionary of Art, vol. 8, pp. 40-41; Sergio
Villari, JJN.L. Durand (1760-1834): Art and Science of Architecture (New York: Rizzoli, 1990), p. 58; Watkins
and Mellinghoff, pp. 130-01; Kruft, p. 292.

" Rosengarten, A Handbook of Architectural Styles, W. Collett-Sanders, trans. (Boston: Longwood Press,
1977), reissue of translation (London: Chatto and Windus, 1878) of Die architektonischen Stylarten: eine kurze,
allgemeinfassliche darstellung der charakteristischen verschiedenheiten der architektonischen stylarten
(Braunschweig: F. Vieweg, 1857), p. 461.

77 Henry-Russell Hitchcock, “The Doctrine of J.-N.-L. Durand and its application in Northern Europe” in
Architecture: Nineteenth and Twentieth Centuries (Harmondsworth, Middlesex, UK and New York: Penguin
Books, 1977), pp. 23-73; Villari, p. 58; Kruft, pp. 274-75.

™ Sigfried Giedion, Spétbarocker und romantischer Klassizismus, Munich: F. Bruckmann, 1922); Fiske
Kimball, “Romantic Classicism in Architecture,” Gazette des Beaux-Arts, vol. 86 (February 1944), pp. 95-112.
Kimball believed that Giedion’s post-1800 dating for the origins of Romantic Classicism was too late and
suggested that its beginnings were in eighteenth-century English garden design.
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While Romantic Classicism was neither a unified movement nor style, its affect on Neoclassical art
from the mid-eighteenth through mid-nineteenth-century revealed a need for and provided a way of

mitigating some of its proscriptive qualities while retaining many of its universalistic aspirations.

Not all German architects approved of Durand, however. In the Preface to his “Preliminary Remarks
on Polychrome Architecture and Sculpture in Antiquity” (1834), Semper disparagingly referred to
him as “this chancellor of the exchequer of failed ideas” and castigated him as a participant in “an
almost bankrupt architecture [that] seeks relief and recovery by introducing two kinds of paper
currencies,” one of which was the square-ruled sheets used by Durand in his method of analysis and
composition (the other tracing paper). Semper called Durand’s sheets “assignats,” a form of
worthless paper money issued by the French revolutionary government during the 1790s, and
compared them to “a knitting pattern or chessboard, on which the plans of the buildings arrange

themselves quite mechanically.” He went on to complain,

Who still doubts their sterling value? — since without a second
thought we can gather the most heterogencous things under one
umbrella, everything the ancients threw together so higgledy-
piggledy. With them, the first-year polytechnical student in Paris
becomes a complete architect within six months: riding schools,
baths, theatres, dance salons, and concert halls almost
spontaneously assemble themselves on his grids into one plan and
carry off the great academic prize. Following such rigid principles,
entire cities like Mannheim and Karlsruhe are laid out.

Although still disapproving, Semper relaxed his position somewhat in comments made in a

Prospectus written in 1852 for his never-completed Comparative Theory of Building:

...but under the influence of his assignment to invent for the
students of the polytechnical school a compendium artis [Durand]
often loses himself in lifeless schematicism. He combines, lines
things up superficially, and brings about a sort of unity of parts in a
mechanical way, instead of showing their organic working together
around the primary, animating idea. Notwithstanding these
shortcomings, his books [i.e., the Précis and the Recueil] are
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remarkable and important for the principle of comparison they
contain,””

Friedrich von Gdrtner

Although not a theoretician, Friedrich von Gértner (1792-1847) had great success in popularizing -
Durand’s ideas in Germany during the 1830s and 1840s through his built work, teaching, and
publication of his Durand-inspired designs. Gértner was born in Koblenz, the son of Andreas
(Johann) Gértner (1774-1826), building director in Koblenz, court architect of Wiirzburg, and
director of the royal works in Munich. Friedrich studied at the Munich Akademie der bildenden
Kiinst from 1808 to 1812 under Karl von Fischer (1782-1820), and after spending a year in
Karlsruhe, a center of neoclassical architecture, he spent two years in Paris studying with Charles
Percier (1764-1838), Pierre-Frangois-Leonard Fontaine (1762-1853), and Durand. In 1814, he
traveled to Italy and subsequently published Ansichten der am meisten erhalten griechischen
Monumente Siciliens: nach der Natur und auf Stein gezeichnet von Friedrich Gdrtner, Architekt® and

Rémische Bauverzierungen nach der Antike,* both being accounts of his observations.

Giértner worked for Léo von Klenze (1784-1864) when returned to Munich in 1817, but received no
private commissions. Consequently, he accepted an invitation in 1819 from Charles Robert
Cockerell (1788-1863) to go to London and help with the publication of Cockerell’s account of his
own journey through Greece and Italy (1810-17), Antiquities of Athens and other Places of Greece,
Sicily, etc.: Supplementary to the Antiquities of Athens by James Stuart and Nicolas Revett,
delineated and illustrated by C. R. Cockerell, W. Kinnard, T. L. Donaldson, W. Jenkins, W. Railton

(London: Priestley and Weale, 1830). Cockerell’s book was the fifth and final volume of The

™ Gottfried Semper, The Four Elements of Architecture and Other Writings, Harry Francis Malgrave and
Wolfgang Herrmann, trans. (Cambridge, UK, New York, Sydney: Cambridge University Press, 1989), pp. 46,
168-69.

% Munich: Gedruckt und verlegt in 1. G. Zeller’s Kunst und Commissions Magazin, 1819.
$! Munich, 1824.
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Antiquities of Athens, Measured and Delineated by James Stuart and Nicholas Revett, painters and
architects (London: Printed by John Haberkorn, 1762-1830). While in England, Gértner became
increasingly aware of the effects of industrialization on society and architecture, however, he returned
to Munich less than a year later to assume the architecture chair at the Akademie, a position he

obtained through his father’s influence after the death of Fischer.

Girtner was appointed artistic director of the Nymphenburg Porcelain Factory in 1822, but his only
architectural work involved its rebuilding (1823-25). In 1827, his situation improved substantially
when, two years after assuming the throne, the former Crown Prince, now Ludwig I, King of Bavaria,
received him in Rome. Ludwig was ready to build and he wanted a new architect as a foil to Fischer
and Klenze. Consequently, in 1828, Gértner received the commission that lead to his first great
work, the Ludwigskirche. It was to be located on the Ludwigstrasse, the centerpiece of the king’s
grand project intended to establish Munich as a city of architectural and cultural prominence.
Because Klenze had created the design for the Ludwigstrasse in 1816 and most of the southern part

was already complete, Gartner received the northern portion of the project in 1830.

The Ludwigskirche (Church of St. Louis, 1828-44) reflected Gértner’s search for a style based on
architectural qualities he believed were inherent in early medieval architecture, a quest also
undertaken by contemporary architect and writer, Heinrich Hitbsch (1795-1863). Hiibsch’s book, In
welchem Style sollen wir bauen?®* advocated a local version of the Romanesque, the Rundbogenstil
(round-arch style), that reflected variety of sources, including Byzantine and classical, and employed
artist-designed ornament. Gértner’s final design consisted of a gabled basilica with transept and
rectangular choir. The street facade was dominated by a triple-arched portico set above a low, wide
flight of stairs and a pair of tall, pointed, towers. The parsonage and Gértner’s own house flanked

and were connected to the towers by round-arched screen walls. The building featured planar

82 Karlsruhe: Chr. Fr. Miiller, 1828.
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surfaces and infill panel framing characteristic of German and Italian Romanesque churches, and its
extended, linear form reinforced its position on Munich’s major street. In contrast to the severity of
the geometric forms used on the exterior, its interior displayed a surprising richness due to the
plasticity of its architectural detail and ornament and its extensive polychromatic decoration and

frescoes.

While Gértner was planning the Ludwigskirche, he also worked on the Staatsbibliothek, a project
desired by Ludwig I since 1827. The chosen site was on the Konigsplatz, across from Klenze’s
Glyptothek (1816-30). However, Géartner moved it to the Ludwigstrasse, behind and at a right angle
to the Glyptothek and next to the Ludwigskirche. Financial problems delayed construction until 1832
and completion until 1843. Consisting of a three-story, 25 bay structure, its extreme horizontality
emphasized and reinforced the urban quality of the Ludwigstrasse. Its severe exterior featured red
and yellow brick above a cut stone base, an unusual approach that Gartner probably learned about
during an 1835 visit to Berlin where he saw the late work of Karl Friedrich Schinkel (1781-1841),
especially the Bauakademie (1831-35). Because Gértner’s library and Klenze’s adjoining
Kriegsministerium (1827-30) were both based on 15th-century Ttalian palazzo models, there was
some similarity, although Gértner’s far exceeded the later in scale and monumentality. Other public
buildings in Munich quickly followed. They were located within a complex at the north end of the
Ludwigstrasse that included, in addition to the Ludwigskirche, the Ludwig-Maximillians-Universitét
(1827-40), the Landesblindenantalt (1833-37), the Damenstifisgebaude (1835-39), the Herzgolichs
Priesterseminar Georgianum and Max-Joseph-Stift (1835-40), and the General-Bergwerks- and
Salinen-Administration (1840-43). In his design for the latter, Girtner also used red glazed brick and

yellow terracotta.

In 1835, Gértner and Klenze accompanied Ludwig’s younger son, Otto von Wittelsbach, King of

Greece (reg. 1832-62), to Athens, where he was commissioned to build a new royal residence, the
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Konglisches Schlo3 (1836-43; now the Parliament. Klenze had created an urban plan for Athens in
1834, and Schinkel intended to reconstruct the Acropolis to provide a site for a new palace.
However, Gértner réj ected both ideas and maintained the approach he used in his Ludwigstrasse
buildings and designed an extended three-story flat-roofed composition (the Residenz) that featured a
pedimented central pavilion preceded by a heavy Doric portico. On his second visit to Athens in
1840-41, he designed and supervised the interior decoration of the new building, the first geoclassical

structure in the city.

Gértner completed the Ludwigstrasse with two monuments: the Feldherrmbhalle (1841-44) at the south
end, and the Siegestor (1843-52) at the north. At the request of the King, they were closely based on
the Loggia dei Lanzi (Florence, 1376-82) and the Arch of Constantine (Rome, c¢.312-15),
respectively. The Siegestor stood in the middle of the Ludwigstrasse in an environment of
Renaissance-, Romanesque-, and Gothic-Revival neighbors while the Feldhermhalle was situated
between and at right angles to the Italian baroque Theatinerkirche St. Kajetan (Agostino Barelli,
1663-69; Enrico Zucalli, 1669-88; Francois Cuvillée, 1765-68), the adjoining classical Palais Moy
(Klenze, 1819), and the Renaissance-inspired west fagade (1611-19) of the Residenz (various
architects, 1569-1842). The relationship between Gértner’s work and its neighbors suggests some of

the unresolved problems inherent in the use of historical forms at that time.

In addition to designing other buildings for the King including an Italianate villa, the Pompejanum
(Aschaffenburg, 1839-50), the third Wittelsbach Palace (Munich, 1843-80), his only Gothic Revival
design, and the Befreiungshalle (Kelheim, begun 1863), Géartner was appointed curator of historical
monuments in 1836, succeeding the influential art critic and collector Sulpiz Boisserée (1783-1854).
He participated in restorations of several medieval buildings including cathedrals in Bamberg (1834-

37), Regensburg (1836-39), and Speier (1840-58), and the Benedictine church and cloister at

96

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.



Scheyern (1837). Although typical for their time, the restorations are now considered misdirected

nineteenth-century “improvements.”

Girtner became director of the Akademie der bildenden Kiinst in Munich in 1841 and published a
collection of his work, Sammiung der Entwiirfe ausgefiihrter Gebdude, 2 vols. (Munich: J. G. Cotta,
1844-45). After his sudden death, uncompleted projects in Munich (the Wittelsbach Palace, the
Siegestor, and the Campo Santo in the Siidfreihof Cemetery) were finished to his designs, however,

Klenze substantially altered the Befreiungshalle by deleting the intended dome.

By the start of the 1840s, Gértner’s version of the Rundbogenstil was in taught in most Germany
schools of architecture. His influence spread throughout Germany as the “Gértnerstil” replaced the
neoclassical style of Klenze. Within a few years, however, the style came under attack. Semper’s
huge Rundbogenstil project for the Nikolaikirche in Hamburg won a competition held in 1845, but
was later rejected in favor of a Gothic Revival design by George Gilbert Scott. After that, the Gothic
Revival and Renaissance Revival began to threaten the dominance of the Rundbogenstil because it
was seen to lack the strong symbolic associations of those styles. While generally suitable for all
functions, it was well suited for none and, by the end of the 1860s, its use was relegated to factories

or barracks.®

% Susanne Kronbichler-Skacha, “Friedrich von Gértner” in Grove Dictionary of Art, vol. 12, pp. 167-68;
Eberhard Driieke, “Friedrich von Gértner,” Beverly R. Placzek, trans., in Macmillan Encyclopedia of
Architects, vol. 2, pp. 169-70; Curran, “The German Rundbogenstil and Reflections on the American Round-
Arched Style,” pp. 351-73; “Friedrich von Girtner — Lebensdaten” and Birgit-Verna Karnapp,
“Werkverziechnis” in Friedrich von Gdrtner, Ein Architektenleben, 1791-1847, pp. 219, 221-61; Oswald
Herder, Friedrich von Gdrtner 1727-1847, Leben - Werk - Schiiler (Munich: Prestel-Verlag, 1976); Katharina
Blohm et al, Architecturfiirher Miinchen — Architectural Guide to Munich, Charles Warren Offerman, trans.
(Berlin: Dietrich Reimer Verlag, 1994); Oswald Herder, ed., Bauten und Pldtze in Miinchen, Ein
Architekturfiirher (Munich: Georg D. W. Callwey, 1972); Micheel J. Lewis, “Rundbogenstil” in Grove
Dictionary of Art, vol. 27, pp. 334-36.

97

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.



4. EARLY WORK: 1843-51

The first portion of Leopold Eidlitz’s professional career extended from his arrival in America
and ended with the founding of a practice in New York City and the cultivation of a roster of
clients located there and throughout lower New England. During this period, his work involved
residential and religious commissions with the latter designed for Episcopal, Congregational, and
Jewish congregations. Nearly all of it reflected the preference of contemporary German-speaking
architects for Romanesque forms. However, the period concluded with Eidlitz firmly established

as a church architect and beginning to investigate the Gothic.

The Influence of Richard Upjohn

Very close to the beginning of the first article in his memorial series on Eidlitz, Montgomery

Schuyler wrote

Mr. Eidlitz was born in Prague, March 29, 1823. He never
forgot his birthplace. Reminiscences of the Moldau kept
recurring in his work by the Hudson. As the towers of the Dry
Dock Savings Bank' and of the Clergy House of St. George’s’
and such lesser erections as the “institutional” top of a
commercial building survive to attest,” he remembered, “super
flumina Babylonis,™ the picturesque “Pulverthurm” and the
picturesque bridge head of his native city, even though combined
with reminiscences of the Nassauerhaus in Nuremberg.’ These

!337-43 Bowery, New York City, 1873-75; demolished.
2207 East 16" Street, New York City, 1886-88; altered.
3 Possibly the Harris Building, 165 Sate Street, New London, CT, 1884; altered.

* The reference is to Psalm 137: “By the rivers of Babylon, there we sat down, yea, we wept when we
remembered Zion.” Schuyler seemed to suggest that despite leaving (involuntarily?), Eidlitz retained an
emotional as well as visual attachment to his birthplace.

3 The “Pulverthurm,” a tower built in 1364 by Matthias Rejsek (altered 1875-76) is part of the Old Town
Hall complex that was built in stages from the twelfth though nineteenth century. The “bridge head” refers
to the tower located on the Old Town side of the bridge (1357-1402) that crosses the Vitava/Moldau River.
Built in the last quarter of the fourteenth century, it was designed by Peter Parler (1330-99) for Charles IV.
The Nassauerhaus was an early thirteenth century residence.
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things came back to him as admissible motives in far different
erections.’®

Nevertheless, during the earliest years of his practice, the influence of Richard Upjohn was far
more immediate and obvious for Eidlitz than his Central European upbringing. Upjohn (1802-
| 78), “the father and pioneer of architecture in New York,”” was born in Shaftesbury, Dorset,
England, and died in Garrison, New York. His father was a builder and estate agent who taught
at Christ’s Hospital, London; his mother was the daughter of a clergyman. Despite family
objections, he apprenticed to a cabinetmaker in 1819, although some accounts claim that Upjohn
taught drawing. In 1829, following financial reverses, marriage, and the birth of his first son, his
family immigrated to America, and by 1830, he was working for his brother in New Bedford,
Massachusetts, and designing his first buildings. He moved to Boston in 1834 where he worked

with Alexander Parris (1780-1852) and began to acquire the first of his national contacts.®

Five years later, Upjohn moved to New York City to work on the project that launched his career.
The Building Committee of Trinity Church, New York City, hired local architect Isaiah Rogers, a
Unitarian, to inspect the roof of the congregation’s building, their second, during the fall of 1838.
Rogers installed some shoring, but additional damage occurred during the following winter.’

Upjohn, an Episcopalian, had previously designed alterations and an organ case for Trinity

6 Montgomery Schuyler, “A Great American Architect: Leopold Eidlitz, I: Ecclesiastical and Domestic
Work” [hereafter “Leopold Eidlitz 1], Architectural Record, vol. 24, no. 3 (September 1908), p. 164.

7 Montgomery Schuyler, “The Churches of New York,” New York World, 22 October 1871, p. 2.

® The standard biography of Upjohn is Everard M. Upjohn, Richard Upjohn, Architect and Churchman
(New York: Columbia University Press, 1939). Also see Phoebe B. Stanton, “Richard Upjohn” in
Macmillan Encyclopedia of Architects, 4 vols., Adolf K., Placzek, ed. (New York: Free Press; London:
Collier Macmillan, 1982), vol. 4, pp. 236-44; Thomas U. Walter, “Memorial,” Proceedings of the Eleventh
Annual Convention of the American Institute of Architects, at the Rooms of the Massachusetts Instate of
Technology, October 17, 1877, pp. 52-55; William H. Pierson, American Buildings and their Architects:
Technology and the Picturesque, the Corporate and the Early Gothic Styles (Garden City, NY: Doubleday
& Company, Inc., 1978), pp. 159-205; Judith S. Hull, “Richard Upjohn,” Grove Dictionary of Art, Jane
Turner, ed., 34 vols. (London: Macmillan Publishers Limited; New York: Grove’s Dictionaries, Inc., 1996),
vol. 31, pp. 688-92.
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Church, Boston (George Brimmer, 1829) and had become a friend of its rector. He was
summoned from Boston in February 1839 to inspect the New York church and recommended
extensive repairs. After the roof was removed, however, his review of conditions persuaded the
Building Committee that the building could not be saved, let alone enlarged, and they voted for
demolition on 5 August 1839. Upjohn submitted plans for a new church on 9 September and was
immediately authorized to proceed with the $90,000 project. He quickly moved to New York

City and the old structure was gone by mid-September.

The new Gothic Revival church was completed in 1846 and well received.'” Unusually large and
complex for its time, its success among the Episcopal clergymen who supported the reformed
liturgy embodied in its design provided the basis for much of Upjohn’s future patronage. His
practice was so closely tied to his religious beliefs that he was said to have refused to build for a
Unitarian congregation in Boston because the denomination denied the existence of the Trinity.""
When Upjohn did build for non-Episcopalian clients, he nearly always used styles other than

Gothic, particularly the Romanesque.

Upjohn’s office was one of the largest of its time, and in addition to his eldest son, Richard

Michell Upjohn (1828-1903),"? he employed as many as five draftsmen and assistants, depending

® The story is corroborated in Upjohn, p. 48, where the shoring was said to be made of iron although
Rogers’ name was not mentioned.

19 Upjohn, pp. 47-67.
1 Upjohn, pp. 81-87.

12 Richard Michell Upjohn came to America from London with his parents when he was two years old and
attended St. Paul’s College, a preparatory school, in Flushing, New York. He did not receive a
conventional college or university education although he visited England and Italy from 1851 to 1852.
Richard Michell appeared in New York City directories from 1851 to 1899, working in his father’s office
as early as 1846 and briefly opening his own around 1854. He returned to his father’s employ in 1858 and
did not open his own office until his father retired in 1872. Atwood (1849-95) worked for Daniel Burnham
(1846-1912) in Chicago before coming to New York City in 1875 to work for the Herter Brothers, the well-
known decorators. He returned to Chicago in 1891 to work on with Burnham on the Colombian
Exposition. Mix (1831-90) was born and educated in New Haven and moved to Milwaukee in 1856. He
worked there, as well as in Chicago and Minneapolis, on commercial and institutional projects. “Richard
M. Upjohn” in Biographical Dictionary of American Architects (Deceased), pp. 612-13; Hull, “The
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on the amount of work. In 1851, he formed a partnership with Richard and made Charles
Babcock (1829-1913) a junior partner in 1853. Babcock had joined the office between 1847 and
1850 and married Upjohn’s daughter three months before receiving the partnership, however, he
left in 1858, one year ‘after arguing for the creation of professional training schools at a meeting
of the American Institute of Architects,”” an organization of which Upjohn was a founding
member and its first president. Many of the organizations’ members worked in his office or were
closely associated with him in some way. Babcock subsequently became an Episcopal priest and
then the first head of the of architecture department at Cornell University. While Upjohn wanted

to distinguish professional architects from builders, and hoped to establish a library and a

‘School of Upjohn’: Richard Upjohn’s Office,” p. 285; “Charles B. Atwood” in Biographical Dictionary of
American Architects (Deceased), pp. 24-25; “Edward T. Mix” in Biographical Dictionary of American
Architects (Deceased), pp. 423-24; Dennis Steadman Francis, Architects in Practice, New York City 1840-
1900 (New York: Committee for the Preservation of Architectural Records, n.d. 1980?), pp. 12, 77.

3 A summary of “The Ways and Means of accomplishing the Elevation of the Architect’s Profession,” a
paper read by Babcock at the 20 October 1857 meeting of the American Institute of Architects, appeared in
The Crayon, vol. 4 (December 1857), pp. 371-72.

The Crayon: A Journal Devoted to the Graphic Arts and the Literature Related to Them (3 January 3 1855-
July 1861) was an advocate of Ruskinian ideas and the first American journal devoted to the serious
consideration of painting, sculpture, and architecture. It was published in New York City by William J.
Stillman (1828-1901) and John Durand (1822-1908). Stillman had met Ruskin in 1850 and the impact of
the encounter and his subsequent friendship with the Rosetti brothers lead to the creation of the magazine.
Issued weekly during its first year, it became a monthly as it began its second. Durand, the son of painter
Asher B. Durand, assumed operations after Stillman left in December 1856 and continued to acknowledged
Ruskin’s role in developing an enthusiasm for art in America; however, he gradually shifted his allegiance
to the deterministic ideas of Hippolyte Taine (1828-93). The title of the journal was shortened to The
Crayon in January 1857, and on 15 April of that year The American Institute of Architects agreed to
provide minutes and announcements of its meetings for publication. A similar agreement with the
Architects and Mechanic’s Journal (New York City: October 1859-April 1861) was approved on 17
January 1860. The AIA withdrew from this arrangement for a time; however, at a meeting held on 6 March
1860, both journals received permission to send reporters to Institute meetings, although Richard Upjohn,
the president of the AIA, insisted on reviewing the accounts before publication. David Howard Dickason,
The Daring Young Men, The Story of the American Pre-Raphaelites New York: Benjamin Blom, Inc.,
1953), pp. 33-70; Mary Norman Woods, The “American Architect and Building News” 1876-1907, Thesis
(Ph.D.) Columbia University, 1983 (Ann Arbor, MI: UMI Dissertation Services, 1989), pp. 31-32; Roger
B. Stein, John Ruskin and Aesthetic Thought in America, 1840-1900 (Cambridge, MA: Harvard University
Press, 1967), pp. 101-23.
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collection of architectural and engineering models in the Institute’s offices for the use of young

architects, he was not interested in changing the tradition of office training.'*

Richard Upjohn’s approach was representative of architectural training in America at the time,
when no professional schools existed. Before 1850, American architectural training paralleled
British traditions and could only be acquired through self-instruction, from a self-taught or
immigrant architect, or, most likely, through apprenticeship to a practicing architect. Although
courses in architecture and drawing were given at the Franklin Institute in Philadelphia in 1825, at
New York University in 1832, and in Washington DC in the late 1830s," systematic training was
limited to civil engineering programs offered at such institutions as West Point (1802), the
Rensselaer Institute (1825), and the Lawrence Scientific School of Harvard University (1847).'
This situation began to change in 1858 when Richard Morris Hunt (1827-95) opened a private
atelier in New York City in a building of his own design (The Studio Building, 1857-58, 15 West
10" Street; demolished). Hunt, who had spent twelve years in Europe was “almost, if not quite,
the first American who went Paris to study architecture”'’ at the Ecole des Beaux-Arts. Although

instruction offered in Hunt’s atelier did not include the courses in history, science, and

* Hull, “The ‘School of Upjohn’: Richard Upjohn’s Office,” pp. 299, 302; “Richard Michell Upjohn,”
Grove Dictionary of Art, vol. 26, p. 691; William H. Pierson, American Buildings and Their Architects,
Technology and the Picturesque, The Corporate and Early Gothic Styles, pp. 159-205; Phoebe Stanton,
“Richard Upjohn” in Macmillan Encyclopedia of Architects, vol. 4, pp. 236-44; “Richard Upjohn,
Architect,” New York Times, 18 August 1878, p. 7; Lois Severini, The Architecture of Finance, Early Wall
Street (Ann Arbor, MI: UMI Research Press, 1983), pp. 50-51.

'3 Paul R. Baker, Richard Morris Hunt (Cambridge, MA and London: The MIT Press, 1980), p. 99.

' William Robert Ware, “Architecture and Architectural Education in the United States,” The Civil
Engineer and Architect’s Journal, vol. 30 (1 April 1867), pp. 108-9.

7 Montgomery Schuyler (unsigned), “Richard Morris Hunt,” New York World, 1 August 1895, p. 4. Also
see Peter B. Wight, “Richard Morris Hunt,” Inland Architect, vol. 26 (August 1895), pp. 2-4 and “Press and
Personal Tributes to the Late Richard M. Hunt,” Inland Architect, vol. 26 (August 1895), pp. 4-5. While in
Paris, Hunt worked in the atelier of Hector Martin Lefuel (1810-80), architect of the Louvre from 1854 to
1880.
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construction he received in Paris,'® the approach reflected his French training and became widely

emulated.

When Mr. Hunt returned home, current Continental ideals and
traditions had scarcely more force in American architecture than
they received from the work of men who came to the United
States from the other side, and whose hereditary instincts, if not
their training, were European, men such as Leopold Eidlitz... the
late Henry Fernbach, the late Detlef Lienau and others. We
speak here of Mr. Hunt’s example merely for its chronological
significance. Many years eclapsed before his influence was
powerfully felt in his profession, and then the example was
reinforced by one greater than he, for it was in 1862 that H. H.
Richardson made his first return from Paris, starting his active
professional career afterwards in New York in 1865."

Seven years after Hunt returned from Paris, the Massachusetts Institute of Technology opened the
first American school of architecture, using Beaux-Arts methods, and it was followed by Cornell
(1871), Syracuse (1873), Michigan (1876), Columbia (1881), Pennsylvania (1890), Armor
Institute (1895), and Harvard (1895). Only the University of Illinois remained aloof from Beaux-

Arts influence and adopted the “German,” i.e., polytechnical, approach (1868).%

While it is difficult to overestimate Upjohn’s influence on Eidlitz, it is equally difficult to say
exactly when and how the influence began. A brief biographical note published late in Eidlitz’s
career stated that he arrived in America in 1843 but did not become “a practicing architect and
resident of the city of New York” until 1844,”' while an earlier account noted that he was

“employed as a draughtsman in the production of the designs for Trinity Church” which was

'8 Ware, “Architecture and Architectural Education in the United States,” p. 109.

19« A Review of Architecture. History of work done in New York during the last quarter of a century,” in 4
History of Real Estate, Building and Architecture in New York City During the Last Quarter of a Century
(New York: Arno Press, 1967), reprint of first edition (New York: The Real Estate Record Association,
1898), p. 570. Richardson was the second American to attend the Ecole.

% Richard Guy Wilson, “Architecture, Landscape, and City Planning” in The American Renaissance 1876-
1917 (Brooklyn, New York: Brooklyn Institute of Arts and Sciences, 1979), p. 76.
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completed in 1846.% Kathleen Curran stated that Eidlitz was in Upjohn’s office around 1843%
while Judith Hull wrote that he was hired immediately by Upjohn and remained with him for
three years.* Both views appear to be consistent with Schuyler’s contention that Eidlitz obtained
“some work” with Upjohn, “his first and only American ‘patron’,”-soon after arriving in
America.”® In one instance, however, Schuyler claimed that Fidlitz was “employed as a
draughtsman in the production of the designs for Trinity Church,”* while in another, he stated
that Eidlitz arrived after the drawings were complete and the work was well underway.?”” In any
case, Eidlitz did not appear before 1850 in the biography of Upjohn written by his great-

grandson.”®

It is likely that Eidlitz obtained a paid position with Upjohn rather than an indenture because he
had worked for an architect in Prague or Vienna for at least one year in fulfillment of a

requirement for all beginning architecture students.” His time in Upjohn’s office supplemented

2l «1 eopold Eidlitz” in The Public Service of the State of New York. Historical, Statistical, Descriptive,
and Biographical. Illustrated with Views and Portraits, Paul A. Chadbourne, editor-in-chief, Walter
Burritt Moore, associate ed. (Boston: James R. Osgood and Company, 1882), vol. 2, p. 77.

2 Nelson B. Mead, “The Fifty Years from 1856 to 19017 in The Old Church Tells Her Story, Being the
Pageant, the Anniversary Addresses, and the Historical Papers of the 225" Anniversary, the Rev. Oliver
Huckel, ed. (Greenwich, CT: Second Congregational Church in Greenwich, Connecticut: 1930), p. 139.

2 Kathleen A. Curran, “The Romanesque Revival, Mural Painting, and Protestant Patronage in America,”
Art Bulletin, vol. 81, no. 4 (December 1999), pp. 694-97; The Romanesque Revival: Religion, Politics, and
Transnational Exchange (University Park, PA: The Pennsylvania State University Press, 2003) p. 268.

** Judith S. Hull, “The ‘School of Upjohn’: Richard Upjohn’s Office,” Journal of the Society of
Architectural Historians, vol. 41, no. 3 (September 1993), p. 283.

% Leopold Eidlitz I, p. 166.

28 Leopold Eidlitz I, p. 166; Montgomery Schuyler, “Cyrus L. W. Eidlitz,” Architectural Record, vol. 5, no.
4 (August 1895), p. 413.

T Leopold Eidlitz I, p. 166.

8 Upjohn, pp. 104, 159, 168. The biography mentioned Eidlitz in three contexts: as a possible contributor
to the itinerary of Upjohn’s 1850 trip to Europe, as a founding member of the American Institute of
Architects in 1857, and as a provider of space for American Institute of Architects meetings after 1861.
For a discussion of the Eidlitz’s influence on Upjohn, see William H. Pierson, Jr., “Richard Upjohn and the
American Rundbogenstil,” Winterthur Portfolio, vol. 21, no. 4 (Winter 1986), p. 231.

% For a description of nineteenth-century architectural education in German-speaking lands, see Richard
Phené Spiers, “Professional Education Abroad,” The American Architect and Building News, vol. 16 (5
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his European training, provided him with his most sustained period of professional employment
thus far, and gave him first-hand knowledge of American (and British) architectural practice.
Schuyler claimed that Eidlitz “could not in any sense be described as Upjohn’s pupil” because

“he never assimilated the ‘Anglican’ architectural tradition.”*

Nevertheless, and despite
professional competition, Eidlitz continued to associate with and spoke well of Upjohn, and more

than ten years after the end of their business relationship, Upjohn invited Eidlitz to become a

founding member of the American Institute of Architects.*'

St. George’s Church: Introduction

Three years after he arrived in America, Eidlitz left Upjohn’s office to join Karl Otto (“Charles™)
Blesch (1819-53), a student of Friedrich von Girtner and a winner of the Grand Prix of Munich.*
Blesch was born in Bingen and began his studies in 1839 at the nearby Munich Akademie der
bildenden Kiinst>® The Munich course typically lasted four years, suggesting that Blesch’s
arrival in America was roughly contemporary with that of Eidlitz. The circumstances of their

meeting are unknown and, although he provided no details, H. Allan Brooks wrote that Eidlitz

July 1884), pp. 5-6. Spiers (1838-1916) was one of the few English architects who studied at the Paris
Ecole des Beaux-Arts. He became Master of the Royal Academy Architecture School in 1870 and was an
advocate of the French educational approach. His advocacy of classicism contributed to its resurgence in
England during the 1890s. “Richard Phené Spiers,” Directory of British Architects 1834-1914, Antonia
Brodie, Alsion Felstead, Jonathan Franklin, Leslie Pinfield, Jane Oldfield, eds. (London and New York:
Continuum, 2001), vol. 2, p. 674; Richard Longstreth, On the Edge of the World: Four Architects in San
Francisco at the Turn of the Century (New York: The Architectural History Foundation; Cambridge, MA
and London: The MIT Press, 1983), pp. 45-46.

* Leopold Eidlitz I, p. 166.

3! Charles D. Elliot, The American Architect from Colonial Times to the Present (Jefferson, NC and
London: McFarland & Company, Inc., Publishers, 2003), p. 58.

32 Montgomery Schuyler, “Leopold Eidlitz,” Dictionary of American Biography, vol. 6, p. 61.

33 Curran, The Romanesque Revival: Religion, Politics, and Transnational Exchange, p. 326 n. 26. Curran
confirmed Blesch’s relationship to Gértner but did not comment on the Munich Prize. The school was
established in 1808, although a polytechnical school had also opened in that city in 1827.
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worked “in one or two other offices” after he left Upjohn and befofe he joined Blesch.** Schuyler
claimed that Blesch possessed the “regular architectural training” that Fidlitz lacked.”” The
- partnership, listed as “Blesch & Eidlitz” in 1846 New York City directories, was probably
established to fulfill a commission for a new building for the congregation of St. George’s

Episcopal Church (1846-48, 209 East 16™ Street).*®

St. George’s Church in the City of New York, founded in 1748 as St. George’s Chapel, was a
“chapel of Ease to Trinity Church” and the city’s second oldest Episcopal congregation after
Trinity (founded 1697).” The congregation’s first building, known as the “Swamp Church,” was
consecrated on the northwest comer of Cliff and Beekman Street on 1 July 1752. The 5-bay,
stone-faced, Gibbs-inspired structure was designed by Robert Crommelin, a member of the vestry
from 150 to 1784. Begun in 1749 and completed three years later, it was 104 feet long by 72 feet
wide and featured a 175-foot wood steeple supported on a stone base. The nave could seat 1,000
and contained three chandeliers hung from a paneled ceiling and galleries on either side of a

semicircular chancel that held the choir and organ.*® St. George’s become an independent parish

* H. Allen Brooks, Jr., Leopold Eidlitz (1823-1908) unpublished Thesis (M.A.) Yale University, 1955, p. 6
n 17

% Leopold Eidlitz I, p. 167.

% Biruta Erdmann dated the relationship to 1845 and Dennis Steadman Francis gave its duration as 1846-
52. Biruta Erdmann, Leopold Eidlitz’s Architectural Theories and American Transcendentalism, Thesis
(Ph.D.), University of Wisconsin-Madison, 1977 (Ann Arbor, MI: UMI Dissertation Services, 1989), p. 46
n. 6; Dennis Steadman Francis, drchitects in Practice, New York City 1840-1900 (New York: Committee
for the Preservation of Architectural Records, n.d. 19807), pp. 16, 28.

37 For a brief history of the parish, see “Historic St. George’s Is One Hundred Years Old,” New York Times,
11 November 1912, p. SM11.

3% Jonathan Greenleaf, 4 History of the Churches, of all Denominations, in the City of New York, from the
First Settlement to the Year 1850, second ed. (New York: E. French, 1850), pp. 63-64; Elizabeth Moulton,
St. George’s Church, New York (New York: St. George’s Church in the City of New York, 1964), p. 2. Ca.
1803 elevations and a plan are reproduced in Phelps, vol. 3, Addenda Plate 11-C; the frontispiece of The
Rev. Henry Anstice, History of St. George's Church in the City of New York, 1752-1811-1911 (New York:
Harper & Brothers, 1911) shows a perspective view. A watercolor of the fire (John Rubens Smith, “St.
George’s Church after fire of January 5th. 1814,” Museum of the City of New York) is reproduced in John
A. Kouwenhoven, The Columbia Historical Portrait of New York, An essay in graphic history in honor of
the Tricentennial of New York City and the Bicentennial of Columbia University (New York: Doubleday &
Company, Inc., 1953), p. 116.
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on 20 November 1811 and although a fire engine company was located on its property, its church
burned on 5 January 1814. The loss was estimated at $100,000 and the structure was rebuilt on

the surviving walls and tower. It was re-consecrated on 7 November 1815.%

In 1846, Petrus Gerard Stuyvesant (1778-1847), the great-great-grandson of the last Director-
General of the Dutch colony of New Netherlands, gave the parish a 175- by 75-foot plot of land
located on Rutherford Place, across from the west side of Stuyvesant Square. The site was
enlarged when two adjoining properties were acquired by the congregation through a gift of a 15-
by 104-foot lot and the purchase of an additional 90- by 92-foot lot from Stuyvesant.*
Stuyvesant had deeded Rutherford Place to the City of New York for $5 ten years earlier. It was
part of a four-acre property named after his second wife, Helen Sarah Rutherford, and located
within a farm situated between what are now First and Third Avenues and East Twelfth and East
Twentieth Streets. He intended that it would become a park fenced in the manner of Union
Square and planted like Washington Square. Bounded by Eighteenth Street, First Avenue,
Fourteenth Street, and Third Avenue but bisected by Second Avenue, it would be closed to the
public and made available only to those who lived along its perimeter. Nevertheless, it to be
built, paid for, and maintained by the City, and the land that surrounded it would remain under his

control.

The area had once been one of the more fashionable neighborhoods in the City after Second
Avenue was graded and opened in 1816 and as expensive houses advanced north from Houston
Street; however, it was in decline by the time Stuyvesant made his gift. European immigrants

moving into new brownstones and row houses located on surrounding streets were displacing

3 Moulton, pp. 16-17. A drawing of the rebuilt church and the fire engine company appears in Moulton, p.
13.

* Charles Rockland Tyng, Record of the Life and Work of the Rev. Stephen Higginson Tyng, DD. and
History of St. George’s Church, New York to the Close of His Rectorship (New York: E. P. Dutton, 1890),
p. 199. '
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older and wealthier residents. Additionally, although a cast iron perimeter fence had been
installed in 1846, fourteen years of litigation ensued before the city agreed to honor all of
Stuyvesant’s terms. During that period, the site deteriorated as Hamilton Fish, his nephew and
lawyer, sued for damages, filed appeals, and demanded various remedies. Stuyvesant did not live
to see the outcome as he drowned at Niagara Falls on 16 August 1847. The issue was not
resolved until 1849 when the City was ordered to finish the work; the fountains and landscaping

were completed two years later.*!

The congregation had agreed to move to the new site and build a new church a year before
Stuyvesant’s gift, but only after several years of contentious debate. The decision was strongly
supported by the congregation’s third rector, Stephen Higginson Tyng, D.D. (1800-85), an
avowed evangelical, and one of the foremost preachers of his time. He came to New York from
Philadelphia in 1845* and Schuyler wrote that he wanted a low church setting, “primarily a
meeting house, a place in which to preach and be preached to, or even at.”* William H. Milnor,
the second rector, had introduced the low church approach to St. George’s in 1816. Emphasizing
evangelism and re-establishment of connections between contemporary religious practice and.
early Christianity, low church congregations emphasized philanthropic activity, a personal
approach to religion, and preaching. Only a minority of Episcopalians held such views (they
were more common among Congregationalists), and they posed a vivid contrast and perceived
threat to the importance of ritual and authority in the High Church Episcopal, Catholic, and

Presbyterian congregations.*

1 James Bradley, “Stuyvesant Square” in The Encyclopedia of New York City, Kenneth T. Jackson, ed.,
(New Haven, CT and London: Yale University Press; New York: New York Historical Society, 1995), p.
1134,

* Charles Rockland Tyng, pp. 90-148.
* Leopold Eidlitz I, pp. 167-68.
* Curran, The Romanesque Revival: Religion, Politics, and Transnational Exchange, p. 266.
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Despite their association with Catholicism in Germany and use in German-funded Benedictine
monasteries in the Unites States during the early 1850s, buildings designed for low church clients
often employed Romanesque architectural forms and, despite the association of such forms with
German Catholicism, they were intended to provide an architectural and liturgical alternative to
their Gothic counterparts.* Curran claimed that Protestant patronage for such buildings could be
traced to a small number of structures designed by America’s best architects for four evangelical
Congregational and Low Church Episcopal clients. These included Richard Upjohn’s Church of
the Pilgrims (113 Remsen Street, Brooklyn, 1844-46), Bowdoin College Chapel (Brunswick,
Maine, 1844-55), an unrealized project for a Harvard College Chapel (Cambridge, Massachusetts,
1846), James Renwick, Jr.’s Church of the Puritans (southwest corner of Broadway and 15™
Street at Union Square, New York City, 1846; demolished), and Eidlitz and Blesch’s St. George’s

Episcopal Church (Rutherford Place at 16™ Street, New York City, 1846-49).*

The German Romanesque

In contrast to the Gothic design of Trinity Church, St. George’s was overtly Romanesque.
William H. Pierson has speculated that Fidlitz could have introduced Upjohn to the German
manifestation of that style called the Rundbogenstil (round-arch style), noting that work on the
Church of the Pilgrims, the first of Upjohn’s Romanesque designs, began in April 1844, the year
after Eidlitz arrived in America.’ Curran noted that the Rundbogenstil is now uncritically
regarded as a mode of building popular in Germany from the late 1820s to the 1860s used by

architects such as Leo von Klenze, Freidrich von Gértner, Karl Friedrich Schinkel, Heinrich

* Gwen W. Steege, “The Book of Plans and the Early Romanesque Revival in the United States: A Study
In Patronage,” Journal of the Society of Architectural Historians, vol. 46, no. 3 (September 1987), p. 218.

* Curran, The Romanesque Revival: Religion, Politics, and Transnational Exchange, p. 260.

" William H. Pierson, “Richard Upjohn and the American Rundbogenstil,” pp. 228-29 and “Richardson’s
Trinity Church and the New England Meetinghouse” in American Public Architecture, European Roots
and Native Expressions, Craig Zabel and Susan Scott Munshower, eds. (University Park, PA: The
Pennsylvania State University, 1989), pp. 16, 18.
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Hiibsch, and their students. Claiming that this view is excessively broad, she attributed the
situation to Hitchcock’s imprecise use of the term in a discussion of Durand’s influence in
northern Europe® and described how the approach developed in nineteenth-century Germany in
at least three different manifestations. The first of these, the Neuromanik (neo-Romanesque)
appeared in the Rhineland ca. 1815-20 in conjunction with attempts to preserve historic
monuments. While initially accommodating a certain amount of latitude by permitting the use of
fragments from existing buildings in new construction and the use of period models for additions
to existing buildings, by the middle of the century, advances in scholarship lead to an increasing
emphasis on archeological correctness and revival of specific periods (dogmatischer
Historismus). A second manifestation occurred in the Renaissance Revival designs of architects
uch as Leo von Klenze and Georg Moller. Although their buildings frequently employed round
arches, the use of Italianate forms in conscious extension of Greek and Roman models was
fundamentally opposed to Neuromanik notions of stylistic consistency. A third use of the term is
associated with the writing and work of Heinrich Hiibsch (1795-1863) who studied philosophy
and mathematics at the University of Heidelberg before turning to architecture. Hiibsch traveled
to Greece and Constantinople (1817-20), and he gradually came to reject the accepted notion
advanced by Aloys Hirt (1759-1837) in Baukunst nach den Grundsdtzen der Alten® that Greek
temples originated as wood structures. In his first book, Uber griechische Architektur,”® Hiibsch

attempted to demonstrate a correspondence between ancient architecture and stone construction.

* Henry-Russell Hitchcock, “The Doctrine of J.-N.-L. Durand and its application in Northern Europe” in
Architecture: Nineteenth and Twentieth Centuries (Harmondsworth, Middlesex, UK and New York:
Penguin Books, 1977), pp. 23-73.

* Berlin: In der realschulbuchandlung, 1809.
*0 Karlsruhe: Chr. Fr. Miiller, 1822.
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Six years later, his investigations lead him to publish In welchem Style sollen wir bauen?*' in

which he suggested the Rundbogenstil as rational basis for a contemporary German architecture.

Hiibsch found ancient Greek architecture inappropriate use in Germany because of the harshness
of the German climate and the unavailability of certain building materials, and he rejected Roman
architecture because of its “deceitful” mixture of trabeated and arched construction. Instead, he
advocated a local version of the Romanesque in which the round sandstone arch that it employed
was said to be as appropriate to the climate and character of Germany as the marble lintel was to
Greece. Hiibsch was supported in this view by a view of architectural history that saw the roots
of Romanesque architecture in the Byzantine, then called “neo-Greek.” In this way, he could
regard the church of the Benedictine abbey of Maria Laach near Koblenz (1093-1230, damaged
1802, repairs begun 1815) as the German equivalent of the Greek works of the Periclean age.
Hiibsch advocated following the principles rather than copying the forms of Romanesque
architecture and his writing reflected hostility toward the empﬁasis on archaeological correctness
he felt was implicif in neoclassicism. Instead, he advocated a style that could be appreciated
without archaeological knowledge, that came from a mix of sources including Byzantine,
Romanesque, and classical, and whose ornament could be left to the artist.”> Berlin initially
resisted the Rundbogenstil, primarily in deference to the presence of Schinkel’s extensive body of
classical work rather than the abilities of his successors, but Friedrich Wilhelm IV made it the

official style of the Prussian Kultusministerium during the first quarter of the nineteenth century,

5! Karlsruhe: Chr. Fr. Miiller, 1828.

52 Curran, “The German Rundbogenstil and Reflections on the American Round-Arched Style,” p. 351-53;
Wolfgang Herrmann, “Introduction,” In What Style Shall We Build?, pp. 1-22; “The German Rundbogenstil
and Reflections on the American Round-Arched Style,” pp. 367-68; Dietrich Neumann, “Teaching the
History of Architecture in Germany, Austria, and Switzerland: Achiteckturgeschichte vs. Bauforschung,”
Journal of the Society of Architectural Historians, vol. 61, no. 3 (September 2002), p. 379 n. 6; Ulrich
Pfammatter, The Making of the Modern Architect and Engineer, Madeline Ferretti-Theilig, trans. (Basel,
Boston, Berlin: Birkhiuser, 2000), p. 222; Michael J. Lewis, The Politics of the German Gothic Revival:
August Reichensperger (Cambridge, MA and London: The MIT Press, 1993), pp. 59-60; Montgomery
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the agency that oversaw the construction of schools and churches.” Only in central Europe,
where classicism continued to be favored by the Hapsburg court and the bourgeoisie, was the

Rundbogenstil (and the Gothic) uncommon.>*

During the 1830s and 1840s, Munich became the showplace of the Rundbogenstil, primarily due
to Girtner and his followers, and buildings in the style lined the Ludwigstrasse, the city’s main
avenue.” Schuyler referred to such work as “the South German phase of the Gothic or more
properly, the Romanesque revival”® and claimed “Gaertner’s [sic] Bavarian revival of the
Romanesque was, in some ways, the starting point of Eidlitz’s architecture.”” The Rev. Henry
Anstice made a similar comment, referring to the building as “an example of the South German
phase of the Gothic, or, more properly, the Romanesque style.”>® Curran noted that the term
“Byzantine” was commonly used in America to describe Rundbogenstil buildings designed by
German émigré architects. She also claimed that because the theoretical concerns for structure
and ornament inherent in the approach in Europe were of little concern to American architects

and builders, the Rundbogenstil was primarily a way to achieve a kind of low cost medievalism

Schuyler, “The Romanesque Revival in New York,” Architectural Record, vol. 1, no. 1 (July-September
1891), p. 12.

> Curran, The Romanesque Revival: Religion, Politics, and Transnational Exchange, p. 226.

** Akos Moravanszky, Competing Visions: Aesthetic Invention and Social Imagination in Central
European Architecture, 1867-1918 (Cambridge, MA and London: The MIT Press, 1998), p. 86.

% Michael J. Lewis, “Rundbogenstil” in Grove Dictionary of Art, vol. 27, p. 336

% Leopold Eidlitz I, p. 167. Others also associated Eidlitz with the Rundbogenstil. Landau’s biographical
essay in her catalogue for a 1981 exhibition on the work of Peter B. Wight described one of Wight’s
competition entries as being in “the Germanic round-arched style, the Rundbogenstil of Eidlitz.” Wight
may have developed an interest in or knowledge of Eidlitz’s work through his association with Russell
Sturgis, with whom he practiced 1863-68. Sturgis spent a year in Eidlitz’s office. Sarah Bradford Landau,
P. B. Wight: Architect, Contractor, and Critic, 1838-1925, exhibition catalog (Chicago: Art Institute of
Chicago, 1981), pp. 10, 13, 15.

57 Montgomery Schuyler, “The Work of Leopold Eidlitz, II: Commercial and Public” (hereafter, “Leopold
Eidlitz IT”), Architectural Record, vol. 24, no. 4 (October 1908), p. 282.

%% The Rev. Henry Anstice, History of St. George's Church in the City of New York, 1752-1811-1911 (New
York: Harper & Brothers, 1911), p. 207.
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and German associationism in this country.” Upjohn’s Trinity Building (1851-52, New York
City; demolished), a five story office building that displayed “huge size, relative plainness, and
ranges of individually arcaded stories — more suggestive of Rundbogenstil than of the [then

5360

fashionable] English-inspired palazzo mode™” seemed to fit this view.

The German Gothic

Upjohn could also have learned about another Ger;nan approach to non-classical architecture in
Moller’s Memorials of German-Gothic architecture, a book that he owned.”' Containing only a
single illustration, it included an introduction, an “Essay on German-Gothic Architecture,” a
translation of the plate captions in Georg Moller and Ernst Gladbach’s Denkmdler der deutschen
Baukunst?* a | short essay on Freiburg Cathedral® from Christian Ludwig Stieglitz’s Von
altdeutscher baukunst,%* and charts that depicted differences among localized European systems

of lineal measurement.” It is also likely that Upjohn became aware of German architecture

%% Curran, “The German Rundbogenstil and Reflections on the American Round-Arched Style,” p. 366;
Curran, The Romanesque Revival: Religion, Politics, and Transnational Exchange, pp. 225-26. Curran
pointed out that German educational institutions provided the training for many mid-nineteenth-century
American educators as well as the models for their buildings.

% Sarah Bradford Landau and Carl W. Condit, Rise of the New York Skyscraper, 1865-1913 (New Haven
CT and London: Yale University Press, 1966), pp. 13-14; Upjohn, p. 130.

' Moller’s Memorials of German-Gothic architecture; with additional notes, and illustrations from
Stieglitz, etc.; by W. H. Leeds, author of several literary works on architecture. To which are added, tables
of continental lineal measures, by W. S .B. Woolhouse, of the Nautical Almanac Office (London: John
Weale, 1836). Upjohn owned a copy of the book; Hull, “The ‘School of Upjohn’: Richard Upjohn’s
Office,” pp. 305-6.

623 vols., Leipzig and Darmstadt: Heyer und Leske, 1815-44,

%3 Clad in red sandstone, the Romanesque church with Gothic additions was built between 1200 and 1513.
It is especially notable for a 380-foot tower that featured the first open stonework steeple.

 Leipzig: G. Fleischer, 1820.

5 Moller (1784-1852) trained under Friedrich Weinbrenner, helped shape the neoclassical town center of
Darmstadt after 1810, and became director of architecture in Hesse. Although enthusiastic about the
Gothic Revival at first, he moved away from it and toward classicism in his own work. Barry Bergdoll,
“Georg Moller” in Macmillan Encyclopedia of Architecture, vol. 3, p. 225. Gladbach (1812-1896),
Moller’s nephew, was initially trained by him. He taught in Zurich and specialized in Swiss traditional.
“Ernst Georg Gladbach,” Aligemeines lexikon der bildenden kiinstler von der antike bis zur gegenwart;
unter mitwirkung von 300 fachgelehrten des in- und auslandes, Ulrich Thieme and Felix Becker, eds.
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through the widespread coverage of the completion of Cologne Cathedral. FEidlitz, too, was
aware of the building and wrote a lengthy and positive comparison of it to Milan Cathedral.®®
Built to house relics of the Three Magi brought to the city in 1146 and based on the Gothic
cathedrals of northern France, especially Amiens, Cologne Cathedral replaced a much smaller
ninth-century building that was damaged by fire. The new building’s cornerstone was laid in
1248 and its completed choir was dedicated by 1322. Construction stopped in 1560, and,
although largely incomplete, the nave and part of the transept were roofed over, thereby making
nearly the entire interior useable. For over 300 years, the city was dominated by the unfinished

church and the huge, wood, sixteenth-century construction crane that loomed over the south

tower.

In 1814, Georg Moller reported that he found the top half of an original drawing of the west
fagade of the Cathedral in a barn in Darmstadt. Shortly thereafter, his friend, art collector, and

critic, Sulpiz Boisserée® claimed to have found the bottom half of the same drawing at a Paris art

(Leipzig, W. Engelmann, 1907-50), vol. 14, pp. 228-29. Stieglitz (1756-1836) trained as a historian and
initially followed Winckelmann’s emphasis on the normative qualities of Greek architecture. Later, he
found the “Byzantine” (architecture Romanesque) and “Old German” (Gothic) styles to be the equals of
classicism and recommended the use of appropriate historical styles for new work. Annette Faber,
“Christian Ludwig Stieglitz” in Grove Dictionary of Art, vol. 29, pp. 657-58.

% Leopold Eidlitz, The Nature and Function of Art, More Especially of Architecture (New York: A. C.
Armstrong & Son; London: Sampson Low, Marston, Searle & Rivington, 1881), pp. 353, 424-54. Milan
was designed approximately 100 years after Cologne by Heinrich Arlez Gemunden/Gamnuden, a German
architect, and was intended to surpass it. Eidlitz’s comparison included passages translated from Franz
Kugler, Geschichte der baukunst (Stuttgart: Ebner, 1859) and transcribed from James Fergusson, 4 history
of architecture in all countries, from the earliest times to the present day, 3 vols. (London: J. Murray, 1865-
67).

57 Boisserée (1783-1854) devoted his life to the study and revival of interest in German medieval art,
especially Gothic architecture. A collection of early German and Flemish pictures assembled by him and
his younger brothers, Bertram and Melchior, was purchased by Ludwig I of Bavaria in 1827 as the core of
the Alte Pinakothek in Munich. He met Goethe in 1810 and their developing friendship contributed to
Goethe’s increasingly sympathetic view of Gothic art. Boisserée began to study Cologne Cathedral in 1808
and published Histoire et description de la cathédrale de Cologne, accompagné de recherches sur
Darchitecture des anciennes cathédrales, 2 vols. (Stuttgart: Cotta, 1821-23), an illustrated review of the
development of Early Christian architecture from the late Roman period though the sixteenth century and
theoretical writings on medieval architecture. Narciso G. Menocal, “Frank Lloyd Wright as the Anti-Victor
Hugo” in American Public Architecture, European Roots and Native Expressions, p. 145.
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dealer. Both published speculative designs for completion of the building, Moller in
Bemerkungen iiber die aufgefundene Originalzeichnung des Domes zu Koeln®® and Boisserée in
Ansichcten: Risse und einzelne Theile des Doms von Kéln, mit Ergdanzungen nach dem Entwurf
des Meisters, nebst Untersuchungen tiber die alte kirchen-Baukunst und Vergleichenden tafeln
der vorziiglichsten denkmale..”® and Geschichte und Beschreibung des Domes von Kéln, nebst
Untersuchungen iiber die alte Kirchenbaukunst, als Text zu den Ansichten, Rissen und einzelnen
Theilen des Doms von Koln.® Goethe’s essay about the cathedral, “Von deutscher Baukunst,”
published in 1772, contributed to an intellectual climate that promoted receptivity to the
completion of the building. In response to increasing pan-German and Protestant enthusiasm for
the project, Schinkel was appointed architect the same year and quickly initiated a twenty-year
repair campaign. Work on unbuilt and incomplete portions of the building resumed in 1842
under his pupil Emst Friedrich Zwirner (1802-61) who became known as the Kolner
Dombaumeister (Cologne Cathedral building master). Construction ended in 1880 when the

church was dedicated.”!

The Church of the Pilgrims (Richard Upjohn)

Upjohn’s first attempt at a German-inspired church may be reflected in the Church of the
Pilgrims ‘ (Brooklyn, 1844-46). During the early 1840s, Brooklyn became a center for a
theological revival of Congregationalism. The founders of the Church of the Pilgrims, impatient

to found a new group of believers, hired Richard Upjohn, chose a site for a new building, and

% Darmstadt, 1818.
% Issued in four fascicles, Stuttgart: Cotta, 1823-31.

™ Stuttgart: Boisseréee & Cotta, 1823. This was a German edition of his Histoire et description de la
cathédrale de Cologne, accompagné de recherches sur I’architecture des anciennes cathédrales.

" Lewis, The Politics of the German Gothic Revival, pp. 25-56; In What Style Shall We Build?, p. 101 n.
10; Johann Wolfgang von Goethe, Essays on Art and Literature, John Geary, ed., Ellen von Nardoff and
Ernst H. von Nardoff, trans. (New York: Suhrkamp Publishers, 1986), p. 243, n. 7.
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raised funding for it before their congregation was officially organized.”” The cornerstone was
laid on 2 July 1844 and the completed structure was dedicated on 12 May 1846 after considerable
delay caused by construction problems.” Initially estimated to cost $25,000, $65,000 was spent
by the time it was finished. Nearly twenty-five years later in a sermon given in celebration of its

enlargement and refurbishment by Eidlitz, its pastor recounted its origins.

It was built... in imitation of the first meeting-house of New
England. Its exterior was understood to be a reproduction of the
outline of that primitive structure, and, to perfect that
relationship, a bit of the blarney-stone of Plymouth was
incorporated in its wall, as an architectural charm against the
dangers of false doctrine and all vain and worldly peril. The
interior was of like homely fashion....”*

In this sense, the “seminal church of the Romanesque Revival movement in this country”” and

276

“the first major building in America to show a direct high-style German influence,”” was typical,

in some ways, of most American churches: it was a gable-roofed box enriched with

supplementary features. Nevertheless, a contemporary description of the building called it “... a

very singular one, and altogether different from any other in this region.””’

It is a very large building, being in extreme length 135 feet, and
its breadth 80 feet. The height of the walls is 38 feet. It is built
of granite, hewn, but not hammered.”® The front of the edifice,
on Henry Street, presents us with two towers, one at each corner;
that on the north corner being small, not over twelve feet square,
and being built to about the height of the roof of the church, and

"2 H. H. McFarland, “The Church of the Pilgrims, In Brooklyn, New York,” Congregational Quarterly, vol.
13 (second series, vol. 3, no. 1, 1871), pp. 54-70.

3 Pierson, “Richard Upjohn and the American Rundbogenstil,” p. 223.

™ Untitled Article, Brooklyn Eagle, 17 June 1870, p. 2.

75 Steege, “The Book of Plans and the Early Romanesque Revival in the United States,” p. 217.
76 Pierson, “Richardson’s Trinity Church and the New England Meeting House,” p. 16.

" A Picture of New-York in 1846, with a short account of places in it vicinity; designed as a guide to
citizens and strangers: with numerous engravings and a map of the city (New York: C. S. Francis & Co.,
1846), p. 172. A drawing of the church appeared in McFarland, opposite p. 54.

78 Upjohn chose a bluish-gray rubble stone; Pierson, “Richard Upjohn and the American Rundbogenstil,” p.
227. It has weathered to a mellow tan.
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there terminating in a small pointed wooden roof. The tower on
the west corner [on Remsen Street] is 20 feet square, and built up
of stone 100 feet from the ground, and thence ascends a
gradually tapering spire 70 feet further, where it terminates in a
large gilded ball. There is one large door in front, between the
towers, having over it a large window; and a profusion of small,
narrow windows are scattered about in the towers... In each side -
of the house there are three large arched windows, that being the
style in which all the windows are made. The lecture room is cut
off from the rear of the building, and is a very large and
commodious room. The rear of the building presents four short
windows below, and one large one above, and a small window in
the gable, near the apex.”

The author of this description attributed the building’s singularity to the presence of architectural
forms considered relatively “unchurchly,” and an account published more than 90 years later

noted

Architecturally it belongs to neither the Gothic nor the Classic
revivals current when it was built; yet the bold and simple
exterior, of good fieldstone masonry, marks the original work of
a master, Richard Upjohn, whose reputation rests on more
elaborate and conventional churches in traditional Gothic, like
Trinity Church in Manhattan.*

The most important of its features were the planar wall surfaces and round-headed Romanesque
window and door openings. Gwen Steege and Curran suggested that church’s founders
associated Romanesque forms with simplicity, plainness, economy, brightness, and round arches,
flat walls, and restrained use of ornament seemed compatible with Congregationalist notions of
worship and did not carry associations of Catholicism or Episcopaliansim.’' However, rather

than seeing Romanesque forms as the antithesis of “high style architecture,” Pierson saw their use

™ A Picture of New-York in 1846, p. 172.

% The WPA Guide to New York City, A Comprehensive Guide to the Five Boroughs of the Metropolis —
Manhattan, Brooklyn, the Bronx, Queens, and Richmond — Prepared by the Federal Writers’ Project of the
Works Progress Administration in New York City (New York: Random House, 1939), pp. 446-47.

8! Steege, “The Book of Plans and the Early Romanesque Revival in the United States,” p. 219; Curran,
“The Romanesque Revival, Mural Painting, and Protestant Patronage in America,” p. 693.

117

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.



as a brilliant demonstration of how Upjohn could remain true to his religious convictions while

accommodating Congregationalist liturgy as well as the latest architectural fashion.

Originally,* it was an auditorium church, with the pulpit in the
center of one end, in the best tradition of the Congregational
meetinghouse. At the same time, its asymmetrical towers and
Romanesque forms conceded to romantic taste, by then firmly
established in this country. Although the taller of the two
towers, with its curious pagodalike spire, was basically Gothic in
its configuration, the round-arch openings are clearly
Romanesque, and the large tower, on the left, is in the form of an
Italian campanile. Elsewhere, round arches dominate the design,
and as originally built the ceiling on the interior was a round-
arch segmental curve from wall to wall, and the paneling behind
the pulpit, as well as other important elements of the interior,
was authentically Romanesque in detail *

While Upjohn’s choice of Romanesque forms probably reflected his well-known aversion to
using Gothic forms for non-Episcopal clients, he was not consistent in practice and built at least
one Gothic church for a non-Episcopal congregation: Dr. Pott’s Presbyterian Church (1844,
University Place and Tenth Street, New York City; demolished).** He also acknowledged that
many of the most important Christian monuments were not Gothic and that the Lombard and
other Romanesque styles were used in some of the best examples.> Upjohn advocated the study
of all styles of architecture “for the purpose of adapting the beauty contained in them.”*

However, for his great-grandson and biographer, the results of such study were not visible in the

Church of the Pilgrims and he did not discuss it and its unusual pagoda-like spire (“this rather

82 Eidlitz altered and enlarged the building between 1868 and 1870.
83 Pierson, Jr., “Richard Upjohn and the American Rundbogenstil,” p. 226.

8 See Upjohn, pp. 72 and figs. 21 and 22 opposite p. 72. In contrast to his designs for Episcopal churches,
the building did not have a chancel and the pulpit was located on the central axis of the nave. Additionally,
the side aisle end walls employed curved parapets whose shape was reminiscent of the pagoda-like towers
at the Church of the Pilgrims.

8 Comments made by Richard Upjohn in response to “Unity in Architecture,” a paper read by J. Coleman
Hart at the 15 February 1859 meeting of the American Institute of Architects; “Architecture,” The Crayon,
vol. 6 (March 1859), p. 89. The paper also drew comments from Eidlitz and Henry Van Brunt.

8 « Architecture,” The Crayon, vol. 6 (March 1859), p. 89.
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ugly solution,” no longer extant) at length, writing only that the building was intended to stand
apart from “legitimate churches of the Episcopal communion.” Eidlitz seemed to agree when he
quipped, “[Upjohn] did it conscientiously, upon the ground that Presbyterians were not entitled to

architecture.”®®

Bowdoin College Chapel (Richard Upjohn)

Although drawings for the Bowdoin College Chapel were in progress in April 1844 and its
cornerstone was laid on 16 July 1845, financial problems precluded its completion until 1855.%°
Pierson considered Bowdoin College Chapel to be the second example of Romanesque Revival
architecture in the United States, coming after the Church of the Pilgrims.”® His suggestion that
Eidlitz could have introduced Upjohn to the Rundbogenstil is easier to demonstrate for Bowdoin
chapel than for St. George’s because the sources of its architectural forms are more obvious and
include elements of German Romanesque cathedrals such as Speyer, and Worms, and St. Gereon
and the Church of the Apostles, the latter two located in Cologne. For example, Pierson pointed
out the similarity of the apse of the Bowdoin College Chapel to that of the fourth-century Aula

Palatina at Trier,”" a resemblance also noted by Schuyler.”® He also speculated that the Upjohn’s

87 Upjohn, p. 72. He noted that the spire inspired a similar feature at the Berkley Street Congregational
Church (Boston, 1860-61; demolished) designed by John D. Towe, a view confirmed in “Berkley Street
Congregational Church,” Congregational Quarterly, vol. 6 (1864), p. 37, cited and illustrated in Steege,
“The Book of Plans and the Early Romanesque Revival in the United States,” p. 223. The building was
said to embody “a transition from the Romanesque to the Lombardy styles of architecture”; “Berkley Street
Church, Boston,” Architects’ and Mechanics Journal, 21 March 1861, p. 216.

8 Leopold Fidlitz I, p. 173. Before the two denominations separated, the Presbytery oversaw the
Congregational Church. ‘

¥ Upjohn, p. 80; Pierson, “Richard Upjohn and the American Rundbogenstil,” p. 223.
% Pierson, “Richard Upjohn and the American Rundbogenstil,” p. 223.

°! Pierson, “Richard Upjohn and the American Rundbogenstil,” pp. 227-29. Augusta Treverorum (Trier)
became the capital of Gaul during the reign of the Diocletian (284-305) and Maximian (286-305). The red
brick Romanesque basilica was begun in 310 AD as a hall (220 feet long, 90 feet wide, 107 feet high) in
which the emperor received and entertained his guests. During the seventeenth century, its east and south
walls were demolished and the remainder was incorporated within a Renaissance palace. The second
largest surviving Roman structure after the Pantheon, it was restored 1846-56.
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design could have reflected his familiarity with the illustrations in the second volume of Thomas
Hope’s Historical Essay on Architecture that supplemented the written descriptions of
Romanesque buildings located in northern Italy and southern Germany contained in the first

volume.”

While Trier was not illustrated in the book, the similarly configured apse of the
eleventh-century Speyer Cathedral was’® Eidlitz’s references to Hope’s book in his own
writing” seems to strengthen Pierson’s contention that he might have brought it to Upjohn’s
attention, since Upjohn did not return to Europe before 1850.° Upjohn’s great-grandson
suggested that Eidlitz might have provided the itinerary for the trip during which Upjohn spent

most of his time in the Romanesque lands of Germany, the Alps, and Italy.”’

It is also possible that Upjohn knew of the Entwiirfe zu Kirchen-, Pfarr-, u. Schulhdusern zum
amtlichen Gebrauche bearb. und hrsg. von der K&niglich Preussischen Ober—Bau-De:put:at:ion.98

The series, begun by Freidrich Wilhelm IV and three of Schinkel’s best students (Freidrich

72 Leopold Eidlitz I, p. 167.

% Thomas Hope, An Historical Essay on Architecture by the late Thomas Hope. Illustrated from drawings
made by him in Italy and Germany, 2 vols., second ed. (London: John Murray, 1835). Upjohn owned the
1840 edition of the book.

* Hope, vol. 2, Plate 17. Speyer Cathedral, a Romanesque basilica, was founded by Konrad II in 1030. It
was the burial place of the German emperors for almost 300 years. Its original flat timber roof was
replaced between 1082 and 1125 with stone groin vaults, the first in Germany. The building was badly
damaged by French troops in 1689 and two thirds of the nave was destroyed. In 1755, the west end was
severely shortened. Restorations were begun in 1772 and completed by 1728 in conjunction with
reconstruction of the nave in its Romanesque form. King Ludwig I commissioned painting the interior and
Johannes Schraudolph (1808-79) completed the work in the Nazarene style from 1846 to 1853. Heinrich
Hiibsch rebuilt the west-facing front section of the cathedral from 1854-58 and a second phase of
restoration from 1884 to 1910 attempted to return the building to its medieval appearance. From 1957 to
1961, most of the nineteenth century painting was removed and two towers were reconstructed on the east
elevation. The building was restored again between 1960 and 1974 to stabilize it and adapt its interior to
new liturgical requirements.

% Eidlitz, The Nature and Function of Art, p. 219.

% Upjohn, p. 81; Montgomery Schuyler, “Architecture of American Colleges VII. Brown, Bowdoin,
Trinity and Wesleyan,” Architectural Record, vol. 29, no. 2 (February 1911), pp. 151-52.

97 Upjohn, p. 104.
%8 Berlin: 1844-62.
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August Stiiller, August Soller, and Ludwig Persius)” was intended to extend their teacher’s work
and influence after his death in 1841 and was the primary American source for Rundbogenstil
churches, especially those built between 1846 and 1855.'"° One of its plates showed a ca. 1844
design by Soller'®" whose general configuration is similar to that used by Upjohn for the Harvard -
project in its use of an early Christian basilican plan with semi-circular apse and freestanding bell
tower joined to the building by an arcade.'” However, despite similarities in fenestration,

Upjohn’s hip-roofed bell tower is Italianate in contrast to Soller’s northern European version.'®

The Church of the Puritans (James Renwick)

Renwick’s second building, the Church of the Puritans was a theological and architectural
exception to his Gothic churches of the 1840s'™ and was completed shortly after Grace Church
(1846-47) was consecrated. Designed for a Congregationalist client, the congregation was
formally organized on 11 April 1846. Ground was broken on the southwest corner of Union
Square at Fifteenth Street on 7 September 1846; the cornerstone was laid on 22 September. The
completed structure was 142 feet long by 75 feet wide and featured two towers that measured 104

feet and 84 feet in height. The shorter tower was to have been 100 feet tall, but funding problems

% In October 1842, Friedrich Wilhelm gave Stiiler and Persius positions in the Prussian Oberbaudeputation
(Office of the Works) with Stiiler directing all official building in Berlin and the Prussian provinces and
Persius in charge of Potsdam. Stiiler took over the Oberbaudeputation when Persius died three years later.
Curran, The Romanesque Revival: Religion, Politics, and Transnational Exchange, p. 130.

1% Kathleen A. Curran, “The German Rundbogenstil and Reflections on the American Round-Arched
Style,” pp. 362, 364.

101 August Soller, “Catholic Church for 750-800 People,” Entwiirfe zu Kirchen (Sketches for churches),
Berlin: Koniglich Technische Bau-Deputation, 1862), pl. 7, reproduced in Curran, “The German
Rundbogenstil and Reflections on the American Round-Arched Style,” p. 362, fig. 13.

192 Curran, “The German Rundbogenstil and Reflections on the American Round-Arched Style,” pp. 363-
64, 372-73.

% Hull, p. “The ‘School of Upjohn’: Richard Upjohn’s Office,” 283; Kathleen A. Curran, “The
Romanesque Revival, Mural Painting, and Protestant Patronage in America,” pp. 694-97; Upjohn, pp. 80-
81.

%They include Calvary Church (1846-47), South Dutch Church (1848-49), all in New York City; Second
Presbyterian Church (1849?-51, Chicago) and Trinity Church (1850-51, Washington, DC).
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limited its final height and it was capped with a pyramidal roof and finial. The two visible

elevations were faced with white Hudson River marble while the others were of plastered brick.

Renwick based the front elevation of his building on the Abbey Church of St. Denis, a French

structure that employed round-headed openings on its west elevation yet used pointed arches

105

within its interior.”~ Although St. Denis was a hybrid that it contained Romanesque and Gothic

elements, Renwick and his contemporaries would not have used the term in such a manner. For

them, the word signified opprobrium and referred to the simultaneous use of trabeated and

106

arcuated construction.~ Interest in French models was growing in English-speaking countries at

195 Selma Rattner, “James Renwick” in Macmillan Encyclopedia of Architects, vol. 3, p. 542; Morrison H.
Heckscher, “Building the Empire City: Architects and Architecture” in Art and the Empire City: New York
1825-1861, Catherine Hoover Voorsanger and John H. Kowat, eds. (New York: The Metropolitan Museum
of Art; New Haven, CT and London: Yale University Press, 2000), p. 183; Effingham P. Humphrey, Jr.,
“The Churches of James Renwick, Jr.,” unpublished Thesis (MA) New York University, 1942, p. 25. An
oil on canvas rendering of the front facade made in 1858 by Ferdinand Joachim Richardt and James
Renwick, Jr., is reproduced in Art and the Empire City, catalogue no. 95, pp. 436, 581. Richardt (1819-95)
was a Danish artist active in New York City 1856-59.

The Abbey Church of St. Denis is located in a small town near Paris. It was named after St. Denis, the first
bishop of Paris, who was martyred and buried there in 270. A small chapel built over his grave became a
pilgrimage site during the fifth and sixth centuries, and in 630, King Dagobert founded a Benedictine abbey
and replaced the chapel with a large basilica. The abbey became one of the richest and most important in
France, and in 750, Charlemagne began a new church. The wealth and importance of the abbey continued
to increase under a succession of powerful abbots. Among the most important of them was Suger (1081-
1155), the thirty-sixth of the series. He was a great political and religious leader, and he acted as Regent of
France when Louis VII went on Crusade. He also began the present church of St. Denis (1137-48), a
project that marked the start of the transition from Romanesque to Gothic architecture. Although it
remained powerful for many centuries, the abbey was dissolved and extensively damaged during the
Revolution. Napoleon initiated restoration programs of varying quality undertaken by Jacques Legrand
(1806-07), Jacques Cellier (1808-13), Frangois Debret (1813-47), and Viollet-le-Duc (1847-79). They
were the first of their kind in France and increased public and academic awareness of the building. See
Caroline Astrid Bruzelius, The Thirteenth-century Church at St-Denis (New Haven, CT and London: Yale
University Press, 1985), pp. 1-32.

1% gee Robert Dale Owen, Hints on Public Architecture, containing, among other illustrations, views and
plans of the Smithsonian Institution: Together with an appendix relative to building materials. Prepared,
on behalf of the Building Committee of the Smithsonian Institution (New York: Da Capo Press, 1978),
reprint of first ed. (New York and London: George P. Putnam, 1849), “Chapter V. Of Hybrid
Architecture,” pp. 47-62.

Robert Dale Owen (1801-77) was the son of Robert Owen, a utopian socialist reformer born in New

Lanark, Scotland. Both came to the United States in 1825 and the father established a successful

community in New Harmony, Indiana. From 1827 to 1833, Robert Dale Owen edited a newspaper in New

Harmony and a public speaker there and in New York. His advocacy of progressive causes contribute to

his election to the Indiana State House in 1836, and in 1842, he went to Washington where he began the
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this time and Renwick’s selection of such a building as the basis for his design may reflect his

recognition of Upjohn’s control over the market for Gothic churches.'” As Schuyler observed,

“In 1850 and for years afterwards, to be a Gothic architect was to be a church architect.”'*®

However, this view was not reflected, however, in Robert Dale Owen’s description of the
diversity of architectural tastes in New York City, written shortly after the Church of the Puritans

was completed.

We have already among us (and the number is increasing daily)
examples more or less pure of the Norman and of the several
periods of Gothic. New York, in this, seems to have taken the
lead. In that city, the Church of St. George [by Eidlitz] and that
of the Puritans are examples of the later Norman; Calvary and
the Church of the Annunciation [both by Renwick], of the Early
English, or Lancet; the Church of the Holy Communion [by
Upjohn] and the South Dutch Church [by Renwick], of the
Decorated; Trinity [by Upjohn], of the Perpendicular; and Grace
Church [by Renwick], of the early Flamboyant.'”

Owen, who wrote a book in support of Renwick’s Romanesque design for the secular
Smithsonian Institution, called the Church of the Puritans “an example, without much
embellishment, of the Later Norman or Lombard.”''’ He also claimed that the trend toward

stylistic diversity and specialization was spreading and noted, “Other cities are gradually

first of his two terms as New Harmony’s congressional representative. Robert Dale Owen’s interest in
education led him to involvement him in the initial planning for the Smithsonian Institution. His book,
Hints on Public Architecture, was written to address controversies related to the selection of the building’s
style and architect. Cynthia R. Field, “About This Book and Its Author,” introduction to Da Capo Press
reprint of Owen, n.p.

7 Humphrey, p. 26.

1% 1 eopold Eidlitz I, p. 168.
19 Owen, p. 71.

"0 Owen, p. 96. The Architects’ and Builders Journal called the building “the first non-ecclesiastical one
in the style of the twelfth-century ever erected in this country”; “Smithsonian Institution,” The Architects’
and Builders Journal, vol. 3 (3 November 1860), p. 46.
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following the lead.”""! The New York Times, however, had a much simpler explanation for the
building’s origins.

The story is told, that, after Dr. Cheever’s''> congregation had
decided to build a new church for him, some of its members
traveling in Europe had been struck by an ecclesiastical structure
there, and had determined to reproduce it in New-York. They
had made a plan, and the plan was faithfully followed. They
never knew or even suspected until, after the erection of the
edifice, that the European church was unfinished, and that this
fact explained the short tower.'"?

Like its model, the fagade of Renwick’s building was based on a square divided into nine roughly
equal sections, surmounted by a low central gable, and flanked by two towers. Renwick’s
version, however, was lower and, because the nave end wall and gable aligned with the towers
rather than being recessed, it was more planar that the original.'™* Tt contained a nave and two
aisles and was 110 feet long. The interior was finished with columns, capitals, and groined
vaults, all plastered.'” No description of the decoration has been found and it is likely that it had
little relation to the fagade. Humphrey suggested that it would have been “plain, bleak, and ugly,
everything finished with plaster, with dreary casement windows, and little to suggest the glories

of medieval art.”''® Considering the extremely high level of interior finishes at Grace Church

U Owen, p. 71.

112 Rev. Dr. George Barrell Cheever (1807-90) attended Bowdoin College where he developed conflicts in
his beliefs concerning Unitarianism and Congregationalism. In 1830, he graduated from Andover
Theological Seminary, a stronghold of orthodox Congregationalism, and became increasingly involved
with the temperance and anti-slavery movements. He came to New York City in 1839 and assumed his
post at the Church of the Puritans, one of the nation’s wealthiest and most fashionable congregations six
years later. Beginning in 1857, his strong anti-slavery sentiments increasingly isolated him from some of
his congregants and many public figures, but he maintained his progressive beliefs and activities in support
of social causes for the remainder of his life. “George Barrell Cheever” in Dictionary of American
Biography, vol. 4, pp. 48-49.

13 Article 5 — No Tile, New York Times, 6 November 1878, p. 4.
!4 Humphrey, p. 25.
5 Humphrey, p. 25; Owen, p. 96.
¢ Humphrey, p. 26.
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(also made of plaster), it seems likely that this was necessitated by the building’s low cost

($40,000),""” the leaning its Congregational clients, or both.

The building was demolished in 1869 to make way for the Tiffany & Co. Building (John Kellum,
1869, 11-15 Union Square West)."'® Cheever gave the proceeds of the sale to the Second
Presbyterian Church of Harlem who built a new structure at 15 West 130" Street (1873-78,
attributed to Hubert, Pirsson & Co.) and changed its name to the Church of the Puritans.'"® Some
of that money may have come from the Mount Olivet Baptist Church that purchased the main
fagade of the Church of the Puritans for $17,500 and re-erected it at 161 West 53™ Street. It has

since been demolished.'?

A Book of Plans for Churches and Parsonages

Although the mixture of Romanesque and Gothic details used by Renwick was regarded as
incorrect by some, the approach was explained and justified in a description of one of his designs
that was published several years after the Church of the Pilgrims was completed. It appeared in 4

Book of Plans for Churches and Parsonages,”' a publication intended to promote “convenience,

"7 Owen, p. 96. Owen calculated that the building cost 7.5 cents per cubic foot while Trinity Church cost
41 cents and Grace Church 16 cents. He used these figures to justify Renwick’s 17.25 cents per cubic foot
Romanesque design for the Smithsonian Institution; Owen, pp. 95-97.

118 Kelllum won the commission in a competition beating George B. Post and several others; Robert A. M.
Stern, Thomas Mellins, and David Fishman, New York 1880: Architecture and Urbanism in the Gilded Age
(New York: The Monacelli Press, Inc., 1999), p. 710.

19 Stern et al, New York 1880, p. 806. 1t is now occupied by St. Ambrose [Episcopal] Church.

120 «] aying the Corner-stone of the Fifty-third Street Baptist Church,” New York Times, 16 September
1869, p. 8

21 4 Book of Plans for Churches and Parsonages Published Under the Direction of the Central Committee
Appointed by the General Congregational Convention, October 1852. Comprising Designs by Upjohn,
Downing, Renwick, Wheeler, Wells, Austin, Stone, Cleaveland, Backus, and Reeve (New York: Daniel
Burgess & Company, 1853). For a contemporary review, see “Churches and Parsonages,” New Englander
and Yale Review, vol. 12, no. 46 (May 1854), pp. 276-303. Richard Upjohn had previously published a
similar book directed toward Episcopal parishes of similar circumstance: Upjohn’s Rural Architecture.
Designs, Working Drawings and Specifications for a Wooden Church and Other Rural Structures (New
York: George P. Putnam, 1852).
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economy and good taste, in the design and execution of the work.”'® Containing thirty pages of
text and illustrations of eighteen designs contributed by some of the most notable architects of the
period,'” it was published by the General Congregational Convention in 1853 in response to
decisions made at a convention of the Congregational Church held in Albany, NY, the previous
year. At that meeting, which was itself a unique departure from historic Congregationalist
distrust of central organization, attendees discussed ways to return the Church to the intent of its
Pilgrim founders and to provide aid to new communities in the American west. To achieve the
second goal, a committee was appointed to raise, receive, and disburse funds to build new
churches. The Convention adopted twelve articles intended to guide the committee’s work, the

last of which directed its members to obtain designs for appropriate buildings.'**

While the book took no strong stand on the issue of architectural style (“the architectural features

of the house of worship™) and recommended only that “the edifice designed for religious worship,

»125

ought, if possible, to indicate its purpose in its outward forms and materials,” ~ it argued that

9y

neither of the two prevailing “architectural orders,” i.e., Gothic and Greek, was suitable for
American buildings because “a true Gothic structure would be inappropriate on a wide level

prairie, as a Greecian [sic] Doric would be in the wildest and most abrupt regions on New

England.”"?® Instead, the book suggested a conciliatory approach.

The modifications of these styles, however, known as the Rural
English, and the Norman or Romanesque, are adapted to a great
diversity of situations, and they are, almost any of them, a great

22 4 Book of Plans, p. 3. The phrase replicated the direction given in the Proceedings of the General
Convention of the Congregational Ministers and Delegates in the United states held at Albany, New York,
October 1852 (New York: 1852), p. 18, quoted in Steege, “The Book of Plans and the Early Romanesque
Revival in the United States,” p. 215.

123 They were: Henry Austin and David R. Brown, William Backus, Henry W. Cleaveland, T. Reeve, James
Renwick, Sidney M. Stone, Richard Upjohn, Joseph C. Wells, and Gervase Wheeler.

124 Steege, “The Book of Plans and the Early Romanesque Revival in the United States,” p. 215.
125 4 Book of Plans, p. 11.
126 4 Book of Plans, p. 12.
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improvement upon the miniature temples and cathedrals which
have been much in vogue in our country for years past.'?’

This opinion largely reflected the views of the Rev. Oliver Ellsworth Daggett, D.D., then a
minister at a Congregational Church in Canandaigua, NY, whose ideas on the subject were
presented in an excerpt from a magazine article (reprinted in the book) that he wrote on church
design several years earlier.””® Daggett claimed that public appreciation for Gothic and Greek
architecture had shifted over time, and that Gothic was now in the ascendancy. However, he
noted, as did Richard Upjohn, that Gothic had never constituted “the prevailing style of

architecture in Christendom at large”'®

and claimed that its presence was mostly confined to
England and portions of France and Germany. He also claimed that even within these areas,
many Gothic buildings were actually Roman or Greek structures “variously modified” or were
“Norman, distinguished, in common with what is called on the continent the Byzantine or
Romanesque style, by the prevalence of the semicircular instead of the pointed arch.”'*® After
pointing out the relative youth of Gothic buildings compared to the duration of Christianity,
Daggett concluded, again in a manner similar to Upjohn, “Every kind of [good architecture] has

its own predominant character and expression, and is felt to be accordingly congenial with some

chief idea or class of ideas in Christian revelation, as also in the nature of man.”"*' Furthermore,

27 4 Book of Plans, pp. 12-13.

128 «Church Building,” New Englander, vol. 6, no. 21 (January 1848), pp. 1-24. The New Englander,
published in New Haven, CT, began as the Congregational Review in 1843 and changed its name to the
Yale Review before ceasing publication in 1892. Daggett (1810-80) attended Yale College and, after
studying law and being admitted to the bar, Yale Divinity School. He served as a Congregational minister
in Connecticut and New York State from 1837 to 1877 and as the Crittenden Professor of Divinity and
college pastor at Yale from 1867 to 1870. He published many sermons and magazine articles, assisted in
compiling a book of psalms and hymns, and wrote a small volume of poems that were published after his
death. “Oliver Ellsworth Daggett” in Appleton’s Cyclopedia of American Biography, James Grant Wilson
and John Fiske, eds., 6 vols. (New York: D. Appleton and Company, 1887-1889), vol. 2, p. 53.

12 4 Book of Plans, p. 13.

139 4 Book of Plans, p. 14. Eidlitz made a similar point when he called St. Peter’s Basilica in Rome “a poor
Gothic church shrouded in caricatures of Greek forms”; The Nature and Function of Art, p. 350.

1 4 Book of Plans, pp. 14-15.
127

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.



modification and mixture of styles was probably inevitable since few architectural styles were
pure, and none was inherently better when considered from a historical, aesthetic, or moral

viewpoint,

The imitations of the old Norman churches, and those that are
called Romanesque, are at least akin to the proper Gothic, while
churches such as St. Peter’s and St. Paul’s, though on the whole
very unlike any Greek temple, are yet modifications of Greek

and Roman forms, and derive from them their predominant
effect.'

Despite an implied equality of Greek, Gothic, and Romanesque styles, the Book of Plans
contained none of the first, few of the second, and an abundance of the third. Of the eighteen
churches that it depicted (stylistic distinctions were apparently unnecessary for the four

13 and another used pointed arches.”* Of the

parsonages it showed), one called itself Gothic
remainder, three claimed to be Romanesque'** and seven others contained round-headed windows

or chancel arches.'*®

Despite their stylistic attributions, Renwick’s Gothic and “Modernized Romanesque” designs had
much in common. They were essentially meetinghouses to which wall buttresses, stepped end
gables, gabled roofs with shed extensions, and bell towers were grafted. They all lacked chancels
and transepts and the main difference between them was the presence of pointed-arched or round-
arched windows. Steege confirmed these underlying similarities, noting that after the buildings

were painted white “to satisfy subsequent classical revival tastes,” their stylistic qualities became

132 4 Book of Plans, p. 15.
'3 Design XVII by James Renwick.

134 Design XV by Gervase Wheeler. Wheeler, an English architect, had designed the interior and
polychromatic ceiling decorations for Upjohn’s Bowdoin College Chapel shortly after he arrived in
America ca. 1846; Biographical Dictionary of Philadelphia Architects: 1700-1930, Roger W. Moss and
Sandra L. Tatman, eds. (Boston, MA: G. K. Hall & Co., 1985), p. 849.

13 Designs IV and V by Sidney M. Stone and Design XVIII by Renwick.

136 Design I by Sidney M. Stone, Designs III, XII, and XIII by Henry Austin and David R. Brown, Design
VI by Joseph C. Wells, Design XIV by T. Reeve, and Design XVI by Richard Upjohn & Co.
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obscured and they appeared little different from their traditional New England predecessors.””’ In
this sense, Renwick’s notion of a Modemized Romanesque neither required nor provided a rigid
distinction between styles, and afier1848 he began to use multiple modes of design
simultaneously at St. Stephen’s Roman Catholic Church (1855, 1865, 128 East 28™ Street, New
York City) and the Clinton Avenue Congregational Church (1854-5, Brooklyn Heights,
demolished). Thus, when describing a Renwick church in the Book of Plans, the anonymous

author could accurately conclude

This design is in the Modernized Romanesque or Round style, so
called because the arches of its openings being semi-circular, and
to distinguish it from the Pointed style. The modernized
Romanesque is based on upon the supposition that the
Romanesque has progressed, as such, instead of changing into
Gothic; therefore traceries which are rarely found, except in
circular windows, in the old buildings, are introduced in the
present plan.'*®

The comment contained another rationale for Renwick’s mix of styles: the belief that
Romanesque architecture retained potential for future development because it had been
“interrupted” by the Gothic, while Gothic architecture had gone about as far as it could. This
notion was common during the nineteenth-century, and in his comments on the “Arch

Architecture,” Robert Dale Owen wrote

The two centuries above referred to [i.e., the twelfth and
thirteenth] embrace, as we have seen, a portion of the two great
divisions of Arch Architecture; to wit, of the Lombard or
Norman, and the Gothic proper; the former (in its later and
lighter styles, however) occupying the greater part of the twelfth
century; while through the remainder of that century and the
whole of the thirteenth, the Gothic gradually developed itself;
passing through the Early English, and, before the
commencement of the fourteenth century, reaching the

137 Steege, “The Book of Plans and the Early Romanesque Revival in the United States,” pp. 224-25.

138 4 Book of Plans, “Design XVIIL” The other, Design XVII, was described as being “in the Lancet or
early Gothic Style.”
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Decorated; this last exhibiting, to their full extent, its powers and
capabilities.”

St. George’s Church: Design and Construction

The Blesch-Eidlitz design for St. George’s Church was said to be in the “Byzantine or Early
Christian style of architecture”'* and it is likely that the building demonstrated awareness on the
part of its architects of restoration and coﬁtemporary work in southern Germany, i.e., the
Rundbogenstil, rather than a thorough knowledge of historical architecture. The parish history
notes that the scheme was selected by a building committee from drawings submitted by
architects from New York and Phjl:sldelphia,141 but only the Blesch-Eidlitz scheme and two
submitted by Thomas Ustick Walter are known. Tyng had served for eleven years in the Walter-
designed Church of the Epiphany (15™ and Chestnut Street, Philadelphia, 1833-34; demolished
1901) built during the first years of his tenure and had been pleased with the building (“The
gentlemen engaged in the enterprise were men of ability, and with a deep, personal interest in
their work”)."* On 12 March 1846, Walter wrote to Tyng '** and while the subject of the letter is
unknown, he began to work on drawings for a neoclassical “chapel” for Tyng’s congregation on

14 April.'*

Despite the cordial relationship that seems to have existed between Walter and Tyng, the parish

history noted “After due examination of the proposed plans the vestry unanimously adopted that

1 Owen, p. 72.

140 Anstice, p. 168.

' Charles Rockland Tyng, p. 200.
"2 Charles Rockland Tyng, p. 111.

143 Thomas Ustick Walter, Diary, 25 November 1845 — 31 December 1848; on file at the Athenaeum of
Philadelphia.

144 See “Project for St. George’s Chapel, N.Y.,” Handlist: Thomas Ustick Walter, Architect, exhibition
catalogue (Philadelphia: The Athenaeum of Philadelphia, 1979), n.p.; Thomas Ustick Walter, “Design for
St. George’s Chapel, New York,” four ink and watercolor wash drawings dated 21-25 April 1846 on file at
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of Blesch and Eidlitz, and the work was at once undertaken and diligently prosecuted.”™® Tyng’s

biography recalled

Mr. FEidlitz was then a very young man, who had but recently
arrived in this country, this being his first work of such a
character, but from that time on, no other architect was ever
employed in the construction of any building erected by St.
George’s corporation.'*

Blesch and Eidlitz designed the new church were in March 1846 and the cornerstone was laid on
23 June.'*” The building opened for services on 19 November 1848 and was consecrated on 4
December of the following year. Schuyler quoted Eidlitz to the effect that Blesch designed the
exterior and he the interior of the building. He also wrote that Eidlitz supervised construction
because Blesch became ill and Anstice confirmed the division of responsibility.*® Schuyler also
claimed that Eidlitz was the “official” architect recognized by the congregation.'®® This may be
reflected in Anstice’s comment “The successful realization of these plans [for St. George’s
Church] gave Mr. Eidlitz at once an enviable position among his fellow-craftsmen, and he lived

to enjoy a distinguished architectural career.”**’

Eidlitz got on well with the congregation and wrote, “When, under the pressure of 1848 and

1849, [work on] the building was discontinued, the committee paid their architect in full for his

the Athenacum of Philadelphia; WTU*042%001-004. Walter’s diary indicates that he also prepared a
“perspective view,” but its location is unknown; Thomas Ustick Walter, Diary [1845-48], 25 April 1846.

5 Anstice, p. 168.
146 Charles Rockland Tyng, p. 198.

47 Moulton, p. 39; Wayne Andrews, Trinity Parish Herald, June 1946, p. 3, cited in Carroll L. V. Meeks,
“Romanesque Before Richardson in the United States,” Art Bulletin, vol. 35, no. 1 (March 1953), p. 23 n.
28. The chronology given here generally follows Anstice and Hodges and Reichert.

18 1 eopold Eidlitz I, pp. 166-68; Anstice, p. 207.
1 1 eopold Eidlitz I, pp. 166-67.
130 Anstice, p. 207.
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services, as though the whole edifice had been completed....”"!

The pressure to which he
referred involved the congregation’s decision to move to the new site and the concurrent refusal
of Trinity Church to release the affected members from their obligation to continue operations at
the old. The Beekman Street building remained in use as a chapel for a while, but it reverted to
Trinity Church in 1850 and was later used by the Church of the Holy Evangelists. Connections

between Trinity and St. George’s were not severed until 1868, when the Beekman Street building

was sold to the Phelps Dodge Corporation and quickly replaced with a commercial structure.'>

The new St. George’s was similar to its predecessor in plan and consisted of a 5-bay nave with
semi-circular chancel extension. Overall dimensions were 172 feet long by 72 feet wide; interior
dimensions, exclusive of the chancel, were 113 feet by 70 feet. Exterior walls were 65 feet high
and 5 feet thick in some places and the towers were 100 feet high with another 25 feet assigned to
the uncompleted spires.'”® The nave was covered by a gabled roof and the chancel by a semi-
dome. The front elevation was preceded a shallow arcaded porch flanked by square corner
towers. The main entrance was located within the porch, at the top of a low flight of steps. The
central gable was capped by a large anthemion. A large rose window was situated below an
arcuated corbel table and above a blind arcade. The nave sidewalls were braced by stepped
buttresses located between tall windows, ™ unbuttressed apse was windowless, but sky lit. The

building was sheathed in smooth brownstone relieved only by sidewall continuations of the

311 eopold Eidlitz, “The Church of All Souls,” The Crayon, vol. 5 (January 1858), p. 22. Eidlitz remained
the sole parish architect until his death.

132 Phelps, vol. 3, p. 774; Anstice, pp. 166-78; Hodges and Reichert, xix; Moulton, pp. 43-44; “Another Old
Church Going,” John W. Kennion, Architects’ and Builder’s Guide. An elaborate description of all the
public, commercial, philanthropic, literary & ecclesiastical buildings already constructed, and about to be
erected next spring in New York and its environs, with their cost respectively, and the names of the
architects and builders. (New York: Fitzpatrick & Hunter, 1868), Part III, p. 68. A photograph of the St.
George Building that replaced the Beekman Street church in 1870 appeared in Danny Lyon, The
Destruction of Lower New York City (New York: The Macmillan Company, 1969), no. 6.

133 Greenleaf, p. 389.
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corbel tables. Window openings were round-headed and the apse contained a round-headed blind

triforium. The nave floor was supported on brick arches.

Schuyler believed that the rear elevation was derived from the semicircular apses of “twelfth-
century churches of the Rhine,”154 Meeks observed similarities with Schinkel’s Johanniskirche
Kirche (Moabit, Berlin; 1832-38),'%® ‘and Curran suggested the central section of the front
elevation of Gértner’s limestone-clad Ludwigskirche (1828-44) as the inspiration for the main
facade. She also claimed, however, that the corner towers were based on those of Bernardo
Rossellino’s cathedral at Pienza (1459-64)."° St. George’s may also reflect Eidlitz’s knowledge
of St. Stephen’s in Vienna (1147-1562), a large Hallenkirche, and the Kostel svaty Jifi (Church of
St. George) in Prague. The latter building, erected ca. 920, was altered several times, and its
present Romanesque form as a triple-nave basilica with semi-circular apse and twin rear towers
dates from a reconstruction carried out after a fire that occurred in 1142. However, Eidlitz would
also have seen its 1657-80 Baroque fagade. Blesch may also have incorporated ideas from the
twin-towered Munich Cathedral (the Frauenkirche, Jérg von Halsbach, 1466-88). Nevertheless,
the absence of interior columns, the Low Church configuration, and the presence of cantilevered
galleries and exposed wood roof trusses distinguished St. George’s as an American work and

distanced it from European models

3% Montgomery Schuyler, “The Romanesque Revival in New York,” p. 12. An engraving showing the
apse appeared in “New-York Church Architecture,” Putnam’s Monthly Magazine of American Literature,
Science and Art, vol. 2, no. 9 (September 1853), p. 245.

13 Meeks, “Romanesque Before Richardson in the United States,” p. 23. Karl Freidrich Schinkel,
Collection of Architectural Designs including designs which have been executed and objects whose
execution was intended (Chicago: Exedra Books Incorporated, 1982), reprint of Sammlung
architektonischer Entwiirfe enthaltend theils wereke welche ausgefithrt sind theils gegestinde deren
ausfiihrung beabsichtigt wurde (Berlin: Emnst and Korn, 1866), Plates 159-60. August Stiiler’s arcaded
addition (1841-56) to the front of Schinkel’s building increased the resemblance; see Curran, The
Romanesque Revival: Religion, Politics, and Transnational Exchange, pp. 130-35.

'3 Curran, “The German Rundbogenstil and Reflections on the American Round-Arched Style,” pp. 362-
64; “The Romanesque Revival, Mural Painting, and Protestant Patronage in America,” pp. 696-97, and The
Romanesque Revival: Religion, Politics, and Transnational Exchange, p. 268. Brooks concurred for
“fagade composition”; Brooks, p. 9.
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Curran cited a contemporary Rundbogenstil church in New York City: the Fifth Avenue Baptist
Church designed in 1841 by Henry Engelbert (demolished), and Hitchcock called the Appleton
Chapel (1856-58, Harvard College, Cambridge, MA, demolished 1931) “a very reduced version
[of the Ludwigskirche] with only one tower.” While the outward appearance of Englebert’s
church was similar to St. George’s, its skylit and vaulted interior was based on the
Michaeliskirche (Berlin, 1845-61) designed by August Soller, a pupil of Schinkel.””” The
Appleton Chapel was designed by Paul Schulze (1827-97), a German émigré architect who won

the commission in a competition in 1856."®

The Ludwigskirche also inspired several projects by the American-born architect Thomas
Alexander Tefft (1826-59). While the Indiana Cotton Mill (1849-50, Cannelton, IN; demolished)
and the Richmond Female Institute (1853, Richmond, VA; demolished) employed the primary
motifs of Gértner’s church, i.e., a pair of centrally placed towers with a gabled central block and
side wings, they were used most skillfully and dramatically at the Union Depot (1847-48,
Exchange Place, Providence, RI; demolished 1886). Said to have been designed when Tefft was
a 21-year-old student of philosophy at Brown University, the 750-foot long brick railroad station

was the largest in America when it was competed and Hitchcock called it “...a triumph of

157 Curran, “The German Rundbogenstil and Reflections on the American Round-Arched Style,” pp. 368-
69.

138 Despite beginning his career in New York City and moving to Boston, much of Schulze’s time was
spent in a Washington DC partnership with German-born and -trained Adolph Cluss (1825-1905) where
they did a large quantity of work for the federal government. They rebuilt Renwick’s Smithsonian
Institution (1846-55) after it burned in 1858 and designed the Institution’s Art and Industries Building
(1881). Schulze returned to New York City in 1857 and maintained a practice alone and with various
partners as late as 1879. He had worked on the New York Crystal Palace designed by Danish architect
Georg J. B. Cartensen and German architect Karl (Charles) Gildemeister, sharing a New York City office
with both in 1854, and with Gildemeister from 1859 to 1860. Hitchcock, Architecture: Nineteenth and
Twentieth Centuries, p. 127; Meeks, “Romanesque Before Richardson in the United States,” p. 30 n. 70;
“Adolph Cluss” in Biographical Dictionary of American Architects (Deceased), p. 128; “Paul Schulz” The
American Architect and Building News, vol. 55, no. 1102, (6 February 1897) p. 42; “The Exhibition of the
Industry of All Nations,” New York Times, 16 August 1852, p. 2.
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picturesque design, rivaling the contemporary Romanesque work of Von Gértner and Hiibsch.”'>
With its gabled central block flanked by slender towers and angled two-story wings attached one-
story arcades and octagonal end bays, it is likely that the building was inspired by Tefft’s reading
and contemporary trends in American architecture rather than personal contact with German-
trained architects. Curran noted that Tefft owned a large library that included Gértner’s

1 in which the Ludwigskirche appeared.'®

Sammlung der Entwiirfe ausgefiihrter Gebdude
Anger noted that Tefft “had not yet enjoyed direct exposure to German architecture in the hands
of its émigrés, much less intentionally studied the theories behind the Rundbogenstil in Germany”
although he was “sympathetic to the period’s growing interest in round-arched styles, both
aesthetically and functionally, aided by the plates in his books and the buildings at Brown

University.”'®

While it is surprising that the Ludwigskirche remained a source of inspiration nearly a generation
after Eidlitz arrived in America, this situation may reflect the attitudes of mid-nineteenth-century

architects toward Germany. Writing in 1939, Richard Upjohn’s great-grandson noted

In the study of Gothic architecture, Germany claimed much more
attention in England, and perhaps America, at that time than it
does now. The presence of the Prince Consort in England had a

13 Henry-Russell Hitchcock, Rhode Island Architecture (New York: Da Capo Press, 1968), reprint of first
ed. (Providence, RI: Rhode Island Museum Press, 1939), p. 50. Also see Ruth Little Stokes, “Thomas
Alexander Tefft, Union Depot, Exchange PL., Providence, 1847-48” in William Jordy and Christopher P.
Monkhouse, Buildings on Paper, Rhode Island Architectural Drawings 1825-1945, exhibition catalogue
(Providence, RI: David Winton Bell Gallery, List Art Center, Brown University, 1982), pp. 159-60;
Barbara Wriston, “Thomas Alexander Tefft,” in Macmillan Encyclopedia of Architects, vol. 4, p. 189;
Anger, p. 21; Arabella Berkenbilt, “European Influences on Thomas A. Tefft: Theory and Practice in
Thomas Alexander Tefft: American Architect in Transition, 1845-1860, p. 36; 1. Edwards Clark, “Thomas
A. Tefft and American Brick Architecture,” The American Architect and Building News, vol. 19 (12 June
1886), p. 283;

1602 vols. (Munich: J. G. Cotta, 1844-45).

18! Curran, “The German Rundbogenstil and Reflections on the American Round-Arched Style,” pp. 370-
72. ‘

162 Jenny Anger, “The Rise of the Professional Architect” in Thomas Alexander Teffi: American Architect
in Transition, 1845-1860, Kathleen A. Curran, ed., exhibition catalogue (Providence, RI: David Winton
Bell Gallery, List Art Center, Brown University, 1988), p. 21.
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great deal to do with this, particularly in view of his active
patronage of the arts which culminated in the great exposition of
1851.1¢

St. George’s Church: Critical Response
The diarist George Templeton Strong visited St. George’s when it opened and described it as

fatally short and squat, but the front towers are among the finest
things in the city, and it is consoling after [James] Renwick
[Ir.]’s pasteboard abominations [the Church of the Puritans,
1846, Union Square; Grace Church, 10" Street and Broadway,
1843-46 and Calvary Church, 21 Street and Park Avenue, 1846-
471, to see the massiveness and solidarity of the whole structure.
The church stands in a howling wildemess at present, but the
streets around Stuyvesant Square will soon fill up.'®

Schuyler also though it too short, although he allowed, “the parts are more valuable than the

39165

whole. Putnam’s Magazine was considerably more enthusiastic and called it “the most

chastely designed and most sincerely built church in New York City — we are not afraid to say in

the United States.”'

While the exterior was vigorously, if simply, modeled, the interior was exceptionally plain, as

noted by a reviewer for The Literary World:

The plan of the building is like that of the old Roman Basilicas,
after which the first Christian churches were modeled. It
consists of a huge hall, undivided by pillars, with galleries on
three sides, supported by trusses from with a second, or choir,
gallery over the entrance front, and a semicircular apsis, or
sanctarium, projecting from the west end, with low engaged

1 Upjohn, p. 104.

1% George Templeton Strong, The Diary of George Templeton Strong, Allan Nevins and Milton Halsey
Thomas, eds. (New York: The Macmillan Company, 1952), 20 November 1848, vol. 1, p. 335. Strong
(1820-75) was a wealthy New York City lawyer. During the Civil War, he was a member of the United
States Sanitary Commission and helped found the Union League Club. He was also a trustee of Columbia
University and a member of the vestry of Trinity Church. His diary discussed music, politics, and daily life
in the city. James E. Mooney, George Templeton Strong” in The Encyclopedia of New York, p. 1132.

195 Montgomery Schuyler, “The Romanesque Revival in New York,” p. 12.
16 «New-York Church Architecture,” pp. 247-48.
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vestry rooms connected therewith. The entrance front, which is
towards the east, has an arcaded vestibule, or loggia, with
engaged towers at the angles. These are completed only as high
as the roof.'”’

. For many years, the church contained the city’s largest interior space. It could hold 1,575 people,
and its interior height was exceeded only in 1893 by the Cathedral of St. John the Divine (Heins
and La Farge; Ralph Adams Cram after 1911)."® Although relatively austere compared to its
Gothic Revival contemporaries, the nave’s flat, plastered walls were intensely decorated'®” with
“several bands of handsome foliated ornament.”!™ The work, done by Louis H. Cohn to Eidlitz’s
designs, incorporated stenciled patterns that originated at the springing point of the window and
chancel arches. Below the patterns, walls surfaces were embellished with a small checkerboard
or diapered ground; a similar but larger diaper pattern was used above the chancel opening.'”
Except for the braced hammer beam roof trusses, nearly all of the building’s modeled surfaces
were located within the apse, a semi-circular extension that contained a ribbed half-dome lit by a
small semi-circular skylight. Below the dome, a tall blind arcade and a short triforium rested on a

heavily profiled dado that contained several tablets inscribed with the names of the

167 Robert Cary Long, Jr. (writing as “An Architect”), “Architectonics. No. II. St. George’s Church,
Stuyvesant Square,” The Literary World, A Journal of American and Foreign Literature, Science, and Art.,
vol. 3, no. 95 (25 November 1848), p. 853. Stanton attributed the article to Long based on a memoir
written by George A. Frederick (1842-1924), a prominent Baltimore architect. Long (1810-49) was the son
of a master carpenter. He studied in New York with Martin Euclid Thompson but returned to Baltimore
when his father died in 1833 to assume his practice. He built more than a dozen churches and public
buildings and several country houses in Maryland and published six articles in The Literary World between
November 1847 and March 1849. In 1847, he made plans to return to New York but died of cholera two
years later. Wilbur H. Hunter, “Robert Cary Long, Jr., and the Battle of Styles,” Journal of the Society of
Architectural Historians, vol. 16, no. 1 (March 1957), pp. 28-30; Stanton, The Gothic Revival and
American Church Architecture, p. 244 n. 37.

18 Montgomery Schuyler, American Architecture and other Writings by Montgomery Schuyler, William
Jordy and Ralph Coe, eds., 2 vols. (Cambridge, MA: Belknap Press of Harvard University Press, 1961),
vol. 1, p. 140 n. 9; Hodges and Reichert, p. 14.

1 Anstice, “Interior of St. George’s Church, 1869,” photograph opposite p. 242.
170 «Byrning of Dr. Tyng’s Church,” Harper’s Weekly, vol. 9 (2 December 1865), p. 758.

7! Anstice, p. 242. Cohn had also done decorative painting for Renwick and Sand at St. Ann’s Episcopal
Church (1867-69, Brooklyn); Christopher Gray, “An 1869 Work With a Shaky Future,” New York Times,
23 June 1991, p. R6; “St. Ann’s Church in Brooklyn,” New York Times, 21 October 1869, p. 2.

137

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.



congregation’s founders.'”” A roundel and a pair of round-headed arches were located within
each of the arcade arches. The chancel held a wide seating area enclosed by a low partition. Just
beyond the chancel opening, a freestanding communion table stood behind a pulpit flanked by
two ambos in conformance with Tyng’s request for a table that would not mistaken for an altar
could be walked around.'” Within the nave, seating was provided on the ground floor and on
unusual cantilevered galleries. A pseudo-transept was created where the front portion of the
ground floor seating turned to face the center of the building. Moulton claimed that Tyng was
responsible for the decision to use the galleries and she quoted an unnamed critic who called them
“an interior feature as novel and startling in its way as the exterior feature of the [planned] open

Spire 29174

While The Crayon agreed with Templeton and Schuyler that the building was too short, it still
found the exterior successful, especially the front and rear elevations. The interior, however,
while large and endowed with a well-designed chancel, was considered less successful due to

poor quality stained glass, exposed roof trusses and, worst of all, the cantilevered galleries.

The galleries certainly deserve some credit as a mechanical
construction, and we will admit that the construction is more
artistically treated than many imitations we have seen lately. But
why not have them supported, in the most natural way, by piers
or columns on the floor? We suppose the exceeding popularity
of the present incumbent of that pulpit will pass an apology for
the absence of the columns, in order to avoid all obstructions to
the view; but we doubt whether it can be reconciled with good
taste to allow the practical advantages to carry the day against
that liberality of space for all necessary appointments, which is
eminently due to the house of God.'”

172 Charles Rockland Tyng, p. 255. The tablets were destroyed when the church burned and never replaced.

'3 Anstice, “Chancel of the Church, 1848-1856,” photograph opposite p. 200; engraving of interior view
looking toward the chancel in “New-York Church Architecture,” p. 246; Leopold Eidlitz I, pp. 166.

17* Moulton, p. 41.
173 «t. George’s Church,” The Crayon, vol. 4 (December 1857), pp. 372-73.
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Nevertheless, The Crayon complemented the building committee for giving Eidlitz “a full and
liberal scope for the exercise of his talents, a fact which must place these gentlemen deservedly

high as patrons of art.”'"®

The column-free galleries would have emphasized the building’s hall church (Schuyler uses

“hallenartige,” Curran uses “Saalkirche*'””)

qualities. Present in some German Gothic churches
and generally secen as a Germanic characteristic, hall churches were similar to secular
Hallenbauen (hall buildings) and although they often contained two or more rows of columns that
carried roof support arches, the overall effect was that of a single space rather than the tripartite
low-aisle/high-nave arrangement of the English Gothic churches more commonly emulated by
Episcopal congregations of the 1840s.7!Side aisles, when present, were equal in height, or nearly
so, to the nave. Buildings of the type also relied on tall windows for interior light and they often
lacked transepts and a distinct chancel.'” An overtly low church interior of this kind would not
have received the approval of the New York Ecclesiological Society that recommended early
English parish churches as the most suitable model for religious buildings for Episcopal

congregations. Nevertheless, Schuyler claimed that hall churches, with their obvious contrast to

Upjohn’s Trinity Church, would have appealed to Tyng.'®

176 «St. George’s Church,” The Crayon, vol. 4 (December 1857), p. 373.

"7 Leopold Eidlitz I, p. 167; Curran, “The German Rundbogenstil and Reflections on the American Round-
Arched Style,” p. 368.

'8 Brooks noted that the absence of horizontal ties made possible by Eidlitz’s use of modified hammer
beam roof trusses, a Gothic structural device, contributed to the unity of the nave by de-emphasizing the
effect of its structural bays; Brooks, p. 9.

179 “Hall church” in Nikolaus Pevsner, John Flemming, and Hugh Honour, 4 Dictionary of Architecture
{(Woodstock, NY: The Overlook Press, 1976), pp. 221-22; “Aisle,” “Hall church,” “Hallenbau” in Russell
Sturgis, A Dictionary of Architecture and Building, Biographical, Historical, and Descriptive (New York
and London: The Macmillan Company 1901), vol. 1, p. 33, vol. 2, p. 355.

18 1 eopold Eidlitz I, pp. 167-68.
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Most of the other critics were more positive about the interior. Putnam’s claimed, “the absence

of pillars, the need of which has been obviated by a hanging gallery, gives it a very roomy and

29181

majestic appearance” = and the New York Times noted

No pillars broke the area. The gallery that surrounded the church
was supported on brackets let into the wall. The chaste
simplicity and vast proportions of the interior have awakened the
admiration of all who were interested in architecture.'®

The parish history similarly remarked

This unique achievement of the architect was effected by
anchoring brackets of great strength through the walls into the
interior buttresses, and the resulting freedom from obstruction of
the whole floor area added materially to the church’s beauty and
impressiveness.”'®

Schuyler expressed a wish that the nave windows would have been divided in some way to reflect
the presence of the galleries and wrote, “Such a division would have removed the chief
architectural blemish on what is and would be even with worse faults, one of our most seemly and

dignified New York churches, inside and out.”'®

Despite its admiration for “the chaste simplicity and vast proportions of the interior,” the New

York Times was less sure of the outcome. While it complimented features such as the method by

1811 eopold Eidlitz I, p. 167; “New-York Church Architecture,” p. 248.
182 «“The Destruction of Dr. Tyng’s Church,” p. 8.

18 Anstice, p. 207, The 1866 Guide to New York City (New York: Schoken Books, 1975), reprint of
Miller’s New York As It Is; or stranger’s guide to the cities of New York, Brooklyn, and adjacent places;
comprising notices of every object of interest to strangers; including public buildings, churches, hotels,
places of amusement, literary institutions, etc. (New York: J. Miller, 1866) shared this opinion, p. 73.
Curran noted that the approach was also used by John Notman (1810-65) in the Holy Trinity Church
(Philadelphia, PA, 1856-59), and a contemporary account described the galleries as “supported on massive
brackets of grained wood.” It also noted that “The galleries upon the Northern and Southern sides of the
church are supported on powerful truss brackets, which rest on stone corbels in each buttress. The supports
are firmly anchored into the walls.” Curran, “The Romanesque Revival, Mural Painting, and Protestant
Patronage in America,” p. 719 n. 28; [Philadelphia] Daily Evening Bulletin, 28 March 1859, p.1 quoted in
Constance M. Greiff, John Notman, Architect, 1810-1865 (Philadelphia: The Athenaeum of Philadelphia,
1979), p. 214.

18 1 eopold Eidlitz I, p. 168.
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which the chancel was illuminated and the “magnificent round [chancel] arch of really colossal
proportions,” it concluded, “The interior of the church was peculiarly grand and impressive,
though too dark to be pleasant.'® Eidlitz never repeated the approach in any of his churches and
in The Nature and Function of Art, he sarcastically referred to Milan Cathedral as a building
whose primary quality was that it provided “the interesting appearance of a hall (Halle), a

colonnaded space.”

This fact may redeem the monument as a structure, but it cannot
redeem it as a church, the purpose of which must always be to
serve a congregation of persons as a place of worship, not as a
temporary transitory passage to another part of a structure where
they finally intend to abide.'®

Shaaray Tefila

Blesch also assisted Eidlitz with the Shaaray Tefila (Gates of Prayer) Synagogue (1846-47, 112
Wooster Street; demolished), a commission that came to them concurrently with that for St.
George’s, although the congregational history claims their “modest edifice” was designed by an

architect named “Brady.”'®’

On 6 May 1845, several members of B’nai Jeshurun, one of the oldest synagogues in New York
City, left the congregation in response to a political dispute. The dissenters organized as a
religious association ten days later and, during the next month, rented rooms above a stable
located at 67 Franklin Street near Broadway. On 11 January 1846, they purchased a burial
ground located on 46™ Street, between Ninth and Tenth Avenue and on 22 February, adopted a
set of by-laws, naming their new congregation Shaaray Tefila. At the same time, the group

purchased two lots at 110 and 112 Wooster Street, then in the center of the New York City Jewish

185 “The Destruction of Dr. Tyng’s Church,” New York Times, 16 November 1865, p. 8.
18 Ridlitz, The Nature and Function of Art, p. 452.
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community, and resolved to spend approximately $20,000 for a new building.'"® The
congregation remained in their Wooster Street building designed by Blesch and Eidlitz until
1864, when it leased the Armory Building, 36" and Broadway, and fitted it out as a synagogue

until it could find a suitable uptown location for a new structure.'®

Schuyler’s account of
Eidlitz’s career des not mention the Wooster Street building although in 1850, Greenleaf wrote
that “The Franklin Association,” presumably a mortgage provider, had erected a “fine building of

freestone for a Synagogue, on Wooster street, between Spring and Prince streets, in the year

184710

The synagogue was a small basilcan structure, 55 feet wide by 85 feet deep, exclusive of an east-
facing semicircular apse and contained individual seats rather than pews as well as galleries.'!
An elevation showed the details of the central bay of the front elevation to be similar to St.
George’s, albeit at a much smaller scale, with a corbelled nave gable and anthemion cap, half-
gabled aisles, and rose window. '** Wischnitzer suggested that aside from its obvious affinity to
Girtner’s Ludwigskirche, the building may also have reflected Eidlitz’s (or Blesch’s) knowledge
of the Kassel synagogue (1836-39, August Schuchardt and Albert Rosengarten; demolished), a

four-bay, galleried and vaulted Rundbogenstil basilica with semicircular apse flanked by service

187 Simon Cohen, Shaaray Tefila. A History of Its Hundred Years, 1845-1945 (New York: Greenburg,
1945), p. 9. Francis makes no mention of an architect of that name.

188 Cohen, pp. 5-9.

189 Cohen, pp. 19-20.

19 Greenleaf, pp. 395-96.

1 Cohen, p. 11.

192 Wischnitzer, fig. 24, p. 44.
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rooms.'” Its tri-partite front elevation featured circular and round-headed widows and a gabled

central bay flanked by flat-roofed stairtowers.'”*

An account of Shaaray Tefila published before its completion attempted to emphasize those
aspects of its design deemed appropriate for a synagogue. However, its “churchly” qualities were

inescapable, an issue that Eidlitz would face again in his design for Temple Emanu-el.

The style chosen is the Byzantic, which flourished some
centuries back, and was especially used by the Portuguese and
other Jews when persecuted in the middle ages; On looking at
the front of the pile, the spectator will at once receive the
impression that the building is intended for a place of worship,
not of the poetical deities of the Greeks, nor the pompous trinity
of the Christians, but of the mighty God of the Jews. The deep
front door, with its heavy arches and simple but boldly-
ornamented columns projecting out from the wall about four
feet, encircling the front stoop with their bases, will, with awe,
invite the stranger into the sanctum of the interior, and there the
mind will be most deeply impressed with the feelings it has been
prepared for by the exterior. After passing through a vestibule
[located below a choir and orchestra balcony illuminated by a
rose window] and entering the inside, the holy ark will attract the
greatest attention: five steps leading to it, and a platform six feet
wide, will be covered with Italian marble; the doors will be of
mahogany, enriched with tracery, and slide back into the wall;
two columns and two antes will support an arch crowned with a
gable, reaching up to the center of a large window, the top of
which is to have stained glass, representing the so-called David’s
Shield. The interior will be divided into three aisles; the center
aisle twenty-four feet wide, between the columns which support
the semicircular arches, that carry the walls of the clear story; the
side aisles will be about twenty-eight feet high, containing the
galleries for the ladies; the center aisle will be forty-two feet
high, and will be vaulted by a wooden ceiling, supported by
spandrels; the ribs are to meet in the center, ending with
flowers;'™ ...the principal light will be falling down from the

19 Wischnitzer, p. 43. Schuchardt (1820-99) was Rosengarten’s supervisor in the government building

service; Krinsky p. 314.

19 See Krinsky, pp. 313-16. She claimed that Rosengarten’s illustrated account of the synagogue was the
first of its kind published by a Jew; “Die neue Synagoge in Kassel,” Allgemeine Bauzeitung, vol. 5 (1840),
pp- 205-7, Plates 349-53.

195 An account of the consecration described it as a “groined oak ceiling.” Most of the other woodwork was
also made of oak; A. Abraham, “Consecration of the New Synagogue Shaaray Tefila” The Occident, and
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upper part of the building intended to produce a solemn effect;
and the whole will be calculated to turn the mind to the sublime,
and to spiritualize the feeling; ...the building and ground will
cost near $30,000... The architects are Messrs. Eidlitz and
Blesch.'? :

The building was consecrated on 25 June 1847, and while respénse was generally enthusiastic,

several faults were noted.

As it is, we may safely say, that it is by far the finest Synagogue
in America, though this does not say that that it is the best
adapted for the purpose for which it is designed. We should
judge that ordinarily it will require much exertion in the minister
to be distinctly heard all over the building, owing to the great
height in the center, and the declivity of the galleries, together
with the many angles in the ceiling.'*’

However, the most significant comment addressed the unmistakably church-like appearance of

the building,

In fact, the style of building is so new to us, and so little idea had
we of the interior arrangements, that we have not as yet been
able to make up our mind, whether to approve it for a Synagogue
or not. But there can be no question that it is a beautiful
structure, and highly creditable to the architect who designed it,
and equally so to the members of the congregation, who, though
few in number, had a sufficient strong sense of what is due to the
sanctity of religion to erect so expensive and well-appointed a

American Jewish Advocate, A Monthly Periodical Devoted to the Diffusion of Knowledge on Jewish
Literature and Religion, vol. 4, no. 5 (August 1847), p. 222-29.

The Occident, the first successful Jewish newspaper in America and an essential conduit between America's
growing Jewish communities, was published monthly in Philadelphia from April 1843 to March 1864 by
Rabbi Isaac Lesser (1806-88). Its motto was “To learn and to teach, to observe and to do.” Leeser was one
of the most prominent and influential figures in American Jewish history. During a 40-year period, he was
arguably the most prolific and creative American Jewish writer. He became the spiritual leader of
Congregation Mikveh Israel in Philadelphia in 1829 where he was the first to introduce a regular English
sermon into the synagogue service. He also founded the American Jewish Publication Society and
published The Law of God, the first translation of the Hebrew Bible into American English (1845).

19 “Descriptive View of the New Synagogue, Now Building at New York, for the Congregation Under the
Pastoral Charge Of The Rev. S. M. Isaacs,” The Occident, vol. 4, no. 5 (August 1846), pp. 239-40. The
cornerstone was laid on 7 July 1846.

7 «Consecration of New Synagogue Shaaray Tefila, New York [June 25, 1847],” The Occident, vol. 5, no.
5 (August 1847), p. 222.
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house of prayer, as now greets the devout traveler in the far-
famed commercial metropolis of the western world.'*®

Iranistan

Schuyler claimed that Eidlitz designed the P‘. T. Barnum residence, “Iranistan” (1848, Bridgeport,
Connecticut, burned 1857; Barnum claimed that the name meant “Oriental villa”). Said to have
cost $150,000 and taken two years to build, it sat on a seventeen-acre site less than a mile west of
the city of Bridgeport, overlooking Long Island Sound. Barnum had selected the site because of
its ready rail and water access to New York City, the hub of his activities, and its visual

prominence.

Barnum wrote consistently of the house’s origins in each of the seven versions of his

autobiography published between 1855 and 1891.

In visiting Brighton, in England, I had been greatly pleased with
the Pavilion erected by George IV [1815-21, John Nash]. It was
the only specimen of Oriental architecture in England and the
style had not been introduced into America. I concluded to
adopt it, and engaged a London architect to furnish me a set of
drawings after the general plan of the Pavilion, differing
sufficiently to be adopted to the ground selected for my
homestead. On my second return visit to the United States, I
brought these drawings and engaged a competent architect and
builder, giving him instructions to proceed with the work, not
“by the job” but “by the day,” and to spare neither time nor
expense in erecting a comfortable, convenient, and tasteful
residence... The building progressed slowly, but surely and
substantially... The whole was completed to my satisfaction.'”

198 «Consecration of New Synagogue Shaaray Tefila, New York [June 25, 1847],” The Occident, vol. 5, no.
5 (August 1847), p. 222.

199 Waldo R. Browne, Barnum’s Own Story, The Autobiography of P. T. Barnum — Combined & condensed
from the various editions published during his lifetime (New York: Dover Publications, Inc., 1961) reprint
of first ed. (New York: The Viking Press, Inc., 1927), pp. 187-88. A view of the house and several of its
outbuildings taken from a letterhead appears opposite p. 296. A hand-colored lithograph issued by Sarony
and Major ca. 1852-54, “Iranistan, an oriental ville (near Bridgeport, Connecticut) / Lith. of Sarony &
Major, N.Y.” in the collection of the Library of Congress is reproduced in W. Barksdale Maynard,
Architecture in the United States, 1800-1850 (New Haven, CT and London: Yale University Press, 2002),
p. 175, Figure 4.7.
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The completed building was 124 feet wide on its entrance fagade and one of Barnum’s

biographers described it as follows:

There were three stories, with broad piazzas, and large arched
window-ways. Minarets and spires stood up all over the
building in logical but profuse style [the 60-foot wide center
dome rose 90 feet above ground level and was fitted out as an
astronomical observatory],””® and domed conservatories bulged
at either end. A large iron fence enclosed the extensive grounds,
and fountains were scattered about. Reindeer and elk pranced
through the park.

The interior was correspondingly ornate. A large winding
staircase... led up from the main hall, and along its luxurious
way marble statuary abounded. The panels of the drawing-room
wall represented the four seasons, and the ceiling was white and
gold. Pier glasses and mirrored folding doors added to the
drawing-room’s glamor [sic]. The dining-room walls were
richly paneled with figures representing Music, Painting, and
Poetry. A Chinese library with Chinese landscapes in oils and
Chinese furniture, where there was a tortoise-shell table with
brass trimmings, adjoined the dining-room. The walls in
Barnum’s private study were brocaded with rich orange satin,
and adjoining the study was a bathroom, with a shower of hot
and cold water. An enthusiastic New York visitor to “Iranistan”
said that inside it was “as elegant as a steamboat.”*"'

The biographer speculated that Barnum’s goal was to live in a house that had affinities with his
Museum as well as convenience, comfort, uniqueness, and style. He quoted Barnum’s delight
that the house would be seen from passing trains and that his “pile of buildings of a novel order
might indirectly serve as an advertisement of my various enterprises.””” Although the full extent
of Eidlitz’s participation in the project is unknown, Schuyler agreed with the general outline of

Barnum’s story (he called the house “the architectural expression of Humbug™) and described an

2 1rving Wallace, The Fabulous Showman, The Life and Times of P. T. Barnum (New York: Alfred A.
Knopf, 1959), p. 150.

21 M. R. Werner, Barnum (NY: Harcourt, Brace and Company, 1923), pp. 106-7. Werner’s book is a
synthesis of the different versions of Barnum’s autobiography.

202 Werner, p. 106.
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incident in which Barnum met the unannounced and unrecognized Fidlitz.”” After the house
burned on 18 December 1857,°* Elias Howe, Jr., the inventor of the sewing machine, acquired
the property for $50,000. He intended to build a new $250,000 residence designed by Cincinnati

architect A. C. Nash and improve the grounds but died before he could accomplish his goals.””®

Eidlitz Residence

Writing about the increasing influence of German domestic architecture on American practice in
the mid-1850s, Sarah Bradford Landau has noted that he “provided America with examples of the
real thing, or close to it.””® Nearly all of his houses from this period, including his own, are
examples of “Swiss Cottage” architecture,”” a style advocated by Andrew Jackson Downing for
“bold and mountainous country, on the side, or at the bottom of a wooded hill, or in a wild and
picturesque valley.”*® Of his residential commissions, only Eidlitz’s house truly met Downing’s
siting requirements, and some of his work with similar attributes is not residential. Houses in the
style were generally three stories high, built of wood on a stone base that projected from a slope,
and were capped with gabled roofs supported on exposed trusses and brackets. Most rooms had

direct access to the exterior or to covered porches, galleries, or balconies. These extensions

23 1 eopold Eidlitz I, pp. 169-70.

204 «“Degtruction of ‘Iranistan’,” New York Times, 19 December 1857, p. 4. Its 60-foot high domed brick
tower survived for another thirty years until it was blown up with dynamite; “Last of ‘Iranistan’,” New York
Times, 10 November 1887, p. 3.

25 «“Barnum’s ‘Iranistan,” The Architects’ and Mechanics Journal, vol. 1, no. 2 (November 1859), p. 44;
“Design for the Residence of Elias Howe, Jr., Bridgeport, Ct.,” Horticulturalist and Journal of Rural Art
and Rural Taste, no. 25 (October 1870), p. 292.

206 Sarah Bradford Landau, “Richard Morris Hunt, the Continental Picturesque, and the ‘Stick Style,””
Journal of the Society of Architectural Historians, vol. 42, no. 3 (October 1983), pp. 274-75.

%7 Antoinette F. Downing and Vincent J. Scully, Jr., The Architectural Heritage of Newport, Rhode Island,
1640-1915, second ed. (New York: Bramhall House, 1967), p. 139.

2% Andrew Jackson Downing, The Architecture of Country Houses; Including designs for cottages, farm
houses, and villas, with remarks on interiors, furniture, and the best modes of warming and ventilating
(New York and Philadelphia: D. Appleton & Company, 1850), p. 124. The book went through nine
editions by 1866 and Upjohn owned a copy; Hull, “The ‘School of Upjohn’: Richard Upjohn’s Office,” pp.
305-6.
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rested on exposed structural supports and were protected by decorative balustrades that masked
the underlying volumetric simplicity of the buildings to which they were attached. In a paper
read to the Royal Institute of British Architects in 1867, William Robert Ware noted that such
“shingle palaces” (he used Washington Irving’s term’”) were a conscious and necessary attempt

at something new:

They also show how we are trying to introduce, remotely
influenced by German or Swiss example, a form of building and
a kind of finish, more suited to the material in the hand than the
classical details employed by our ancestors.”'°

Vincent Scully has noted that the approach was popularized in pattern books during the 1850s

and discussed an example of a house designed by Henry William Cleaveland who considered

99211

himself a partisan of “the admirable publications of the much lamented Downing. “Design

No. XIII” is one of two that appeared within a chapter devoted to “hill-side cottages™ in a book
2213

co-authored by Cleaveland.’”? It is for “a situation higher than the road on which it fronts.

The other, “Design No. XIV,” sits in “a position below the road” although it is of board and

209 Washington Irving, “The Legend of Sleepy Hollow,” in Washington Irving, Selected Prose, Stanley T.

Williams, ed. (New York: Rinehart, 1950), p. 173. The reference is to the houses of the Dutch settlers of
the Hudson River Valley in New York State. The story was written while he was living in England and
published there in The Sketch Book of Geoffrey Crayon, Gent. (London: John Miller, 1820). The Sketch
Book was published in seven installments in the United States beginning in 1819 (New-York: C.S. Van
Winkle, 1819-20), but the section that included the story was not issued until 1820.

219 yilliam Robert Ware, “Architecture and Architectural Education in the United States,” The Civil
Engineer and Architect’s Journal, vol. 30 (1 April 1867), p. 108.

2! Henry William Cleaveland, William Backus, and Samuel D. Backus, Village and Farm Cottages: The
requirements of American village homes considered and suggested; with designs for such houses of
moderate cost (New York: D. Appleton and Company, 1856. Cleaveland and the Backus brothers
maintained an architectural practice in New York City and appeared in city directories individually and as
partners from 1854 through 1862; Francis, pp. 13, 21. Cleaveland was a founding member of the AIA. He
left New York City after the Civil War and worked in California and Oregon. Cleaveland and William
Backus also contributed designs for churches (Designs VI and X-XIII, respectively) to 4 Book of Plans for
Churches and Parsonages; Backus also contributed a design for a parsonage (Design I).

212 Cleaveland ef al, pp. 90-94.
13 Cleaveland et al, p. 90.
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batten construction and considerably less ornamented.'* While it seems likely that Eidlitz could
have known the Downing and Cleaveland publications, it is equally likely that his work reflected
his own knowledge of the vernacular Tirolerhduschen of German-speaking Alpine Europe,
possibly obtained by personal acquaintance but almost certainly through publications. Upjohn’s

small wooden churches of the mid-1840s also employed similar vertical sheathing.”"’

Agreeing with Hitchcock that American “Swiss Cottage” architecture came directly from German
sources rather than English intermediaries, Landau ascribed American interest in and knowledge
of “contemporary German rustic architecture” to the influence of the German émigré architects
who began to arrive during the 1840s and to the German-language architectural periodicals that
accompanied them. She assigned particularly high importance to Architektonisches Skizzen-
buch*® Known to American architects in New York City before the Civil War, the publication
was begun by several of Schinkel’s students, and many of its illustrations depict buildings that
recalled his interest in vernacular residential prototypes. Its plates, initially published in folios,
were reissued in bound volumes, and its depiction of construction details was both graphically
striking and technically useful. Architektonische Skizzen-buch was preceded by two similar

218

publications, Architektonisches Album™" and Architektonische Entwiirfe,”'® the latter a periodical

14 Cleaveland et al, pp. 94-97.

215 Upjohn, pp. 117-20. See Richard Upjohn, Upjohn’s Rural Architecture: Designs, Working Drawings
and Specifications for a Wooden Church and Other Rural Structures (New York: G. P. Putnam, 1852).
The book included drawings for a small mission church, a chapel, a parsonage, and a schoolhouse.

28 grchitektonisches Skizzen-buch. Eine Sammlung von Landhdusern, Villen, ldndlichen Gebduden,
Gartenhdusern, Gartenverzierungen, Gittern, Erkern, Balkons, Blumenfenstern, Brunnen, Springbrunnen,
Hofgebduden, Einfassungsmauren, Candelabern, Grabmonumenten un andern kleinen Bualichkeiten,
welche zur Verschénerung baulicher Anlagen dienen, und in Berlin, Potsdam und an andern Orten
ausgefiihrt sind (Berlin: Ernst & Korn, 1852-86). The journal was recommended for purchase in the
Catalogue of Books on Architecture published by the Committee on Library and Publications of the
American Institute of Architects in 1867.

27 grchitektonisches Album. Eine Sammlung von Bau-entwiirfen, mit besonderer beriicksichtigung der
Details und Constructionen.  Redigirt vom Architekten-verein zu Berlin durch Stiiler, Knoblauch,
Salzenberg, Strack, Runge (Potsdam: F. Riegel, 1837-42). The editors were Frederick Augustus Stiiler
(1800-65), Eduard Knoblauch (1801-65), Wilhelm Salzenberg (1803-87), Johann Heinrich Strack (1805-
60), and Gustav Runge (1822-1900).
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edited by the Architekten- und Ingenieur-Verein zu Berlin (Architectural and Engineering Society
of Berlin). Landau referred to an illustration in Architektonisches Album (vol. 19, ca. 1859) of a
ca. 1847 house by Ludwig Ferdinand Hesse (1795-1876) located in the Wildpark near Potsdam
that employed a stone-faced ground floor similar to those used in Eidlitz’s residential work of the
1850s.2"? Although they were designed well after he left Upjohn’s office, Landau also suggested
the possibility of Eidlitz’s influence on Upjohn’s Hamilton Hoppin and Alexander Van
Rensselaer Houses (1856-57, Middletown, RI), adjoining structures that recalled rather than

replicated “German bracketed” wood construction.?

Eidlitz’s own “Swiss Cottage” (1850-51, Riverside Drive’' and 86™ Street; demolished) was one
of several suburban villas built at the end of the nineteenth-century in Bloomingdale (“vale of
flowers™), then a remote and wealthy area of Manhattan named for a town near Haarlem in the
Netherlands. Bloomingdale extended along the upper West Side of Manhattan Island as far as the
present Morningside Heights and consisted of several small villages. Because of its seclusion and
picturesque qualities, it attracted large estates and summer homes, although an orphan asylum
was located between 73™ and 74" Streets and a mental asylum between 115" and 120™ Streets.
Bloomingdale was served by a road that opened in 1703 between what is now 23" and 114"
Street. It linked the area to the remainder of the city and followed the present alignment of
Broadway for most its run (it was called the “Bloomingdale Road” above 70" Street). The road

was extended to 147" Street in 1795 and a stagecoach route opened in 1819 followed by a

28 grchitektonische Entwiirfe aus der Sammlung des Architekten-Vereins zu Berlin (Potsdam: F. Riegel,
1837-42).

219 L andan, “Richard Morris Hunt, the Continental Picturesque, and the ‘Stick Style,”” pp. 273-74; p. 273 n.
8; Henry-Russell Hitchcock, Architecture: Nineteenth and Twentieth Centuries (Harmondsworth,
Middlesex, UK and New York: Penguin Books, 1977), p. 167

220 T andau, “Richard Morris Hunt, the Continental Picturesque, and the ‘Stick Style’,” p. 275; Upjohn, pp.
124-26, fig. 77.

2! The thoroughfare was begun in 1878 as “Riverside Avenue”; it was not called “Riverside Drive” until
1908.
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streetcar line that ran on Eighth Avenue between 59™ and 84™ Street as late as 1879. On 9 June
of that year, the Ninth Avenue elevated line operated by the Metropolitan Elevated Railroad
opened from 53" to 145" Street (it crossed over to Eighth Avenue at 110" Street), thereby
providing the first rapid connection to the city’s commercial core. The Metropolitan Elevated
Railroad controlled the existing Sixth Avenue line that ended at 53™ Street as well as the new

Ninth Avenue line.*?

The section of Bloomingdale in which Eidlitz lived was known as Striker’s Bay. Located at the
heart of Bloomingdale and named after Jacob Striker, a magistrate of the Court of New
Amsterdam who owned a house on what is now 96™ Street. It comprised the area now bounded
by 99 Street, Central Park West, 81° Street and the Hudson River and extended from 86™ Street
to the intersection of the present 99" Street and Amsterdam Avenue. Eidlitz’s house occupied the
top of a steep slope that faced the Hudson River and extended from West 86™ and 87™ Street to
the present Riverside Drive. It might have been built on the charred foundations of the
countryseat of Oliver De Lancey (1708-85), a Tory merchant, politician, and soldier, whose
residence was burned in November 1777 by a group of rebels from Tarrytown.”” Eidlitz’s
neighbors came to include Luke Welsh, a Tammany politician and judge who lived on 87™ Street,

and Egbert Ludovicus Viele, a surveyor and engineer who lived on 88™ Street and prepared the

%22 Stern et al, New York 1800, pp. 737-38; Lossing J. Benson, The Hudson From the Wilderness to the Sea
(New York: Virtue & Yorston, 1866), p. 338; Michele Herman, “Bloomingdale”; Andrew Sparberg,
“Bloomingdale Road” in The Encyclopedia of New York City, p. 119-20; “The Metropolitan Elevated
Railroad station. Sixth Avenue and West 14™ Street, ca. 1875; publisher unknown,” Nineteenth-Century
New York in Rare Photographic Views, No. 126; Phelp’s New York City Guide; Being a pocket directory
Jor strangers and citizens to the prominent objects of interest in the great commercial metropolis, and
conductor to its environs (New York: T. C. Fanning, 1852), pp. 20, 22; “West Side Is Itself A Great City,”
New York Times, 10 March 1895, p. 20.

3 James Bradley, “Striker’s Bay,” The Encyclopedia of New York City, p. 1132; Peter Salwen, Upper West
Side Story: a history and guide (New York: Abbeville Press, 1989), pp. 19, 28-29; “Oliver De Lancey” in
Appleton’s Cyclopedia of American Biography, vol. 2, p. 132.
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first design for Central Park.”*® Other members of Eidlitz family also held property in the area.
His brother Marc owned a house located at 123 East 72™ Street, and his son Cyrus owned a
residence at 347 West 86" Street. Leopold also owned four lots on the south side and seven lots
on the north side of 87" Street between what is now West End Avenue and Riverside Drive; he

sold them to two different housing developers in 1894.%

A photograph published in 1895 showed the dramatic site of the three-story house built in the
“Swiss chalet” style, with a gabled roof and two rows of projecting balconies that faced the
river.”® A ca. 1876 stereograph showed a view taken from a garden located at the top of the
hill??’ The two lower stories of the main block were sheathed in panels of horizontal wood
siding framed by vertical boards; the upper story was covered with vertical boards with
decoratively profiled ends. The roof, pierced by a fluted brick chimney, extended past the
sidewalls and the end gable featured an arcuated corbel table and was supported on an
ornamented king post truss. A two-story wing projected from the main block. The second floor
overhung the first and was supported on plain wood columns and scalloped diagonal braces. It
was sheathed with horizontal siding on the ground floor and vertical siding at the second. Its roof

was similar to that of the main block and contained a cross gable.

24 M. Christine Boyer, Manhattan Manners, Architecture and Style 1850-1900 (New York: Rizzoli: 1985),
p- 196. A photograph of Welsh’s house reproduced in Boyer shows a chalet-inspired renovation of a two-
story farmhouse; Fig. 237, p. 196.

225 Qalwen, p. 304; “The Real Estate Field,” New York Times, 24 November 1894, p. 12. The American
Exchange National Bank assigned a $20,000 mortgage to Eidlitz the following year that may have been
connected with the sale; “The Building Department,” New York Times, 12 February 1895, p. 15. Eidlitz
took a one year $30,000 mortgage on a property located on the south side corner of 87" Street and
Riverside Drive; “Recorded Real Estate Transfers,” New York Times, 22 January 1895, p. 15. It was owned
by the developer to whom Eidlitz sold the four lots located on the south side of 87" Street.

226 Montgomery Schuyler, “Cyrus L. W. Eidlitz,” Architectural Record, vol. 5, no. 4 (August 1895), p. 412.

27 New York Historical Society, Item PR-065-0349 (“backyard of the Leopold Eidlitz house, child in
hammock and neighbor's house, side of the house and precipitous slope, looking over the Hudson, stairway
in foreground”), reproduced in Salwen, p. 30.
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In 1854, during a period of scarce work, Eidlitz attempted to lease his newly completed house.

His advertisement suggested that its isolation was passing quickly.

COUNTRY HOUSE TO LET — To a private family, a large and
commodious country house, just being finished on 86™ St., North
River. Two lines of stages pass every few minutes within a
block of the building. Hudson River Railroad trains stop close
by in the morning and evening. For a gentleman doing business
in the City, this is a rare chance, it being one of the most
beautiful locations on the North River. Rent moderate. For
further particulars, inquire on the premises, or at the office of
LEOPOLD EIDLITZ, Architect, No. 298 Broadway, where
ground plans and a general view of the place may be seen.”®

There were no takers, however, and he tried to sell it two years later.

COTTAGE FOR SALE — A neat and convenient cottage house
on 86"-st., near the Hudson River, with 2 lots of ground reaching
from 86™ to 85M-st., well laid out and stocked with fruit and
ornamental trees and bushes, grape arbor &c., stable on 85™-st.
For particulars, apply to LEOPOLD EIDLITZ, No. 208
Broadway. Fifty per cent. on bond and mortgage.”

The second attempt was equally unsuccessful, and he tried again the following year.”® Work
returned shortly thereafter and by 1880, the United States census noted that Eidlitz, his wife, and

three daughters lived with three servants: a man born in China and two women born in Ireland.

First Congregational Church, New London

The full extent of Leopold Eidlitz’s commissions is unknown as no office job book or similar

record survives. He continued his involvement with churches after his partner Karl Otto Blesch

3’231

returned to Munich in 185 and was said to have designed thirty more churches than houses.**

28 New York Times, 23 June 1854, p. 6.
29 New York Times, 20 February 1856, p. 6.

B0 New York Times, 24 March 1857, p. 5; 26 March 1857, p. 5; 27 March 1857, p. 5; 9 April 1857, p. 5; 16
April 1857, p. 5; 17 April 1857, p. 5.

21 Blesch died there on 17 November; Kathleen Curran, “Girtners Farb- und Ornamentaufassung und sein
EinfluB auf England und Amerika” in Friedrich von Gdrtner, Ein Architektenleben, 1791-1847, Winfried
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It is likely that Blesch assisted him on some of these early projects even after Eidlitz opened a

separate office in 1852.2

Eidlitz’s attempts td rent his house may have been related to the commission for the First
Congregational Churcﬂ, New London (1849-51),>** the first of four Connecticut Congregational
churches designed and built by him during the 1850s, each of which employed a Gothic Revival
architectural vocabulary. The church was published as the work of Blesch and Eidlitz, although
the illness Blesch contracted while working on St. George’s could have left him unable to
participate in the New London project.** Like James Renwick, Eidlitz quickly found himself in
competition with Richard Upjohn for church commissions and the New London church was
Eidlitz’s first attempt at Upjohn’s specialty: a Gothic building. However, it was neither English

in spirit nor built for an Episcopal congregation.

The congregation that erected it is among the oldest in New London, having organized in

Gloucester, Massachusetts, around 1642 and moved to New London in 1650.2¢  All of its New

Nerdinger, ed. (Munich: Klinkhardt und Biermann, 1992), pp. 207-8. Several years earlier, Blesch and
Eidlitz donated a copy of G. A. Decker’s folio Der Friedhof: The Churchyard Sketches for Monuments. No.
1 (Mentz: 1847) to the New York State Library; New York State Library, Catalogue of the New York State
Library (Albany, NY: C. Van Benthuysen, printer, 1850), p. 999. I have been unable to find any
information about publication; it was probably destroyed when the New York State Library burned on 29
March 1911. No books were saved and the fire destroyed 450,000 volumes, 270,000 manuscripts, and the
entire catalog of nearly 1,000,000 cards.

22 «The late Leopold Eidlitz,” Journal of the Royal Institute Of British Architects, vol. 15 (November
1907-October 1908), p. 654.

23 Dennis Steadman Francis, Architects in Practice, New York City 1840-1900 (New York: Committee for
the Preservation of Architectural Records, n.d. 19807?), pp. 16, 28.

23 66 Union Street, New London, Connecticut

2% H. Allen, Brooks, Jr., Leopold Eidlitz (1823-1908) unpublished Thesis (MA) Yale University, 1955, p.
10.

236 Picturesque New London and Its Environs; Groton, Mpystic, Montville, Waterford, At the

Commencement of the Twentieth Century (New London, CT: American Book Exchange, 1901), pp. 41-42;

The First Church of Christ in New London (New London, CT: New London Telegram Print, 1879), p. 6;

see also The First Church of Christ in New London; Three Hundredth Anniversary; 1642-1942 (New

London, CT: First Church of Christ, New London, 1946, and “The First Congregational Church in New
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London buildings have been located close to the site of the present church on Bolles (or Zion)
Hill (now Bulkeley Square), “the highest elevation of a granite ledge, offering on its rounded
summit a peerless platform for a church.”®’ Eidlitz’s appointment to design the new church
followed a fire that partially damaged the congregation’s fourth building (the Channing Meeting
House, 1787) on 9 February 1849. Shortly thereafter, the parish voted to build a new stone
church large enough to seat 800, exclusive of galleries, and decided to fund the cost by
subscription rather that debt. An unspecified New London church was selected as a model for the
new building but due to budget restraints, Eidlitz was instructed to revise his initial design by
omitting one of the building’s two corner towers, removing the spire from the other, lowering the

sidewalls, simplifying the decoration and windows, and shortening the auditorium.

The contract cost came in at $21,500 and construction began in 28 May 18522 The fire-
damaged meetinghouse was moved to another location and the new church was dedicated on 6
July 1853. Accounts of its construction materials differ, some saying it was built of granite from
the Berkshire County quarries and chestnut collected from wood lots in Pittsfield and Lanesboro
while others claim it was made of Pittsfield gray limestone and Barrington bluestone, gray
Berkshire limestone, or granite quarried on site. The women of the parish raised money to buy
carpets and cushions, and when finished and furnished, a little over $28,000 had been spent,

exclusive of costs for a bell, clock, and marble doorsteps.239

London, United Church of Christ,” information sheet issued by The First Congregational Church in New
London.

37 Frances Manwaring Caulkins, History of New London, Connecticut. From the first survey of the coast
in 1612, to 1860 (New London, CT: H. D. Utley, 1895), p. 588.

238 Joseph Edward Adams Smith, The History of Pittsfield, (Berkshire County,) Massachusetts (Boston: Lee
and Shepard, 1869-76), pp. 428-30.

2 Mrs. H. M. Plunkett, “The Old Pittsfield Church and its Three Meeting-Houses,” The New England
Magazine, vol.15, no. 4 (December 1893) p. 406. An information sheet issued by the church gives the
amount as “about $43,000.” The clock was installed after on an agreement made on 17 July 1852 between
the city of New London and the church concerning the particulars of its operation.
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Despite the request for a single tower, the main fagade of the new church came to feature three: a
tall central spire flanked by shorter gabled towers linked to the central tower by balustrade-
capped walls in a variation of the Ludwigskirche theme. The exterior was clad in rough granite
ashlar with arcuated corbel tables, a shallow architrave supported on heavy brackets, and stepped
wall buttresses. The walls of the semi-octagonal apse that abutted the east end were blank except
for shallow pilasters at the angles and small round windows located below the architrave. Round
windows were present in the west end gable. Ground floor sidewall windows contained square-
headed quarter-circle voussoirs while door openings and windows at the gallery level were
pointed. As with St. George’s, the building relied on a primal and massive presence rather than
an archeologically correct assembly of details; however, the lightness of its interior woodwork
owed much to Richard Upjohn’s contemporary churches. Although lacking the detailed
knowledge of an architectural historian, a late nineteenth-century New London writer seemed to

recognize Eidlitz’s intentions.

The main features of the design belong to the most ancient
Gothic style; the arches are semi-circular, the recesses for the
pulpit, semi-octagonal, and the side windows double, with a
broad column in the center. The architectural design and
proportions of the building, with the open, airy appearance of the
campanile or bell-tower, and the light and graceful spire,
harmonize well with the elevated position and color of the
stone.**°

When completed, the church could seat eleven hundred. Finished in dark chestnut and smooth
plaster, it contained ground-floor pews and a semi-octagonal raised chancel as well as side and
rear galleries accessed from the narthex. The pulpit consisted of a reading desk situated in the
chancel; the organ was situated behind the minister. In contrast to St. George’s, however, the
galleries were supported on slender wood piers embellished with half and three-quarter

Romanesque columns and faced with a wood paneling containing chamfered X-bracing and

9 Caulkins, p. 591.
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trefoils. The nave and chancel ceilings were embellished with floral stenciling and similar, but
lighter, bracing and supported on exposed wood rafters with collar ties and arched brackets that
spanned between the columns both longitudinally and transversely; the ceiling above the galleries

was also supported on ornamented king post trusses. Structural framing below the galleries was

exposed >

H. Allan Brooks accurately called the interior “an essay in monumental space conception” and
described the contrast between the lightness of the building’s interior and the heaviness of its

exterior.

As one walks though the narrow narthex and small door into the
nave the effect is startling. An immense volume, carefully
articulated and well proportioned, surrounds you. The thin,
linear, structural wooden members contrast with the hard and
heavy masonry and plaster wall, effortlessly conveying the
function of various materials and constructions. The roof is
supported on graceful columns and unobtrusive arches. A
diagonal roof bracing system rationally serves as support, yet
forms a decorative motif. One has the sensation of a weightless,
spacious volume in which careful definition of all parts leads to a
clarity and unity of the whole.***

Although clearly derived from Upjohn’s churches, Brooks compared the “clear, monumental
interior space” of Eidlitz’s design with the “cluttered interior of excessive struts, cusps, etc.” of

Upjohn’s work and concluded

These contrasts exemplify traits of Leopold Eidlitz in distinction
to his contemporaries. Monumentality of space, clear, careful
articulation of structural members, and relatively abstract (as

! In 1857, unspecified problems with one of the towers became apparent and it was repaired rather than
demolished and reconstructed as recommended. A new organ was installed in 1870 and the rear gallery
was enlarged and connected to the side galleries. The chancel railings were removed in 1964 and a new
pulpit, lectern, communion table, and memorial cross were installed. “The First Congregational Church in
New London, United Church of Christ.” Subsequent alterations to the building have been few and some of
the original ceiling stenciling remains.

2 Brooks, p. 10.
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opposed to archeological) treatment of decorative and structural
elements alike; all combine to show Eidlitz at his best.**

3 Brooks, p. 10.
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5. BUILDING A PRACTICE: 1852-1863

The period that extended from the early 1850s to the beginning of the Civil War was the busiest
and most successful of Leopold Eidlitz’s career. The success of his New York City churches lead
to additional commissions in that city and in New England; however, with the exception of a
large project in St. Louis, these were usually for non-liturgical rather than Episcopal
congregations. While such clients did not have the social cachet of the latter, they were more
numerous and offered FEidlitz opportunities he might not have otherwise received. The
geographical range of his projects also continued to increase, and he began to pursue institutional
and commercial work as well as religious and residential. Like Richard Upjohn, he was drawn to
the Gothic for the former and tended Romanesque for the latter. By the time the Civil War began,

however, most construction had stopped

New York Crystal Palace Competition, New York City

Eidlitz submitted an unsuccessful entry in the competition held in 1852 for the New York Crystal
Palace (1853, Reservoir Square, Sixth Avenue between 40™ and 42™ Streets; destroyed by fire 5
October 1858), a fully-glazed iron-framed exhibition hall that faced Sixth Avenue between 41*
and 42™ Street (now, Bryant Pafk) next to the massive Croton distribution reservoir. The
structure was intended to house the American response to the popular international commercial
and cultural exhibition held in London in 1851. Much of the success of that event was attributed
to the unique building in which it was held: a huge iron and glass enclosure designed by Joseph
Paxton (1801-65). That relationship was acknowledged by the organizers of the New York event
when they advised the competition entrants that the building was required to possess “the greatest

possible area compatible with ground employable, perfect safety and eloquence of construction, a
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well-calculated and pleasant admission of light, a variable coup d’oeil [glance] in the interior.”"
The structure, the first American building published in an English architectural journal,? cost
approximately $750,000, but the exhibition that it commissioned it was not a financial success.
Its backers went bankrupt in 1854, having received no interest on their investments, and the
building passed through a series of owners that included P. T. Barnum. The end came on 5

October 1858 when it caught fire and collapsed in approximately fifteen minutes.’

The commission for the ill-fated building went to Danish architect Georg Johan Cartensen (1812-
57), founder and designer of the Tivoli Gardens and Casino in Copenhagen, and his associate,
Karl (Charles) Gildemeister (b. 1820), New York City architect, lithographer, and native of
Bremen, Germany. It is not known how, when, or where the two met or worked on the project as
they did not appear in New York City directories before 1854.* They were aided by eight
“Assistants in the Architect’s Department,” none of whom appears in directories. The design was
based on a Greek-cross arrangement of aisles and balconies enclosed by a glazed shell.
Octagonal at the first floor and cross-shaped above, it was 365 feet 5 inches across, exclusive of
projecting entrance halls, and surmounted by a 103-foot diameter central dome and eight 8-foot
diameter octagonal corner towers situated at the end of the cross arms. In describing the
building’s structural system, Carl Condit wrote that its “Cast-iron columns supported an ¢laborate

portal-braced system of wrought-iron arch ribs, trussed girders under flat and gable roofs, an

! Theodore Sedgwick, “Draft of 1852 Statement of the American Association for the Exhibition of All
Industry,” quoted in Thomas Gordon Jayne, The New York Crystal Palace: An International Exhibition of
Goods and Services Thesis (MA) University of Delaware, 1990 (Ann Arbor, MI: UMI Dissertation
Services, 1991), p. 49.

2 “Building for the New York Industrial Exhibition,” The Builder, vol. 10 (23 October 1852), pp. 674-75.
The next American work to appear in an English publication was an account of Gridley F. Bryant’s
alterations and additions to the Massachusetts State House, “The State House of Massachusetts, U.S.,” The
Builder, vol. 14 (5 April 1856), pp. 190-91; Robert Elwall, “Brother Jonathan Comes of Age,” Royal
Institute of British Architects Transactions 8, vol. 4, no. 2 (1985), p. 52.

? “Destruction of the Crystal Palace,” New York Times, 6 October 1858, p. 4.
* Francis, pp. 20, 34.
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arched trusses under the great central dome. The whole iron structure was sharply etched against
the curtain walls of glass.”® Exterior elements were painted a light bronze with gold ornamental
features; the interior was painted in a buff or cream color, with red, blue, and yellow highlights.
The colors were chosen by Henry Greenough, brother of the sculptor Horatio Greenouglhi- (1805-

52).8

The winning scheme was selected from ten entries submitted to a committee of two engineers,
Christian Edward Detmold and Horatio Allen, and an architect, Edmund Hurry.7 Detmold (1810-
87), born in Hanover, Germany, was a civil engineer who came to the United States when he was
sixteen, intending to go on to Brazil to join the army. He was appointed superintending architect
and engineer of the New York Crystal Palace Exhibit of Industry after working for several
railroads and operating a successful iron furnace. Allen (1802-99), also a civil engineer, was an
inventor and a president of the American Society of Civil Engineers. He went on to serve as a
consulting engineer for the Brooklyn Bridge and the Panama Railroad. ‘Aside from his 1848-67
appearance in New York City directories, little is known about Hurry who was the consulting

architect to the Crystal Palace exhibition.®

During construction of the project, Detmold, Allen, and Hurry were joined by Julius B. Kroehl (d.
1867) who worked as an engineering and architectural assistant. Although personally selected by

Cartensen and Gildemeister, little is known about him. He and his partner, Peter Husted, were

* Carl W. Condit, American Building, Materials and Techniques from the First Colonial Settlements to the
Present (Chicago and London: The University of Chicago Press, 1968), p. 85.

6 “The American Crystal Palace,” The Illustrated Magazine of Art: Containing Selections from the Various
Departments of Painting, Sculpture, Architecture, History, Biography, Art-Industry, Manufactures,
Scientific Inventions and Discoveries, Local and Domestic Scenes, Ornamental Iron works, etc. etc., vol. 2
(1853), p. 251. The article contained an extremely detailed quantitative description of the building and its
exhibits.

7 The World of Science, Art, and Industry, lllustrated with Examples in the New-York Exhibition, 1852-53 /
edited by B. Sillman, Jr., and C. R. Goodrich, aided by several scientific and literary men (New York: G.
B. Putnam and Company, 1854), p. 6.
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listed in New York City directories as machinists and “submarine engineers and contractors for
removing rocks under water” and were part of a demi-monde of contractors and fabricators whose
experience gave them knowledge that often exceeded their academically trained counterparts. In
1856, Kroehl beat John Bogardus in a competition for-a cast iron fire watch tower (extant) located
in Mount Morris (now Marcus Garvey) Park in Harlem. He also designed several submarines for
the Union Navy during the Civil War. One of them, the Explorer, a privately funded commission
built in New York harbor and launched during the summer of 1864, was so highly pressurized
that its hull was open at the bottom. Although the Navy rejected it, Kroehl towed it to Panama
where he found work as chief engineer of the Pacific Pearl Company. The submarine performed
well for many years, and Kroehl, who died in Panama from yellow fever in 1867, claimed that
divers working pearl beds from the Explorer suffered fewer injuries and gathered more pearls

than those from competing companies.

Among the other entrants was Julius W. Adams (1825-1902), a New York City civil engineer and
the former editor of Appleton’s Mechanic’s Magazine. His design employed vaults and an
octagonal dome constructed from clusters of gas pipe. The scheme presented by James Bogardus
(1800-74) and Hamilton Hoppin (1821-85), pioneers of cast iron construction in New York City,
suspended a catenary curved sheet metal roof from rods attached to a 300-foot high cast iron
observation tower located in the center of a 1,200-foot circumference building whose appearance
“somewhat resembled the Coliseum of Rome.”® Paxton, designer of the London Crystal Palace,
entered a basilcan shed that was rejected because it was not thought to fit well on the site. New
York City architects Charles Fred Anderson, George Platt, Alexander Saeltzer, Jacob Wray

Mould, and Andrew Jackson Downing also submitted entries. Downing’s scheme, entered by his

¥ Francis, p. 42.

? Nevins confused Eidlitz’s entry with that of Bogardus; David Gebhard and Deborah Nevins, 200 Years of
American Architectural Drawing (New York: Watson-Guptill Publications, 1977), p. 102.
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partner Calvert Vaux after Downing died in a Hudson River steamboat fire, was rejected because
it was capped by a colossal dome made of wood and canvas and, although supported on metal
columns and bound by metal ties, was not made entirely of iron and glass as required by the

competition brief:"®

A fragment of Eidlitz’s design survives as a colored exterior perspective.'

It appears to have
been a fully glazed basilica with one- and two storey side aisles and a three-story nave. For the
most part, its exterior walls employed rectangular metal frames containing two rows of flat-
headed glazing inserts separated by narrow mullions. The panels were located between iron
columns and the columns were braced with diagonal buttresses and pierced rondels at the first
floor. Arched panels were present at what appears to have been a transept extension; these panels
contained arched as well as pointed glazing inserts. Cables were connected the upper ends of the
columns but their function, if any, is unclear. The Scientific American wrote that Eidlitz’s design
used a suspension roof “intended to obviate the difficulty of spanning great widths by arches.”"
The cables sag, however, and the explanation seems unlikely because they cannot be in tension.
Nevertheless, Eidlitz’s scheme may reflect his knowledge of chain bridge and railway

engineering concepts introduced in the architecture and architectural engineering program at the

Prague Polytechnic in 1839, possibly in anticipation of the 435-foot chain railway bridge that was

19 Margot Gayle, “The New York Crystal Palace: America’s Progress, Power, and Possibilities,” Nineteenth
Century, vol. 15, no. 1 (1995), pp. 10-15; Margot Gayle, “Georg Cartensen,” Macmillan Encyclopedia of
Architects, vol. 1, p. 389; Ivan D. Steen, “America’s first World’s Fair: The Exhibition of the Industry of
All Nations at New York’s Crystal Palace, 1853-1854,” New York Historical Society Quarterly, v. 47,n0. 3
(July 1963), p. 261; Charles Hirschfield, “American Exhibition: The New York Crystal Palace,” American
Quarterly, vol. 9, no. 2, Part 1 (Summer 1957), pp. 105-6; Jayne, p. 49; “The Crystal Palace,” Scientific
American, vol. 8 (6 August 1853), p. 370; “The Crystal Palace,” New York Times, 15 July 1853, p.1.
Ilustrations of the Cartensen, Bogardus, Downing, and Paxton entries appeared in Sillman and Goodrich,

pp. 1,4

"1t is preserved in the Leopold Eidlitz Architectural Drawings and Papers collection at the Avery Library,
Columbia University, New York City. A black-and-white photograph of it appears in Alison Sky and
Michael Stone, Unbuilt America, Forgotten Architecture in the United States from Thomas Jefferson to the
Space Age (New York: McGraw-Hill Book Company, 1976), Figure 108, “Entry by Leopold Eidlitz,
Detail,” p. 79.
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built in Prague in 1842, or iron roof trusses used by Leo von Klenze at the Valhalla (Regensburg,
1842). Klenze had also employed iron components in a post-fire reconstruction of Karl von
Fischer’s Court and National Theatre in Munich (1823-25) and in the roof trusses and dome of
the Befreiungshalle (Hall of Liberation) at Kelheim (1847-63)." Eidlitz may also have been
aware of other German-speaking architects who used iron structural components. These included
Georg Moller who used iron dome and spires at the Mainz Cathedral (1830) and recommended
them in his writings,'* Heinrich Hiibsch who proposed an filigree iron roof reinforcement system
in 1825," and Rudolf Wiegmann who published a truss design in 1839 based on an 1837 patent

obtained by the French engineer Camile Polonceau.'®

While Brooks saw stylistic similarities in Eidlitz’s Crystal Palace entry and his 1848 design for
the P. T. Barnum house,'” the latter represented a radical shift from a nearly exclusive reliance on
masonry and wood in earlier projects that was rarely taken up in his later work. Eidlitz tended to
limit the use of iron to concealed locations. He justified his approach by claiming that iron did

not compare favorably with traditional materials on aesthetic or economic grounds.

It would take a long time, also, before a respectable iron
architecture could be developed, but as a cheap display is its sole
object, and it has been demonstrated that there is no economy in

12 «The Crystal Palace, “Scientific American, p. 370.

3 Werner Lorenz and Annegret Rohde, “Building with Iron in Nineteenth Century Bavaria — The Valhalla
Roof Truss and its Architect, Leo von Klenze,” Construction History, vol. 17 (2001), pp. 64-68.

* Georg Moller, Beitrige zur Lehre von den Construction (Contributions to the science of construction,
Darmstadt: 1832). :

15 Heinrich Hiibsch, Entwurf zu einem Theatre mit eisener Dachriistung (Design for a theatre with iron roof
structure, Frankfurt am Main: W. L. Wesche, 1825).

16 Rudolf Wiegmann, Uber die Konstruction von Kettenbriicken nach dem Dreiecksystem und deren
Anwendung auf Dachverbindungen (On the construction of suspension bridges according to the triangular
system and with application to roof connections, Diisseldorf: 1839); Lorenz and Rohde, p. 64. Although the
Polonceau truss was used under its original name in France and England, in America, it was called the
“Fink” truss after the Albert Fink, a German émigré who graduated from the Darmstadt Polytechnic in
1848; D. A. Gasparini and Caterina Provost, “Early Nineteenth Century Developments in Truss Design in
Britain, France and the United States,” Construction History, vol. 5 (1989), p. 23.

17 Brooks, p. 19 n. 35.
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it, it has been widely abandoned. The legitimate and economical
application of iron in architecture is to be found in the use of
rolled iron as a substitute for wood in many constructions, such
as roofs and floors.'®

Schuyler expressed similar views.

We do not count ourselves among those who, in aesthetic or
artistic point of view, consider the introduction of iron fronts in
our street architecture any improvement upon such time-honored
materials as granite, stone, and marble; for the stately and solid
beauty of such buildings as the Equitable Insurance and Masonic
Temple here, or the Academy of Music in Brooklyn, will ever
outshine the most brilliant piece of rococo ornamentation that
can ever be turned out of the moulds of an iron-foundry."

Brooks attributed such comments to shortsightedness and prejudice and concluded, “although
[Eidlitz] could rationally accept iron construction, his romantic bias prevented him from

considering iron as a material of artistic value.”?”

Fifth Avenue Presbyterian Church, New York City

In 1852, Eidlitz received a commission for a $112,000 church to be built on Fifth Avenue at 19™
Street. It was his first Gothic building in New York City and was designed for a congregation
founded in 1807 in the Wall Street area as “The Presbyterian Church in Cedar Street.” Its first
building, made of brick and designed by John McComb, Jr., was located on Cedar Street between
Nassau and William and opened in 1808.”' About twenty-five years later, when faced with a

municipal plan to widen Cedar Street, the congregation sold the site and building for $75,000

'8 Leopold Eidlitz, The Nature and Function of Art, More Especially of Architecture (New York: A. C.
Armstrong & Son; London: Sampson Low, Marston, Searle & Rivington, 1881), p. 314.

1 Montgomery Schuyler, “Polychromy in Street Architecture,” New York World, 31 March 1872, p. 4.
20 Brooks, p. 35-36.

2L A drawing of the Cedar Street Church and a first floor plan appeared in Henry W. Jessup, History of the
Fifth Avenue Presbyterian Church of New York City, New York, from 1808 to 1908 together with an
account of its Centennial Anniversary Celebration December 18-23, 1908 (New York: Fifth Avenue
Presbyterian Church, 1909), opposite p. 10 and p. 12.
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with the intention of moving north to the City Hall area. Four lots were purchased from Trinity
Church on the southeast corner of Chambers and Chapel Streets; however, after finding out that
Chapel Street was included in the City’s street-widening plan, the congregation voided the sale
and bought a lot at Duane and Church Streets. The marble-faced church built on that site (1835)
cost $40,000 exclusive of land and was designed in the Greek Revival style by James Harrison
Dakin (1806-52).% Although the congregation renamed itself “The Presbyterian Church in
Duane Street,” changes in the neighborhood and the northward growth of the city led them to
consider moving again already in 1844. They finalized the decision in 1851 and Eidlitz received

a commission the next year.

The single-towered New Jersey Belleville brownstone structure, complete with stepped wall
buttresses, pinnacles, transepts, and exposed roof framing, was dedicated on 12 December 1852
as “The Presbyterian Church, corner of Fifth Avenue and Nineteenth Street” and completed the

3 Jeanne Halgren Kilde noted that the organ was relocated to the front of the

following year.”
worship space two years later to improve congregational participation and singing.** Although

located in the center of Merchants’ Mile (Broadway from 14" to 23™ Streets) and able to seat

22 Born in Dutchess County, NY and trained as a carpenter, Dakin began his architectural career in 1829 in
the New York City office of Ithiel Town (1784-1844) and Alexander Jackson Davis (1803-1892). He
became a partner in 1832 but remained only for one year. Dakin left New York City in 1835 (city
directories list him from 1831 to 1836) and went to New Orleans to work with his brother Charles Bingley
Dakin (ca. 1810-39) and Irish émigré architect James Gallier, Sr. (1798-1868), both whom he had hired to
work for Town and Davis. Gallier soon left, however, and Charles concentrated on work in Mobile, AL
while James worked in New Orleans. He remained in Louisiana for the remainder of his career and
designed a variety of religious, institutional, and governmental projects. James was highly regarded by his
peers and Thomas U. Walter invited him to become a founding member of the short-lived American
Institution of Architects in 1836. Arthur Scully, Jr., “James Dakin” in Macmillan Dictionary of Architects,
vol. 1, pp. 489-91; Francis, p. 24.

» «Rev. Dr. Hall’s Church,” New York Times, 1 June 1874, p. 1. A drawing of the building appeared in
Jessup opposite p. 42.

2 W. H. H., “Congregational Singing in Dr. Alexander’s Church, New York, Presbyterian Magazine, vol.
5 (October 1855), p. 475 quoted in Jeanne Halgren Kilde, When Church Became Theatre: The
Transformation of Evangelical Architecture and Worship in Nineteenth-Century America (Oxford and New
York: Oxford University Press, 2002), p. 81-82. The choir was dismissed when the organ was relocated
and the choir system was abandoned altogether four years later; “Rev. Dr. Hall’s Church,” p. 1.
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more than a thousand in two hundred pews,” the financial and physical growth of the
congregation and the continued northward movement of the city reintroduced the need for a new
facility within twenty years. ‘Those desires were met by Carl Pfeiffer’® whose Gothic Revival
brownstone Fifth Avenue Presbyterian Church located on the northwest corner of Fifth Avenue
and 55" Street (1873-76) could hold 2,500 and featured the latest advances in acoustics,
mechanical heating and ventilation.”” Eleven architects were considered for the commission, with

the final choice made between Pfeiffer and George B. Post.®® Eidlitz’s building was purchased by

%5 “Rev. Dr. Hall’s Church,” p. 1.

% pfeiffer (1834-88) was born in Brunswick, Germany and trained in engineering and architecture before
moving to the United States in 1863 when he was sixteen years old. After living in the West for several
years, he established himself as an architect in New York City in 1864 and appeared in city directories until
his death. He specialized in churches, institutional buildings, and apartment houses, and was active in the
American Institute of Architects, serving as its secretary from 1871 to 1873. “Carl Pfeiffer” in
Biographical Dictionary of American Architects (Deceased), p. 470; Francis, p. 61.

27 «Dr, Hall’s New Church,” 10 May 1875, p. 2. The congregation was one of the wealthiest in the city and
its new site, purchased for $350,000, was said to be the most expensive acquired for religious purposes up
to that time. The church building cost an additional $300,000; “New Churches in New-York,” New York
Times, 28 October 1872, p. 2.

%8 Richard Morris Hunt also entered the competition. Stern ez al, New York 1880, p. 295; Jessup, pp. 51;
“New Churches in New-York,” p. 2; “The Fifth Avenue Presbyterian Church,” The American Architect and
Building News, vol. 13 (24 March 1883), pp. 139-40, plate; James D. McCabe, New York by Sunlight and
Gaslight. A work descriptive of the great metropolis. Its high and low life; its splendors and miseries, its
virtues and vices, its gorgeous places and dark homes of poverty and crime; its public men, politicians,
adventurers; its charities, frauds, mysteries, etc., etc. (Philadelphia, PA: Douglass Brothers, Publishers,
1882), p. 625; Paul R. Baker, Richard Morris Hunt (Cambridge, MA and London: The MIT Press, 1980),
p. 543.

George Browne Post (1837-1913) was born in New York City to a family of well-established merchants.
He attended military school and studied at New York University where he received a degree in civil
engineering 1858. He subsequently trained with Richard Morris Hunt for two years and formed a
partnership in 1860 with fellow student Charles D. Gambrill (1832-80). Post’s career developed during the
transitional period between the decline of solid masonry and the rise of steel construction. He contributed
to the development of tall buildings as a designer and as an engineer, and his ability to reconcile the
growing need for such buildings with available technology contributed to his success. His most important
early project, redesign of the original plans for the first Equitable Life Assurance Building (1868-70)
involved the first building planned with elevator usage in mind. Much of his early work was in lower New
York City, but his practice soon achieved national scope. His work includes the New York Cotton
Exchange (New York City, 1883-85), New York Produce Exchange (New York City, 1881-85), New York
Stock Exchange (New York City, 1904-07), College of the City of New York (New York City, 1897-
1908), Pulitzer Building (New York City, 1889-90), Wisconsin State Capitol (Madison, 1904-07),
Manufacturers and Liberal Arts Building (Chicago Exposition, 1893), and the residences of Cornelius
Vanderbilt (New York City, 1882-93) and Collis P. Huntington (New York City, 1890-04). Post belonged
to many local, state, and national civic and professional organizations and was an honorary member of the
Royal Institute of British Architects. “George Browne Post” in Biographical Dictionary of American
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several of the congregational trustees and given to the Central Presbyterian Church who
disassembled and rebuilt it on 57" Street between Broadway and Seventh Avenue. The lot on
which it stood was sold to Arnold Constable, a department store operator, and in 1876, Griffith
Thomas designed a cast iron-faced 150-foot extension to Constable’s building (1869, Broadway

and 19" Street; enlarged 1872) to house wholesale operations.”

City Hall, Springfield, Massachusetts

The Giértner-esque Springfield, Massachusetts, City Hall (1854-55, Court Square; burned 1905)
was probably Eidlitz’s first secular commission. The similarity of the main fagade to that of
Alexander Saeltzer’s Astor Library (1853, Lafayette Place, New York City) is striking, and a
local newspaper called it “the most important architectural structure ever erected in the western
portion of the State.*® Eidlitz’s building replaced a much smaller town hall built in 18287
Planning for the new City Hall began in 1852 and led to a competition the following year.>?
Eidlitz may have become aware of the opportunity from Solomon Merrick and William Gunn for
whom he had built houses in Springfield a few years earlier.”® His entry was selected on 7 July

1853 (the names of the other competitors are unknown) with a stipulation that costs for the new

Architects (Deceased), pp. 482-84; Winston Weisman, “George Browne Post” in Macmillan Encyclopedia
of Architects, vol. 3, pp. 460-63 and “The Commercial Architecture of George B. Post,” Journal of the
Society of Architectural Historians, vol. 31, no. 3 (October 1972), pp. 176-203; Sarah Bradford Landau,
George B. Post, Architect: Picturesque Designer and Determined Realist (New York: The Monacelli Press,
. 1998); Diana Balmori, “George B. Post: The Process of Design and the New American Architectural Office
(1868-1913),” Journal of the Society of Architectural Historians, vol. 46, no. 4 (December 1987), p. 345.

¥ Stern et al, New York 1880, pp. 295, 714.

3 Springfield [Massachusetts] Republican, “History and Description of the Building” in Exercises at the
Dedication of the New City Hall, Springfield, Mass, January 1st, 1856. Including the address by Dr. J. G.
Holland, With a Full Description of the Building. Published by Order of the City Council (Springfield,
MA: Samuel Bowles & Company, Printers, 1856), p. 27.

3! A sketch of the building appeared Ralph E. Burt, Springfield 1852-1952 (Springfield, MA: 1952), p. 55.
Residential in scale and detail as were the commercial buildings that adjoined it, it survived until sometime
after 1934; Henry-Russell Hitchcock, Springfield Architecture 1800-1900 (Springfield, MA: Springfield
City Library, 1980), p. 4.

32 “History and Description of the Building.” pp. 27-30.
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facility not exceed $35,000. On 13 August, a building committee accepted his proposal to
provide design and construction documents for a fee of $1,000 and they increased the acceptable
building cost to $40,000, exclusive of gas fixtures and furnishings. By the time contracts were
let, the amount had risen to $47,000. Despite a new mayor’s attempts to reduce expenses,
however, the project went on as planned and construction began the following year. The
cornerstone ceremony took place on 4 July 1854 and when the structure was finished, its price
had reached $100,000, inclusive of $7,500 for land. A history of the building noted that the
completed edifice was essentially unchanged from the competition entry and complimented
Eidlitz “to whose taste and genius the people of [Springfield] will be indebted for the shape and

shapeliness of the proudest monument of their public spirited munificence.”*

The local newspaper described the architectural style of the new building as “Romanesque,” but
added “This is indefinite... it is that variety which has received the impress of the German
taste.”’ Hem’y-Rﬁssell Hitchcock wrote that despite its “rather thin and papery design,”® he
found it “distinctly superior to the general level of the Victorian Gothic which was soon to

dominate™’

and suggested that the approach “already provided Eidlitz with suggestions for a
dignified Post-Greek Revival public building™® that would be reflected in the structure that
replaced it: H. H. Richardson’s Hampden County Courthouse (1871-74, substantially altered
1906), “the building where Richardson first found himself.”® Caroll L. V. Meeks suggested that

it may also have influenced three nearby buildings designed by Charles Edward Parker (1826-90)

% Hitcheock, Springfield Architecture 1800-1900, pp. 20, 23.
3* “History and Description of the Building,” p. 27.
3% “History and Description of the Building,” p. 30.
% Hitchcock, Springfield Architecture 1800-1900, p. 27.
37 Hitchcock, Springfield Architecture 1800-1900, p. 27.
* Hitchcock, Springfield Architecture 1800-1900, p. 27.
* Hitchcock, Springfield Architecture 1800-1900, p. 41.
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of Boston: the Williston Gymnasium (1863) and the Town Hall and Memorial Tower (begun

1868), both in Easthampton, MA, and the City Hall (1871) in Chicopee, MA.*°

Eidlitz’s three-story building was 85 feet wide by 135 feet long. Made of brick énd faced with
local brownstone on its main fagade, it was situated at the end of a row of commerc.ial buildings
and faced south onto Court Square." More than twenty-five years after it was completed, a
sketch and a brief description of it were published in The American Architect and Building News
as a good example of arched brick construction.‘i2 Arranged in a modified basilican configuration
(first floor entrances were present at the north and south facades), its shallow gabled roof was
concealed behind parapets. The central portion of the main facade was located at the top of a
sixteen-riser staircase bounded by projecting buttresses. It contained a triple round-arched porch
situated below a tall Serliana surmounted by five small round-arched windows and an arcuated
brick comice. Flanking bays contained similar but less developed cornices, segmental arched
openings at the basement and first floor, and semi-circular openings at the second. A similar
arrangement was present at the eight sidewall bays. A five-stage, 130-foot clock and bell tower
was located at the southeast corner of the building, facing the Square, adjacent to a neighboring
building rather than at the corner of the block. Its round-headed arched openings were of various
sizes. The newspaper called the tower “quite as unique in itself as it is harmonious with the style

of the main structure” and wryly remarked

The front [of the building] is impressive and imposing, and
presents the most remarkable representation of one or two
architectural ideas, with variations that give them all the effect of

0 Caroll L. V. Meeks, “Romanesque Before Richardson in the United States,” Art Bulletin, vol. 35, no. 1
(March 1953), p. 32.

*! Hitchcock, Springfield Architecture 1800-1900, p. 28.

2 Talcott Williams, “A Brief Object-Lesson in Springfield Architecture,” The American Architect and
Building News, vol. 10 (12 November 1881), pp. 229-30.
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separate and independent ideas, that we remember to have

seen.43

Within the basement, rooms intended for minor municipal functions were located to either side of
a 24-foot wide corridor that ran the length of the building. The ceiling height was 10 feet and
finishes within the areas were said to be “plain and substantial.” The first floor was similarly
arranged with a ceiling height of 15 feet. It is likely that floor construction throughout the
building relied on iron beams and brick arches because of the spans involved and an absence of
partitions that aligned from floor to floor. Newspaper accounts noted that iron beams exposed in

portions of the first floor ceilings spanned from the sidewalls to the corridor walls.

While the first floor contained the primary municipal offices, a library, and substantial examples
of decorative painting, the second floor held the building’s most expansive and impressive space:

“the hall,” a room said to be able to hold as many as 7,000 people.

No description that we find ourselves able to give can do justice
to the hall proper. In the first place, we are not sufficiently
acquainted with the architectural terms to describe it in
appropriate language, and the language would not be popularly
understood if it were. In the second place, there is no hall in
New England with which to compare it, and we can therefore
convey no idea by comparison.**

With the exception of two full-width ante-rooms located at the north and south ends, the area
contained no partitions, however, galleries located above the ante-rooms extended into the main
space above raised seating areas, and a large raised platform adjoined the south gallery. Galleries
also ran the length of the building along the sidewalls. They could seat 500 and were supported
on wood columns and brackets whose appearance was said to “contribute essentially to the finish
of the room.” Perhaps most unusual of all was the use of clear-span iron trusses to support the

roof.

# “History and Description of the Building,” p. 31.
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Rising to the ceiling, composed of a second or internal roof, the
central part of which is 44 feet from the floor, the eye is greeted
with a style of finish entirely without example in this part of the
country. Iron girders extend entirely across the building, which
have their offices in supporting this internal roof, and are united
in a frame-work and pendants in so graceful a manner that they
soon become familiar, and their slender lines cease to give
offense to the eye, what ever may be their first effect.®’

This rare use of exposed iron by Eidlitz may reflect a familiarity gained with the material in his
contemporary entry in the New York Crystal Place competition. His aversion to it in subsequent

projects may signal his response to the rapid destruction of both buildings by fire.

In addition to size and structural exhibitionism, the hall relied on painted decoration for effect. Its
windows were painted a soft red said to exclude direct sunlight and fill the space with a soft, rose
light. The ceiling was frescoed in rectangular panels and featured “a delicate cornice, fancifully
colored” while the sidewalls contained painted arches and “columns of color” that extended to the
ceiling. Behind the stage, large frescoed representations of George Washington and the Goddess
of Liberty were present. The gallery woodwork and portions of the ceiling were painted in red
and blue lines and the area was illuminated by 180 gas burners located within fourteen
chandeliers and three rows of bracket fixtures. Thackeray was said to have pronounced the result
“the most beautiful hall he had thus far been in America, and the equal of any, save one, that he
had seen in England.”*® The building was destroyed by fire on 7 January 1905, an event said to
have been caused by a monkey who overturned an oil lamp during a fair held in the hall.*’ It was

replaced by the Springfield Municipal Group (1912-13, Harvey Wiley Corbett and Francis

# “History and Description of the Building,” p. 33.

* “History and Description of the Building,” p. 34.

% «“History and Description of the Building,” p. 34.

47 «§50,000 Fire in Springfield,” New York Times, 7 January 1905, p. 5.
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Livingston Pell®®), an ensemble that consisted of a paired neoclassical city hall and municipal

auditorium situated to either side of a freestanding campanile.

St. Peter’s, Westchester

Although St. George’s was an Episcopal church, its appearance was based on Romanesque forms
rather then the Gothic. The notion of Eidlitz as a Gothic architect for an Episcopal congregation
was first explored at St. Peter’s, Westchester, (1853-55, 2500 Westchester Avenue, Bronx, NY).
The circumstances of the construction and subsequent history of St. Peter’s were unfortunate.
The project was contested before it began when members of the congregation filed a lawsuit to
prevent disturbance of existing graves. When work resumed in 1854, careless laborers burned
down an existing church that was built in 1794 and the congregation was forced to worship
elsewhere until the new building was completed.* During its design, Eidlitz was also working on
the Fifth Avenue Presbyterian Church, the Eighty-fourth Street Presbyterian Church, and the
Springfield, Massachusetts, City Hall. The workload may have caused him to place a classified
advertisement for “three expert draughtsman” and “...two boys, 16 or 17 years old to learn the
profession, one as a draughtsman the other as a clerk. Those who passed the examination at the

Free Academy preferred.”

® Corbett (1873-1954) studied at the University of California and the Ecole des Beaux-Arts. Despite his
ecarlier work, by the early 1930s, he became a modernist and advocate of high-rise buildings. Livingston
(1873-1945) studied at Columbia University and in Europe. He worked for George P. Post before setting
up his own practice and forming a partnership with Corbett. “Harvey Corbett, Architect, Dead,” New York
Times, 22 April 1954, p. 29; “Francis L. Pell, 71, Architect 50 Years,” New York Times, 8 September 1945,
p. 15.

49 «St, Peter’s (Episcopal) Church — It’s History — Description of the new Building,” New York Times, 23
July 1855, p. 1.

%0 Classified advertisement, New York Times, 14 February 1853, p. 5. The Free Academy was established
in 1849 as a five-year school for poor boys that embraced “all the leading branches of collegiate
discipline.” It offered courses in civil engineering and drawing but none in architecture. “The Free
Academy,” New York Times, 13 February 1858, p. 4; Sarah Bradford Landau, P. B. Wight: Architect,
Contractor, and Critic, 1838-1925, exhibition catalog (Chicago: Art Institute of Chicago, 1981), p. 13.
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Despite his success at St. George’s, Fidlitz’s commitment to the Romanesque for churches
seemed increasingly provisional, and in a paper read at the 16 March 1858 meeting of the
American Institute of Architects, he referred to the style as “a gentle decoction of Greek and
Gothic architecture, strongly seasoned with a semicircular arch.””' Much later, in The Nature and -

Function of Art, More Especially of Architecture, he wrote

In Romanesque architecture only here and there isolated efforts
at such a complicated organism [i.e., Gothic architecture] are
observable. In most cases all indication of a systematic
modeling of masses is wanting... The modeling of masses in
Romanesque architecture, although applied to all structural
elements, may be without injustice be pronounced to express
monumental vigor rather than refinement.”**

For Eidlitz, modeling was a fundamental aspect of architecture, and its distinguishing role in

Gothic made it inherently superior to other periods including Greek, Roman, and Renaissance.

It i.e., Gothic architecture] is a system which applies to every
organic member of a monument, and directs that its mass shall
be modeled in accordance with its function, by cutting away a
part of the crude rectangular mass and leaving a sculptured form
which accords with the true expression of a function. It leaves
nothing untouched by the hand of art; it leaves no essential
organic mass in its rude shape as it issues form the hands of the
architect in his capacity as a scientific constructor; it leaves no
functional meaning to be explained afterward by covering the
face of a mask with a mask, which is merely the bas-relief
representation of another structure.’

The New York Times called St. Peter’s, Westchester, a “fine specimen of a country church”
designed in the “constructive rural gothic style of architecture.”™ It was 96 feet long by 42 feet

wide, excluding transepts that protruded an additional 14 feet on each side and a semi-octagonal

5! The paper was published as “On Style” in The Crayon, vol. 5 (May 1858), pp. 139-42. The comment
appeared on the last page of the article.

52 Eidlitz, The Nature and Function of Art, pp. 364, 367.

> The “mask” to which he referred was a reproduction of a Greek portico applied to a wall; Eidlitz, The
Nature and Function of Art, pp. 365, 418.

34 «St. Peter’s (Episcopal) Church — It’s History — Description of the new Building,” p. 1.
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chancel that extended 22 feet beyond the nave. The $35,000 sandstone structure featured a wood-
framed steeple and a roof covered with blue and red slates supported on exposed wood roof
trusses and wood columns. The nave windows were pointed in the Gothic manner; those in the
octagonal chancel were similarly treated. Interior walls were-plastered and painted to simulate
stone. Wood trim was painted, and the pews grained to simulate oak, although not altogether

successfully.”

Schuyler’s criticism of the building began with an attack on its “excessive” height and the
presence of transepts, things inappropriate to “a country parish church” and faults “commonly to
be found in the work of the architect.” Nevertheless, as his commentary proceeded, he revealed
that his true concern was cultural rather than architectural. St. Peter’s was bad, not because of
architectural errors, but because its architect was an outsider. He was inherently unsympathetic to
the tradition in which he had attempted to work and, therefore, incapable of producing a valid

expression of that tradition.

The impulse to the Gothic revival in this country came from the
Protestant Episcopal Church, and was necessarily “Anglican.”
The Anglican tradition meant little to a German, for whom its
associations did not exist, nor much, comparatively, to a
logician, who naturally and necessarily rated its historical
examples below that of France and the great German example
[i.e., Cologne Cathedral] which carried the logic of Gothic to its
uttermost development. Accordingly, I find the early churches
of Eidlitz became, and 1 find remain, rather rocks of offense to
the Anglicans.*

In an inversion of Upjohn’s refusal to design Gothic buildings for non-Episcopal clients, Schuyler

claimed that Eidlitz’s “German-ness” would not allow him to design a building that required

35«8t Peter’s (Episcopal) Church — It’s History — Description of the new Building,” p. 1. The article
attributed the design to “Mr. A. Eidlitz, Ross building, corner of Broadway and Fulton streets, New-York.”

% Leopold Eidlitz I, p. 171-72. For a discussion of nineteenth-century notions of associationism, i.e.,
linkage of “Alisonian trains of imagery” to objects external to them, see George L. Hersey, High Victorian
Gothic, A Study in Associationism (Baltimore, MD and London: The John Hopkins University Press, 1972).
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“English-ness” because “the prevailing Anglican tradition did not govern him, and he neither

t 9957

inherited it nor really assimilated i Eidlitz rejected this idea many years later when he

dismissed the notion that an architect should be a member of the creed or sect for which a

building is designed.

If we concern ourselves with the physical needs of the church
only, and assume that the architect is not possessed of any
information pertaining to religious ideas in general excepting
those furnished by his church, it is fair to presume that the
architect not familiar with the practical working of a special
church would not be able to carry out the scheme without much
cramming and preparation. But when we consider the art
process of expressing an idea in matter, it will be found that a
person without a philosophic knowledge of the religious idea
would not answer the purpose at all, whether he subscribed to the
creed under consideration or not... The true position of the
architect — the position which it is desirable he should occupy for
the good of the monument — is that of the intelligent
commentator who is bent on ascertaining the true meaning of the
author, without inquiring whether the author was right or wrong
in what he said; when that true meaning of the author is
ascertained, it becomes his duty to assume that the persons who
occupy the structure accept that interpretation of the ideas as the
true one.”

While Schuyler’s xenophobic view of Eidlitz appeared in other pieces, he was not consistent in
his critical stance and had previously suggested that an outsider’s use of the Gothic might be
acceptable in certain cases because it could be a socially progressive gesture and, therefore,

applicable to building types for which cultural identity might not be an issue.

But Leopold Fidlitz, though a German, and in so many respect a
German of the Germans, was one of the most enthusiastic
adherents and promoters of the Gothic revival, and found more
aid and comfort from his fellow architects of British or American
training and traditions than German. Cologne was to him the
ultimate historical achievement of the art of architecture. But he
was more than willing to join hands with those of the English

57 Leopold Eidlitz I1, p. 277.
58 Eidlitz, The Nature and Function of Art, pp. 468-69.
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revivalists, who, whether inspired by Pugin® and ecclesiasticism
or by Ruskin and Romanticism, were remaking in the [eighteen-]
fifties and sixties, the architecture of Great Britain, primarily in
church building, but extending their attempts to all other
departments of secular work, endeavoring to show that Gothic
was good for houses and public buildings, as well as for
churches. This is what Ruskin was preaching in England and
Viollet-le-Duc in France.”

The building burned in January 1877, and its exterior walls, wood roof, and interior finishes were
destroyed.”' It was rebuilt 1878-79 by Cyrus Lazelle Warner Eidlitz; the job was his first
independent project. The new work included a 10-foot apse extension, a clerestory supported on
granite columns with marble capitols and bases, and a brick facing applied to the inner face of the

exterior walls. The roof pitch was also increased.® The World noted

The new church is built out of a local stone of a warm gray
color, rock faced, and scarcely any wrought stone is used. The
plan is a vestibule, flanked by a porch and a tower, crowned with
a slated spire, a nave of four bays with transepts and a seven-side
apse, of which the ridge is on the same level with that of the
nave. The material and its use, the simple disposition with the
unmoulded arches and the low windows of the clerestory, give
the outside of the church, which is set in an ample churchyard,
an aspect of homely picturesqueness which is very pleasant but
which hardly foretells the elaborate and finished beauty of the
interior.®®

%9 Eidlitz Augustus Welby Northmore Pugin’s Floriated Ornament: A series of thirty-one designs (London:
Henry G. Bohn, 1849). His copy is in the Cooper Union Museum for the Arts of Decoration Library and is
marked “Woman's Art School, Cooper Union. From the library of Mr. Leopold Eidlitz, October 1910.” It
is the only book that I have found that can be definitely attributed to his collection. Fidlitz may have seen
copies of other books written by Pugin in Upjohn’s library; Hull, p. 306.

60 Montgomery Schuyler, “Russell Sturgis’s Architecture,” Architectural Record, vol. 25, no. 6 (June
1909), p. 405. While Hitchcock found “evidences of a quite prompt interest in his [i.e., Ruskin’s]
architectural writing in America,” he also claimed to have observed a “surprisingly slight influence that
writing seems to have had on actual buildings in the United States before the early seventies and after those
years from the 1880s onwards.” Henry-Russell Hitchcock, “Ruskin and American Architecture, or
Regeneration Long Delayed” in Concerning Architecture, John Barr, ed. (London: Alan Lane The Penguin
Press, 1968), p. 168.

61 Montgomery Schuyler, “St. Peter’s, Westchester,” New York World, 13 June 1879, p. 5. The church
burned again on 16 August 1899; “Notes of Insurance Interests,” New York Times, 18 January 1900, p. 9.

52 Montgomery Schuyler, “St. Peter’s Westchester, p. 5.
% Montgomery Schuyler, “St. Peter’s, Westchester,” New York World, 13 June 1879, p. 5
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A dramatic interior perspective published in The American Architect and Building News showed
the rich scheme of painted decoration applied to the wall facing and the hammer-beam trusses

that spanned the nave.** Schuyler concluded

The whole church is conceived in color, and the design and the
embellishm